#### NEW ISSUE—BOOK-ENTRY ONLY

NOT RATED

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes. In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxes on the Bonds. See "CONCLUDING INFORMATION—Tax Matters" herein.

#### \$5,430,000 CITY OF SAN DIEGO ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 4096 (PIPER RANCH) LIMITED OBLIGATION IMPROVEMENT BONDS

#### **Dated: Date of Delivery**

#### Due: September 2, as shown below

The City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds (the "Bonds") are being issued by the City of San Diego (the "City") pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913, Sections 1000 *et seq.* of the California Streets and Highways Code, and the Improvement Bond Act of 1915, Sections 8500 *et seq.* of the California Streets and Highways Code (collectively, the "Act"), and will be secured by certain unpaid assessments (the "Assessments") levied by the City pursuant to the Act within the Assessment District (as defined herein). The Bonds will be issued under and secured by the Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003 (the "Indenture") by and between the City and Union Bank of California, N.A. The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to (i) acquire certain public improvements within the Assessment District; (ii) fund capitalized interest on the Bonds; (iii) fund an Escrow Fund; (iv) fund a reserve fund for the Bonds; (v) fund an Administrative Expenses Account; and (vi) pay costs of issuance for the Bonds. See "THE PLAN OF FINANCE" herein.

The Bonds will be issued in book-entry form, initially registered in the name of Cede & Co., New York, New York, as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York. Interest on the Bonds, payable at the rates set forth below, will be payable on September 2 and March 2 of each year, commencing September 2, 2004. Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their interest in the Bonds. Individual purchases will be in principal amounts of \$5,000 or in any integral multiple of \$5,000. Payments of principal and interest will be paid by the Trustee to DTC for subsequent disbursement to DTC Participants who will remit such payments to the beneficial owners of the Bonds.

The Bonds will mature on September 2 in the years and in the amounts as shown on the Maturity Schedule set forth below. The Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption prior to maturity as set forth herein. The Special Term Bonds (as defined herein) are subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity on the Escrow Redemption Date of September 2, 2005 as set forth herein. See "THE BONDS—Redemption of the Bonds" herein.

The Bonds are payable solely from the Assessments and other assets pledged under the Indenture, as more fully described herein.

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE ASSESSMENTS AND THE OTHER ASSETS PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE INDENTURE. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. THE CITY IS NOT OBLIGATED TO ADVANCE AVAILABLE FUNDS FROM THE CITY TREASURY TO CURE ANY DEFICIENCY IN THE REDEMPTION FUND. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS.

#### MATURITY SCHEDULE \$2,120,000 Serial Bonds

Maturity (September 2)	Principal Amount	Interest Rate	Yield	CUSIP No. †	Maturity (September 2)	Principal Amount	Interest Rate	Yield	CUSIP No. †
2005	\$70,000	2.50%	2.50%	797283RV2	2015	\$100,000	5.20%	5.20%	797283SF6
2006	70,000	2.80	2.80	797283RW0	2016	105,000	5.35	5.35	797283SG4
2007	75,000	3.00	3.00	797283RX8	2017	115,000	5.50	5.50	797283SH2
2008	75,000	3.25	3.25	797283RY6	2018	120,000	5.60	5.60	797283SJ8
2009	80,000	3.50	3.50	797283RZ3	2019	125,000	5.70	5.70	797283SK5
2010	80,000	4.00	4.00	797283SA7	2020	130,000	5.80	5.80	797283SL3
2011	85,000	4.30	4.30	797283SB5	2021	140,000	5.90	5.90	797283SM1
2012	90,000	4.65	4.65	797283SC3	2022	150,000	6.00	6.00	797283SN9
2013	95,000	4.90	4.90	797283SD1	2023	155,000	6.00	6.05	797283 <u>SP</u> 4
2014	95,000	5.00	5.00	797283SE9	2024	165,000	6.10	6.10	797283 <u></u> SS8

\$2,040,000 6.125% Term Bond due September 2, 2033 Yield: 6.20% CUSIP No. 797283SQ2 † \$1,270,000 6.200% Special Term Bond due September 2, 2033 Yield: 6.20% CUSIP No. 797283SR0 †

Copyright 2003, American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers provided by Standard & Poor's CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience of reference only. The City takes no responsibility for the accuracy of such numbers.

This cover page contains information for reference only. It is not a summary of this issue. Investors must read the entire Official Statement, including the section entitled "SPECIAL RISK FACTORS," for a discussion of special factors which should be considered, in addition to the other matters set forth herein, in making an informed investment decision about the Bonds.

The Bonds are offered, when, as and if issued and accepted by the Underwriter, subject to approval as to their validity by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Los Angeles, California, Bond Counsel, and subject to certain other conditions. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by the San Diego City Attorney and by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Los Angeles, California, Disclosure Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by the San Diego City Attorney and by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Los Angeles, California, Disclosure Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Developer by Allen Matkins Leck Gamble & Mallory LLP, Irvine, California. Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Irvine, California and TKG & Associates, LLP, Chicago, Illinois have served as Financial Advisors to the City in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. It is anticipated that the Bonds will be available for delivery in book-entry form in New York, New York, on or about January 14, 2004.

# Stone & Youngberg LLC

# **CITY OF SAN DIEGO**

#### MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL

Dick Murphy, Mayor

Scott Peters Michael Zucchet Toni Atkins Charles Lewis Brian Maienschein Donna Frye Jim Madaffer Ralph Inzunza

#### CITY STAFF

Michael T. Uberuaga City Manager

Ed Ryan *City Auditor and Comptroller* 

> Charles Abdelnour City Clerk

Casey Gwinn City Attorney

Patricia T. Frazier Deputy City Manager

> Mary E. Vattimo *City Treasurer*

#### **PROFESSIONAL SERVICES**

#### **Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel**

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP Los Angeles, California

#### **Assessment Engineer**

NBS Temecula, California

#### Financial Advisors to the City

Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates Irvine, California

> TKG & Associates, LLP Chicago, Illinois

#### Appraiser

Rasmuson Appraisal Services San Diego, California

#### Trustee

Union Bank of California, N.A. Los Angeles, California No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City or the Underwriter to give any information or to make any representations with respect to the City or the Bonds other than the information contained herein, and if given or made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City or the Underwriter. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of, the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds. Statements in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as a representation of facts.

Certain of the information set forth herein has been obtained from sources which the City believes to be reliable, but such information is not guaranteed by the City as to accuracy or completeness.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITER MAY OFFER AND SELL THE BONDS TO CERTAIN DEALERS AND DEALER BANKS AND BANKS ACTING AS AGENT AND OTHERS AT PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES STATED ON THE COVER PAGE HEREOF AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE UNDERWRITER.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Page

INTRODUCTION	1
THE PLAN OF FINANCE	2
THE BONDS	3
Description of the Bonds	3
Redemption of the Bonds	4
Transfers and Exchange	7
Debt Service Schedule	8
SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS	9
General	9
Levy and Collection of Assessment	9
Assessment Formula	11
Assessment District Delinquency Fund	13
Reserve Fund	13
Escrow Fund	14
Covenant for Superior Court Foreclosure	16
Judicial Foreclosure Sale Proceedings	18
Sales of Tax-Defaulted Property Generally	19
Priority of Lien	19
Teeter Plan Not Applicable	20
ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS	20
THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT	20
General	20
District Formation	21
District Location	21
Property Ownership and Development	26
Appraisal Report	28
Status of Public Improvements	29
Largest Property Owners by Assessment Amount	29
Absorption	29
Zoning/Community Planning	30
Map Status	30
Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions	31
Estimated Value-to-Lien Ratios	31
Direct and Overlapping Debt	32

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

# Page

SPECIAL RISK FACTORS				
The Bonds are Limited Obligations of the City				
The Assessments are Not Personal Obligations of the Property Owners				
Bankruptcy and Foreclosure Delays				
Undeveloped Property				
Price Realized Upon Foreclosure				
Direct and Overlapping Indebtedness				
Earthquake, Flood, Fire and other Natural Disasters				
Property Values				
Hazardous Substances				
Endangered Species				
Cumulative Burden of Parity Taxes, Special Assessments and Development Costs				
Loss of Tax Exemption				
California Constitution Article XIIIC and Article XIIID				
THE CITY				
CONCLUDING INFORMATION				
Tax Matters				
Certain Legal Matters				
Financial Advisors				
Continuing Disclosure				
No Litigation				
No Rating				
Underwriting				
Miscellaneous				
APPENDIX A - APPRAISAL REPORT A-1				
APPENDIX B - ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO				
APPENDIX C - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF OTAY INVESTORS, LLC				
APPENDIX D - SUMMARY OF THE INDENTURE				
APPENDIX E - BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM				
APPENDIX F - FORMS OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKINGSF-1				
APPENDIX G - FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL				

(This page intentionally left blank)



City of San Diego Piper Ranch Assessment District No. 4096 Regional Location Map

#### \$5,430,000 CITY OF SAN DIEGO ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 4096 (PIPER RANCH) LIMITED OBLIGATION IMPROVEMENT BONDS

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This Official Statement, including the cover page, this Introduction and the Appendices hereto, is provided to furnish information in connection with the sale by the City of San Diego (the "City") of its \$5,430,000 aggregate principal amount of Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds (the "Bonds"). The Bonds will be issued by the City pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913, Sections 1000 *et seq.* of the California Streets and Highways Code, and the Improvement Bond Act of 1915, Sections 8500 *et seq.* of the California Streets and Highways Code (collectively, the "Act"), the Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds, adopted by the City Council of the City (the "City Council") on December 8, 2003 (the "Resolution") and the Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003 (the "Indenture") by and between the City and Union Bank of California, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee"). Capitalized undefined terms used herein have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture. See APPENDIX D – "SUMMARY OF THE INDENTURE."

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to (i) acquire certain public improvements within and of benefit to the Assessment District (as defined herein); (ii) fund capitalized interest on the Bonds; (iii) fund an Escrow Fund (including interest on the Special Term Bonds (as defined herein) through September 2, 2005); (iv) fund a reserve fund for the Bonds; (v) fund an Administrative Expenses Account; and (vi) pay costs of issuance for the Bonds. See "THE PLAN OF FINANCE" herein. The proceeds of the Term Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 and assigned CUSIP number 797283SR0 (the "Special Term Bonds") will be deposited in the Escrow Fund (together with proceeds of the non-escrowed Bonds in an amount to pay interest on the Special Term Bonds through September 2, 2005) and held and disbursed as described herein under the caption "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Escrow Fund."

The Bonds will be secured by and payable from certain assessments levied within the Assessment District by the City pursuant to the Act (the "Assessments") and other assets pledged under the Indenture. The Assessment District encompasses approximately 80 gross acres, with 69.55 net acres (after deducting streets, sidewalks and set-backs) to be developed as an industrial/business park consisting of approximately 1,200,000 square feet of light industrial warehouse and distribution space situated on 24 separate legal lots, to be known as Piper Ranch Business Park. A final recorded subdivision map subdivides the Assessment District into a 24-lot industrial subdivision currently under development by Piper Ranch LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Developer"). The Developer recently sold eight of these contiguous finished lots comprising approximately 16.36 acres to One Piper Ranch LLC (Master Development Corporation) ("MDC"). MDC plans to re-map its property and construct 12 light industrial buildings on these lots, ranging in size from 11,300 square feet to 32,000 square feet. Currently, the public improvements to be acquired with net Bond proceeds are approximately 99 percent complete, with infrastructure, utilities, street improvements and sheet graded lots in place. See "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT - Property Ownership and Development."

Pursuant to the Indenture, all of the Assessments (including prepayments thereof), together with interest thereon (but excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments), and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) held in any fund or account established pursuant to the Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund and the Administrative Expense Account) are pledged by the City to secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest

on the Bonds in accordance with their terms, the provisions of the Indenture and the Act. Said pledge constitutes a first lien on such assets. See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS."

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE ASSESSMENTS AND THE OTHER ASSETS PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE INDENTURE. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. THE CITY IS NOT OBLIGATED TO ADVANCE AVAILABLE FUNDS FROM THE CITY TREASURY TO CURE ANY DEFICIENCY IN THE REDEMPTION FUND. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS.

The summaries and references to documents, statutes, reports and other instruments referred to herein do not purport to be complete, comprehensive or definitive, and each such summary and reference is qualified in its entirety to each document, statute, report or instrument.

#### THE PLAN OF FINANCE

The Bonds are being issued in order to provide funds to (i) acquire certain public improvements within and of benefit to the Assessment District; (ii) fund capitalized interest on the Bonds through September 2, 2004 with respect to the non-escrowed Bonds and through September 2, 2005 with respect to the Special Term Bonds; (iii) fund an Escrow Fund; (iv) fund a reserve fund for the Bonds; (v) fund an Administrative Expenses Account; and (vi) pay costs of issuance for the Bonds. The portion of the proceeds of the Bonds to be deposited in the Escrow Fund will be held and disbursed as described herein under the caption "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Escrow Fund." Capitalized interest on the Bonds (excluding the Deemed Escrow Bonds, as defined herein) will be deposited into the Capitalized Interest Account. Capitalized interest on the Special Term Bonds will be deposited into the Escrow Interest Account of the Escrow Fund.

The public improvements to be acquired include the costs of architecture, engineering, and construction of road, sewer, and storm drain facilities (the "Project") as follows:

*Street Improvements.* The street improvements (Piper Ranch Road, Air Wing Road, Approach Road and Dead Stick Road) include curb and gutter, sidewalk, pedestrian ramps, berms, monuments and street lights. The Developer and the City have agreed to eliminate the completion of Aviator Road as a component of the Project to be financed with proceeds of the Bonds. The City and the Developer currently intend to defer plans to complete Aviator Road pending the final alignment of State Route 125. A street vacation may be considered and approved by the City Council at a later date. See "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT - District Location - *Access to the Assessment District.*"

*Sewer Improvements.* The sewer mainlines including manholes, lot laterals, and cleanouts are to be located in Otay Mesa Road, Piper Ranch Road, Air Wing Road and along the Assessment District's western boundary.

Storm Drain Improvements. Storm drains consist of reinforced concrete pipe, cleanouts, curb inlets and concrete lined drainage channel.

A summary cost estimate for the capital construction costs and indirect costs are shown in the following table.

#### City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Developer's Project Budget

Construction and/or Acquisition	<b>Estimated</b> Costs
Construction and/or Acquisition	
Streets, Signals, Curb & Gutter and Street Lights	\$1,646,152
Sanitary Sewer System	590,361
Storm Drain System	1,611,644
5% Construction Hard Cost Contingency <sup>(1)</sup>	196,467
Subtotal Construction and/or Acquisition Costs	4,044,624
Architecture and Engineering Fees	228,750
Total	\$4,273,374

(1) Contractor's Fee excluded from calculation of 5% Construction Hard Cost Contingency. Source: The Developer.

#### THE BONDS

#### **Description of the Bonds**

The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form in denominations of \$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will be dated their date of delivery. The Bonds will bear interest at the rates per annum and will mature, subject to the redemption provisions set forth below, on the dates and in the principal amounts, all as set forth on the cover page hereof.

Interest on the Bonds is payable semiannually on March 2 and September 2 of each year, commencing September 2, 2004 (each an "Interest Payment Date") to the persons in whose names ownership of the Bonds is registered on the registration books at the close of business on the immediately preceding Record Date, except as provided in the Indenture. The Bonds will bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of authentication of the Bonds, unless authenticated on or before an Interest Payment Date and after the fifteenth calendar day of the month preceding such Interest Payment Date (the "Record Date"), in which event the Bonds will bear interest from such Interest Payment Date, or unless the Bonds are authenticated on or prior to August 15, 2004, in which event such Bonds will bear interest from the Dated Date identified above. The Principal Amount is payable upon surrender hereof upon maturity or earlier redemption at the principal corporate trust office (the "Office of the Trustee") of the Trustee, in Los Angeles, California. Interest thereon is payable by check of the Trustee mailed by first class mail on each Interest Payment Date to the Registered Owner at the address of the Registered Owner as it appears on the Registration Books of the Trustee as of the close of business on the Record Date. In the case of an Owner of \$1,000,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Bonds, upon the written request of such Owner to the Trustee, received at least ten days prior to a Record Date, specifying the account or accounts to which such payment will be made, payment of interest will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds on the following Interest Payment Date. Any such request will remain in effect until revoked or revised by such Owner by an instrument in writing delivered to the Trustee.

The Bonds will be issued in book-entry form, initially registered in the name of "Cede & Co.," as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York, and will be evidenced by one Bond maturing on each maturity date, to be in a denomination corresponding to the total principal designated to mature on such date. Payment of interest with respect to any Bond registered as of each Record Date in the name of Cede & Co. will be made by wire transfer of same-day funds to the account of Cede & Co. See APPENDIX E – "BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM."

#### **Redemption of the Bonds**

#### **Optional Redemption**

The Bonds will be subject to optional redemption in whole or in part, on any Interest Payment Date on and after September 2, 2012, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption, without premium.

#### Mandatory Redemption from Escrow Fund Transfers

The Special Term Bonds will be subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, on the Escrow Redemption Date of September 2, 2005, from and to the extent of any transfers from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Prepayment Account at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of the Special Term Bonds to be redeemed, without premium, plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption.

#### Mandatory Redemption From Assessment Prepayments

The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, on any Interest Payment Date, from and to the extent of any prepayment of Assessments, at the following respective Redemption Prices (expressed as percentages of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed), plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption:

Redemption Dates	Redemption Price
September 2, 2004 through March 2, 2012	103%
September 2, 2012 and thereafter	100

The City will notify the Trustee of Bonds to be called for redemption upon prepayment of Assessments in amounts sufficient therefor, or whenever sufficient surplus funds are available therefor in the Redemption Fund. The City will provide such notice in writing at least 45 days prior to the date of such redemption.

#### Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption

The Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 (excluding the Special Term Bonds) are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, in part, on September 2 in each year, commencing September 2, 2025, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of such Bonds to be redeemed, without premium, plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption, in the aggregate respective principal amounts in the respective years as follows:

Sinking Fund Prine	cipal Amount
Redemption Date	to be
(September 2)	Redeemed
2025	\$175,000
2026	185,000
2027	200,000
2028	210,000
2029	225,000
2030	240,000
2031	250,000
2032	270,000
2033*	285,000

\* Maturity

If some but not all of the Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 (excluding the Special Term Bonds) are optionally redeemed, the principal amount of such Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 to be redeemed pursuant to mandatory sinking fund redemptions on any subsequent September 2 will be reduced, by \$5,000 or an integral multiple thereof, as designated by the City in a Written Certificate of the City filed with the Trustee; provided, however, that the aggregate amount of such reductions will not exceed the aggregate amount of such Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 optionally redeemed. If some but not all of the Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 (excluding the Special Term Bonds) are redeemed pursuant to mandatory redemption from Principal Prepayments, the principal amount of such Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 to be subsequently redeemed pursuant to mandatory sinking fund redemptions will be reduced by the aggregate principal amount of such Bonds maturing on September 2, 2033 so redeemed pursuant to mandatory redemption from Principal Prepayments, such reduction to be allocated as nearly as practicable on a *pro rata* basis in amounts of \$5,000 or integral multiples thereof, as determined by the Trustee, notice of which determination will be given by the Trustee to the City.

The Special Term Bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, in part, on September 2 in each year, commencing September 2, 2006, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of the Special Term Bonds to be redeemed, without premium, plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption, in the aggregate respective principal amounts in the respective years as follows:

Sinking Fund Redemption Date	Principal Amount to be	Sinking Fund Redemption Date	Principal Amount to be
(September 2)	Redeemed	(September 2)	Redeemed
2006	\$20,000	2020	\$40,000
2007	20,000	2021	45,000
2008	20,000	2022	45,000
2009	20,000	2023	50,000
2010	25,000	2024	55,000
2011	25,000	2025	55,000
2012	25,000	2026	60,000
2013	30,000	2027	65,000
2014	30,000	2028	65,000
2015	30,000	2029	70,000
2016	35,000	2030	75,000
2017	35,000	2031	80,000
2018	35,000	2032	85,000
2019	40,000	$2033^{*}$	90,000

\* Maturity

If some but not all of the Special Term Bonds are optionally redeemed, the principal amount of Special Term Bonds to be redeemed pursuant to mandatory sinking fund redemptions on any subsequent September 2 will be reduced, by \$5,000 or an integral multiple thereof, as designated by the City in a Written Certificate of the City filed with the Trustee; provided, however, that the aggregate amount of such reductions will not exceed the aggregate amount of Special Term Bonds optionally redeemed. If some but not all of the Special Term Bonds are redeemed pursuant to mandatory redemption from Principal Prepayments, the principal amount of Special Term Bonds to be subsequently redeemed pursuant to mandatory sinking fund redemptions will be reduced by the aggregate principal amount of the Special Term Bonds so redeemed pursuant to mandatory redemption from Principal Prepayments, such reduction to be allocated as nearly as practicable on a *pro rata* basis in amounts of \$5,000 or integral multiples thereof, as determined by the Trustee, notice of which determination will be given by the Trustee to the City.

#### Notice of Redemption

The Trustee on behalf and at the expense of the City will mail (by first class mail) notice of any redemption to the respective Owners of any Bonds designated for redemption at their respective addresses appearing on the registration books, and to the Securities Depositories and to one or more Information Services, at least 30 but not more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. Such notice will state the date of the notice, the redemption date, the redemption place and the Redemption Price and will designate the Series of Bonds, the CUSIP numbers, the Bond numbers and the maturity or maturities (except in the event of redemption of all of the Bonds of such maturity or maturities in whole) of the Bonds to be redeemed, and require that such Bonds be then surrendered at the Office of the Trustee for redemption at the Redemption Price, giving notice also that further interest on such Bonds will not accrue from and after the date fixed for redemption. Neither the failure to receive any notice so mailed, nor any defect in such notice, will affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for the redemption of the Bonds or the cessation of accrual of interest thereon from and after the date fixed for redemption.

#### Selection of Bonds for Redemption

Whenever provision is made in the Indenture for the redemption of less than all of the Bonds maturing on a particular date, the Trustee will select the Bonds to be redeemed from all Bonds not previously called for redemption (a) with respect to an optional redemption under the Indenture, among maturities as directed in a Written Request of the City; and (b) with respect to any redemption pursuant to mandatory redemption from Principal Prepayments, among maturities on a pro rata basis as nearly as practicable, and by lot among Bonds with the same maturity in such manner as determined by the Trustee. For purposes of such selection, all Bonds will be deemed to be comprised of separate \$5,000 denominations and such separate denominations will be treated as separate Bonds which may be separately redeemed.

#### Effect of Notice of Redemption

Notice having been mailed as aforesaid, and moneys for the redemption (including the interest to the applicable Redemption Date and including any applicable premium), having been deposited in the Redemption Fund or Prepayment Account, as applicable, the Bonds will become due and payable on said date, and, upon presentation and surrender thereof at the Office of the Trustee, said Bonds will be paid at the Redemption Price thereof, together with interest accrued and unpaid to said date.

If, on said date fixed for redemption, moneys for the redemption of all the Bonds to be redeemed, together with interest to said date, is held by the Trustee so as to be available therefor on such date, and, if notice of redemption thereof has been mailed as aforesaid and not canceled, then, from and after said date, interest on said Bonds will cease to accrue and become payable. All moneys held by or on behalf of the Trustee for the redemption of Bonds will be held in trust for the account of the Owners of the Bonds so to be redeemed.

#### **Transfers and Exchange**

So long as the Bonds remain in book-entry, transfer and exchange of any of the Bonds will be accomplished in accordance with the provisions of such book-entry system. In the event of termination of such book-entry system with respect to the Bonds, then any Bond may be transferred upon the registration books by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a written instrument of transfer, duly executed in a form acceptable to the Trustee. Whenever any Bond or Bonds are surrendered for transfer, the City will execute and the Trustee will authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds for a like aggregate principal amount of the same maturity, in any authorized denomination. The Trustee will require the Bond Owner requesting such transfer to pay any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such transfer.

The Bonds may be exchanged at the Office of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of Bonds of the same maturity, of other authorized denominations. The Trustee will require the payment by the Bond Owner requesting such exchange of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange.

The Trustee will not be obligated to make any transfer or exchange of Bonds during the period established by the Trustee for the selection of Bonds for redemption, or with respect to any Bonds selected for redemption.

## **Debt Service Schedule**

The schedule of annual debt service payments for the Bonds is as follows:

Year Ending			
September 2	Principal	Interest	Total <sup>(1)</sup>
2004 (2)	\$	\$ 196,640.50	\$ 196,640.50
2005 (2)	70,000	310,485.00	380,485.00
2006	90,000	308,735.00	398,735.00
2007	95,000	305,535.00	400,535.00
2008	95,000	302,045.00	397,045.00
2009	100,000	298,367.50	398,367.50
2010	105,000	294,327.50	399,327.50
2011	110,000	289,577.50	399,577.50
2012	115,000	284,372.50	399,372.50
2013	125,000	278,637.50	403,637.50
2014	125,000	272,122.50	397,122.50
2015	130,000	265,512.50	395,512.50
2016	140,000	258,452.50	398,452.50
2017	150,000	250,665.00	400,665.00
2018	155,000	242,170.00	397,170.00
2019	165,000	233,280.00	398,280.00
2020	170,000	223,675.00	393,675.00
2021	185,000	213,655.00	398,655.00
2022	195,000	202,605.00	397,605.00
2023	205,000	190,815.00	395,815.00
2024	220,000	178,415.00	398,415.00
2025	230,000	164,940.00	394,940.00
2026	245,000	150,811.26	395,811.26
2027	265,000	135,760.00	400,760.00
2028	275,000	119,480.00	394,480.00
2029	295,000	102,587.50	397,587.50
2030	315,000	84,466.26	399,466.26
2031	330,000	65,116.26	395,116.26
2032	355,000	44,843.76	399,843.76
2033	375,000	23,036.26	398,036.26
Total:	\$5,430,000	\$6,291,131.80	\$11,721,131.80

# Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds Debt Service Schedule

(1)

Debt Service includes debt service on all of the Bonds, including the Special Term Bonds. All of the interest due in the year ending September 2, 2004 and a portion of the interest due in the year (2) ending September 2, 2005 will by funded from proceeds of the non-escrowed Bonds.

Source: Stone & Youngberg LLC.

#### SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS

#### General

The Bonds are limited obligations of the City payable solely from the Assessments and the other assets pledged therefor under the Indenture. Subject only to the provisions of the Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture, all of the Assessments (including prepayments thereof), together with interest thereon (but excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments), and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) held in any fund or account established pursuant to the Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund and the Administrative Expense Account) are pledged by the City to secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds in accordance with their terms, the provisions of the Indenture and the Act. Said pledge constitutes a first lien on such assets. The Assessments, and any reassessments which may be issued thereon or in lieu thereof, together with interest thereon, will remain and constitute a trust fund for the redemption and payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon.

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE ASSESSMENTS AND THE OTHER ASSETS PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE INDENTURE. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. THE CITY IS NOT OBLIGATED TO ADVANCE AVAILABLE FUNDS FROM THE CITY TREASURY TO CURE ANY DEFICIENCY IN THE REDEMPTION FUND. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS.

#### Levy and Collection of Assessment

Pursuant to the Act, the City is required annually to transmit to the Auditor of the County of San Diego (the "County") the respective amounts of individual installments on all unpaid Assessments. Said Assessment installments are then billed on the regular County property tax bills and are remitted to the City in accordance with established procedures for such remittances. The Assessments are allocated and distributed to the City in monthly installments as they are collected, beginning in November and ending in January with respect to the first installment of the Assessments which is due on October 1 and delinquent by December 10 of each year, and beginning in March and ending in July with respect to the second installment of the Assessments which is due on February 1 and delinquent by April 10 of each year. The City will receive reports from the San Diego County Treasurer-Tax Collector (the "County Treasurer") regarding delinquent Assessments in February and May of each year. Toward the end of July of each year, the City will receive a final distribution of all delinquent Assessments collected for the preceding fiscal year.

The City will comply with all requirements of the Act, the Resolution and the Indenture to assure the timely collection of the Assessments, and interest thereon, including, without limitation, the enforcement of delinquent Assessments. Any funds received by the City in and for the Assessment District (excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments), including, but not limited to, collections of Assessments (including prepayments thereof), and interest thereon, upon the secured tax rolls, collections of delinquent Assessments, through foreclosure proceedings or otherwise, and collections of amounts for Administrative Expenses, will as soon as practicable be transmitted directly to the Trustee, without deduction, to be deposited into the funds and accounts specified in the Indenture. The transfer of any such amounts will be accompanied by a Written Certificate of the City that identifies which portion, if any, of the amounts so transferred constitute Assessments, or interest thereon, or prepayments of Assessments or amounts collected for Administrative Expenses.

The Assessments and interest thereon, will be payable and be collected in the same manner at the same time and in the same installments as the general taxes on real property are payable, and have the same priority, become delinquent at the same time and in the same proportionate amounts and bear the same proportionate penalties and interest after delinquency as do the general taxes on real property. The Assessments, together with the interest thereon, will be payable in annual series corresponding in number to the number of series of Bonds. An annual proportion of the Assessment, together with interest thereon, will be payable in each year preceding the date of maturity of each of the several series of Bonds in an amount sufficient to pay such Bonds (other than Deemed Escrow Bonds), and interest thereon, when due. In addition, the City will, in accordance with and subject to the limitations contained in the report for the Assessment Toll an amount estimated to be sufficient to pay Administrative Expenses for the following annual period.

The City will, before the final date on which the Auditor will accept the transmission of the Assessments for inclusion on the next tax roll, prepare or cause to be prepared, and will transmit to the Auditor, such data as the Auditor requires to include the installments of such Assessments, together with interest thereon, and Administrative Expenses on the next secured tax roll of the County.

All sums received from the collection of the Assessments and of the interest thereon (excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments) will be transferred by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Redemption Fund. All amounts collected by the City for Administrative Expenses will be transferred by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Administrative Expense Account. Any prepayments of Assessments will be transferred by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Prepayment Account; provided, however, that amounts attributable to the administrative costs of the prepayment of Assessments will be transferred by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Administrative Expense Account.

In connection with proposed improvements to State Route 125 running adjacent to the Assessment District, a small portion of those lots located at the extreme northeastern section of the Assessment District (Lots 7 through 10) may become subject to purchase by the California Department of Transportation (CalTrans). The Developer and CalTrans have begun preliminary negotiations for the purchase of approximately 2.38 acres and have commenced appraisals in connection therewith. Upon the closing of any such purchase, a portion of the Bonds may become subject to mandatory redemption from and to the extent of a prepayment of Assessments. See "THE BONDS - Redemption of the Bonds - Mandatory Redemption From Assessment Prepayments" and "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT - District Formation" and "- Property Ownership and Development."

Whenever, after the issuance of the Bonds, an Assessment is prepaid, in whole or in part, as provided in the Act, the Trustee, pursuant to a Written Request of the City, will transfer from the Reserve Fund to the Prepayment Account an amount, specified in such Written Request, equal to the product of the ratio of the original amount of the Assessment, or portion thereof, so prepaid to the original amount of all unpaid Assessments, times the initial Reserve Requirement. Any Assessment may be so prepaid less, if available, the amount so transferred to the Redemption Fund from the Reserve Fund, if any, together with the redemption premium, if any, and interest on such prepaid Assessment (if not collected in an Assessment installment) to the earliest Redemption Date for which notice of redemption may be given in accordance herewith.

The lien of the Assessments is co-equal to and independent of the lien for general *ad valorem* property taxes and other taxes, special taxes and charges collected on the property tax roll. The lien is subordinate to all fixed special assessment liens imposed prior to the date of recordation of the assessment lien for the Bonds upon the same property, but has priority over all existing and future private liens and over all fixed special assessment liens which may thereafter be levied against the property.

Although the Assessments constitute a fixed lien on the respective assessed parcels, they do not constitute personal indebtedness of the affected property owners. Further, there are no restrictions on the ability of property owners to sell parcels subject to Assessments. No assurance can be given as to the ability or the willingness of any assessee to pay the annual installments of the Assessments when due. The failure of an assessee to pay an annual installment of an Assessment will not result in an increase in Assessments against other parcels in the Assessment District. See "SPECIAL RISK FACTORS – The Assessments are not Personal Obligations of the Property Owners" herein.

The City has covenanted in certain circumstances to undertake and diligently prosecute foreclosure proceedings following a delinquency in the payment of Assessments. See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Covenant for Superior Court Foreclosure" below. The City is not required to bid at the foreclosure sale. In the proceedings for the authorization and issuance of the Bonds, the City has determined not to obligate itself to advance any available funds from the City treasury to cover any deficiency or delinquency that may occur in the Redemption Fund by reason of the failure of a property owner to pay an annual installment of an Assessment. This determination does not prevent the City, in its sole discretion, from so advancing such funds.

The County assesses property and collects secured and unsecured property taxes for the cities, school districts, and special districts within the County, including the City. Once the property taxes are collected, the County conducts its internal reconciliation for accounting purposes and distributes the City's share of such taxes to the City. Prior to distribution, the moneys are deposited in an account established on behalf of the City in the County Treasurer's Investment Pool (the "Pool"). If the County and/or the Pool were at any time to become subject to bankruptcy proceedings, it is possible that City property taxes held in the Pool, if any, could be temporarily unavailable to the City.

#### **Assessment Formula**

The Act and Article XIIID of the State Constitution, pursuant to which the improvements are being acquired and constructed, required that individual assessments assigned to the property within the Assessment District be based on the special benefit such properties receive from the improvements. The method of assessment developed by the Assessment Engineer apportions Assessments on the basis of net acreage. Any future apportionments of the Assessment will be performed on the basis of net acreage of any newly created parcels.

The special benefit of the costs are apportioned as follows. The street improvements, sewer improvements and storm drain improvements were designed to provide benefit to the assessed parcels based upon the maximum potential utilization of the parcels. The factors considered in the maximum potential utilization of the parcels are the approved land use and the parcel's acreage. The land use determines the type and intensity of utilization upon the parcels. The parcel's acreage limits the amount of development, such as maximum building size, that may occur on a parcel. Since all the parcels to be assessed have the same land use classification, the remaining apportioning factor is acreage. Therefore, all acquisition costs are apportioned pro rata based upon the net acreage of each parcel. The special benefit of the indirect and district formation costs and costs of issuance of the Bonds are apportioned *pro rata* to each parcel based upon its share of the total construction cost.

Pursuant to Section 10204(f) of the California Streets and Highways Code, the City Council has reserved entitlement to impose an annual assessment, which is in addition to the installment otherwise payable on account of each unpaid assessment, to pay costs incurred by the City and not otherwise reimbursed which result from the administration and collection of Assessments or from the administration or registration of any associated bonds and the reserve fund or other related funds; provided that such additional annual assessment will not exceed the maximum amount prescribed therefor in the Assessment will initially be set to not exceed \$25,000 per year in Fiscal Year 2003-04, and the maximum will not increase more than 2% per year.

The following Table 1 summarizes the amount of the Assessment for each parcel in the Assessment District.

Lot No.	APN	Net Acres <sup>(1)</sup>	2003-04 Assessed Value	Assessment Amount <sup>(2)</sup>
1	646-240-45	1.99	\$ 114,504	\$ 155,365.92
2	646-240-02	2.00	115,034	156,146.66
3	646-240-03	2.03	116,732	158,488.86
4	646-240-04	2.02	116,201	157,708.12
5	646-240-05	2.02	116,201	157,708.12
6	646-240-06	2.01	115,564	156,927.39
7	646-240-07	1.84	105,801	143,654.92
8	646-240-08	1.80	103,573	140,531.99
9	646-240-09	2.17	124,798	169,419.12
10	646-240-10	1.84	105,801	143,654.92
11	646-240-11	2.06	118,430	160,831.06
12	646-240-12	2.07	119,066	161,611.79
13	646-240-13	2.07	119,066	161,611.79
14	646-240-14	2.08	119,598	162,392.52
15	646-240-15	2.02	116,201	157,708.12
16	646-240-16	2.43	139,760	189,718.19
17	646-240-17	5.51	296,076	430,184.04
18	646-240-18	4.41	253,628	344,303.38
19	646-240-19	4.30	247,367	335,715.31
20	646-240-20	4.30	247,367	335,715.31
21	646-240-21	4.30	247,367	335,715.31
22	646-240-22	4.30	247,367	335,715.31
23	646-240-23	4.41	253,628	344,303.38
24	646-240-24	5.57	320,377	434,868.47
		69.55	\$3,979,507	\$5,430,000.00

# TABLE 1City of San DiegoDescription of Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(1)</sup> Parcel size as set forth in Appraisal; does not reflect proposed lot line adjustments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(2)</sup> Assessments as to be revised following the issuance of the Bonds and confirmation of the Engineer's Report. Source: Assessment Engineer.

#### **Assessment District Delinquency Fund**

Pursuant to its Ordinance No. O-17882 adopted December 8, 1992, the City established its Assessment District Delinquency Fund, into which all penalties and interest on delinquent amounts assessed under provisions of the Improvement Bond Act of 1915 ("1915 Act"), the Mello-Roos Community Facilities District Act of 1982 ("1982 Act"), and the Lighting and Landscape Improvement Act of 1972 ("1972 Act"), will be deposited to be used by the City for the costs incurred in fulfilling its obligations under assessment bond indentures and to protect the integrity of the districts. Amounts deposited in the Assessment District Delinquency Fund are not pledged to payment of the Bonds, nor is the City obligated to use monies in the Assessment District Delinquency Fund in any particular instance.

#### **Reserve Fund**

The Trustee will establish, maintain and hold in trust a special fund designated the "Reserve Fund." On the Closing Date, the Trustee will deposit in the Reserve Fund the amount set forth under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS." Additional deposits will be made by the City as provided in the Act. Except as otherwise provided under this caption, all amounts deposited in the Reserve Fund will be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of making transfers to the Redemption Fund in the event of any deficiency at any time in the Redemption Fund of the amount then required for payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds or, in accordance with the Indenture, for the purpose of redeeming Bonds from the Redemption Fund. The City will cause the Reserve Fund to be administered in accordance with Part 16 of the Act; provided, however, that proceeds from redemption or sale of properties, if and to the extent that payment of delinquent Assessments and interest thereon was made from the Reserve Fund, will be credited to the Reserve Fund. Amounts on deposit in the Reserve Fund will, upon the prepayment of Assessments and the written direction of the City in accordance with the Indenture, be transferred to the Prepayment Account and applied to the redemption of Assessment" above.

So long as no Event of Default has occurred and then be continuing, any amount in the Reserve Fund in excess of the Reserve Requirement on February 15 and August 15 of each year will be withdrawn from the Reserve Fund by the Trustee and, prior to the date on which the Improvement Fund is closed upon the completion or substantial completion of the Project as provided in the Indenture, will be deposited in the Improvement Fund and, thereafter, will be deposited in the Redemption Fund. As defined in the Indenture, the term "Reserve Requirement" means, as of the date of any calculation, the least of (a) 10% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Bonds; (b) maximum annual debt service on the Bonds; and (c) 125% of average annual debt service on the Bonds. In calculating such amounts, the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds, as of such date of calculation, and the annual debt service thereon, will be excluded. As defined in the Indenture, the term "Deemed Escrow Bonds" means, as of any date of determination, Special Term Bonds in a principal amount equal to the amount then on deposit in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account (excluding any investment earnings allocable to such amount).

Whenever the balance in the Reserve Fund is sufficient to retire all the Outstanding Bonds, whether by advance retirement or otherwise, collection of the principal and interest on the Assessments will be discontinued and the Reserve Fund will be liquidated by the Trustee in retirement of the Outstanding Bonds, as directed by a Written Request of the City. In the event that the balance in the Reserve Fund at the time of liquidation exceeds the amount required to retire all of the Outstanding Bonds, the excess will, after payment of amounts due to the Trustee, be transferred to the City to be used in accordance with the Act.

#### **Escrow Fund**

*General.* The Trustee will establish and maintain a special fund designated the "Escrow Fund." Within the Escrow Fund, the Trustee will establish and maintain a separate account designated the "Deemed Escrow Bonds Account" and a separate account designated the "Escrow Interest Account." On the Closing Date there will be deposited in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account and in the Escrow Interest Account the respective amounts set forth under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS." Such deposits include the \$1,270,000.00 principal amount of the Special Term Bonds plus \$128,608.67 from non-escrowed Bond proceeds, which is an amount sufficient to cover gross funded capitalized interest through September 2, 2005 (the "Escrow Redemption Date"). On the second Business Day immediately preceding each Interest Payment Date occurring on or prior to the Escrow Redemption Date, the Trustee will transfer from the Escrow Interest Account to the Redemption Fund an amount equal to the interest payable on the Deemed Escrow Bonds on such Interest Payment Date.

Amounts in the Escrow Fund may be released for deposit in the Improvement Fund on any disbursement date to be designated by the City in accordance with the Indenture (the "Escrow Disbursement Date") upon receipt of a certificate of one or more Independent Consultants delivered pursuant to provisions below. See "*Escrow Release*" below.

In the event that such conditions are not satisfied such that all funds are released from the Escrow Fund, on the Business Day immediately preceding the Escrow Redemption Date, the Trustee will transfer all amounts then on deposit in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Prepayment Account, which amounts will be applied to the redemption of Special Term Bonds on the Escrow Redemption Date as set forth under the caption "THE BONDS – Redemption of the Bonds – *Mandatory Redemption from Escrow Fund Transfers*." On the Business Day immediately following the Escrow Redemption Date, the Trustee will transfer any amounts remaining in any of the accounts in the Escrow Fund to the Redemption Fund. THE BONDS – Redemption of the Bonds – *Mandatory Redemption from Escrow Fund Transfers*" and APPENDIX D – "SUMMARY OF INDENTURE – Funds and Accounts – Escrow Fund."

Until such time as the conditions are satisfied and all funds released from the Escrow Fund, and prior to any redemption of Bonds on the Escrow Redemption Date, on the second Business Day immediately preceding each Interest Payment Date occurring on or prior to the Escrow Redemption Date, the Trustee shall transfer from the Escrow Interest Account to the Redemption Fund an amount equal to the interest payable on the Deemed Escrow Bonds on such Interest Payment Date.

On the Escrow Disbursement Date, upon receipt by the Trustee of all of the items specified under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below, the Trustee shall make the following transfers:

(i) The Trustee will transfer from the Escrow Interest Account to the Improvement Fund the amount specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the requirements set forth under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraph (iii)(B) under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below).

(ii) The Trustee will transfer from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Reserve Fund the amount specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the requirements set forth under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraph (iii)(C) under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below).

(iii) The Trustee will transfer from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Redemption Fund the amount, if any, specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the requirements set forth under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraphs (iii)(D) under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below).

(iv) The Trustee will transfer from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Improvement Fund the amount specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the requirements set forth under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraph (iii)(E) under the caption "*Escrow Release*" below).

*Escrow Release.* The Trustee will transfer from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Improvement Fund and other funds the amount specified in the certificate of one or more Independent Consultants delivered as set forth below as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraph (iii)(F) below). Transfers will be made on the Escrow Disbursement Date only if, not later than ten Business Days prior to the Escrow Disbursement Date, the Trustee has received all of the following:

(i) a Written Certificate of the City specifying the Escrow Disbursement Date, which will be a date (A) no less than 75 days prior to the Escrow Redemption Date, and (B) no less than five Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date next occurring after the date of receipt by the Trustee of such Written Certificate of the City;

(ii) a Written Certificate of the City certifying that, on the basis of the records of the County Tax Collector available to the City or information provided to the City by the County Tax Collector, there are no current defaults in the payment of any *ad valorem* real property taxes or special taxes or special assessments levied on property within the Assessment District owned by the Developer or its affiliates;

(iii) a certificate or certificates from one or more Independent Consultants which, when taken together, certify:

(A) the Transferred Principal Amount, which constitutes the amount to be transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account on the Escrow Disbursement Date (the "Transferred Principal Amount" represents the total amount of the Deemed Escrow Bond that when added to the non-escrowed Bonds then Outstanding results in a value not less than 3.5:1 as required by subparagraph (iii)(F) below);

(B) the amount to be transferred from the Escrow Interest Account to the Improvement Fund on the Escrow Disbursement Date, which amount will be equal to the product of (aa) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the Transferred Principal Amount and the denominator of which is equal to the amount on deposit in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account on the day prior to the Escrow Disbursement Date, times (bb) the amount on deposit in the Escrow Interest Account on the day prior to the Escrow Disbursement Date (this transfer allocates a portion of the capitalized interest funded from the non-escrowed Bonds to the Improvement Fund);

(C) the portion of the Transferred Principal Amount that is to be transferred to the Reserve Fund on the Escrow Disbursement Date, which portion will be an amount equal to the remainder of (I) the Reserve Requirement (calculated as if the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds had been reduced by virtue of such Transferred Principal Amount having already been transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account), less (II) the Reserve Requirement (calculated based on the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds just prior to such Transferred Principal Amount being transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account);

(D) the portion, if any, of the Transferred Principal Amount to be transferred to the Redemption Fund on the Escrow Disbursement Date, which portion will be an amount which is sufficient to pay interest on a portion of the Bonds in an amount equal to the Transferred Principal Amount (which portion of the Bonds will be deemed to be comprised of the Special Term Bonds) on each Interest Payment Date that will occur before Assessments can be enrolled and collected in an amount sufficient to pay such interest;

(E) the portion of the Transferred Principal Amount to be transferred to the Improvement Fund, which portion will be an amount equal to the remainder of (I) the Transferred Principal Amount, less (II) the sum of (aa) the amount to be transferred to the Reserve Fund pursuant to the preceding paragraph (C), plus (bb) the amount, if any, to be transferred to the Redemption Fund pursuant to the preceding paragraph (D);

(F) that the sum of (I) the Assessed Valuation of parcels of property within the Assessment District for which a Qualified Appraisal Report has not been provided, plus (II) the Appraised Value of parcels of property within the Assessment District for which a Qualified Appraisal Report has been provided, as such Appraised Value is shown in such Qualified Appraisal Report, is at least 3.5 times the sum of (aa) the aggregate principal amount of all Outstanding Bonds other than the Deemed Escrow Bonds (assuming that the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds is reduced by virtue of the transfer of the Transferred Principal Amount from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account on the Escrow Disbursement Date), plus (bb) the aggregate principal amount of all fixed lien special assessments (other than the Assessments) levied on parcels of property within the Assessment District, based upon information from the most recent Fiscal Year for which such information is available, plus (cc) a portion of the aggregate principal amount of Other District Bonds equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Other District Bonds multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of special taxes levied for the Other District Bonds (as defined below) on parcels of property within the Assessment District, and the denominator of which is the total amount of special taxes levied for the Other District Bonds on all parcels of land (such fraction to be determined based upon the maximum special taxes which could be levied in the year in which maximum annual debt service on the Other District Bonds occurs), based upon information from the most recent Fiscal Year for which such information is available. As defined in the Indenture, the term "Other District Bonds" means, as of the date of determination, any and all bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued under the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982 then outstanding and payable at least partially from special taxes to be levied on parcels of property within the Assessment District.

#### **Covenant for Superior Court Foreclosure**

The Bonds are subject to the provisions of the 1915 Act with respect to foreclosure remedies. The 1915 Act provides that upon default in the payment of any installment of an assessment, the parcel

securing such assessment will be sold (and will be subject to the right of redemption by the owner) in the same manner in which real property is sold for the nonpayment of general *ad valorem* property taxes.

The 1915 Act also provides that, as a cumulative remedy, in the event any installment of an assessment is not paid when due, the City may order the collection of the installment by the institution of a court action to foreclose the lien of such assessment. In such an action, the real property subject to the unpaid assessment may be sold at a judicial foreclosure sale. This foreclosure sale procedure is not mandatory. In the Indenture, the City has covenanted that it will determine or cause to be determined, no later than August 15 of each Fiscal Year in which the Bonds are Outstanding, whether or not any owners of the real property within the Assessment District are delinquent in the payment of Assessment installments. If such delinquencies exist, the City will order and cause to be commenced an action in the Superior Court to foreclose the lien of an Assessment or installment thereof not paid when due, not later than the next following November 1, against any parcel that is subject to delinquencies of more than \$12,500 or any group of parcels under common ownership with aggregate delinquencies of more than \$12,500; provided, however, that during any period in which the amount on deposit in the Reserve Fund is less than the Reserve Requirement, the City will commence foreclosure proceedings against any parcel that is subject to delinquencies of more than \$10,000 or any group of parcels under common ownership with aggregate delinquencies of more than \$10,000. The City has further covenanted to diligently prosecute any such foreclosure action to judgment and foreclosure sale.

Upon the redemption or sale of the real property responsible for such delinquencies, the City will apply the net proceeds thereof to replenish the Reserve Fund the amount of any delinquency previously advanced from the Reserve Fund; with the balance, if any, to be disbursed as set forth in the judgment of foreclosure or as required by law.

Even though foreclosure is commenced and diligently prosecuted in accordance with the City's covenant of foreclosure, the City can not provide any assurance that, in the event such foreclosure progresses to the point of a foreclosure sale, there will be any bidder for the subject parcel or parcels. There is no assurance that such present value will not decline in the future, and the City is not obligated to be a bidder at such foreclosure sale. In the absence of any outside bidder, the foreclosure sale may not produce money to the City in satisfaction of its foreclosure judgment from which to pay the principal of or interest on the Bonds secured by such delinquencies in the payments of Assessments. See APPENDIX A - "APPRAISAL REPORT" herein.

If foreclosure is necessary and other funds (including amounts in the Reserve Fund) have been exhausted, debt service payments on the Bonds could be delayed until the foreclosure proceedings have ended with the receipt of any foreclosure sale proceeds. Judicial foreclosure actions are subject to the normal delays associated with court cases and may be further slowed by bankruptcy actions, involvement by agencies of the federal government, and other factors beyond the control of the City. See "SPECIAL RISK FACTORS – Bankruptcy and Foreclosure Delays" herein. Moreover, no assurances can be given that the real property subject to foreclosure and sale will be sold or, if sold, that the proceeds of such sale (less penalties and interest on delinquent amounts which will be deposited into the City's Assessment District Delinquency Fund) will be sufficient to pay any delinquent Assessment installment. Although the Act authorizes the City to cause such an action to be commenced and diligently pursued to completion, the Act does not impose on the City any obligation to purchase or acquire any lot or parcel of property sold at a foreclosure sale if there is no other purchaser at such sale. The Act provides that, in the case of a delinquency, the Assessments will have the same lien priority as is provided for *ad valorem* taxes.

#### **Judicial Foreclosure Sale Proceedings**

The 1915 Act provides that the court in a foreclosure proceeding has the power to order a parcel securing delinquent assessments to be sold for an amount not less than all delinquent annual installments of the assessments, interest, penalties, costs, fees and other charges that are delinquent at the time the foreclosure action is ordered and certain other fees and amounts as provided in the 1915 Act (the "Minimum Price"). The court may also include subsequent delinquent assessments and all other delinquent amounts. These provisions also apply in foreclosure proceedings to recover delinquent Assessments.

If the parcel is sold to a purchaser other than the City, the City will pay the proceeds from the sale of the parcel (less penalties and interest on delinquent amounts which will be deposited into the City's Assessment District Delinquency Fund) after payment of any expenses related to the foreclosure into the Redemption Fund. The City has no obligation to advance any monies (other than the foreclosure sale proceeds) to the Redemption Fund. However, if the City for any reason voluntarily chooses to advance funds, then the City will be reimbursed, from the proceeds of a sale, first for amounts advanced by it to the Redemption Fund to cover delinquent installments of the Assessments and interest with respect to the parcel or parcels sold in such proceedings. Any funds in excess of the amount necessary to reimburse the City may be applied by the City to reimburse other funds, if any, used to cover delinquent installments of the Assessments and interest or to pay interest and penalties, costs, fees and other charges, to the extent they were included in the sale proceeds.

If the parcel or parcels to be sold fails to sell for the Minimum Price, the City may petition the court to modify the judgment so that the parcel or parcels may be sold at a lesser price or without a Minimum Price. In certain circumstances, as provided in the 1915 Act, the court may modify the judgment after a hearing if the court makes certain determinations, including determinations that the sale at less than the Minimum Price will not result in an ultimate loss to the owners of the Bonds or that the owners of at least 75% of the principal amount of the Bonds outstanding have consented to the petition and the sale will not result in an ultimate loss to nonconsenting bondholders. The court may also make such modification of the judgment upon consent of the owners of at least 75% of the principal amount of the Bonds without determining that the sale will not result in an ultimate loss to the nonconsenting bondholders if: (i) the City is not obligated to advance available funds to cure a deficiency; (ii) no bids equal to or greater than the Minimum Price have been received at the foreclosure sale; (iii) no funds remain in the Reserve Fund for the Bonds; (iv) the City has reasonably determined that a reassessment and refunding proceeding is not practicable or has in good faith endeavored to accomplish a reassessment and refunding and has not been successful, or has completed reassessment and refunding arrangements which will, to the maximum extent feasible, minimize the ultimate loss to the bondholders; and (v) no other remedy acceptable to the owners or holders of 75% or more of the principal amount of the outstanding Bonds, is reasonably available. Neither the parcel owner nor any holder of a security interest in the parcel, nor any defendant in the foreclosure action, nor any agent thereof, may purchase the parcel at the foreclosure sale for less than the Minimum Price. In the event that property is sold under the terms set forth immediately above at a lesser price than the Minimum Price, the assessment lien upon such property shall be reduced by the difference between the Minimum Price and the sale price. No assurance can be given that in the event of a foreclosure proceeding a parcel could be sold for the full amount of the delinquency or that any bid would be received for such parcel. See "SPECIAL RISK FACTORS -Property Values" herein. The ability of the City to foreclose the lien of a delinquent installment of an Assessment may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws generally affecting creditors' rights or by California law relating to judicial foreclosure. See "SPECIAL RISK FACTORS - Bankruptcy and Foreclosure Delays."

As set forth above, even though foreclosure is commenced, the City can not provide any assurance that, in the event such foreclosure progresses to the point of a foreclosure sale, there will be any bidder for the subject parcel or parcels. If foreclosure is necessary and other funds (including amounts in the Reserve Fund) have been exhausted, debt service payments on the Bonds could be delayed until the foreclosure proceedings have ended with the receipt of any foreclosure sale proceeds. Judicial foreclosure actions are subject to the normal delays associated with court cases and may be further slowed by bankruptcy actions, involvement by agencies of the federal government, and other factors beyond the control of the City. See "SPECIAL RISK FACTORS - Bankruptcy and Foreclosure Delays" herein. Moreover, no assurances can be given that the real property subject to foreclosure and sale at a judicial foreclosure sale will be sold or, if sold, that the proceeds of such sale will be sufficient to pay any delinquent Assessment installments. Although the Act authorizes the City to cause such an action to be commenced and diligently pursued to completion, the Act does not impose on the City any obligation to purchase or acquire any lot or parcel of property sold at a foreclosure sale if there is no other purchaser at such sale. The Act provides that, in the case of a delinquency, the Assessments will have the same lien priority as is provided for *ad valorem* taxes.

#### Sales of Tax-Defaulted Property Generally

A parcel securing delinquent installments of an Assessment that is not sold pursuant to the judicial foreclosure proceeding as described above may be sold, subject to redemption by the parcel owner, in the same manner and to the same extent as real property sold for nonpayment of City *ad valorem* property taxes. On or before June 30 of the tax year in which such delinquency occurs, the parcel becomes tax-defaulted. This initiates a five-year period during which the parcel owner may redeem the parcel. At the end of the five-year period the parcel becomes subject to sale by the County Treasurer. Except in certain circumstances, as provided in the 1915 Act, the purchaser at any such sale takes such parcel subject to all delinquent installments of the Assessment, interest and penalties, costs, fees and other charges which are not satisfied by application of the sales proceeds and subject to all prior assessments, if any, which may have priority.

#### **Priority of Lien**

The unpaid Assessments levied within the Assessment District, and each installment thereof and any interest and penalties thereon, constitute a lien against each of the respective parcels within the Assessment District until the same are paid. Such lien is subordinate to all special assessment liens previously imposed upon the same property, but has priority over all private liens and over all special assessment liens which may thereafter be created against the same property. However, such lien is on a parity with the lien of general property taxes and any special taxes imposed, whether prior to the date hereof or in the future, against parcels within such Assessment District pursuant to the Act, or other applicable legislation. There currently exist liens for special taxes and the recurring lien for general property taxes on properties in the Assessment District. See "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT - Direct and Overlapping Debt." The City's Metropolitan Wastewater Department is currently developing a proposed financing mechanism which, if approved by the City Council at a later date, would likely require owners of property tributary to the Metropolitan Wastewater System, within Otay Mesa, to pay an apportioned, fair share cost for regional sewer facilities. As such, some owners of parcels within the Assessment District may (or may not) be required to pay an apportioned, fair share cost of the regional sewer infrastructure, at a later date, most likely at the time of issuance of building permits for vertical development. The proposed re-mapping of the property purchased by MDC could result in charges for such apportioned costs for MDC and/or subsequent owners of MDC's parcels. See "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT – Map Status."

#### **Teeter Plan Not Applicable**

In 1993, the County implemented an alternate procedure for the distribution of certain property tax levies on the secured roll pursuant to Chapter 3, Part 8, Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code, commonly referred to as the "Teeter Plan." Generally, the Teeter Plan provides for a tax distribution procedure in which secured roll taxes are distributed to taxing agencies within the County on the basis of the tax levy, rather than on the basis of actual tax collections. Taxing entities that maintain funds in the County Treasury are all included in the Teeter Plan; other taxing entities may elect to be included in the Teeter Plan.

By policy, the City does not participate in the County's Teeter Plan program. The Assessments pledged to secure the debt service on the Bonds ARE NOT included in the County's Teeter Plan program.

#### **ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS**

The sources and uses of proceeds of sale of the Bonds are as follows:

Sources

Principal Amount of Bonds Less Original Issue Discount Total Sources:	\$5,430,000.00 (21,725.85) \$5,408,274.15
<u>Uses</u>	
Improvement Fund	\$3,097,878.74
Capitalized Interest Account <sup>(1)</sup>	146,771.83
Reserve Fund <sup>(2)</sup>	309,232.41
Costs of Issuance Fund <sup>(3)</sup>	430,782.50
Deemed Escrow Bonds Account	1,270,000.00
Escrow Interest Account <sup>(4)</sup>	128,608.67
Administrative Expense Account	25,000.00
Total Uses:	\$5,408,274.15

<sup>(1)</sup> Represents capitalized interest on the Bonds (excluding the Deemed Escrow Bonds) through September 2, 2004.

#### THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT

#### General

The Assessment District encompasses approximately 80 gross acres, with 69.55 net acres to be developed as an industrial/office park known as Piper Ranch Business Park. A final recorded subdivision map subdivides the Assessment District into a 24-lot industrial subdivision. The Assessment District is recorded as Lots 1 to 24, inclusive, of Piper Ranch Business Park, located in the City, according to Map thereof No. 12346 filed in the Office of the County Recorder of San Diego County, April 12, 1989. All of the area within the Assessment District is zoned for industrial uses, as "OMDD-I," or "Otay Mesa Development District – Industrial." The area is intended to be developed into industrial uses, pursuant to the City's General Plan and the Otay Mesa Community Plan.

<sup>(2)</sup> Represents the Reserve Fund Requirement for the Bonds (excluding the Deemed Escrow Bonds).

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes legal, financial advisor, appraiser, assessment engineer, bond and disclosure counsel, underwriter's discount, printing costs and other miscellaneous Costs of Issuance.

<sup>(4)</sup> Represents that amount sufficient to cover interest on the Special Term Bonds through September 2, 2005. See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Escrow Fund."

The Assessment District will be developed by Piper Ranch LLC (the "Developer") and will be managed by BCL, Inc., a local commercial real estate development firm based in San Diego. Currently, the public improvements to be acquired are approximately 99 percent complete, with infrastructure, utilities, street improvements and sheet graded lots in place. On August 14, 2003, the Developer sold 8 contiguous finished lots comprising approximately 16.36 acres to One Piper Ranch LLC (Master Development Corporation) ("MDC"). MDC plans to re-map its property and construct 12 light industrial buildings on these lots and is marketing the project as "One Piper Ranch." The proposed buildings range in size from 11,300 square feet to 32,000 square feet. See "Property Ownership and Development" below.

#### **District Formation**

The proceedings for the formation of the Assessment District were conducted pursuant to the Act and Article XIIID of the Constitution of the State of California (the "State Constitution"). The Assessment District was formed to finance the construction and acquisition of the architecture, engineering, and construction of road, sewer and storm drain facilities, including Piper Ranch Road, Aviator Road (the completion of which has been deferred and will not be funded from proceeds of the Bonds), Air Wing Road, Approach Road and Dead Stick Road, curb and gutter, sidewalk, pedestrian ramps, berms, monuments and street lights. Sewer mainlines, including manholes, lot laterals and cleanouts, are to be located in Otay Mesa Road, Piper Ranch Road, Air Wing Road and along the Assessment District's western boundary. Storm drain facilities consist of reinforced concrete pipe, cleanouts, curb inlets and concrete lined drainage channel to be constructed by the Developer for the benefit of the Assessment District. See also, "THE PLAN OF FINANCE" herein. The Assessment District is an area of special assessment referring to the property that is specially benefited from the improvements and that is to be assessed to pay for the costs of construction and acquisition of the improvements.

#### **District Location**

*The Assessment District.* The Assessment District consists of an 80 gross acre and 69.55 net acre industrial park located between Otay Mesa Road and Aviator Road, at the northwest corner of Piper Ranch Road and Otay Mesa Road in the Otay Mesa community of the City of San Diego. Interior streets within the Piper Ranch subdivision include Air Wing Road, Dead Stick Road and Approach Road. The location is approximately one-half mile east of Brown Field airport.

The overall topography of the Assessment District is relatively flat with a natural southwesterly drainage gradient. Elevations in the Assessment District vary from approximately 507 feet above sea level in the northeastern corner to approximately 484 feet above sea level at the southwest corner. The finished lots are expected to be situated about one foot above street grade with some minor variation and gently rolling terrain.

Access to the Assessment District is by Otay Mesa Road east from Otay Valley Road/Heritage Road or Interstate 805. Otay Mesa Road is asphalt paved and striped for three westbound lanes and two eastbound lanes, with a broken yellow line (non-raised) median. The existing road width and right-of-way varies, but currently, there is approximately 59 feet of existing road width. Otay Mesa Road is planned to be widened along the Assessment District frontage approximately 31 feet with a new concrete curb, gutter and sidewalk installed. The intersection of Otay Mesa Road and Piper Ranch Road is planned to be signalized. Piper Ranch Road is the primary street intersecting Otay Mesa Road for this subdivision. Piper Ranch Road is proposed to be an asphalt paved collector street with an 80-foot right of way. It is planned to be developed with two lanes with center median and concrete curbs, gutters and

sidewalks. Other roads within the Assessment District subdivision (Air Wing Road, Dead Stick Road and Approach Road) have been developed to City standards with right-of-ways ranging from 70 to 90 feet.

*Otay Mesa Area Description.* The Assessment District is located within the Otay Mesa Community Plan. The Community Plan Area is defined as the southern portion of the City and a portion of the County of San Diego and as such, is governed by both the City and County of San Diego. It is bounded by the U.S./Mexico international border to the south, Interstate 805 to the west, the Otay River Valley to the north and the foothills of the San Ysidro Mountains to the east. The Community Plan Area encompasses approximately 28 square miles in both the City and County of San Diego.

Until the mid-1980's, the area was primarily undeveloped agricultural land lacking the necessary public infrastructure for urbanization. With the opening of the Otay Mesa border crossing in late 1985, the establishment of the adjacent Otay International Center and the opening of the State Prison in 1987, the area experienced a significant amount of developmental change in the last 15 years. Otay Mesa has the largest industrially zoned area in San Diego, encompassing 20,600 acres. About 40 percent of this area is located within the City limits and the balance is in the County jurisdiction. At full build-out, the community plan calls for development of a relatively self-contained residential community of approximately 2,500 acres. The community's projected population of 46,400 calls for eight new elementary schools, seven neighborhood parks, a middle school, two community parks and one senior high school.

One of the most important factors leading to increased interest in the Otay Mesa area has been the opening of the Otay Mesa border crossing and the ultimate transfer of all commercial and industrial traffic to its crossing facility. In 1994, the Otay Mesa point of entry was expanded to accommodate additional cargo shipments and in January 1995 it began handling all commercial traffic between San Diego and Tijuana. The San Ysidro international border crossing, located 5.5 miles to the west of Otay Mesa, now allows only pedestrian and private vehicle traffic.

Otay Mesa's predominantly industrial zoning has provided a base for the City's expanding role in international manufacturing. It began developing in the mid-1980s with the passing of NAFTA and its close proximity to Mexico. Manufacturing operations that are foreign-owned, referred to as maquiladoras, assemble plants in Mexico that import raw material duty-free and export final products around the world. The area expanded into a burgeoning manufacturing industry with the majority of the world's televisions manufactured in the area. Many companies that have located to Otay Mesa have maquiladoras in Tijuana and are operating twin plants. A sample of these companies includes Sanyo North America, Maxell Magnetic Media, Matsushita Television Company and JVC. Current estimates indicate there are about 450 companies in the Otay Mesa community employing 12,000 people.

Business development incentives such as its designation as a state Enterprise Zone and Foreign Trade Zone status also benefit the area. About 1,416 acres of Otay Mesa is situated within the Foreign Trade Zone. This designation allows foreign or domestic goods to enter the area without formal customs entry or payment of custom duties and government excise taxes. The maquiladora industry, after suffering one of the worst years in 2001, experienced a modest recovery in 2002. The maquiladora industry exports experienced a 1.5% growth in 2002 and Mexico's total manufacturing exports experienced a 0.5% growth in the same period. However, preliminary data for the six month period ended June 2003 indicate that Mexico's manufacturing sector continues to suffer due to the higher unemployment rate, the weakening of the manufacturing exports experienced a 2% decline during the six month period ended June 2003 over the same period in 2002.

Otay Mesa is also home to Brown Field, a City-owned general aviation airport occupying 900 acres north of Otay Mesa Road. The airport currently handles about 20,000 flight operations per month and has an existing main runway that is 8,000 feet in length. It is located on the north side of Otay Mesa Road, west of the Assessment District. A development group had proposed converting the airport into an air cargo airport a couple of years ago. This proposal has since been declined by the City and removed from consideration.

Otay Mesa is characterized by expanses of vacant land with clustered "leap frog" style pockets of development. The Assessment District is immediately surrounded by predominantly undeveloped industrial land to the north, east and south. An existing industrial subdivision located west of the Assessment District and east of La Media Road exists. This subdivision, the Otay Mesa Industrial Park, has 22 mapped lots ranging in size from about an acre to about 4.5 acres. Currently, about a fourth of these are developed with light industrial uses. Immediately west of this subdivision is Brown Field, a general aviation airport situated on approximately 900 acres along the north side of Otay Mesa Road.

The subject subdivision has adequate to good visibility to traffic along Otay Mesa Road. Several of the lots, most notably, Lots 1, 16 and 17, directly front Otay Mesa Road and have good visibility, but there is no direct access to Otay Mesa Road available to these lots.

Access to the Assessment District. Primary access to the area is from Interstate 805 east along Otay Mesa Road/Route 905. Otay Mesa Road/Route 905 is a two and four-lane road which terminates immediately east of Alta Road. At the Brown Field Business Park, Otay Mesa Road/Route 905 is three lanes eastbound with concrete curbs, gutters and sidewalks, and a concrete center median. The north side of Otay Mesa Road/Route 905 is unimproved and serves as the south property line for Brown Field Airport. Planning is underway for a permanent Interstate 905 freeway extension, south but parallel to the existing Otay Mesa Road/Route 905. The Developer does not anticipate any negative impact to the Assessment District as a result of proposed improvements to state and interstate routes in the vicinity of the Assessment District.

During the three-year period from 1997 to 1999, the City widened the existing Otay Mesa Road as a stop-gap measure until the full freeway 905 is built parallel to the south of Otay Mesa Road. In the spring of 2000, work was completed on the interim, temporary California 905 expressway along Otay Mesa Road between Old Otay Mesa Road just east of Interstate 805 to the future Highway 125 freeway interchange. This new expressway is built to California Department of Transportation (CalTrans) standards with six lanes and standard signage. Signalized intersections with protected left turns are installed at Heritage/Otay Valley Road, Cactus Road, Britannia Boulevard, Alisa Court, La Media Road, and Otay Mesa Road near the future California 125 interchange/connector.

Prior to spring 2000, California 905 existed in two segments. One was the freeway segment between a half mile east of Interstate 805 and the other was the multi-lane conventional highway between the future California 125 interchange and the Otay Mesa Port of Entry. In a 1998 agreement between the City and CalTrans, the City paid to upgrade Otay Mesa Road to six lanes with turning lanes by the end of 1999 and CalTrans would maintain the road as a state facility until California 905 is built. Construction was completed in early 2000 and signs were erected renaming the span to Highway 905. Once the new Interstate 905 freeway is constructed, it is expected to be re-designated Interstate 905.

The California 905 project will include grade-separated local access interchanges, and the future freeway to freeway California 125 interchange/connector described below. Environmental/engineering studies are currently underway, which will assist in determining the appropriate facility and alignment for construction. Various environmental resources and issues are known to exist including archaeological sites and historic resources; biological resources (including wetlands/vernal pools, coastal sage scrub,

wildlife corridors and endangered species); water quality; impacts to agriculture, transportation systems and business/industry; impacts to existing and planned development and residential areas; potential growth and cumulative impacts; hazardous waste; and visual impacts.

In September of 1991, CalTrans approved construction of an approximate twelve mile toll road, to be known as State Route 125, running north-south from Route 54 to Route 905, near the international border which will provide an alternative traffic corridor to Interstate 5 and Interstate 805. This project will consist of the third major north-south highway corridor in San Diego County and will provide direct access to the Otay Mesa border area, and freeway frontage to the Assessment District. A freeway off-ramp is proposed at Otay Mesa Road and eventually a full interchange with future Interstate 905.

State Route 125 is a two-stage project that consists of constructing about 12.5 miles of new highway from State Route 54 near the Sweetwater Reservoir to State Route 905 in Otay Mesa near the International Border. The project is divided into three segments. The first two segments of the project are the Gap/Connector, a 3.2-mile publicly funded section from State Route 54 to San Miguel Road in Bonita. This includes a freeway-to-freeway interchange involving the reconstruction and expansion of an existing section of State Route 54 where it intersects with the new route of State Route 125. The remaining 9.3 miles of the project running to State Route 905 near the Otay Mesa border will be a stateof-the-art tollway designed and constructed through a public/private financial partnership between the State of California and California Transportation Ventures, Incorporated (CTV), a private consortium selected by CalTrans in 1990. Once open to traffic, CTV will operate and maintain the toll road portion of the project. After 35 years CTV will turn the toll road over to CalTrans. The southern portion of the project will be privately financed by CTV at a cost of \$400 million and will be operated as a toll road from San Miguel Road near Sweetwater Reservoir to the existing Otay Mesa Road/Route 905. The project design and construction began in August 2002 and a recent article in the San Diego Daily Transcript reported that funds are secure for the state funded portion of State Route 125. The project is currently scheduled to open in 2006.

The Developer has been informed that the proposed Route 125 off-ramp serving Otay Mesa Road may affect portions of those lots located at the extreme northeastern section of the Assessment District (Lots 7 through 10). The Developer and CalTrans have begun preliminary negotiations for the purchase of a total of approximately 2.38 acres from Lots 7 through 10, and have commenced appraisals in connection therewith, in which case a portion of the Bonds may become subject to mandatory redemption from and to the extent of a prepayment of Assessments in connection with such purchase. See "Property Ownership and Development" below and "THE BONDS - Redemption of the Bonds - *Mandatory Redemption From Assessment Prepayments.*"





#### **Property Ownership and Development**

The information set forth herein regarding ownership and planned development within the Assessment District has been obtained from sources which are believed to be reliable. No assurance can be given that the planned development will occur in a timely manner. No representation is made as to the accuracy or adequacy of such information provided by the Developer as defined herein.

*The Developer.* The Developer is Piper Ranch LLC (the "Developer"), a Delaware limited liability company, and wholly owned subsidiary of Otay Investors LLC. Otay Investors LLC is a Delaware limited liability company comprised of Brown, Colarusso, Le Beau (BCL) Commercial Real Estate and Lehman Brothers. BCL acquired its ownership interest in 2002 upon its purchase of an existing partnership that included 95 percent ownership by Lehman Brothers and the remainder by Diversified Assets Management Group. This original partnership, DAMG IV LLC, acquired title in July 1999 for \$4,600,000 or \$66,139 per net acre. At the time of this 1999 sale, the property was mapped for future development of 24 lots, but in an unfinished, raw condition.

*The Development.* The Assessment District encompasses approximately 80 gross acres, with 69.55 net acres to be developed as an industrial/office park known as Piper Ranch Business Park. A final recorded subdivision map subdivides the Assessment District into a 24-lot industrial subdivision, Legal Description Lots 1 to 24, inclusive, of Piper Ranch Business Park, located in the City, according to Map thereof No. 12346 filed in the Office of the County Recorder of San Diego County, April 12, 1989. Currently, the public improvements to be acquired are approximately 99 percent complete, with infrastructure, utilities, street improvements and sheet graded lots in place. The Assessment District is planned to be developed as an industrial business park consisting of approximately 1,200,000 square feet of light industrial warehouse and distribution space situated on 24 separate legal lots.

On August 14, 2003, the Developer sold 8 contiguous finished lots comprising approximately 16.36 acres to One Piper Ranch LLC (Master Development Corporation) ("MDC"). The sale price was \$3,741,368, or \$5.25 per square foot, with the purchaser assuming the Assessment obligation. MDC plans to re-map its property and construct 12 light industrial buildings on these lots and is marketing the project as "One Piper Ranch." The proposed buildings range in size from 11,300 square feet to 32,000 square feet. MDC is currently constructing the first of its buildings.

MDC is a developer and general contractor of industrial parks founded in 1994. MDC specializes in the development of industrial properties ranging from small, free-standing buildings to large, dock-high warehouses. As of year end 2002, MDC has completed 52 buildings totaling 4,360,000 square feet.

In a separate agreement, Whalen Furniture Manufacturing has contracted for a build-to-suit to be constructed on Lot 17 and portions of Lot 18 of the subject subdivision. The agreement sets out a 132-month lease term for a 106,316 square foot industrial building, the construction of which has just begun. The beginning base rent equates to \$0.45 per square foot per month, triple net, and the tenant has a limited purchase option to purchase the building for \$6,197,272, or about \$58 per square foot (the "Option Price"). The agreement stipulates that the lot area will comprise approximately 6.55 gross acres and will necessitate a lot boundary adjustment between Lots 17 and 18. Upon completion, the lot boundary adjustment will effectively increase the size of Lot 17 to 6.55 acres and decrease the size of Lot 18 to 3.375 acres. In addition to the stated Option Price, there is a clause that enables the purchase price to be adjusted upward or downward by an amount equal to \$6.00 per square foot of land area depending upon the final outcome of the lot boundary adjustment.

Lot 18 is currently in escrow for purchase by the owner of Whalen Furniture Manufacturing, and a lot line adjustment (increasing the decreased 3.375 acre Lot 18 and decreasing Lot 21 by 1.5 acres) will

be required to create the desired 5.25 acre lot for this transaction. The sale price was \$1,406,444, or \$6.15 per square foot, with the purchaser assuming the Assessment obligation. Escrow is expected to close on or about January 15, 2004.

Lots 19 and 20 are currently in escrow for purchase by Orgil International Greenhouses, a manufacturer of nursery and greenhouse equipment. This purchase will entail a lot line adjustment, collapsing Lots 19 and 20 into a 6.65 acre Lot 19, in order to create the desired lot for this transaction. The sale price was \$1,738,044, or \$6.00 per square foot, with the purchaser assuming the Assessment obligation. Escrow is expected to close on or about January 15, 2004. This sale has not been assumed or reflected in the Appraiser's valuation.

Drawings are currently underway for the development of Lots 1, 2, 15, and 16 for commercial/retail space which the Developer expects to construct for sale or long-term lease to be owned and managed by the Developer. The Developer currently expects to commence construction on the development of these lots in March 2004.

All necessary utilities are currently available and operating to service the Assessment District. Water is provided by the Otay Water District. The Assessment District gets its water from Northern California and the Colorado River through the Metropolitan Water District and the San Diego County Water Authority. Sewage in this portion of the Otay Water District is treated by San Diego County. Electricity is provided by SDG&E (Sempra Energy Company) with underground electric and gas lines serving the subdivision.

Storm water runoff is planned to be controlled by a drainage channel located along the western property boundary and along the south boundaries of Lots 17 and 21. Two detention basins will control the amount of runoff allowed to exit the property in the public storm drain system during periods of rainfall. As a temporary runoff control measure, the rough graded lots will each have a small desilting basin before the runoff reaches the drainage channels and storm drains.

Development and Financing Plans. The property comprising the Assessment District was acquired by the original development partnership, DAMG IV LLC (a partnership that included 95 percent ownership by Lehman Brothers and the remainder by Diversified Assets Management Group), in July 1999 for \$4,600,000 or \$66,139 per net acre. At the time of this 1999 sale, the property was mapped for future development of 24 lots, but in an unfinished, raw condition. The Developer acquired the property in April 2002 for approximately \$5,200,000.

The Developer has financed the costs to complete its development with Developer's equity and an approximately \$10,650,000 construction loan from Bank of the West from which the Developer has financed the public and private improvements necessary to deliver finished lots. As a result of the sale of approximately 16.36 acres to MDC, the Developer has paid down approximately \$3,200,000 of the construction loan, and expects to apply net proceeds from the sale of the Bonds as an additional payment on the construction loan. The Developer expects to obtain an additional construction loan of approximately \$5,600,000 for the build-to-suit contract with Whalen Furniture Manufacturing for Lot 17 and portions of Lot 18 and additional private improvements on other parcels. The Developer anticipates that the balance of these construction loans outstanding at any one time will not exceed \$7,000,000 and following the issuance of the Bonds, will not at any one time exceed \$5,000,000.

As of November 30, 2003, the Developer had invested Developer equity of approximately \$5,200,000 in the acquisition and development of the land within the Assessment District. The Developer estimates that it will cost approximately \$4,273,374 to complete all capital construction costs and indirect costs for construction of public improvements in the Assessment District (such costs to be funded with

Bond proceeds), which improvements are currently 99 percent complete. The Developer reports that as of November 30, 2003, the Developer had invested approximately \$10,200,000 towards the improvement of the property in the Assessment District, out of a total development budget of approximately \$10,650,000 improvements (not including the \$5,200,000 land acquisition costs).

#### **Appraisal Report**

Rasmuson Appraisal Services has prepared its report dated September 5, 2003 (the "Appraisal Report") with respect to the Assessment District. The purpose of the Appraisal Report was to estimate the individual retail values for each of the 24 lots and to estimate the bulk sale value for the assumed sale of all of the lots to a single purchaser. The individual value for each lot is commonly referred to as the retail value. This value is based on the assumption that it is marketed and sold as a separate parcel to an end-user. The individual market value for each lot is first estimated and is later used as the basis for the bulk sale value estimate using a discounted cash flow analysis. As summarized below and set forth in the Appraisal Report attached hereto as Appendix A, the sum of the bulk sale appraised value for the 16-lot ownership and the 8-lot ownership, as of an August 26, 2003 date of value, is \$14,572,000, with the current Developer 16-lot ownership valued at \$10,830,000 and the MDC 8-lot ownership valued at \$3,742,000. The Appraiser has considered the sale of 8 contiguous finished lots to MDC, the build-tosuit to be constructed on Lot 17 and portions of Lot 18, and the escrow for purchase of Lot 18 by the owner of Whalen Furniture Manufacturing. The term "bulk sale value" denotes the most probable price, in a sale of all parcels within a tract or development project, to a single purchaser or sales to multiple buyers, over a reasonable absorption period discounted to present value, as of a specified date, in cash, or in terms equivalent to cash, for which the property rights would sell after reasonable exposure in a competitive market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale.

For purposes of the Appraisal, each lot within the Assessment District has been assumed to be finished lots ready for development, but not including any structural improvements. Accordingly, only the Sales Comparison Approach to value is considered applicable. Land value is estimated by comparing the subject site to sales of similar land parcels in the neighborhood and surrounding market. The comparable market area for the subject lots is the Otay Mesa submarket of the City of San Diego. There are a number of existing and developing industrial subdivisions in this market which compete with the subject or are somewhat comparable.

As stated above and in the Appraisal Report, the reconciled opinion of the sum of the bulk sale appraised value for the 16-lot ownership and the 8-lot ownership as of the August 26, 2003 date of value is \$14,572,000. This value estimate is based on the general and specific limiting conditions and major assumptions summarized below and as set forth in the Appraisal Report. This value estimate specifically assumes that the project is in a finished lot condition with all grading and offsite improvements complete. Further, this value estimate is based upon an assumed bonded debt and aggregate assessment in amounts greater than the amount actually issued.

The Appraisal Report is subject to certain conditions and stipulations including, without limitation, the existence of hazardous material, adverse soil conditions which would prohibit development of the property to its highest and best use, and those existing lot lines and lot sizes as reflected on the recorded Piper Ranch Business Park Subdivision Map No. 12346. The proposed lot boundary adjustment between Lots 17 and 18 and the proposed re-mapping of the property purchased by MDC have not been reflected in the Appraiser's valuation.

Since the project is presently under construction for streets, grading and infrastructure and are not complete as of the date of value, the retail and bulk sale value estimates are made under the specific assumption of finished lots with all infrastructure in place and ready for individual development.
### **Status of Public Improvements**

The project currently has a recorded subdivision map in place that subdivides the property into 24 separate legal lots and assessor parcels. The public improvements to be acquired are approximately 99 percent complete, with infrastructure, utilities, street improvements and sheet graded lots in place. Completed public improvements include road, sewer, and storm drain facilities, including Piper Ranch Road, Air Wing Road, Approach Road and Dead Stick Road, curb and gutter, sidewalk, pedestrian ramps, berms, monuments and street lights. Sewer mainlines, including manholes, lot laterals and cleanouts, are to be located in Otay Mesa Road, Piper Ranch Road, Air Wing Road and along the Assessment District's western boundary. Storm drain facilities consist of reinforced concrete pipe, cleanouts, curb inlets and a concrete lined drainage channel. The anticipated completion date for the public improvements is January 2004. No additional major infrastructure, such as arterial streets, parks, fire stations or libraries, are required or anticipated for the full development the Assessment District. The only remaining improvements necessary to enable the property within the Assessment District to be developed are in-tract improvements to certain specific parcels which will be the responsibility of the developer of such specific parcels.

The City's Metropolitan Wastewater Department is currently developing a proposed financing mechanism which, if approved by the City Council at a later date, would likely require owners of property tributary to the Metropolitan Wastewater System, within Otay Mesa, to pay an apportioned, fair share cost for regional sewer facilities. As such, some owners of parcels within the Assessment District may (or may not) be required to pay an apportioned, fair share cost of the regional sewer infrastructure, at a later date, most likely at the time of issuance of building permits for vertical development.

### Largest Property Owners by Assessment Amount

Currently, the largest property owners consist of the Developer and One Piper Ranch LLC (Master Development Corporation). On August 14, 2003, the Developer sold 8 lots comprising approximately 16.36 acres to One Piper Ranch LLC (Master Development Corporation), retaining 16 lots for sale or build-to-suit transactions.

### Absorption

As noted in the Appraisal Report Market Analysis, the San Diego County industrial market experienced approximately 1.1 million square feet of positive net absorption during 2002, driven by 13.1 million square feet of total gross sales and leasing activity. Although ten of the 22 sub-markets posted positive net absorption in the fourth quarter of 2002, it was not enough to offset the County as a whole, ending the quarter with just under 140,000 square feet of negative net absorption. During 2002, the San Diego County industrial market delivered 2.3 million square feet of new product and 1.4 million square feet remained under construction at year-end. At the end of the second quarter 2003, the San Diego County industrial market posted about 1,1170,000 square feet of net absorption. For the quarter, the countywide average asking triple net lease rates for industrial space remained level compared to 2002 year-end at \$0.94 per square foot per month.

The Otay Mesa sub-market is part of the larger South County market area of San Diego. The total South County market has about 18.1 million square feet, representing about 12 percent of the total industrial inventory in the County. Other sub-markets in South San Diego County include Chula Vista, National City, San Ysidro and southern portions of the City of San Diego. The Otay Mesa sub-market is the largest of the four sub-markets, representing nearly 6 percent of the total industrial inventory in San Diego. See APPENDIX A – "APPRAISAL REPORT."

The Appraiser has noted that absorption of finished lots has been relatively steady during the past eight years; however, historically, there has been an abundance of finished inventory. It is also clear that a substantial amount of land is available for future finished lot development. See APPENDIX A – "APPRAISAL REPORT."

### **Zoning/Community Planning**

The Assessment District is zoned OMDD-I by the City of San Diego. This designation refers to the Otay Mesa Development District - Industrial Sub-District. The purpose of this district is to create and promote the development of the Otay Mesa area. The OMDD sets standards that control the use, development intensity, and development design of the area. A full range of industrial uses is allowed, including manufacturing, wholesaling and distribution and assembly operations. Development regulations within the Industrial Sub-District are as follows:

Minimum Lot Area:	30,000 square feet
Street Frontage:	100 feet
Minimum Lot Width:	100 feet
Maximum FAR:	2.0

The Tentative Map approval indicates that all of the Assessment District lots meet the minimum dimension requirements of the OMDD-I zone. All uses, except for storage, loading and outdoor work, are to be conducted within an enclosed building. Outdoor work, storage of merchandise and material is permitted in interior side or rear yards provided the area is completely enclosed by walls or fences. Storage is not permitted within required front or street side yard setback areas.

In accordance with the OMDD, Lots 1 and 2 were designated as commercial, for general retail business support services, which allows the same uses in the Commercial Sub-District except hotels, motels and automobile and truck sales and rental agencies. Development regulations within the Industrial Sub-District are as follows:

Minimum Lot Area:	10,000 square feet
Street Frontage:	100 feet
Minimum Lot Width:	100 feet
Maximum FAR:	2.0

Lots 1 and 2 comprise approximately 4 acres designated for such general retail business support services.

### Map Status

The approved Tentative Map (#86-0934) was filed May 2, 1987, and the final subdivision map recorded in April 1989. The final subdivision map subdivides the Assessment District into a 24-lot industrial subdivision, Legal Description Lots 1 to 24, inclusive, of Piper Ranch Business Park, located in the City, according to Map thereof No. 12346 filed in the Office of the County Recorder of San Diego County, April 12, 1989. The subdivision map conditions of approval for the development indicate that the subdivider will dedicate 61 feet of right-of-way northerly of the existing centerline on Otay Mesa Road and that full improvement of the three westbound lanes is planned to be completed including curb, a five-foot wide sidewalk and a 14-foot wide raised median. In addition, a traffic signal system is required and an 18-inch gravity sewer main in Otay Mesa Road is recommended. The subdivider was also required to establish drainage detention basins. All conditions of the final subdivision map have been satisfied.

Construction of the subdivision improvements started in August 2002 after being delayed for several years by the proposed air cargo airport proposal being considered for Brown Field. That proposal was subsequently declined and removed from consideration, clearing the way for development to proceed on the subject project. The estimated completion date of grading and street improvements is by January 2004. As of the August 26, 2003 date of value, the project construction was near completion, with infrastructure, utilities, street improvements and sheet-graded lots in place. The public improvements to be acquired are currently estimated to be approximately 99 percent complete. However, the Appraisal Report valuation assumes finished lots with all infrastructure in place and ready for individual development.

### Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions

The Assessment District is subject to an aviation easement that exists over the entire subdivision. The aviation easement was granted on the subdivision map to the City for all airspace above an elevation of 684 feet above sea level. There is also an aviation approach easement that affects nearly all of the subdivision to an elevation of 584 feet above sea level. The Appraiser was provided with a Building Height Restriction Exhibit prepared by Kimley-Horn Associates. The exhibit indicates that the lowest point of the approach easement is along the western subdivision boundary at 580 feet while pad elevations are in the range of 495 to 500 feet above sea level. This difference would allow a maximum building height for these westerly lots (17 to 22) of 85 to 90 feet. The Appraiser noted that this is sufficient height for a typical two story industrial building developed in this market and is not considered to have a negative impact on the development potential of this subdivision based on its highest and best use for light industrial development. The Developer has obtained quit claim deeds for all relevant utility easements, some of which are in favor of SDG&E which traversed many of the lots in the subdivision, commencing at Otay Mesa Road on a north/south axis, continuing through Lots 1, 2 and 3 and turning in a northwesterly direction over Lot 13 and through Lots 20 to 23.

### **Estimated Value-to-Lien Ratios**

There are 24 separate parcels in the Assessment District. These parcels had a total 2003-04 assessed value of \$3,979,507. As indicated in the Appraisal Report, the aggregate bulk sale value of the 24 individual lots, after consideration of the assessment debt, is \$14,572,000. Table 2 assumes total bonded indebtedness of \$5,430,000 and \$1,270,000.00 principal amount of the Special Term Bonds, and the assessment levy shown below reflects only that portion of the assessments attributable to non-escrowed Bonds. The Appraised Values below, however, are based upon an assumed bonded debt and aggregate assessment in amounts greater than the amount actually issued. This provides an overall value-to-lien ratio of approximately 3.50 to 1. The following Table 2 sets forth the breakdown, by ownership, of the total number of parcels and the corresponding Assessment amounts attributable to the non-escrowed Bonds.

### TABLE 2 City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Value-to-Lien Ratios

Property Owner	Total <u>Parcels</u>	Aggregate Bulk Sale <u>Value <sup>(1)</sup></u>	Assessment <sup>(2)</sup>	Value-to <u>Lien</u>	Percentage of Total <u>Assessment</u>
Developer	16	\$10,830,000	\$3,181,458	3.40:1	76.48%
Master Development Corporation	8	3,742,000	978,542	3.82:1	23.52
Total	24	\$14,572,000	\$4,160,000	3.50:1	100.00%

(1) Aggregate bulk sale value of the 24 individual lots.

(2) Assessments attributable to non-escrowed Bonds only.

Source: Appraiser.

Neither the value-to-lien calculations nor the total Assessment amounts include parity obligations for community facilities districts or for general property taxes. See "Direct and Overlapping Debt."

The Assessments are currently secured by liens on substantially undeveloped property. There may be subsequent transfers of ownership of the undeveloped property prior to completion of development. Failure of property owners to pay the Assessment installments when due could result in a default in the payments of principal of and interest on the Bonds.

The development of property within the Assessment District is subject to a number of contingencies which could slow or prevent future development of the property. Consequently, no assurance can be given that such development will be partially or fully completed. Any event that significantly impacts the ability to develop land in the Assessment District may cause the property values of undeveloped property to decrease substantially from the assessed and appraised values set forth herein and could affect the willingness and ability of the owners of the undeveloped property to pay the Assessment installments when due.

### **Direct and Overlapping Debt**

Table 3 presents a statement of direct and overlapping bonded debt of the Assessment District as of December 1, 2003. Enterprise revenue bonds, tax allocation bonds and non-bonded capital lease obligations are not included in the tabulation; lease revenue obligations payable from the City's General Fund or equivalent sources are included. The City has covenanted that it will not create, or permit the creation of, any pledge, lien, charge or other encumbrance upon the Assessments and other assets pledged under the Indenture while any of the Bonds are Outstanding. As discussed above, the City's Metropolitan Wastewater Department is currently developing a proposed financing mechanism which, if approved by the City Council at a later date, would likely require owners of property tributary to the Metropolitan Wastewater System, within Otay Mesa, to pay an apportioned, fair share cost for regional sewer facilities. As such, some owners of parcels within the Assessment District may (or may not) be required to pay an apportioned, fair share cost of the regional sewer infrastructure, at a later date, most likely at the time of issuance of building permits for vertical development. The proposed re-mapping of the property purchased by MDC could result in charges for such apportioned costs for MDC and/or subsequent owners of MDC's parcels. However, other public agencies may issue additional indebtedness on property within the Assessment District at any time. See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Priority of Lien."

### TABLE 3City of San DiegoAssessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch)Direct and Overlapping DebtAs of December 1, 2003

2003-04 Local Secured Assessed Valuation: \$3,979,507

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT:	% Applicable	Debt 12/1/03	
Metropolitan Water District	0.0003%	\$ 1,333	
Southwestern Community College District	0.015	5,768	(1)
Sweetwater Union High School District	0.018	15,341	(1)
San Ysidro School District	0.171	32,114	(1)
City of San Diego	0.003	432	
City of San Diego Open Space Park District	0.003	1,094	
City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096	100.	<u> </u>	(2)
TOTAL GROSS DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DI	EBT	\$56,082	
Less: City of San Diego Open Space Park District (100% self-supporting)		1,094	
TOTAL NET DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEB	Г	\$54,988	
OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND OBLIGATION DEBT:			
San Diego County General Fund Obligations	0.002%	\$ 8,958	
San Diego County Pension Obligations	0.002	16,295	
San Diego County Superintendent of Schools Obligations	0.002	42	
Otay Municipal Water District Certificates of Participation	0.028	7,204	
Southwestern Community College District General Fund Obligations	0.017	523	
Sweetwater Union High School District Certificates of Participation	0.020	4,449	
San Ysidro School District Certificates of Participation	0.182	17,572	
City of San Diego General Fund Obligations	0.004	21,596	
TOTAL GROSS OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND OBLIGATION DEBT		\$76,639	
Less: Otay Municipal Water District Certificates of Participation (100% self-sup	porting)	7,204	
TOTAL NET OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND OBLIGATION DEBT		\$69,435	
GROSS COMBINED TOTAL DEBT		\$132,721	(3)
NET COMBINED TOTAL DEBT		\$124,423	

(1) General Obligation Bonds.

(2) Excludes 1915 Act bonds to be sold.

(3) Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, enterprise revenue, mortgage revenue and tax allocation bonds and nonbonded capital lease obligations.

Ratios to 2003-04 Assessed Valuation:

Direct Debt	- %
Total Gross Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt.	1.41%
Total Net Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt	1.38%
Ratios to Adjusted Assessed Valuation:	
Gross Combined Total Debt	3.34%
Net Combined Total Debt	3.13%

STATE SCHOOL BUILDING AID REPAYABLE AS OF 6/30/03: \$0

Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.

### SPECIAL RISK FACTORS

The following information should be considered by prospective investors in evaluating the Bonds. However, it does not purport to be an exhaustive listing of the risks and other considerations which may be relevant to an investment in the Bonds. In addition, the order in which the following information is presented is not intended to reflect the relative importance of any such risks. If any risk factor materializes to a sufficient degree, it alone could delay or preclude payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds or both.

### The Bonds are Limited Obligations of the City

The Bonds are limited obligations of the City, payable solely from the Assessments and the other assets pledged therefor under the Indenture. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City or the State of California, or any political subdivision thereof, is pledged to the payment of the Bonds. The City is not obligated to advance available funds from the City Treasury to cure any deficiency in the Redemption Fund. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City or the State of California, or any political subdivision thereof, is pledged to the payment to Section 8769 of the California Streets and Highways Code, the City has expressly elected not to obligate itself to advance available funds from the City's treasury to make up deficiencies in the amount of Assessment installments collected.

Funds for the payment of the principal of and the interest on the Bonds are derived from the Assessments and other assets pledged under the Indenture. The City's legal obligations with respect to any delinquent Assessment installments are limited to: (1) payments from the Reserve Fund to the extent of funds on deposit therein; and (2) the institution of judicial foreclosure proceedings with respect to any parcels for which the Assessment installment is delinquent (see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Covenant for Superior Court Foreclosure"). The City has determined that it will not obligate itself to advance funds from its treasury to cover any delinquency on the Assessments or payments on the Bonds. The Bonds cannot be accelerated in the event of any default.

Sustained failure by property owners to pay Assessment installments when due, combined with depletion of the Reserve Fund, and the inability of the City to sell parcels which have become subject to judicial foreclosure proceedings for amounts sufficient to cover the delinquent Assessment installments, will most likely result in the inability of the City to make full or punctual payments of interest on or principal of the Bonds.

### The Assessments are Not Personal Obligations of the Property Owners

Under the provisions of the Act, Assessment installments will be billed to the owner of each parcel in the Assessment District against which there is an unpaid Assessment, such billing to be made on the regular property tax bills sent to such owners. Such Assessment installments are due and payable at the same time and bear the same late charges and penalties as for non-payment of regular property tax installments.

The obligation to pay Assessment installments does not constitute a personal obligation of the current or subsequent owners of the respective parcels which are subject to the Assessment liens. Enforcement of Assessment payment obligations by the City is limited to judicial foreclosure in the San Diego County Superior Court pursuant to Sections 8830 *et seq.* of the California Streets and Highways Code. There is no assurance that any current or subsequent owner of a parcel subject to an Assessment lien will be able to pay the Assessment installments or that such owner will choose to pay such installments even though financially able to do so.

### **Bankruptcy and Foreclosure Delays**

The payment of Assessment installments and the ability of the City to foreclose the lien of a delinquent Assessment is normally delayed by and may be limited in other ways by bankruptcy, insolvency, or other laws generally affecting creditors' rights or by State law relating to judicial foreclosure. In addition, the prosecution of a judicial foreclosure may be delayed due to congested local court calendars or procedural delays.

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds (including Bond Counsel's approving legal opinion) will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments, including the Bonds, by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally.

Although bankruptcy proceedings would not cause the Assessments to become extinguished, bankruptcy of a property owner could result in a delay in prosecuting judicial foreclosure proceedings and could result in delinquent Assessment installments not being paid in full. Such a delay would increase the likelihood of a delay or default in payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

The City's ability to enforce the lien of an Assessment installment and to foreclose the lien of a delinquent Assessment installment, is limited with regard to properties in which the Internal Revenue Service, the Drug Enforcement Agency, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC") or other similar federal government agencies has or obtains an interest.

Specifically, with respect to the FDIC, in the event that any financial institution making a loan which is secured by a parcel in the Assessment District is taken over by the FDIC and the applicable Assessment installment is not paid, the remedies available to the City may be constrained. The FDIC's December 10, 1996 Policy Statement regarding the payment of state and local real property taxes (the "Policy Statement") provides that taxes other than *ad valorem* taxes which are secured by a valid lien in effect before the FDIC acquired an interest in a property will be paid unless the FDIC determines that abandonment of its interests is appropriate. The Policy Statement provides that the FDIC generally will not pay installments of non-*ad valorem* taxes, such as the Assessment installments, which are levied after the time the FDIC acquires its fee interest, nor will the FDIC recognize the validity of any lien to secure payment except in certain cases where the Resolution Trust Corporation had an interest in property on or prior to December 31, 1995. Moreover, the Policy Statement provides that, with respect to lots on which the FDIC holds a mortgage lien, the FDIC will not permit its lien to be foreclosed upon by a taxing authority without its specific consent, nor will the FDIC pay or recognize liens for any penalties, fines or similar claims imposed for the non-payment of taxes or assessments.

This Policy Statement generally applies to an insured depository institution in its corporate or receivership capacities (the "Corporation") when it is liquidating assets of the Corporation. It applies to any tax, penalty, interest, or other related charge imposed or sought to be imposed on property to whose ownership the FDIC succeeds in such capacities. The Corporation may decline to pay property taxes, including delinquency charges or other claims, in situations where abandonment of its interest in the property is appropriate. The Corporation is immune from taxes other than *ad valorem* real property taxes. Taxes on sales, transfers, or other dispositions of Corporation property are generally in the nature of excise taxes which are levied on the transaction and not on the property (although the calculation of the amount of tax may be based on the property's sale price); the Corporation is immune from such taxes. The Corporation is not liable for any amounts in the nature of fines or penalties.

If any *ad valorem* real property taxes (including interest) on Corporation owned property are secured by a valid lien (in effect before the property became owned by the Corporation), the Corporation

will pay those claims. With respect to property not owned by the Corporation, but in which the Corporation has a lien interest, any *ad valorem* real property taxes (including interest) will be paid so long as they are secured by a valid lien with priority over the Corporation's lien interest. Any taxes other than *ad valorem* real property taxes which are secured by a valid lien in effect before the Corporation acquired an interest in the property, and which have priority under state law over any lien interest of the Corporation, will be paid. However, if abandonment of its interest in the property is appropriate, the Corporation may elect not to pay such claims.

No property of the Corporation is subject to levy, attachment, garnishment, foreclosure, or sale without the Corporation's consent. Furthermore, a lien for taxes and interest may attach to property in which the Corporation has a lien or security interest, but the Corporation will not permit a lien or security interest held by it to be eliminated by foreclosure without the Corporation's consent. In cases in which a tax lien has been sold to a private party under state law, if (1) the sale takes place before the Corporation obtains a fee interest in the property, or if the Corporation has a lien interest in the property and the tax lien has priority over the Corporation's lien; and (2) the Corporation desires to eliminate the tax lien purchaser's interest, the Corporation will pay the amount required by state law to satisfy such interest (other than any fees or penalties specifically imposed to redeem such interest). If the tax lien does not have priority, the Corporation has a fee interest, the sale must protect the Corporation's interest.

The Corporation is only liable for state and local taxes which are based on the value of the property during the period for which the tax is imposed, notwithstanding the failure of any person, including prior record owners, to challenge an assessment under the procedures available under state law. In the exercise of its business judgment, the Corporation may challenge assessments which do not conform with the statutory provisions, and during the challenge may pay tax claims based on the assessment level deemed appropriate, provided such payment will not prejudice the challenge. The Corporation will generally limit challenges to the current and immediately preceding taxable year and to the pursuit of previously filed tax protests. However, the Corporation may, in the exercise of its business judgment, challenge any prior taxes and assessments provided that: (1) the Corporation's records (including appraisals, offers or bids received for the purchase of the property, etc.) indicate that the assessed value is clearly excessive; (2) a successful challenge will result in a substantial savings to the Corporation; (3) the challenge will not unduly delay the sale of the property; and (4) there is a reasonable likelihood of a successful challenge.

The Corporation will attempt to notify state and local taxing authorities of the existence of an interest in property which the Corporation believes to be within the authority's jurisdiction.

The City is not able to predict what effect the application of the Policy Statement would have in the event of a delinquency with respect to a parcel in the Assessment District in which the FDIC has or obtains an interest, although prohibiting the lien on the FDIC-owned property to be foreclosed on at a judicial foreclosure sale would prevent the sale of such a parcel at a foreclosure sale. Owners of the Bonds should assume that the City will be unable to foreclose on any parcel in the Assessment District owned by the FDIC. Such an outcome would cause a draw on the Reserve Fund and perhaps, ultimately, a default in payment of the Bonds.

### **Undeveloped Property**

Any proposed development is subject to existing and future federal, state and local regulations. Approval may be required from various public agencies in connection with the design, nature and extent of the required public improvements, or such matters as land use and zoning. Failure to meet any such future regulations or obtain any such approvals in a timely manner could delay or adversely affect any proposed development of the parcels of land in the Assessment District. Further development of property in the Assessment District may be affected by changes in general economic conditions, fluctuations in the real estate market, changes in the ownership of the land, and other factors. The motivation of the present or future owners of the property in the Assessment District may be diminished in the event significant delays are experienced in development efforts. Failure of property owners to pay the Assessment installments when due could result in a default in the payments of principal of and interest on the Bonds. Prospective purchasers should evaluate the risks of noncompletion, including but not limited to the following:

First, undeveloped land is less valuable than such land in a developed condition and provides less valuable security to the Bondowners should it be necessary for the City to foreclose due to the nonpayment of Assessments pledged under the Indenture for payment of debt service on the Bonds.

Second, if the Assessment District is not developed, the number of likely purchasers at a foreclosure sale, in the event the City forecloses the lien of delinquent unpaid Assessment installments, is likely to be reduced.

Third, in addition to potentially reducing the ability and willingness of the property owners to pay Assessment installments, a slowdown of the economic development process in the region could adversely affect land values and reduce the proceeds received at a foreclosure sale in the event Assessment installments are not paid when due.

There can be no assurance that land development operations within the Assessment District will not be adversely affected by future governmental policies, including, but not limited to, governmental policies to restrict or control development.

Any event that significantly impacts the ability to develop land in the Assessment District may cause the property values of undeveloped property to decrease substantially from the assessed and appraised values set forth herein and could affect the willingness and ability of the owners of the undeveloped property to pay the Assessment installments when due.

### **Price Realized Upon Foreclosure**

Section 8832 of the Streets and Highways Code prescribes the minimum price (the "Minimum Price") at which property may be sold in a judicial foreclosure resulting from delinquencies on assessment installments. The Minimum Price is the amount equal to the delinquent installments of principal and interest of the assessment, together with all interest, penalties, costs, fees, charges and other amounts more fully detailed in said Section 8832. However, Section 8836 of the Streets and Highways Code provides that the court may authorize a sale at less than the Minimum Price if the court makes certain determinations, based on the evidence introduced at the required hearing, which evidence must establish that no ultimate loss will result to the bondholders or that no other remedy is acceptable and at least 75% of the bondholders' consent. The Assessment lien upon property sold pursuant to this procedure at a lesser price than the Minimum Price would be reduced by the difference between the Minimum Price and the actual sale price. Reference should be made to Section 8836 for the complete presentation of this provision. If foreclosure proceedings do not result in full collection of delinquent Assessments, it is possible that owners of the Bonds may not receive payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds.

### **Direct and Overlapping Indebtedness**

The ability or willingness of an owner of land within the Assessment District to pay Assessment installments could be affected by the imposition of other taxes and assessments imposed upon the land. In addition, other public agencies whose boundaries overlap those of the Assessment District could, without the consent of the City, and in certain cases without the consent of the owners of the land within the Assessment District, impose additional taxes or assessment liens on the property within the Assessment District to finance public improvements or services to be located or provided inside of or outside of the Assessment District. A statement of direct and overlapping indebtedness on land within the Assessment District is included under the heading "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT – Direct and Overlapping Debt."

### Earthquake, Flood, Fire and other Natural Disasters

In the event of a severe flood or earthquake, there may be significant damage to both property and infrastructure in the Assessment District. As noted in the Appraisal Report, the Assessment District is designated Zone X, outside a designated flood hazard area according to flood insurance maps prepared by the National Flood Insurance Program, Community Panel Number 060295 2179F dated June 19, 1997. The property is not located within an identified Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Special Studies Zone. The nearest active fault in the Rose Canyon Fault Zone is located approximately 14 miles west of the site. There is no evidence that a ground surface rupture will occur in the event of an earthquake, but there is significant potential for destructive ground-shaking during the occurrence of a major seismic event. In addition, land susceptible to seismic activity may be subject to liquefaction during the occurrence of such an event. In the event of a severe earthquake, there may be significant damage to both property and infrastructure in the Assessment District. As a result, a substantial portion of the property owners may be unable or unwilling to pay the property taxes including, without limitation, the Assessment installments when due. In addition, the value of land in the Assessment District could be diminished in the aftermath of such natural events, reducing the resulting proceeds of foreclosure sales in the event of delinquencies in the payment of Assessment installments when due.

An unprecedented waive of fires swept parts of southern California during October and November 2003. Three of these deadly wildfires were centered in San Diego County. The Cedar, Paradise and Otay fires burned 391,856 acres and damaged or destroyed 2,470 homes and 758 other structures such as sheds, according to preliminary assessments. The Otay fire extended to Otay Lakes, an area approximately 1 mile away from the Assessment District. Property located within the Assessment District experienced no damage as a result of the recent fires.

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has advised that areas destroyed by fires are at further risk of flooding in the coming months. The location of the fire damaged areas, the topography around the Assessment District, and the barrier presented by a flood control channel suggest that flooding and mudslides, if any, will not be material risks for properties in the Assessment District or the development thereof as described herein.

### **Property Values**

The value of property within the Assessment District is an important factor in evaluating the investment quality of the Bonds. In the event that a property owner defaults in the payment of an Assessment installment, the City's only remedy is to judicially foreclose on that property. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should not assume that the property within the Assessment District could be sold for the assessed value described herein at a foreclosure sale for delinquent Assessment installments or for an amount adequate to pay delinquent Assessment installments.

The property values set forth in the various tables herein are the property values as appraised and as determined by the County Assessor for property tax purposes. These assessed value determinations may be subject to an appeal by the property owner. Assessment appeals are annually filed with the County Assessment Appeals Board for a hearing and resolution. At the time of filing, applicants are required to estimate an opinion of value. The resolution of an appeal may result in a reduction to the County Assessor's original taxable value and a tax refund to the applicant/property owner.

In a Minute Order issued on November 2, 2001, in *County of Orange v. Orange County Assessment Appeals Board No. 3*, case no. 00CC03385, the Orange County Superior Court held that where a home's taxable value did not increase for two years, due to a flat real estate market, the Orange County assessor violated the two percent inflation adjustment provision of Article XIIIA, when the assessor tried to "recapture" the tax value of the property by increasing its assessed value by 4% in a single year. The assessors in most California Counties, including San Diego County, use a similar methodology in raising the taxable values of property beyond 2% in a single year. The State Board of Equalization has approved this methodology for increasing assessed values. On December 12, 2002, the Orange County Superior Court certified the lawsuit as a class action lawsuit and the case has been submitted on appeal to the State's Fourth District Court of Appeal and, if it is upheld, the decision could have far-reaching implications for the property tax system in the State.

The County of San Diego has advised the City that comparable claims by property owners within the County were rejected by the San Diego County Assessment Appeals Board for the Fiscal Year 2000/01 property tax levy and that such property owners have at least three years from the date of such rejection in which to further prosecute their claims. In another matter, a taxpayer initiated a declaratory relief action in Superior Court seeking comparable relief. In that case, *Linda Pintzuk v. Gregory J. Smith*, case no. GIC 790102, the trial court sustained the County's demurrer without leave to amend and dismissed the action on September 25, 2002. The plaintiff did not file an appeal of the trial court's decision.

The City cannot predict the outcome of the Orange County litigation, nor whether the property owners whose claims were rejected by the San Diego County Assessment Appeals Board, or other property owners, will further prosecute claims against the County of San Diego. Currently, the trial court's ruling in the Orange County litigation applies only to assessments levied in Orange County. The City cannot predict the effect, if any, that the outcome of either the Orange County litigation or the further prosecution of claims against the County of San Diego would have on assessed values in the Assessment District. However, any reduction in the assessed taxable values of property within the Assessment District would have an adverse impact on the value-to-lien ratios included herein.

The actual market value of the property is subject to future events such as downturn in the economy, occurrences such as earthquakes, droughts or floods or other events, all of which could adversely impact the value of the property in the Assessment District. As discussed herein, many factors could adversely affect property values or prevent or delay land development within the Assessment District.

### **Hazardous Substances**

One of the most serious risks in terms of the potential reduction in the value of a parcel within the Assessment District is a claim with regard to a hazardous substance. In general, the owners and operators of a parcel within the Assessment District may be required by law to remedy conditions of such parcel relating to release or threatened releases of hazardous substances. The federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, sometimes referred to as "CERCLA" or the "Superfund Act," is the most well known and widely applicable of these laws, but California laws

with regard to hazardous substances are also similarly stringent. Under many of these laws, the owner or operator is obligated to remedy a hazardous substance condition of the property whether or not the owner or operator had anything to do with creating or handling the hazardous substance. The effect, therefore, should any of the parcels within the Assessment District be affected by a hazardous substance, will be to reduce the marketability and value of such parcel by the costs of remedying the condition, because the prospective purchaser, upon becoming owner, will become obligated to remedy the condition just as the seller is.

Further, it is possible that liabilities may arise in the future with respect to any of the parcels resulting from the current existence on the parcel of a substance currently classified as hazardous but which has not been released or the release of which is not presently threatened, or may arise in the future resulting from the current existence on the parcel of a substance not presently classified as hazardous but which may in the future be so classified. Further, such liabilities may arise not simply from the existence of a hazardous substance but from the method in which it is handled. All of these possibilities could significantly affect the value of a parcel within the Assessment District that is realizable upon a delinquency.

A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment prepared by Geocon Consultants Inc., dated February 21, 2002, concluded that the potential for environmental impairment to the site from hazardous substances or onsite wastes is minimal. The City has no knowledge of any hazardous substances being located on the property within the Assessment District.

### **Endangered Species**

During the past several years, there has been an increase in activity at the State and federal level related to the listing and possible listing of certain plant and animal species found in the State as endangered species. An increase in the number of endangered species is expected to curtail development in a number of areas. At present, the property within the Assessment District is not known to be inhabited by any plant or animal species which either the California Fish and Game Commission or the United States Fish and Wildlife Service has listed as endangered or proposed for addition to the endangered species list. Notwithstanding this fact, new species are proposed to be added to the State and federal protected lists on a regular basis. Any action by the State or federal governments to protect additional species could negatively impact the ability to complete the development as planned. This, in turn, could reduce the likelihood of timely payment of the Assessment installments and would likely reduce the value of the land and the potential revenues available at a foreclosure sale for delinquent Assessments.

### **Cumulative Burden of Parity Taxes, Special Assessments and Development Costs**

The Assessments and the annual installments thereof constitute a lien against the parcels of land on which the Assessments have been levied. Such lien is on a parity with all special taxes levied by other agencies and is co-equal to and independent of the lien for general property taxes, regardless of when they are imposed upon the same property.

The City has no control over the ability of other entities to issue indebtedness secured by special taxes or assessments payable from all or a portion of the property within the Assessment District. In addition, the owners of property within the Assessment District may, without the consent or knowledge of the City, petition other public agencies to issue public indebtedness secured by special taxes or assessments. Any such special taxes may have a lien on such property on a parity with the lien of the Assessments.

### Loss of Tax Exemption

As discussed under the caption "CONCLUDING INFORMATION – Tax Matters," the interest on the Bonds could become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes, retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds, as a result of failure of the City to comply with certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Should such an event of taxability occur, the Bonds are not subject to early redemption and will remain Outstanding to maturity or until redeemed under the optional or mandatory redemption or mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions of the Indenture.

### California Constitution Article XIIIC and Article XIIID

On November 5, 1996, the voters of the State approved Proposition 218, the so-called "Right to Vote on Taxes Act." Proposition 218 added Articles XIIIC and XIIID to the State Constitution, which contain, among other things, a number of provisions affecting the ability of the City to levy and collect both existing and future taxes, assessments, fees and charges.

Article XIIID requires that, beginning July 1, 1997, the proceedings for the levy of any assessment by the City under the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913 (the "1913 Act") (including, if applicable, any increase in such assessment or any supplemental assessment under the Act) must be conducted in conformity with the provisions of Section 4 of Article XIIID. Section 9525(b) of the California Streets and Highways Code makes clear that Assessments are not new assessments, and therefore, the provisions of Section 4 of Article XIIID do not apply. In addition, under Section 10400 of the California Streets and Highways Code, any challenge (including any constitutional challenge) to the proceedings or the assessment must be brought within 30 days after the date the assessment was levied. With respect to the prior assessment districts with respect to which the City completed its proceedings for the levy of assessments after July 1, 1997, the City complied with the provisions of Section 4 of Article XIIID.

Article XIIIC removes limitations on the initiative power in matters of local taxes, assessments, fees and charges. Article XIIIC does not define the term "assessment," and it is unclear whether this term is intended to include assessments levied under the 1913 Act. Furthermore, this provision of Article XIIIC is not, by its terms, restricted in its application to assessments which were established or imposed on or after July 1, 1997. In the case of the unpaid Assessments which are pledged as security for the payment of the Bonds, the Act provides a mandatory, statutory duty of the City and the County Auditor to post installments on account of the unpaid Assessments to the property tax roll of the County each year while any of the Bonds are outstanding, in amounts equal to the principal of and interest on the Bonds coming due in the succeeding calendar year. While the matter is not free from doubt, it is likely that a court would hold that the initiative power cannot be used to reduce or repeal the unpaid Assessments which are pledged as security for payment of the Bonds or to otherwise interfere with performance of the mandatory, statutory duty of the City and the County Auditor with respect to the unpaid Assessments which are pledged as security for payment of the Bonds or to otherwise interfere with performance of the mandatory, statutory duty of the City and the County Auditor with respect to the unpaid Assessments which are pledged as security for payment of the Bonds.

The interpretation and application of the Proposition 218 will ultimately be determined by the courts with respect to a number of the matters discussed above, and it is not possible at this time to predict with certainty the outcome of such determination.

### THE CITY

The City of San Diego, California is a charter city and municipal corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the Constitution and the laws of the State and its Charter. The City was incorporated as a city March 27, 1850. Following the adoption of a City Charter, and several

amendments thereto, in 1929 a committee of prominent citizens, called the Board of Freeholders, was elected. The committee prepared a Charter which was turned down by the voters later that year. A new Board of Freeholders was elected in 1930. Their proposed Charter was adopted by the voters in 1931. The 1931 Charter, with modifications, is still in effect today. Under the original 1931 Charter, a Manager-Council form of government was created. A seven-member Council (now nine members) was created, and comprised of six Council members and a Mayor. The Council was nominated by district but elected City-wide. The Mayor chairs meetings of the Council, but has no veto power. The Council selects a City Manager who is responsible for the administration of most City departments.

There have been many revisions to the 1931 Charter. In 1963 the voters approved increasing the number of Council districts from six to eight. In 1988 San Diego voters approved changing the election system of Council members. Now both nominations and elections for Council are by district. Only the Mayor and City Attorney are elected City-wide. The Charter Review Commission of 1989 concluded that present realities, such as district elections, and future probabilities including continuing growth, required substantive changes in the 1931 Charter. The report called for an increase in the number of Council districts from eight to ten and Mayor veto power with a 2/3 Council override possible. However, to date no major charter revisions dealing with the structure of City government have yet been submitted to the voters.

Currently, the City operates as a charter city and under the Council-Manager form of government. The City Council is comprised of eight members elected by district to serve overlapping four-year terms. The Mayor, who presides over the City Council, is elected at large to serve a four-year term. The City Council, which acts as the City's legislative and policy-making body, selects the City Manager, who is the City's chief administrator and is responsible for implementing the policies and programs adopted by the City Council. The City provides the following services through City employees or by contract with the private sector: public safety, public works, community development, community services, refuse collection, road and public facility maintenance, street lighting, public improvements and general administrative services.

The City prepares financial statements annually in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles for governmental entities, which are audited by an independent certified public accountant. The annual audit report is generally available about 180 days after the June 30 close of each Fiscal Year. The City's most recent general purpose financial statements for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2002, were audited by Calderon, Jaham & Osborn, CPAs.

The City's annual budget, which is adopted in July and published in October, is the culmination of the annual budget process, which begins in the fall of the preceding year. Public input on service and program priorities is solicited. This input serves as part of the City Council's priority setting for the development of the budget.

Based upon City Council budget priorities, departments submit operating and capital improvement project requests to the City Manager for review by the Financial Management Department. The City Manager evaluates and prioritizes the program requirements, determines funding availability, and develops a balanced budget as required by the City Charter. This proposed balanced budget is published and presented to the City Council by its first meeting in May.

During May and June, the Mayor and City Council conduct budget meetings to review the Proposed Budget. Public comment is received at this time. The budget meetings are conducted as Council workshops focusing on policy issues.

As required by the City Charter, the City Council adopts the Annual Budget and Appropriation Ordinance no earlier than the date of the first Council meeting in July and no later than the last meeting in July. The adoption of the Appropriation Ordinance requires two noticed public hearings, which are usually held on consecutive days. The Annual Tax Rate Ordinance, which fixes a rate of taxation for real and personal taxable properties, is adopted no later than the last City Council meeting in August.

The Financial Management Department works closely with the City Auditor and Comptroller to monitor fund balances, as well as revenue projections, throughout the Fiscal Year. Variations from budget or plans are alleviated in a number of ways, including expenditure reductions or deferrals. As another technique of accomplishing budgetary control, the City also maintains an encumbrance accounting system, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditure of funds are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation.

### **CONCLUDING INFORMATION**

### **Tax Matters**

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP ("Bond Counsel"), based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes. Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. A complete copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth in Appendix G hereto.

To the extent the issue price of any maturity of the Bonds is less than the amount to be paid at maturity of such Bonds (excluding amounts stated to be interest and payable at least annually over the term of such Bonds), the difference constitutes "original issue discount," the accrual of which, to the extent properly allocable to each Beneficial Owner thereof, is treated as interest on the Bonds which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and State of California personal income taxes. For this purpose, the issue price of a particular maturity of the Bonds is the first price at which a substantial amount of such maturity of the Bonds is sold to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers). The original issue discount with respect to any maturity of the Bonds accrues daily over the term to maturity of such Bonds on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded semiannually (with straightline interpolations between compounding dates). The accruing original issue discount is added to the adjusted basis of such Bonds to determine taxable gain or loss upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of such Bonds. Beneficial Owners of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of ownership of Bonds with original issue discount, including the treatment of Beneficial Owners who do not purchase such Bonds in the original offering to the public at the first price at which a substantial amount of such Bonds is sold to the public.

Bonds purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount higher than their principal amount payable at maturity (or, in some cases, at their earlier call date) ("Premium Bonds") will be treated as having amortizable bond premium. No deduction is allowable for the amortizable bond premium in the case of bonds, like the Premium Bonds, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. However, the amount of tax-exempt interest received, and a Beneficial Owner's basis in a Premium Bond, will be reduced by the amount of amortizable bond

premium properly allocable to such Beneficial Owner. Beneficial Owners of Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment of amortizable bond premium in their particular circumstances.

The Code imposes various restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the Bonds. The City has made certain representations and covenanted to comply with certain restrictions, conditions and requirements designed to ensure that interest on the Bonds will not be included in federal gross income. Inaccuracy of these representations or failure to comply with these covenants may result in interest on the Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of the Bonds. The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes the accuracy of these representations and compliance with these covenants. Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions taken (or not taken), or events occurring (or not occurring), or any other matters coming to Bond Counsel's attention after the date of issuance of the Bonds may adversely affect the value of, or the tax status of interest on, the Bonds.

Certain requirements and procedures contained or referred to Indenture, the Tax Certificate, and other relevant documents may be changed and certain actions (including, without limitation, defeasance of the Bonds) may be taken or omitted under the circumstances and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in such documents. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any Bond or the interest thereon if any such change occurs or action is taken or omitted upon the advice or approval of bond counsel other than Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP.

Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes, the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds may otherwise affect a Beneficial Owner's federal, state or local tax liability. The nature and extent of these other tax consequences depends upon the particular tax status of the Beneficial Owner or the Beneficial Owner's other items of income or deduction. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such other tax consequences.

Future legislation, if enacted into law, or clarification of the Code may cause interest on the Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation, or otherwise prevent Beneficial Owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. The introduction or enactment of any such future legislation or clarification of the Code may also affect the market price for, or marketability of, the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisers regarding any pending or proposed federal tax legislation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.

The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority, covers certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities, and represents Bond Counsel's judgment as to the proper treatment of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. It is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") or the courts. Furthermore, Bond Counsel cannot give and has not given any opinion or assurance about the future activities of the City, or about the effect of future changes in the Code, the applicable regulations, the interpretation thereof or the enforcement thereof by the IRS. The City has covenanted, however, to comply with the requirements of the Code.

Bond Counsel's engagement with respect to the Bonds ends with the issuance of the Bonds, and, unless separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the City or the Beneficial Owners regarding the tax-exempt status of the Bonds in the event of an audit examination by the IRS. Under current procedures, parties other than the City and its appointed counsel, including the Beneficial Owners, would have little, if any, right to participate in the audit examination process. Moreover, because achieving judicial review in connection with an audit examination of tax-exempt bonds is difficult, obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with which the City legitimately disagrees, may not be practicable. Any action of the IRS, including but not limited to selection of the Bonds for audit, or the course or result of such audit, or an audit of bonds presenting similar tax issues may affect the market price for, or the marketability of, the Bonds, and may cause the City or the Beneficial Owners to incur significant expense.

### **Certain Legal Matters**

The validity of the Bonds and certain other legal matters are subject to the approving opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel. A complete copy of the proposed form of Bond Counsel opinion is contained in Exhibit F hereto. Bond Counsel undertakes no responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, as Disclosure Counsel, will provide certain other legal services for the City. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by the San Diego City Attorney and for the Developer by Allen Matkins Leck Gamble & Mallory LLP, Irvine, California. The fees of Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel are contingent upon issuance of the Bonds.

### **Financial Advisors**

Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Irvine, California and TKG & Associates, LLP, Chicago, Illinois have served as Financial Advisors to the City in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. The fees of the Financial Advisors are not contingent upon issuance of the Bonds.

### **Continuing Disclosure**

The City has covenanted for the benefit of holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds (a) to provide certain financial information and operating data (the "City Annual Report") relating to the City and the property it owns in the Assessment District not later than eight (8) months after the end of the City's Fiscal Year (which currently would be April 1), commencing with the report for Fiscal Year 2002-03; and (b) to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events, if material. The Developer has covenanted for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds to provide annually, and with respect to specified information, semi-annually, certain financial information and operating data (the "Developer Annual Report") relating to the status of the Developer and the property in the Assessment District, and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events, if material. For a complete listing of items of information which will be provided in each City Annual Report, Developer Annual Report, and in the Developer's Semi-Annual Report, see APPENDIX F - "FORMS OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKINGS." Such annual information is to be provided by the City not later than nine (9) months after the end of the City's Fiscal Year (which currently would be April 1), commencing with the report for Fiscal Year 2002-03, and by the Developer by not later than four (4) months after the end of the Developer's fiscal year (December 31) which date, as of the date hereof, is May 1, commencing May 1, 2004 with respect to the Developer's Annual Report, and not later than November 1 in each year, commencing November 1, 2004 with respect to the Developer's Semi-Annual Reports. The Developer's obligations will terminate upon the date on which the Developer is no longer responsible for 20% or more of the total Assessment on all of the Property in the District for the then current Fiscal Year. Upon the occurrence of any such termination prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the Developer will give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a Listed Event. The City Annual Reports will be filed by the City, and the Developer Annual Reports and Semi-Annual Reports will be filed by the Developer through the Dissemination Agent, with each Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities Information Repository and with each State Repository, if any. These covenants have been made in order

to assist the Underwriter in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the "Rule"). Neither the City nor the Developer (which has not previously entered any such undertaking) has ever failed to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings with regard to said Rule to provide annual reports or notices of material events.

### No Litigation

There is no action, suit, or proceeding pending or, to the best knowledge of the City, threatened at the present time restraining or enjoining the delivery of the Bonds or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Bonds or any proceedings of the City taken with respect to the execution or delivery thereof. A no litigation opinion rendered by the City Attorney will be required to be delivered to the Underwriter simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds.

### No Rating

The City has not made, and does not contemplate making, application to any rating agency for the assignment of a rating on the Bonds.

### Underwriting

The Bonds are being purchased through negotiation of Stone & Youngberg LLC (the "Underwriter"). The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Bonds at a purchase price of \$5,337,691.65 (representing the principal amount of the Bonds, less an original issue discount of \$21,725.85, less an underwriter's discount of \$70,582.50). The Underwriter's obligation to purchase the Bonds is contingent upon the approval of certain legal matters by counsel and certain other conditions.

The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers and others at prices lower than the public offering prices set forth on the cover hereof. The offering prices of the Bonds may be changed from time to time by the Underwriter.

### Miscellaneous

All of the preceding summaries of the Indenture, applicable legislation, agreements and other documents are made subject to the provisions of such documents and legislation and do not purport to be complete statements of any or all of such provisions. Reference is hereby made to such documents on file with the City for further information in connection therewith.

This Official Statement does not constitute a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds.

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of the estimates will be realized.

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement have been authorized by the members of the City Council of the City.

### CITY OF SAN DIEGO

By: /s/ Mary E. Vattimo City Treasurer (This page intentionally left blank)

### APPENDIX A

### APPRAISAL REPORT

(This page intentionally left blank)

**Rasmuson Appraisal Services** 

### A COMPLETE SUMMARY APPRAISAL REPORT

### OF

Assessment District No. 4096 Piper Ranch Business Park 24-Lot Industrial Park San Diego, California

> Prepared For: City of San Diego

Dated: September 5, 2003

Commercial Real Estate Appraisal and Consulting

(This page intentionally left blank)

### **Rasmuson Appraisal Services**

Gary L. Rasmuson, MAI SRA Wendy A. Rasmuson, MBA

14665 Yukon Street San Diego, California 92129 Ph. (858) 672-1796 Fax: (858) 672-3816

September 5, 2003

File No. 22138

Ms. Carrie L. Gleeson Deputy City Attorney c/o Ms. Carol Chiodo Deputy Director Real Estate Assets Department City of San Diego 1200 Third Avenue, Suite 1700 San Diego, California 92101

### RE: AP 2900 - Piper Ranch Business Park Assessment Bonds located at Otay Mesa and Piper Ranch Roads, San Diego, California

Dear Ms. Gleeson:

I have completed an appraisal setting forth the market value of the referenced property. The appraisal report has been prepared to comply with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), the Code of Ethics and Supplemental Standards of the Appraisal Institute and the California Debt Advisory Appraisal Standards for Land-Secured Financings created May 19, 1994. This appraisal has been prepared as a complete analysis and is presented as a summary appraisal report prepared under Standards Rule 2-2(b) of USPAP.

Assessment District No. 4096 encompasses 69.55 gross acres in an industrial/office park known as Piper Ranch Business Park. The subdivision has a final recorded subdivision map that subdivides the property into 24 lots. Infrastructure costs for the installation of public improvements including streets, water, sewer and storm drain facilities are being financed by assessment bonds by the City of San Diego. Construction of infrastructure streets, utilities and grading is currently near completion. With the sale of eight lots in August 14, 2003 the project ownership is divided between the original developer, Piper Ranch LLC with 8 lots.

By virtue of my experience and based upon my investigation, it is my opinion that the Bulk Sale Value of the subject's fee simple interest, subject to special tax and special assessment liens as of August 26, 2003 was:

### BULK SALE VALUE -- PIPER RANCH LLC OWNERSHIP 16 LOTS: \$10,830,000 ---- TEN MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED THIRTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ----

### BULK SALE VALUE – ONE PIPER RANCH LLC OWNERSHIP 8 LOTS: \$3,742,000 ---- THREE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED FORTY-TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS -----

Please refer to the Limiting Conditions section of this report for the specific assumptions made in this analysis. Since the project is presently under construction for streets, grading and infrastructure and are not complete as of the date of value, the retail and bulk sale value estimates are made under the hypothetical condition of finished lots with all infrastructure in place and ready for individual development.

I have been asked to assume that the cost to remove the temporary cul-de-sac on Piper Ranch Road and complete the street improvements for the balance of Piper Ranch Road and Aviator Road is \$355,000. This amount is assumed to be accurate and correct for the purposes of this assignment at the request of my client. An independent estimate of the cost to complete is not within the scope of this assignment and has not been performed. This is an extraordinary assumption (Extraordinary Assumption No. 2) upon which this valuation is based.

Ms. Carrie L. Gleeson Deputy City Attorney September 5, 2003

Submitted herewith is my report containing the facts and reasoning upon which the above value is based. It has been a pleasure to be of service to City of San Diego in this assignment.

Sincerely,

RASMUSON APPRAISAL SERVICES

77162 -..\_ ¥Ц Gary L Rasmuson, MAI SRA

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser State of California OREA Appraiser I.D. No. AG 002571 Expiration Date: 2/4/2004

### **Table of Contents**

ITEM	PAGE NO.
Letter of Transmittal Summary of Conclusions	
INTRODUCTION Valuation Methodology and Order of Presentation Purpose of the Appraisal Scope of the Appraisal Definition of Market Value	8 9
SITE AND IMPROVEMENT DESCRIPTION General Location Map Subject Plat Map Site Description Subject Photos	
DEMOGRAPHICS AND MARKET ANALYSIS Community Analysis Market Analysis	
HIGHEST AND BEST USE ANALYSIS Highest and Best Use	43
VALUATION ANALYSIS Finished Lot Valuation Bulk Sale Value Analysis Reconciliation of Value Limiting Conditions and Major Assumptions Certification	68 80 81
ADDENDA Appraiser Qualifications Copy of MDC Amended Purchase Agreement Piper Ranch Grading Plans Commercial Designation Letter for Lots 1 and 2	Addendum A Addendum B Addendum C Addendum D

Summary of Conclusions	onclusions		Date of Report	September 5, 2003	
Property	24-101 industrial park located at Olay Mesa and Piper Ranch Roads, the community of Olay Mesa, San Diego, Carifornia Assessor Parcel Nos. 646-240-02 through 646-240-24 and 646-240-45	Ranch Roads, in snd 648-240-45	Hypothetical Condition	Since the project is presently under construction for streets, grading and infrastructure and see not complete as of the date of value, the retail and bulk sale value estimates are made under the hypothetical condition of	ng and ail and lion of
Project Description	Piper Rench Business Park, a 69.55-acre industrial subdivision that has a recorded final map in place known as Piper Ranch Business Park, Map	bdivision that hes Islness Park, Map		finished tots with all infrastructure in place and ready for individual development.	ividual
	No. 14-340. Information lat sizes range from it has 0.56 screes. The project is currently near completion of construction for project infrastructure and has sheet graded bys and street improvements in place. The project is estimated to be approximately 95 percent complete as of the date of value and is scheduled for completion in September 2003. The jots are being offinised for said and a current accrowedden for the said officient of formation and a current accrowedden for the said	cross. The project infrastructure and ze. The project is as of the date of bods. The lots are bods. The lots are	Extraordinary Assumptions	For purposes of this report, the existing by lines and lot sizes as reflected on the recorded Piper Ranch Busicess Park Subdivision Map No. 12345 are utilized and the proposed tot boundary adjustment between Lots 17, 18 and 19 has not been reflected in this valuation per the request of my client. (Extraordinary Assumption No. 1)	lected 12346 bts 17, of my
Apparent Ownership	하여 1 ~ 2 · 2 · 2 · 2 · 2 · 2 · 2 · 2 · 2 · 2	24		I have been asked to assume that the cost to remove the temporary cul- de-sac on Fiper Kanch Road and complete the street improvements for the balance of Piper Ranch Road and Aviator Road is \$355,000. This	-iup yr Ion ar Ion ar
	One Piper Ranch, LLC (Master Development Corporation) – Lots 3, 4, 5, 6 and 11 through 14	an) – Lois 3, 4, 5,		enouries assumed to be accurate and correct for the purposes of this assignment at the request of my client. An independent estimate of the cost to complete is not within the scope of this assignment and has not been beformed. (Extraordinary Assumation Ao 2)	of this of the 35 not
Purpose	To estimate the subject's market value for assessment district purposes	listrict purposes	Appraiser	Gavi Rastrution Mái SPA	
Estate Valued	The fee simple estate, subject to special tax and special assessment liens	acial assessment	Concluded Retait Values	See rext page.	
Zoning	OMDD-I: (Otay Mesa Development Districl, Industrial Sub-District)	ib-D(strict)			
Gross Lot Area Summary	Lot 1: 1.39 acres Lot 13: 2.07 acres   Lot 3: 2.00 acres Lot 14: 2.03 acres   Lot 4: 2.03 acres Lot 14: 2.03 acres   Lot 4: 2.03 acres Lot 16: 2.02 acres   Lot 5: 2.03 acres Lot 17: 5.51 acres   Lot 6: 2.01 acres Lot 17: 5.61 acres   Lot 7: 2.01 acres Lot 17: 5.61 acres   Lot 7: 2.01 acres Lot 17: 5.61 acres   Lot 7: 1.84 acres Lot 17: 5.61 acres   Lot 8: 1.80 acres Lot 20: 4.30 acres   Lot 9: 1.80 acres Lot 20: 4.30 acres   Lot 10: 1.84 acres Lot 20: 4.30 acres   Lot 10: 1.84 acres Lot 20: 4.30 acres   Lot 10: 1.84 acres Lot 20: 4.30 acres   Lot 2.01 acres Lot 23: Lot 24: 5.57 acres				
Date of the Opinion of Vatue	August 26, 2003				
Indicated Values	<u>Indiviqual Retail Lot Values:</u> See Following Value Summary Page Rutk Sala Value Fetimate	mery Page			
	hip — 16 Lols: #1: alysis:	\$10,850,000 \$10,757,000			
	Buik Sale Value Subject to Assessment Liens: \$1	\$10,830,000			
	One Piper Ranch, LLC (MDC) – 8 Lots:	\$3,742,000			
Resmuson Appraisal Services		Page 3	Rasmuson Appreisal Services	Pe	Page 4

Rasmuson Appreisal Services

Page 4

Page 6

Rasmuson Appraisal Services



\$17,684,000 Net Value (Rounded) lssessmen \$5,765,000 \$164,951 \$165,780 \$165,780 \$165,780 \$165,780 \$165,438 \$165,438 \$165,438 \$165,438 \$167,438 \$142,518 \$173,817 \$173,812 \$171,582 \$177,582 \$175,582 \$177,582 \$17 Alfocated \$356,427 \$358,427 \$356,427 \$365,545 461,697 Conctuded Finished Lot Values Subject to Lien Assessment \$848,806 \$1,582,099 \$1,456,648 \$1,418,314 \$1,418,314 \$1,212,710 \$1,418,314 \$1,456,846 \$1,833,005 \$23,451,833 Market Value 5866,844 5871,200 5707,414 5703,930 5703,930 5700,445 5700,445 5641,203 5641,203 5661,203 56641,203 56641,203 56641,203 5756,202 \$641,203 \$717,969 \$721,354 \$724,838 \$721,354 026,5073 Unit Value 66.30 Gross Acres 2,008 11,096 2,002 2,002 1,004 1,000 69.55 **4**30 430 430 44 4.41 5.57 Lot No. Totals' en.

<sup>1</sup> Totals represent the aggregate retail value

Page 5

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

0
-
ΰ
_
_
_
ъ
0
Ľ.
_
_
<u> </u>

### Project Overview

The Piper Ranch Business Park property consists of a 69.55-acre industrial park located between Otay Mass Rood and Anator Road, elong the wast stide of the Raud in the Calay Mess accommunity of the City of San Diego. The project currently has a recorded subdivision map in place that demandates the property into 24 separate legal lots and assessor parcels. The project is nearing a finished lot condition and its approximately 95 percent complete with grading and street improvements completed. Flow Ranch LLC and the City of San Diego formed an Assessment District to finance associated costs of public improvements. The formation of this assessment district knewn as Assessment District No. 4096 will unlice the Municipal Improvement S.755,000 which equates to approximately \$1.900 per square foot of privated area.

As of the date of this report, the developer has sold 8 contiguous finished lots comprising approximately 16.55 acress as a bulk sale to One Proer Ranch LLC (Master Development Corporation - MDC) for a price of \$5.25 per requere foot with MDC assuming the proposed Assessment District bond debt. A copy of the of \$5.4mended Purchase and Sale Contract that recepts this sale is included in the Addendum of this report. This safe dosed and recorded August 14, 2003. Whaten Furniture Manufacturing has agreed to lease a build-to-suit 106,316 square foot industrial building to be constructed on Lot 17 and portions of Lot 18 of the subject subdivision. Lot 18 is in sectow for purchases by the owner of Wheten Furniture. A tot boundary adjustment will be needed to create the desteed tot size for this transaction. Lot 21 has an accepted written offer to purchase. The balance of the unsold fors are being marketed for sale or build-to-suit deals.

# Subject Property Identification

Property Type: Property Address: City/State/Zip::	24-lot industrial park Piper Ranch Road/Air San Diego, California	rk /Air Wing Road/De nia	24-iot industrial park Piper Ranch Road/Air Wing Road/Dead Stick Road/Approach Road San Diego, California
Census Tract:	100.15	Map Reference:	Map Reference: Thomas Bros. Map I.D. 1351 H/1
Assessor Parcel #: 646-240-02 through 646-240-24 and 646-240-45	646-240-02 throug	h 646-240-24 and	<b>646-240-4</b> 5

Subject Ownership History

3-Year History	Owner Name	Doc. No.	<u>Date</u>	<u>Price and Terms</u>
Current Owner:	Piper Ranch LLC, a Delaware limited liability	1999-501461	7/20/1999	<b>\$4</b> ,600,000 cash
	comoany			

- Piper Ranch LLC lists as its sole member Cley investors LLC, the manager of which is BCL Otay investments LLC, a Celifornia limited liability company. The property was purchased by DAMG IV LLC from TCW Land Fund I Holding Company. DAMG IV is now Piper Rench LLC.
- Piper Ranch LLC sold Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 13 and 14 to One Piper Ranch LLC (Master Development Corporation). The sale recorded August 14, 2003. The sale pick was \$3,741,388.40 with the buyer assuming the bond assessment debt. This appears to be a market arm's laptin transaction.

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Whalen Furniture Manufacturing has agreed to a build-to-suit to be constructed on Lot 17 and portions of Lot 18 of the subject subdivision. The contract seles out a 122-month lease term for a 106.316 square foot industrial building. The begivning base rent equates to \$0.45 per square foot, thepla net and the tenamin the as a limited purchase option to purchase the building for Sci 197.272, or about SSB per square foot. The agreement stipulates that the lot areas shall spin set and 18. Upton completion, the lot boundary edustment will reflectively increase the size of Lot 17 to 5.55 acres and decrease the size of Lot 18 to 3.375 acres. In addition to the size of Lot 17 to 5.55 acres and decrease the size of Lot 18 to 3.375 acres. In addition to the size of Lot 17 to 5.55 acres and decrease the size of Lot 18 to 3.375 acres. In addition to the tot area is a data and the Upton completion, the lot boundary edustment of the flectively increase the size of Lot 17 to 5.55 acres and decrease the size of Lot 18 to 3.375 acres. In addition to the curvate approximately by an anound equal to 550 per square foot of land area depending upon the final Lot 18 has entered escrow for purchase by Kanneth Whaten, the owner of Whalen Furniture

.

- who is leasing the adjacent lot. The purchase agreement for this lot was executed August 14, 2003. The purchase price is \$1,406,444 based on a 5.25 acre lot. The existing lot size avail need to be increased to accommodate the lot size reduction while will occur from the annexation of 1.04 acress needed to increase the size of Lot 17. An additional 1.88 acres will be annexation of 1.04 acress needed to increase the size of Lot 17. An additional 1.88 acres will be annexation of 1.04 acress needed to increase the size of Lot 17. An additional 1.88 acres will be annexation of 1.04 acress needed to increase the size of Lot 17. An additional 1.88 acres will be annexation of 1.04 acress needed to increase the size of Lot 17. An additional 1.88 acres will be annexation for use 1.01 and a subject to a counter offer for purchase by SW Properties LLC. The counter offer is Lot 2.18 subject to a counter offer is
  - Lot 21 is subject to a counter offer for purchase by SW Properties LLC. The counter offer is dated July 30, 2003 and this property will reported by go into escrow soon. The offer to purchase is based on \$6.25 per square foot, plus bond assessment debt. Lot 21 has a flood water stronage assemant on the square foot, plus bond assessment debt. Lot 21 has a flood water stronage assemant on the square foot, plus bond assessment settle area. The developer/selier has indicated that the pre-wilf be based on hal saleable lot area. A total purchase price was not indicated in the offer to purchase.

.

# Valuation Methodology and Order of Presentation

The valuation of real estate typically requires an analysis of community demographics, economic influences, market forces, the physical site and improvement characteristics. After identifying and analyzing the opportunities and constraints of the subject real estate, the valuation approaches are applied resulting in a final value estimate. The order of report presentation is as follows:

- Introduction and Definitions
- > Subject Project Description
- > Area Description, Demographics and Markel Analysis
- > Highest and Best Use Analysis
- Valuation Approaches
- Conclusion of Value Estimate

## Purpose of the Appraisal

The purpose of the appreisel is to develop an opinion of market value for the subject property on a retail tot basis and as a bulk purchase to a single investor.

# Identification of the Intended Use and Users of Appraisal

The intended use of this appraisal is for assessment bond funding purposes. It was prepared for the exclusive use of City of San Diago and may not be used or relied upon by any other party. Any party who uses or relies upon any information in this report, without the preparer's written consert, does so at his own risk.

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 7

### Scope of the Appraisal

This appraisal has been prepared as a complete appraisel and is presented in a summary appraisal report formet under Standards Rule 2-2(b) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP). The scope of this appraisal is to provide an estimate of the market value for each of the individual tots as well as a bulk value of the entire subdivision to a single buyer. It is not within the scope of this assignment to provide an as-is value estimate for the project as of the date of value. Since the project is presently under construction for streaks grading and intrastructure and was not complete as of the date of value. In which estimates are made under the hypothetical condition that they are finished tots with all infrastructure in place and ready for individual development. It is not writhin the scope of this assignment infrastructure in place and ready for individual development. It is not writhin the scope of this assignment this road and Aviator Road. I have been provided with this cost by my dient and is assumed to be accurate and context. (See Effort Seanth 28-au) to 2.).

In preparing this appraisal, I personally inspected the subject property, the comparable market data and interviewed brokers and investors active in this market. The following summarizes the extent of analysis performed for this report:

- Property inspection by appraiser
- Market data gathered using published sources including Comps.com, First American Real Estate Data, TURI Commercial Services, Daily Transcript
- > Market data verified with buyer, seller or participating broker and visually inspected by appraiser
  - P Report written based on a summary report format with a complete analysis

# Date of the Opinion of Value

August 26, 2003 - most recent date of inspection

## Definition of Market Value

The most probable price in cash or in terms equivalent to cash for which the specified property rights should set after reasonable exposure in a competitive market under all conditions requisite to fair sale, with the buyer and selfer each acting prudently, knowledgeably, and for self-interest, and assuming that neither is under under dures.

Source: Appreisal Standards for Land Secured Financings, California Debt Advisory Commission

### interest Appraised

Fee simple, subject to special tax and special assessment liens.

Fee simple estate defined as absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, subject only to the limitations of eminent domain, escheat, police power, and taxation.

## Marketing/Exposure Time

The estimated marketing and exposure period for this property as a bulk sale to an individual investor is approximately mine to twelve months according to my analysis of the market data upon which this valuation is based.

## **Definition of Finished Lot**

A finished fot is defined as a parcel which has legal entitiements created by a recorded subdivision map. The physical condition being a graded level pad with infrastructure contiguous to each individual lot and consisting of asphalt paved roads in addition to the necessary utilities.

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 9

## Definition of Retail Value

Retail value is an estimate of what an and user would pay for a finished property under the conditions requisite to a fair sale.

Aggregate retail value is the sum total of the retail values estimated for each parcel.

# Definition of Bulk Sale Value

The most probable price, in a sale of *all* parcais within a track or development project, to a single purchaser or sales to multiple buyers, over a reasonable ebsorption period discounted to present value, as of a specified date, in cash, or in terms equivalent to cash, for which the property rights should self after reasonable exposure, in a competitive market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, with buyer and seller each acting prudently, knowfedgeably, and for self-interest, and assuming that neither is under undue stress.

Source: Appraisal Standards for Land Secured Financings, California Debt Advisory Commission





Neighborhood Area Map



Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Resmuson Appraisal Services

Page 11

Page 12





Page 13

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Site Analysis

### **Property Location**

The subject is situated between Oray Mesa Road and Aviator Road at the northwest corner of Piper Ranch Road and Oray Mesa Road in the Oby Mesa community of the City of San Diego. Interior strets within the Piper Ranch subdivision include Air Wing Road. Dead Stick Road and Approach Road. The updation is approximately one-half mile east of Brown Field eliport.

### Property Identification

Piper Rarrch Business Park, a 24-tot industrial subdivision

### Legal Description

Lots 1 to 24, inclusive, of Piper Ranch Business Park, in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of Catifornia, according to Map thereof No. 12346 filed in the Office of the County Recorder of San Diego County, April 12, 1999.

### Apparent Ownership

Piper Ranch LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company - as to Lots 1, 2, 7-10, 15-24

According to documents submitted for review, the current vested owner consists of a joint venture partnership comprised of the subject devices. Recording the Calmercial Real Estates and Lehman Brothers. According to Mr. Le Beau, BCL bought into an adsting partnership that included 35 percent ownership by Lehman Brothers and the remainder to Diversified Assets Management Group. This original partnership called DANG IV LLC acquired tille in July 1999 for \$4,620,000 or \$65,138 per net acre. At the time of this 1999 sale, the property was mapped for future development of 25 this but in an untrinshed, raw ondition.

# One Piper Ranch, LLC (Master Development Corporation) -- as of Lots 3-6 and 11-14

Master Development Corporation (MDC) purchased the contiguous Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 13 and 14 August 14, 2003. These lots collectively comprise about 16.36 acres. The purchase price was \$3,741,368.40, or \$5.25 per square foot inclusive of the proposed bond delt for the Piper Ranch Business Park. MDC had at one time agreed to purchase Lots 21 and 22 of the subject subdivision but amended the purchase contract h March 2003 to accude these lots. MDC plans to construct 12 light industriat buildings on these lots and is marketing the project as 'One Piper Ranch'. The proposed buildings range in size from 11,300 SF to 32,000 SF.

### Project Marketing

The remaining unsold lots in the subdivision are currently offered for sale at an asking price that ranges between \$5.50 to \$5.50 per square foot plus bond assessment easumption. The subject lots are relatively similar in configuration and location with the exception of those lots that offer frontage to Otay Mesa the same state and the subject lots are relatively as a state of the frontage to Otay Mesa draft-age externents that reduce the net usable area at an asking relie of \$5.50.5F. Lots that are smaller and front Otay Mesa Road (or have some visibility to Otay Mesa Road) are in a range of \$5.00 to \$5.50.5F, and the balance of the two-acre in size parcels are at an other string relie of \$7.50 per square to ot. The Piper Ranch Business Park is marketed by the brokerage firm of international Real Estale with an Other in Othe Mesa. Regan Tully, the listing broker at this firm was interviewed for this assignment. Mr. Tuly indicates that the assumed arrount of bond debt was \$1.75 psf for the purposes of establishing the asking prices. Recent

Rasmuson Appreisal Services

Page 15

offers have been received from potential buyors for some of the larger lots in the range of \$6.00 to \$6.25 per square foot, besed on the assumption of bond debt of \$1.75. These prices would indicate a total transaction price including bond debt in the range of \$7.75 to \$9.00 per square foot. The offers are reportedly based on the net usable area per lot and would exclude the drainage essement and flood water storage easement limpacting some of these lots. Mr. Tully indicates that a higher bond debt would sequire adjustment to these offers and the drainage easement limpacting some of these lots. Mr. Tully indicates that a higher bond debt would sequire adjustment to these offers and deas.

A composite of the asking prices per lot as of April 2003 is shown as follows.

Lot No.	Size (Acres)	Asking Price	\$VSF	No. Vot	Size (Acres)	Asking Price	\$\SF
-	1.996	\$740,000	\$8.50	13	2.073	Sold	N/A
2	2.002	\$700,000	<b>\$</b> 6.00	4	2.078	Sold	N/A
ო	2.029	Sold	N/A	15	2.017	\$660,000	\$7,50
P	5 M74	どう	NIA	15	2 431	000 0065	<b>3</b> 8 50
5	2.017	Sold	N/A	17	5.511	Off Market	N/A
φ	2.008	Sold	N/A	18	4,414	In Escrow	NIA
7	1.837	\$600,150	\$7.50	19	4.301	Off Market <sup>1</sup>	N/A
60	1.804	\$590,000	\$7.50	8	4.301	Off Market	N/A
6	2.172	\$700,000	\$7.50	21	4.301	Off Markel <sup>1</sup>	N/A
10	1.838	\$600,500	\$7.50	52	4.301	Off Market	NA
ŧ	2.058	Sold	N/A	23	4.301	\$1,218,000	\$6.50
4	2.067	Sold	NA N	24	5.574	\$1.580.000	\$6.50

<sup>1</sup> These love were off the morket as of April 2003, but later put back on morket asking \$6.50 per square (oo)

### Assessor's Information

Each of the 24 lots in the subject subdivision is separately assessed for rand value only for the 2002/2003 tax year. San Diego County Tax Collector records indicate that the Piper Ranch subdivision is located within Tax Rate Area 08:15 with a base tax rate for 2002/2003 of 1.17527%. Currently, each of the lots has base taxes that are calculated using the assessed value and tax rate plus an additional amount for fixed charges that total approximately \$3,555. These speciel assessments are for the county's mosquitofrat control, the Meteropolitan Mater District Water Standby Charge and the Water Availability special assessment. A recap of the total project is shown below.

	\$3,901,488 \$ \$3,901,488	\$45,852.78 \$ 3,654.26 \$49,507.04
Total Project Assessed Value:	Land Improvements Total	Reel Estate Taxes Special Assessments Total Taxes and Assessments

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 16

Parcel No.	Assessed Value - Land	Ease Taxes	Fixed Charges	l otal Taxes
646-240-45	\$112,259	\$1,319.34	\$105.50	\$1,424.84
646-240-02	\$112,779	\$1,325.44	\$106.02	\$1,431.46
646-240-03	\$114,444	\$1,345.02	\$107.56	\$1,452.58
646-240-04	\$113,923	\$1,338.90	\$107.04	\$1,445,94
646-240-05	\$113,923	\$1,338.90	\$107.04	\$1,445.94
646-240-06	\$113,299	\$1,331.56	\$106.52	\$1,438.08
646-240-07	\$103,727	\$1,219.06	\$97.76	\$1,316.82
646-240-06	\$101,543	\$1,193.40	\$95.70	\$1,289.10
646-240-09	\$122,351	40 754, 1 <b>3</b>	\$114 76	\$1 552 70
646-240-10	\$103,727	\$1,219.06	\$97.76	\$1,316.82
546-240-11	\$116,108	\$1,364.58	\$109.10	\$1,473,68
646-240-12	\$116,732	\$1,371.90	\$109.62	\$1,481,52
646-240-13	\$116,732	\$1,371.90	\$109.62	<b>S1,481.5</b> 2
646-240-14	\$117,253	\$1,378.02	S110.14	\$1,488.16
646-240-15	\$113,923	\$1,338.90	\$107.04	\$1,445.94
646-240-16	\$137,020	\$1,610.34	\$128.16	\$1,738.50
646-240-17	\$290,271	\$3,411.46	\$266.82	<b>\$</b> 3,698,28
846-240-18	\$248,655	\$2,922.36	\$230.14	\$3,152.50
646-240-19	\$242,517	\$2,850.22	S224.48	\$3,074.70
646-240-20	\$242,517	\$2,850.22	\$224.48	\$3,074.70
646-240-21	\$242,517	\$2,850.22	\$224.48	\$3,074.70
646-240-22	\$242,517	\$2,850.22	\$224.48	\$3,074.70
<b>646-2</b> 40-23	\$248,655	<b>\$2</b> ,922.36	\$230.14	\$3,152.50
<b>6</b> 46-240-24	\$314.096	\$3,691,46	\$289,90	\$3,961,36

The current assessments are below the ratail market value opinion presented in this report. There appears to be a likelihood of an increase in the property assessment upon resale of the property. A chenge it assessment to market value is assumed in this valuation.

### Site Area

The subject property consists of 24 contiguous tots within the Piper Ranch subdivision. According to the recorded subdivision map for the project, the total project contains 69.568 acres net of street right-of-way and is reclargular in configuration. The Assessor Plat Map has rounded iand areas for each lot and indicates a rounded total of 855 acres. This is the area used for valuation purposes, consistent with market actions in this area. The holvious for an equation purposes, consistent with market actions in this area. The holvious for area used for valuation purposes, consistent with each lot within the subdivision follows.

Resmuson Appreisal Services

	Final Map	Plat Map		Final Map	Plat Map
oi No	Size (Acres)	Size (Acres)	Lot ND.	Size (Acres)	Size (Acres)
۰۰	1.996	1.99	13	2.073	2.07
2	2.002	2.00	14	2.078	2.08
'n	2.029	2.03	15	2.017	2.02
4	2.024	2.02	16	2.431	2.43
ŝ	2.017	2.02	17	5.511	5.51
ġ	2.006	2.01	18	4.414	4.41
~	1.837	t.84	<b>1</b> 9	4.301	4,30
ŝ	1.804	1.80	20	4.301	4.30
<b>0</b> 0	2.172	2.17	21	4.301	4.30
10	1.836	1.84	22	4.301	4.30
11	2.058	2.06	23	4.414	4.41
12	2.067	2.07	24	5.574	5.57

The net saleable acreage has been calculated for each lot. The net saleable area is defined as the gross lot area less the unusable sever and drainage easement and flood water storage easement area that encumbers some of the lots. I have calculated the net usable area for each lot and a summary follows.

		Gross	Drainage	Net
Lot No.	APN	Acres	Easement Area	Saleable Acres
-	646-240-45	<b>8</b>	0.00	661
7	546-240-02	2.00	0,00	2.00
en	646-240-03	2.03	0.00	2.03
4	646-240-04	2.02	0.00	2.02
ю	646-240-05	2.02	0.00	2.02
Ģ	646-240-06	2.01	0,00	2.01
2	646-240-07	1.84	0.00	1.84
80	646-240-08	1.60	0.0	1.80
ç,	646-240-09	2.17	0.00	2.17
¢	645-240-10	1.84	0.00	181
ŧ	846-240-11	2.06	0.0	2.06
12	646-240-12	2.07	0.0	2.07
13	646-240-13	2.07	0.00	2.07
14	646-240-14	2.08	0.00	2.08
15	646-240-15	2.02	0.00	2.02
16	646-240-16	2.43	0.00	2.43
17	646-240-17	5.51	0.97	2. 2
18	646-240-18	4.41	0.23	4.18
19	646-240-19	4.30	0.23	4.07
20	646-240-20	4.30	0.23	10.4
2	646-240-21	4.30	0.62	3.48
22	646-240-22	4.30	0.23	4.07
23	640-240-23	4.41	0.23	4.18
2	646-240-24	5.57	0.31	5.26
Totals		69.55	3.25	66.30

Page 17

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

date of value, the lots are in a sheet date of value, the lots are in a sheet ded by the Otay Water District. The twen through the Matopolitan Water to portion of the Otay Water District is E (Sempra Energy Company) with along the western property boundary along the western property boundary along the western property boundary along the western property boundary	
date or value, inte lots are in a short ded by the Otay Water District. The twen through the Macropolitan Water to portion of the Otay Water District is E (Sempra Energy Company) with along the western property boundary along the western property boundary of 17 and 27. The Mo defantion basins	Zonlng/Community Planning
ded by the Otay Water District. The tiver through the Metropolitan Water portion of the Otay Water District is E (Sempra Energy Company) with along the western property boundary 17 and 21. The two detention basins	The subject property is zoned OMDD-I by the City of San Diego. This designation refers to the Cray Mesa Development District - Industrial Sub-district. The purpose of this district is to create and promote the development of the Otay Mesa area. The OMDD sets out standards that control the use.
t portion of the Oray Water District is E (Sempra Energy Company) with along the western property boundary 17 and 21. The two detention basins are subtime receiven durinor	development memori memory, and development design of the area. A full range of industrial uses are allowed including manufacturing, wholesaling and distribution, assembly operations, and necessary support services. Development requisitions within the industrial Sub-District are as futures.
E (Serupta Cuergy Company) with along the western property boundary 17 and 21. The two detention basins	Minimum Lat Area: 30,000 SF
along the western property boundary 17 and 21. The two detention basins as applies show drain eventor dirinor	Street Frontage: 100 feet
17 and 21. The two detention basins the strum drain evention during	Minimum Let Width: 100 feet
	Maximum FAR: 2.0
h graded tots will each have a small storm drains.	The Tentative Map approval indicates that all of the subject lots meet the minimum dimension requirements of the OMDD-I zone. All uses, except for storage, loading and outdoor work, are to be conducted within an enclosed building. Outdoor work, storage of merchandise and material is permitted in interior side or side yords provided the area is completely enclosed by walks or fences. Storage is not commend using context are contexted by allowed by allowed by allowed by allowed by an enclosed by walks or fences.
toad/Heritage Road or Interstate 805. and two sectioned large with a	from the process of the gross evenerably area and use shall require that notice to the Planning Otrector be
aries and two based of a new contraction of the second of	Biveri lot trip purpose or recording the location and quantities of property to be used for such purposes.
Road has been widened along the	The developer has given notice to the Planning Director in a letter dated August 5, 2003 that Lots 1 and 2
e curb, gutter and sidewalk installed. en signelized with left turn lønes onto	ere to be use where as commerciatousmess support services use and has allocated the entire five percent of the original 40 acre gross subdivision ownership area to these two bis. This allocation means that the remaining 22 lots will not have the subdivision submises support service use and will be limited to industrial only. The recorded CC&Rs are to also reflect this use Assumation and reservice.
ad for this subdivision. Piper Ranch	
way but built-out to 49 feet with the a development – It is cleveloped with	
relies along the west side of the street	The approved Tenterive Map (#88-0934) was filed May 2, 1987 and the final subdivision map recorded in
subject subdivision (Air Wing Road,	April 1989. The subdivision map conditions of approval for this project indicate that the subdivider shall dedicate 61 feet of hom-of-way northeris of the existing centering as the substruction of the subst
n Diego standards with right-or-ways	improvement of the three westbound lanes will be completed including cut, a first for whice sidewalk and a 14-foot wide raised median. In addition, a traffic strong sestem is reviring and an 18 mich meruix second
bad north through the subdivision and v. However, due to the planned 125	main in Otay Mesa Road is recommended. The subdivider was also required to establish drainage detention basins.
of this property, the developer has	Construction of the subdivision improvements started in Auroret 2003 after below deleved to connect
ick Road. Aviator Road has also not	years by the proposed air cargo airport proposal being considered for Brown Field. That proposal was
certain non-une conservation of conservations of conservations of conservations of conservations of conservations of conservations and con	subsequently declined and removed from consideration, cleaning the way for development to proceed on the subject project. The satimated completion date of grading and street improvements is by September
and an and according the street	2003. As of the date of value the project construction is estimated to be approximately 95 percent complete with some minor street work and context texternation something thermore 4.5 and 2000
ry currenses and compare we survey a and normert for the burboses of this	based on a hypothetical condition they are very any project antrocomplete as of that fails and have firstend ive
the cost to complete is not within the teconomic exermition (Extremination	ready for development.
	Flood Zone/Earthquake Hazard
corner of the subject subdivision and the of Pirer Parch Brad and Aviator	The property is designated Zone X, outside a designated flood hazard area according to flood insurance
r right-of-way is in the planning stages	unape prepared by the Narionial Flood unsurance Frogram, Community Panel Number 060285 2179F dated June 19, 1997.
The freeway right-of-way will require	The property is not invested within an interview branch product month of the property of the p
ils traire alignment is not known, no s. State Route 125 will be a major	meric property and the Rose Canyon Fault Zone is located approximately 14 miles west of the site.
Page 19	Rasmuson Appraisal Services

The overall topography of the subject is relatively flat with a natural southwestenly drainage gradi Elevations in the project vary from approximately 507 MSL in the northeastern corner to approxima deflect MSL at the southwest corner. The finished lots will be situated about one foot above st grade with some minor variation and ganty rolling terrain. As of the date of value, the lots are in a signaded condition and appear ready for development.

Topography

### Utilities

All are currently available and operating on the site. Water is provided by the Otsy Water District. The District gets its water from Northern California and the Colorado River through the Metropolitan Water District and the San Dispo County Water Authority. Searge in this portion of the Otsy Water District is releated by San Dispo County. Telencicity is provided by SDG&E (Sempra Energy Company) with underground electric and gas lines serving the subdivision.

Storm water runoff will be controlled by a drainage channel located along the western property boundary and fhood water storage basins along the south boundaries of Lots 17 and 21. The two defention basins we correct the arround of runoff allowed to exit the property in the public storm drain system draining periods of ratifield. As a lamporary surveit measure, the rough graded tols will each have a small desiting basin before the runoff reaches the drainage channels and storm drains.

### Access

Access to the subject is by Olay Mesa Road east from Olay Valley Road/Heritege Road or Interstate 805. Olay Mesa Road is esphait paved and striped for three westbound lanes and two eastbound lanes with a broken yellow the (non-raised) median. The existing road width and right-of-way varies, but currently there is approximately 59 feet of existing road width. Olay Mesa Road has been widened abong the subject property frontage approximately 31 feet with a new concrete curb, guter and sidewalk insulated the instruction of Olay Mesa Road and Piper Ranch Road has been with left turn lenes onto Piper Ranch Road.

Piper Ranch Road is the primary street intersecting Clay Mesa Road for this subdivision. Piper Ranch Road is an aspheit paved collector street with an 80-foot right of way but buil-out to 49 feet with the balance to be the responsibility of the adjacent property owner upon development. It is developed with two lanes with center median and concrete curts, gutters and sidewarks atong the west side of the street and any state curt is a developed to the balance in the asphate them and concrete curts, gutters and sidewarks atong the west side of the street and an asphatt berm along the east side. Other roads within the subject subdivision (Air Wing Road. Dead Stick Road and Approach Road) are developed to City of San Diego standards with right-of-ways ranging from 70 to 90 feet.

Piper Ranch Road was planned to be extended from Clay Mesa Road north through the subdivision and intersecting with Avaians Road along the north subdivision boundory. However, oute for the phanned 125 thoreaver right-of-way which will cross through the northern corner of this property, the developen has chosen nor to fully construct Piper Ranch Road north of Dead Sitick Road. Avaiator Road has also not been constructed and the developer is requesting that the city neuses his from the obligation to construct this noad. Piper Ranch Road heat heat the city neuses in firm the obligation to construct this noad. Piper Ranch Road heat heat heat are as a cui-de-sac at the boundery of Lots 7 and 8. The future Piper Ranch Road heat heat nough graded as has Avaior Road.

I have been asked to assume that the cost to remove the terrporary cut-de-sec and complete the street improvements is \$355,000. This amount is assumed to accurate accurate and complete the purposes of this assignment at the request of my cleint. An independent estimate of the cost to complete is not within the suspicing the assignment and has not been parformed. This is an extraordinary assumption (Extraordinary Assumption No. 2) upon which this valuation is based.

State Route 125 freeway is planned to cross through the northeast corner of the subject subdivision and may require acquisition of right-of-way from a couple lots. The location of Piper franch Road and Aviator Road in this area may also be impacted. The location of the freeway right-of-way kin the planning stages and the exact impact on this subdivision is not presently known. The freeway right-of-way will require acquisition by eminent domain y Caltrans. Since the impact of this future alignment is not known, no specific adjustments have been applied in this valuation analysis. State Route 125 will be a major specific adjustments have been applied in this valuation analysis. State Route 125 will be a major specific adjustments have been applied in this valuation analysis.

Rasmuson Appraisal Services
\$
erta
Ĩ
2
율
Ĩ

A copy of the Phase I Environmental Sile Assessment prepared by Geocon Consultants Inc., dated February 21, 2002 was provided to me. This report concluded that the potential for environmental impairment to the site from hazardous substances or onsile wastes is minimal. Please refer to Limiting Condition and Assumption Nos. 2 and 3 in this report.

#### Solis/Grading

Per a report prepared by Geocon incorporated dated June 21, 2002, grading to construct the 24 tots is relatively minor. Grading work has consisted of cuts and fills of less than ten feet. Surface drainage will be directed towards the southwest corner of the site.

Grading plans for the project prepared by Rick Engineering, W.O. #960934 show that about 220,000 cubic yards of soil have been excavated for the project. Each of the finished lots sets at a grade slightly below the elevation of the adjacent streets. The lots have a minor change in elevation within the project. generally at an elevation ranging from 485 to 511 MSL. Lots will have a 1.0% to 1.5% stope for drainage wipposes. This valuation of the project me coils are evident for Aevelopment of the property to its wipposes. This valuation operation compare the coils are evident for Aevelopment of the property to its wipposes.

### Surrounding Land Uses

Ctery Mesa is characterized by expanses of vacant land with clustered "leap frog" style pockets of development. The subject is Immediately surrounded by predominantly undeveloped industrial land to the north, east and south. An existing industrial subdivision located west of the subject and east of La Madia Road exist. This subdivision, the Oty Measa Industrial Park, has 22 mapped lots ranging in size from about an eace to about an existing vestor frist subdivision is fourth of these are does of the hild industrial uses. Immediately west of this subdivision is Brown Field, a general aviation airport situated on approximately 900 acres along the north side of Otay Mesa Road.

#### Visibility

The subject subdivision has adequate to good visibility to traffic atong Otay Mesa Road. Several of the tots, most notably, Lots 1, 16 and 17 directly front Otay Mesa Road and have good visibility, but there is no direct access to Otay Mesa Road available to these lots.

# Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions

A preliminary little report prepared by First American Trie dated October 21, 2002 was provided to me for raview. The report indicated a total of 43 exceptions to the title. Most of these items represent easements that affect portions of the tots and are for public utilities or incidential purposes. Item No. 11 references an avigation essement that exists over the antire subdivision. The avigation essement was granted on the subdivision map to the CKy of San Diago for all arigned above an advantant of SM feet MSL. There is also an avigation approach essement that affects nearly all of the advantance of SM feet MSL. There is also an avigation approach essement that affects nearly all of the advantance of SM feet MSL. There is also an avigation approach essement that affects nearly all of the advantance of SM feet MSL. There is also an avigation approach essement that all effects nearly all of the advantance of selforts the western associates. The aviable indicated with a Building Height Restriction essement is along the western subdivision boundary at SM feet within pad elevations are in the range of essement is along the western subdivision boundary at SM feet within pad elevations are in the range of the static second aflow a maximum building height for these westerity its (17 to 22) of SM to SM feet. This is sufficient height to range on the development potential of the market and is not considered to have a negative kinpact on the development potential of this is thin market and is not considered to have a negative kinpact on the development potential of this is buildington based on its hubbat and beat used for light mutuating development.

Item No. 12 in the report states that direct access to Otay Mesa Road from adjacent lots 1, 16 and 17 has been relinquished. Item Nos. 16 through 35 all refer to an encroachment removal agreement dated in 1989. I have also reviewed a copy of the recorded tract map for the project, Map No. 12346. The title report indicates the presence of several utility easements, some of which are in favor of SDG&E. The recorded

Rasmuson Appraísal Services

Page 21

tract map reflects the location of those easements recorded in 1948 and 1952. The easements traverse many of the lots in the subdivision, commercing at Oay Meas Road on a northrouth ank, continuing through Lots 1, 2 and 3 and turning in a northwesterly direction over Lot 13 and through Lots 20 to 23. Please refer to Sheets 4 and 5 of the tract are included in this report. I have been provided information that indicates these old utility easements will be removed by quit claim from SDG&E since they are no longer used or needed. A letter of "through to Curtitalian" has been sent by SDG&E to the developer that evidances their intention to start the process of removing these easements. Therefore, I have not considered these easements in wellablen analysis. However, should the easement not be removed, there may be significant impacts to the utility of the affected fors.

The subdivision will have recorded CC&Rs; however as of the writing of this report, I have not been provided with a copy of the subdivision CC&Rs for review.

# Future Extension of State Route 125

In September of 1991, the California Department of Transportation (CalTrans) approved construction of an 11-mile loti road, State Route 125. This project will consist of the third meilor meth-south higtway routidor in San Diago County and with provided discut access to the Cup Maca bacter area. It will access from Olay Mesa north to State Route 126. This project access to the Cup Maca bacter area. It will access from Olay Mesa north to State Route 34, the southern inthe miles of which are expected to be a privately financed tollway. Although this project has not commenced construction, preliminary indications show that the freeway off-ream on to Clay Mesa Road may after those loss in the subject subsistion bacted at the extreme northeastern portions of the project could state those that the project could state in late 204 and thes thee years to complete, nowever at this fine, no definitive time line is available. A copy of the general route location map provided by Caltrans follows.



# Description of Improvements for Assessment District

According to a City of San Diego Freikininary Engineer's Report, the cost of architecture, engineering and construction of road, sewer and storm drain facilities are to be financed. A summary of the improvements follows below.

Resmuson Appraisal Services

mprovements
Street
А

The roads (Piper Ranch Rd, Aviator Road, Air Wing Road, Approach Road and Dead Stick Road) will include curb and gutter, sidewalk, pedestrian ramps, berms, monuments and street lights.

### a,

The sewer mainlines including manholes, lot laterals, and cleanouts are to be located in Otay Mesa Road, Piper Ranch Road, Air Wing Road and along the assessment district's western

### Y Storm Orain Improvements

Storm drains consist of reinforced concrete pipe, cleanouts, ourb inlets and concrete lined

A summary cost estimate for the Construction hard costs and indirect costs are shown in the following table.

Preliminary Cost	\$1,809,859	590,361	1,611,644	196,467	\$4,208,331	\$228,750		\$463,237	197,109	260,813	330,700	73,179	2.881	\$1,327,919	\$5,765,000
	Construction Costs: Streets, signats, curb, gutter, street lights	Sanitary sewer system	Storm drain system	5% Contingency	Subtotal Construction Costs:	Architecture/Engineering Fees	District Formation & Financing Costs:	Debt Service Reserve Fund	Non-Escrow Capitalized Interest to 9/2/04	Escrow Capitalized Interest to 9/2/05	Cost of Issuance	Underwriter's Discount	Additional Proceeds	Subtotal:	Total Estimated Assessment Amount for Project:

The city has provided me with a table apportioning the assessment based upon the gross lot area of each parcet. Using the total project acreage of 69.55 ecres, the allocated assessment cost is \$1.90 per square foot. This allocation has been used in the valuation of the subject lots. The bonds are to be financed for a 30-year term.

A summary table showing the assessment adocation per lot based on a pro-rata allocation of the total assessment amount based on the gross fot area follows.

Services
Appraisal
Rasmuson

In Per SF Allocated

Value of

Gross

646-240-45 646-240-02 646-240-03 646-240-04 646-240-04

έN

APN

Lot No.

112,411

69 63 63 69 60 sa, 60 60 6 ŝ

Lien Assessment 164,951 168,780 168,780 167,438 167,438 167,438 167,438 167,438 167,438 167,438 162,518 179,871 179,871 175,553 171,562 171,562

\*\*\*

646-240-07 646-240-08 646-240-09 646-240-09

646-240-06

4

646-240-11 645 240 12 646-240-13

646-240-14

\$1.90

5,765,000

47)

69.55

Totals

167,438 201,423 365,545 365,545 356,427 356,427 356,427 356,427 356,427 356,427 356,427 356,427 356,427

646-240-15 646-240-15 646-240-19 646-240-19 646-240-20 646-240-21 646-240-22 646-240-22 646-240-23 646-240-23

	1
	-
	:
vements	
Sewer Improvement	

boundary.

drainage channel.

Resmuson Appraisal Services

### Subject Photos



-



Photo 2 – View looking north taward Lots 3-8 on Piper Ranch Road and Alr Wing Road

Resmuson Appreise! Services

Page 25



Photo 3 – Looking west toward Lot 2 and Approach Road



Resmuson Appraisal Services



Photo 5 – Looking west from Air Wing Road siong boundary between Lots 20 and 21 (storm water detertion besin)



Photo 8 – View looking north from south and of project (along future Air Wing Road)

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 27



Photo 7 - Looking north at Lots 17-20 from frontage near Otay Mesa Road



Rasmuson Appraisal Services







Rasmuson Appreisal Services













### Community Description

- Current County of San Diego Population: 2,978,300
- Growth Trend: Upward growth averaging around 2 percent per year; see table below



 New Construction: New housing units have not been keeping up with the demand growth, causing increasing housing prices. The following table shows new housing permit issuance in the County of San Diego over the past 11 years, based upon number of units proposed.



Figure 1 - Source: Construction Industry Research Board

Resmuson Appraisal Services

Market Analysis

The fait-out from the dot-com bubble burist and the recession in 2001 had an edverse impact on San Diggots office and RAD space demand in 2001 and 2002 with more vacant space coming on line from existing tenants vacating or giving up excess space for sublesse. San Diego continues to fare better than other areas in California which were hit harder by this slump. A summary of San Diego County's real estate statistics for construction, occupancy and absorption in the various residential, commercial, retail and industrial sectors follows.

san Diego κεαι εδίατε υσηδητιστίου διάτις (ρειτητίς βρίπου)	2001 (Actual) 2002 (Estimate) 2003 (Forecast)	y 8,673 8,570 9,000	6,074 5,665 6,000	\$469 million \$421 million N/A	90.2 million \$123 million N/A
וא מפאות ווהכ		Single Family	Mutti-Family	<u>Commercial</u>	Industrial

Source - Economic Research Bureau, San Diego Repional Chember of Commerce

	2001.Year End	1,043,000 SF	1.6 million	N/A	
San Diego County Net Space Absorption	2002 Year End	1.6 millon SF	2.1 milian SF	1.1 million SF	Source – Burnham Real Estan Sarvices ONCOR
San Diego Cou		Office	Industrial	Retail	Source – Burnhan

A table summarizing the year-end vacancy rates for office, industrial and apartment property in San Diego County follows. The primary source of this data are the annual Burnham Reak Estate Services reports.

Year End	Office	industrial	Retail	Apartments
1993	15.9%	8.7%	8.7%	4.5%
1994	15.0%	8.4%	%0.6	5.4%
1995	14.6%	7.5%	8.8%	3.8%
1996	11.9%	6.0%	7.2%	2.1%
1981	8,8%	5.3%	6.7%	1.1%
1996	7.5%	4.6%	6.0%	1.3%
1999	7.9%	13.5%	4.7%	1.1%
2000	6.5%	7.3%	3.8%	0.6%
2001	12.4%	8.7%	4.3%	2.0%
2002	11.6%	8.1%	2.7%	4.1%
2 <sup>m</sup> Ctr 2003	12.6%	8.4%	3,1%	%E'7

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 37

Despite the continued weakness in our national economy. San Diego County's commercial real estate market remained strong throughout the first quarter 2003. It is believed that San Diego County has not been as deeply affected as other parts of the county due to a highly diversified work force. Some key industries in San Diego County include Agriculture. Diegnese, Highly Technology. International Trade. Manufacturing and Biolechnology. Alt he end of the first quarter 2003. the unemployment rate for San Diego decreased to 4.2 percent. This rate is significantly lower than California's rate of 6.9 percent and the United States rate of 5.8 percent.

### Otay Meta Area Description

The subject property is located within the Olay Mesa Community Plan. It is defined as the southern portion of the City of San Diego and a portion of the Courty of San Diego and as such, is governed by both the City and County of San Diego. It is bounded by the U.S.Mexico international border to the south. Interacte 805 to the west, the Otay River Valley to the north and the foothilks of the San Ysidro Mountains to the east. The area encompasses approximately 28 square mides in both the city and county of San Diego.

Until the mid-1980's, the area was primarily undeveloped agricultural land lacking the necessary public infrastructure for urbanization. With the opening of the Olay Mess border crossing in late 1985, the establishment of the adjacent Okay international Center and the opening of the State Prison in 1987, the area experienced a significant amount of developmental change in the last 15 years. Olay Mess thas the largest industrially zoned area in San Digge, encompassing 20,800 acres. About 40 percent of this area is located within the city limits and the balance is in the county jurisdiction. At full build-out, the community plan calls for development of a relatively self-contained residential community of epotoximately 2,500 acres. The community's projected population of 46,400 calls for eight new elementary schools, even neighborhood parks, a middle school, two community parks and one sentor high school.

One of the most important factors leading to increased interest in the Otay Masa area has been the opening of the Otay Mesa burder crossing and the utilimate transfer of all commercial and industrial traffic to its crossing facility. In 1994, the Otay Mesa point of enby was expanded to accommodate additional cargo shipments and in January 1995 it began handling all commercial traffic between San Diago and Tijuana. The San Ysidro international border crossing, located 5.5 miles to the west of Oray Mesa, now allows only pedestrian and private vehicle traffic only.

Olay Mesa's predominantly industrial zoning has provided a base for the city's expanding role in international manufacturing. It began developing in the mki-1980s with the passing of NAFTA and its close proximity to Mexico. Manufacturing operations that are foreign-owned, referred to as maquiledoras, assemble plants in Mexico that import raw material city-fee and export final protocies atorouch the work. The area expanded into a burgeoning manufacturing industry with the majority of the world's televisions manufactured in the area. Many companies that have located to Obay Mesa have maquiladoras in 1996. A sample of these companies includes Sanyo North America, Mexel Magnetic Media, Metsushita Television Company and J2, C00 people.

Business development incentives such as its designation as a state Enterprise Zone and Foreign Trade Zone status also benefit the area. About 1.418 acres of Otay Mesa is situated within the Foreign Trade Zone. This designation allows foreign or domestic goods to enter the area without formal outstorms entry or payment of custom dulas and government excise laws. The maquilators industry suffered one of its worst years in 2001 due primarity to reduced consumer spending in the United States which led to a drop im production of electronic devices. The region was also effected by regulatory charges and competition from nations with a cheapter work force. As a result, Mexico's export manufacturing industry declined hile percent in 2001. Factories were doed and an estimated 40,000 bots were lost in Tijusna alone. Exporter that supply the Mexicons are optimistic that a rebound will come.

Clay Mess is also home to Brown Field, a City-owned general aviation alroort occupying 900 acres north of Otay Mesa Road. The alroort currently handles about 20,000 flight operations per month and has an

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Burnham Real Estate reports that the San Diego Industrial market is a full cycle-phase alread of the office market, although it never progressed into recession. Industrial is usually the first sector to rebound after a down market and in San Diego, Industrial Working is already increasing. On an overall basis, the San Diego industrial market is not overoult. An overview of industrial vacancy rates by product type for the past seven years is shown below.	Looking at specific industrial product types shows multi-tenant industrial at a 4.7 percent vacancy for year end 2002. Manufacturing posted the greatest improvement in 2002, dropping from a high of 15.6 percent in 1989 to a 2002 rate of 6.2 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little excess space with only 9.3 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little excess space with only 9.3 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little excess space with only 9.3 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little excess space with only 9.3 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little excess space with only 9.3 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little excess space with only 9.3 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little excess space with only 9.3 percent. Warehouse and distribution facilities also have relatively little freet and 565.04 square feet and respectively the mid-county and of 3.0176 square freet and 555.000 square feet of new industrial space under construction in Olay Mesa, about 273,200 square feet under construction in Visita and 4.18,000 square feet of new space under ecovery phase, are absorption remained absorption in a negative in the mark ondition and the nation. In the recovery phase, and subsorption remained absorption for square feet in the first quarter and positive net absorption of 1.414,000 square feet in the second quarter. 2003. Sans al 1.170,000 square feet with a single 600,000 square feet in the second quarter and positive net absorption of the last option due to a single 600,000 square feet in the first quarter and positive net duarter.	<b>Otay Mess Industrial Sub-Market</b> The Cray Mess athornarket is part of the larger South County market area of San Diego. The lotal South County market has about 18.1 million square feet representing about 12 percent of the lotal industrial inventory in the county. Other sub-markets in South San Diego County market area athornarkets is the inventory in the county. Other sub-markets is South San Diego County market area athornarket is the largest of the four sub-markets, representing nearly 6 percent of the lotal industrial inventory in San Diego. A composite of the South County holestrial Market for Year end 2002 is shown in the following table.
---	--	--

Prior to spring 2000, Celifornia 905 existed in two segments. One was the freeway segment between a half mike east of Interstate 805 and the other was the multi-lane conventional highway between the future California 125 interactions of the Oby Mesa Port of Entry. In a 1998 generation the Nuture San Diego and Calitans, the City paid to upgrade Oay Mesa Road to six innes with unnihoj lanes by the end of 1999 and Calitans, the City paid to upgrade Oay Mesa Road to six innes with unnihoj lanes by the end of 1999 and Calitans, the City paid to upgrade Oay Mesa Road to six innes with unnihoj lanes by the end of 1999 and Calitans, the City paid to upgrade Oay Mesa Road to six innes with unnihoj lanes by the end of 1999 and Calitans, the City paid out sigms were encoded ramming the span to Highway 905. Construction was completed in early 2000 and sigms were encoded ramming the span to Highway 905 styresaway. Onch he may collioning 805 is constructed, it will be n-designated in factilities 205. In the meanline, traffic continues to escalate along Highway 905 as all incucis must use the California 905 so the factor of the cut california 205 as a built. Paralleli to the ensuing contense to escalate along Highway 905 states and in proved California 905 so the factor of the cut california 205 as all trucks must use the California 905 so the endated of the trucks must use the California 905 and the cut california 905 as all trucks must use the California 905 and the cut and the cut california 905 as all trucks must use the California 905 as all trucks must use the California 905 and the cut and the cut california 905 as all trucks must use the California 905 and the cut and the cut california 905 and the cut california 905 and the cut california 905 as all trucks must use the California 905 and cut california 905 as a

guitters and sidewelks and aconcrete perifer model. The north side of Olay Mesa Road/Roule 305 is unimproved and serves as the south property line for Brown Field Airport. During the three-year period from thigh the full freeway 905 is built periadial to the south of Olay Mesa Road Roule 305 is completed on the interim, temporary California 905 expressives along Olay Mesa Road Detween Old Olay Mesa Road just esst of interstate 805 to the future Honway 125 freeway interchange. This new extingences way is built to California 905 to the future Honway 125 freeway interchange. This new with protected left turns standard 805 th Nis kinas and standard signage. Signalized intersections with protected left turns are inslated 805 to Verlay Road. Calus Road. Bittamia Bouleverd, Aires chart, La Media Road, and Olay Mesa Road near the future California 125 interchange/connection.

existing main runway that is 8,000 feet in length. It is located on the north side of Otay Mesa Road, west of this subject property. A development group had proposed converting the airport into an air cargo airport a couple years ago. This proposal has since been declined by the City and removed from consideration. Primary access to the area is from interstate 805 east along Citay Mesa Road/Route 905. Citay Mesa Road/Route 905 is a two and four-tane road which terminates immediately east of Alta Road. At the Brown Frield Business Park, Clay Mesa Road/Route 905 is three lanes eastbound with concrete curbs.

Highway 905/Otay Mesa Road

Miguel Road in Bonita while the remainder of the route consisting of about mine miles will be operated as a tollway. A freeway off-ramp is proposed at Otay Mess Road and eventually a full interchange with future interstate 905. The project design and construction began on the Phase I in August 2002 and a recent strictle in the Sam Diego Daily Transcript reported that funds are secure for the statie-funded portion of Sate Route 125. Construction of the 33 mile highway span from just south of Highway 54 near the Sweetwater Reservoir to California 905 is screduled; for a grant form just south of Highway 54 near the stuctioned that the new freeway will dee at least three years to complete. I have been advised that it is anticipated that the new freeway will dee at least three years to complete. I have been advised that it is possible that the new freeway will dee at least three years to complete. I have been advised that it is near the northeestern area of the subject subdivision; however, no plans are aveilable at this time.

More than ten years ago. Catitans approved construction of a toll road that will extend Highway 125 and will enhance access to Otay Mesa. The first sagment is the San Miguel Parkway which connects California 905 north to California 54. TransNet will fund California 125 from California 54 south to San

Highway 125

Rasmuson Appreisal Services

Page 39

The San Diego County industrial market experienced approximately 1.1 million square feet of positive net absorption during 2002, driven by 13.1 million square feet of fotal gross sales and basing activity. Attronup then of the 22 sub-markets posted positive ent absorption in the fourth quarter of 2002, it was not exough to offset the County as a whole, andring the quarter with just under 140,000 square feet of negative net absorption. During 2002, the San Diego County industrial market delivered 2.3 million square feet of new product and 1.4 million square referentined under construction at yae-end. At the end of the scoond quarter 2003, the San Diego County industrial market posted about 1,170,000 square feet of net absorption. For the quarter, the county industrial market posted about 1,170,000 square get of net absorption. For the quarter the county industrial market posted about 1,170,000 square square remained level compared to 2002, the San Diego County industrial market posted about 1,170,000 square space remained level compared to 2002 year-end at 50.9 per square foot per month.

Market Analysis San Diego County Industrial

	South San I	South San Diego County Industrial Market	ial Market	
	Chula Vista	National City	Otav Mesa	San Ysidro
Invariant	4.391.262 SF	2,224,006 SF	B,920,964 SF	1,374,355 SF
K of Marked	2.9%	1.5%	5.9%	. 0.9%
# of Parisots	59	21	3	5
% Vacant	3.1%	3.0%	19.6%	9.6%
2007 Net Absorption	163.309 SF	(37,000 SF)	730,176 SF	3,168.SF

### Table Source: Bumham Real Estate

A Burnham Real Estate report for the second quarter 2003 reported a vacancy rate of 12 percent for the Obsy Mesa industrial sub-market. Gains were made in the second quarter with positive nat absorption of 847,558 square feet including the single 600,000 square foot project previously noted. Approximately per square feet was reported to be under construction. The average triple net lease rate was \$0.51 per square foot, which represents the lowest rate in San Diago County.

The majority of the existing vacant space in Olay Mesa is in first generation buildings. Several new projects in the area have come on-line in the past two years. One mew project is Stampter Vine Business Part, a five-building. 341,500 square foot varaehouse and distribution park. The project was developed by Master Development Corporation (MDC) and started construction in the second quarter 2000 and in January 2002 leased the final vacant space in the park. Another never development by MDC is Britannia corporate Center. This project consists of six buildings with a total of 274,510 square feel. This project was completed in the first quarter of 2002 and to date, in another never development by MDC is Britannia building to be sold recently closed secow at \$3,5 million. It conflained 61,593 square feel. This project was purchased by Hometex Packaging based in Los Angeles. The comparty plans on relocating its british distribution tenter in an other recent transaction, a 19,798 rear for announced. Pacific Rim Pointe is use-building project comprised of exproximately 120,000 square feet of multificturant space and a 32,000 square foot, two-story office building.

Absorption of finished lots has been relatively steady during the past eight years; however, historically, there has been an abundance of finished inventory. It is also clear that a substantial arrount of land is available for future finished lot development. The following table presents the stetus of all major mapped industrial park subdivisions within Otay Mesa. Most are developed and sold out, while there are a few imposed but undeveloped projects. This data was taken from public record and interfew with brokers in this masted.

	Ň		Year	
Subdivision	Lots	Sales	Mapped	Status
Ocean View Hills Corp, Center	36	14	2002	Finished - currently setting lots
Pacific Gateway Park	18	13	1989	Finished - nol active
Mesa Business Park	17	17	1981-1994	Sold out
Otay Heights	6	4	1993	Not active
Brown Field Technology Park	21	0	1998	Unfinished - not being actively marketed
International Business Center	16	<u>1</u> 6	1989	Sold out
Brown Field Business Park	29	29	1989	Resale activity - 2 lot sales in 2003
Britannia Commerce Center	c,	6	1987	Sold out
Otav Mesa Center	6	¢	2000	Unitiplehed - for sale as is for \$5.00/SF
Otav La Media Business Center	ŝ	ŝ	1991	Sold out
Olay Mesa Industrial Park	2	22	1990	Reseite activity - 1 tot in 2002; 2 in escrow
Piper Ranch Business Park	24	₽	1990	Subject Property
Sunroad Otay I	32	16	2001	Bulk sale of south 1/2; remainder unfinistied
De Le Fuente Business Park	85	AN	1987-1990	Mosthy solid out - results activity
Siempre Viva Business Park	3	Ŧ	2001	Second phase under development - build to suit
San Diego Business Park	12	ţ	1987	Solid out
Otay International Center	168	168	1989	Sold out - resale activity
Total	545			

Many brokers and owners active in this market believe that furture demand will likely increase due to the lack of developable land in other submarkets of San Diego Country. Others point to improved access in Citra Masa with the future completion of Highways 905 and 125. Therefore, absorption should continue at historic levels.

Pace

Resmuson Appreisal Services

<u>.</u> 2
S
≧
a
2
6
ñ
ы
ő
Ē
σ
ano
8
5
ē
Ъ,
¥
┷

#### Definition

The first step in the valuation of real estate is to judge the highest and best use of the property. The purpose of escentiating the parcel's highest and best use is to provide a basis for accuratish satimating market value. Highest and best use for appraisal purposes is defined as that use or succession of available, Heghest and best use for appraisal purposes is defined as that use or succession of available, Heghest and best use for succession to transite them and that use or succession of available, Heghest and the task use for appraisal purpose is sufficient demand that produces the most probable present is value. Attemnatively, the Appraisal institute states that the highest and best use is supported, financially probable, and here is no includent and the highest use to reach use is supported.

The analysis of highest and best use follows the steps as described in the previous definitions. Essentially, the appraiser creates a tand use matrix that identifies and analyzes the legally permissible uces, physically possible uses and financially feasible uses. The use or uses that meet these criteria and provide the most probable is value is judged the highest and best use.

Highest and best use is analyzed for the site as if vacant. A summary follows.

#### As If Vacant

The subject lots are zoned industrial by the City of San Diego. The subdivision has been mapped for 24 lots with sizes ranging from 18 to 5.5 acres. Upon competion of construction, the lots with have public street frontage and access to all public utilities. The subdivision is located in the eastern portion of Otay Mess. a community of the City of San Diego. This area is primarily developed with light industrial property. Access to the area is by Hightway 905 (Otay Mess Road) which connects to Hightway 805 and Highway 905 (Otay Mess Road) which connects to Highway 805 and Highway 5 ot the east. A major commercial truck bodies crossing is located in the MexicoUSA informational border. There is a sustained damand for industrial land uses.

Based on the physical, legal and economic factors that influence the subject project, the highest and best use (most likely use) is for sale to industrial users. Lots 1 and 2 have been designated by the developer, Piper Ranch LLC, for possible use as business support services. These lots have visibility to Otay Mesa Road and are closest to the signalized intersection. This proximity gives them potential for commercial and retail use.

1 Appraisal Institute Land Vatuation, James H. Boykin, PhD, MAI, SREA, CRE, 2001 p. 39

## Valuation Analysis

#### Introduction

The purpose of this report is to estimate the individual retail values for each of the 24 lots and secondly to estimate the bulk sale value for the assumed sale of all of the lots subject to a common ownership to a single purchaser. Piper Ranch LLC owns 16 lots and One Piper Ranch LLC owns 8 lots as of the date of value. A bulk sale value will be developed for these two blocks of ownerships.

The individual value for each lot is commonly referred to as the relativatue. This value is based on the assumption that it is marketed and sold as a separate parcel to an end-user. The individual market value for each lot is first restimated and is later used as the basis for the bulk sale value estimate using a discounted cesh flow analysis. Since the subject lots are all assumed to be finished lots ready for development, but not including any structural improvements, only the Sales Comparison Approach to value is considered appreache. The Cost Approach and Income Approach to not apply in the valuation of unimproved land or finished lots. A variation of the Income Approach is used in the estimate of bulk sale value for the project.

The indications of value are then reconciled to a final option of the market value for the subject property. The interest appresied in this analysts is the fae simple, subject to special tax and special assessment filens.

Sales Comparison Approach

#### Introduction

The Sales Comparison Approach has been used to estimate the retail value for each of the 24 subject lots. This approach is also used to estimate the bulk sale value of the lots to a single buyer. The retail lot value analysis is presented first, followed by the bulk sale value analysis.

Land value is estimated by comparing the subject site to sales of similar land parcels in the neighborhood and surrounding market. The comparable market area for the subject lots is the Otay Mesa submarket of the City of San Diego. There are a number of existing and developing industrial subdivisions in this market which compete with the subject or are somewhat comparable. i have researched sales of individual lots over the past several years. Sufficient data exists to limit the comparable data presented within this report to sales dosed since January 2002. The sales search resulted in consideration of the following land sales presented in summary form.

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 43

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

		Otay Nesa Lo	Otay Mesa Lot Sale Data Table				ð	Otay Mesa Lo
	Sale 1	<u>5ale 2</u>	Sale 3	Sale 4	Sale E		Sale 11	Sale
Street Frontage	Corporate Center Drive	Avenida de La Fuente	Paseo De Las Americas	Marconi Drive	Via De La Amistad	Street Frontage	La Media Rd	1605 Cach
Subdivision	Ocean View Falls Corporate Center	De la Fuente Bus. Park	Otay International Center	Otay International Center	Olay international Center	Subdivision	Otay Mesa Industrial Park	Otay He
NdV	645-280-01	646-150-44	646-160-03	646-160-28	546-180-46,47	NJF	846-250-02,23	646-270-
Lot Area (Acres)	0.99	1.75	1.01	1.08	1.08	Lot Area (Acres)	3.14	<b>1.</b> 8
(40) 100 (PE)	43,124	76,230	43,996	510'27	37.046	(עבי) ואמאי ועולו	0,1,001	10
Sale Date	12/4/2002	4/30/2002	11/7/2002	6/12/2002	3/28/2003	Sals Date	8/25/2003	4/25/24
Sate Price	\$327,745	005'5225	\$320,000	\$306,000	\$320,000	Sale Price	\$1,000,000	\$856,0
Price/SF Bond Debl/SF Total Price	09:25 00:05	9.22 85.73 77.23	<b>\$7.</b> 27 <b>\$0.90</b> \$8.17	19. 19. 19. 19. 19. 19.	55.80 <u>80.90</u> \$7.70	PricesE Boad DebusE Tolai Price	57.31 50.00 57.31	510.4 5.013
	Sale E	5ale 7	<u> 8 लंह</u>	<u>9 4168</u>	<u>Sale 10</u>			
Sireel Fronkage	Otay Center CL	Parasonic Way	Watendig Road	La Media Road	Marconi Court			
Subdivision	Otay International Center	Brown Field Business Park	Brown Field Business Park	Otay Mesa Industrial Park	Otay International Center			
NDV	646-141-18	645-220-01	646-220-05	646-250-04	646-160-27			
Lot Area (Acres)	2.23 het	2.87	3.78	1.04	8201			
Lot Area (SF)	97,139	125,017	164,657	45,302	47,000			
Sale Date	4/16/2002	1/21/2003	3/10/2003	11/2/2002	6/2/2003			
Sale Price	5565,929	51,001,000	\$1,050,000	\$350,000	5350,000			
Price/SF Band Deb//SF Total Price	\$5.62 \$1.02 \$6.83	58.01 50.02 58.01	80 <b>80</b> 80 <b>80</b> 80 <b>80</b>	52°25 52°25	\$7,45 \$0,20 \$8,15			

Lot Sale Data Table – Continued Ocean View Hills Corporate Center Cactus Road Business Center 645-180-2,3,4,5 12/24/2002 \$1,402,850 000, T 41 <u>Sala 13</u> 3.39 93.55 93.55 93.55 r Heights 11,20-02,11 <u>ale 12</u> 5/2000 96,000 0.045 0.000 0.000 210 8

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 45

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Sale 1	
Location/Address	West side of Corporate Center Drive, south of Progressive Ave, Otay Mesa
Assessor Parcel No.	645-280-01
Legal Description	Lot 1 of Ocean View Hills Corporate Center Unit No. 2
Site Data	
Land Area.	0.99 Acre(s); 43,124 SF Gross
Zoning:	/ of San Dieg
Offsites:	All to site
Site Condition:	Rough graded. Inished lot with all infrastructure in place
Proposed Use	Construct a 15,000 SF Industrial building
Sale Data	
Recording Date:	12/4/2002 Document: 2002-1092683
Seller:	imes
Buyer	Mehdi Govari
Sale Price:	5327,745 Price Per SF: \$7.60
	+
Terms:	Cash to selver First Trust Deed: \$690,000 First Pacific
Comments	No Mello-Roos financing applicable in this subdivision

Rasmuson Appraisal Services



Rasmuson Appraísal Services

Page 47

Location/Address	2495 Paseo De Las Americas, Otay Mesa	nericas, Otay Mesa	
Assessor Parcel No.	646-160-03		
Legal Description	Lot 3 Otay Internatione	Lot 3 Otay International Center Lots 8 and 9 Unit No. 2	No. 2
Site Data			
Land Area:	1.01 Acre(s);	43,996 SF Gross	
Zoning:	OMIC-Industrial, City of San Diego	f San Diego	
Offsites:	All to site		
Site Condition:	Rough graded, finisher	Rough graded, finished lot with all infrastructure in place	n place
Proposed Use	Construct a multi-tenant industrial building	it industrial building	
Sale Data			
Recording Date:	11/7/2002	Document:	Document: 2002-994898
Selier:	Jesus G. Mungia, et al		
Buyer	Jose and Sara Nakach		
Sale Price.	\$320,000	Price Per SF.	\$1.27
	•	Band Debt/SF:	06:0\$
		Total Price:	\$8.17
Terms:	All cash to Seller	First Trust Deed:   N/A	NA
-+	Malla Daan freesland	te lafaa ka sa	avieting hand deh
2000000		MBIR-FROM INSTRUCTING ION ANTOSOLOGUIC, ASSUMPTION CLOSEN IN DUTAL LOUIS	



Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 49

Assessor Parcel No.     G46-160-26       Legal Description     Lat 28, Oray Internationel Center Unit No. 1       Legal Description     Lat 28, Oray Internationel Center Unit No. 1       Site Data     108 Arcie(s), Land Aree:     47,045 SF Gross       Land Aree:     108 Arcie(s), Land Aree:     Acrie(s), Lot 28, Oray Internationel Center Unit No. 1       Site Data     Combing:     Level       Site Data     Condition:     Rough grated, finished Iot with all Infrastructure in place       Proposed Lise     Construct a 16,000 SF Industrial Unitrigs     Document     2002-500413       Sele Price:     S306,000     Prince Per SF:     S850       Bernet:     L&S American West Two. LLC     Document     2002-500413       Sele Price:     S306,000     Bernet Description     Earnet Description       Itemms:     S306,000     Bernet Description     Mail       Mealin From:     S306,000     Bernet Description     Mail <t< th=""><th>Location/Address</th><th>South side of Maro</th><th>South side of Marconi Drive, east of Marconi Court, Olay Mesa</th><th>Olay Mesa</th></t<>	Location/Address	South side of Maro	South side of Marconi Drive, east of Marconi Court, Olay Mesa	Olay Mesa
Aription     Lot 28, Otay International Center Unit No. 1       Aription     Lot 28, Otay International Center Unit No. 1       Aription:     1.08 Acrel(s);       Aription:     Aription:       Aription:     Brance:       Brance:     Stock.000       Brance:     Stock.000       Aription:     Aription:       Aription:<	or Parcel No.	646-160-28		
Meter     1.08 Acre(s);     47 045 SF Gross       OMIC: inclustrial, City of San Olego     OMIC: inclustrial, City of San Olego       All to site     Construct a 16,000 SF industrial building       Les     Construct a 16,000 SF industrial building       Charles J and Eva C. Thermen, Co-Trustees       L65 American West Two, LLC       S306,000       Bord Delay SF:       Meilo Roos financing paid off by seller       Meilo Roos financing paid off by seller	escription	Lot 28, Otay Interni		
ec.     1.08 Acre(s);     47 Dd5 SF Gross       All to site     OMIC: Industrial, City of San Diego       All to site     Example       Construct a 16,000 SF industrial building.       Les     Construct a 16,000 SF industrial building.       Charles J and Exa C. Thernian, Co-Trustees       L&S American West Two, LLC       S306,000       Bennd Deters:       S306,000       Allo Roos financing paid off by seller	M			
All to sie     Construct a 16,000 SF Industrial building       All to sie     Document       All to sie     Document       Construct a 16,000 SF Industrial building       Les     Construct a 16,000 SF Industrial building       Charles i and Eva C     Document       Solo6,000     Boot Description       Solo6,000     Cash down       First Trust Deed:       Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller       Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller	Area:	1.08 Acre(s);	47.045 SF Gross	
An ID see     An ID see       An ID see     Fough grated, Inithed lot with all infrestructure in the structure in the s		OMIC-Industrial, Ci	ty of San Diego	
Use     Construct a 16,000 SF Industrial builting       g Dere:     6/12/2000       g Dere:     6/12/2000       S306,000     Eve C. Therien, Co-Trustees       S306,000     Eve C. Trust Deed:       Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller	Unsides: Site Condition:	Rough graded, finis	hed lot with all infrastructure in pl	13C8
g Date:     List 2:000     Document       Chaides J and Eva C. Therrien, Co-Trustees     Bocument       L655 American West Two, LLC     Borto Particles       S306,000     American West Two, LLC       S306,000     American West Two, LLC       S306,000     American West Two, LLC       Meilo Roos financing paid off by seller       Meilo Roos financing paid off by seller	ed Use	Construct a 16.000	SF industrial building	
g Date:     Li12/2000     Document       Chaldes J and Eva C. Theriter, Co-Trustees     Bocument       L65 American Weet Two, LLC     Boond Detroiters       S306,000     American Weet Two, LLC       S306,000     American Weet Two, LLC       S306,000     Boond Detroiters       S306,000     Boond Detroiters       Meilo-Roos financing paid off by seller     Boond Detroiters       Meilo-Roos financing paid off by seller     Boond Detroiters			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
g Darte:     6/12/2002     Document       Charlfes J and Eve C. Therrien, Co-Trustees       L&S American Weet Two, LLC       S306,000       S306,000       Bond Del/SF:       Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller       Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller	B			
Chaldes J and Eve C. Therien, Co-Trustees	rding Date:	6/12/2002	Document:	002-500413
Les American West Two, LLC S306,000 Random S306,000 S406 S4	1	Charles J and Eval	<ol> <li>Therrien, Co-Trustees</li> </ol>	
Record Park Since Cool Price Park Since Cool Boord DelutySince Park Since Cool Cash down First Trust Deed:		L&S American Wes		
Revert Deutriser	Phice:	\$306,000		50
Total Proce 1600 3306 000 cash down Mello Proce 1600 Mello Proce 16000 Mello Proce 16000 Mello Proce 16000 Mello P			$+ \cdot \cdot$	.00 (paid off)
S2006 000 cash down     First Trust Deed:     NA       Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller     Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller     Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller       Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller     Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller     Mello-Roos financing paid off by seller				20
		\$306,000 cash dow	First Trust Deed:	-47
		-		
	<b>5</b>	Melio-Roos financin	g paid off by seller	
			O M O M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M M	
				111
			) <sup>8</sup> <b>20</b> 34	

	tad, Otay Mesa		Lots 45 and 47, Clay International Center Lots 8 and 9 Unit No. 1	· · ·	47,045 SF Gross	of San Diego	All to site Rough graded, finished fot with eil infrastructure in place	Construct two freestanding industrial buildings		Document: 2003-0351648	en Villaneuva, Trs.		Price Per SF: \$6.80	Bond Debt/SF: \$0.90	Totel Price: \$7.70	First Trust Deed: \$270,000 seller	Mello-Roos financing for infrastructure, assumed existing bond debt balance	NON KON NON KON NON KON NON KON NON KON NON KON NON KON KON KON KON KON KON KON KON KON KON
	9700 Via De La Amistad, Otay Mesa	646-160-46 & 47	Lots 46 and 47, Otay		1.08 Acre(s);	OMIC-Industrial, City of San Diego	All to site Rough graded, finishe	Construct two freesta		3/28/2003	Anthony & Diana Karen Villanouva, Trs.	IRE Enterprises, Inc.	\$320,000			\$50,000 cash down	Mello-Roos financing balance	
Sale 5	Location/Address	Assessor Parcel No.	Legal Description	Site Data	Land Area:	Zoning:	Offsities: Site Condition:	Proposed Use	Sale Data	Recording Date:	Seller:	Buyer:	Sale Price:	:		Terms:	Comments	

Resmuson Appreisel Services

Page 51

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Assessor Parcel No.	West and of Fanasonic way, Uidy Mesa	Otay Mesa
	646-220-01	
Legal Description	Lot 1, Brown Field Business Park Unit 1	Park Unit 1
Site Data		
Land Area:	2.87 Acre(s); 12	125,017 SF Gross
Zoning:	OM-Industrial, City of San Diego	oĎe
Offsites:	All to site	
Site Condition:	Rough graded, finished lot with all infrastructure in place	th all infrastructure in place
Proposed Use	Construct an industrial building	6
Sale Data		
Recording Date:	1/21/2003	Document: 2003-0070829
Seller:	Mukui Development LEC	
Buyer	Waterville Properties LLC	
Sate Price:	\$1.001.000	Price Per SF: \$8.01
		Bond Debt/SF: \$0.0
		Total Price: \$8.01
Terms:	All cash sale	First Trust Deed: N/A
Comments	No Mello-Roos financing in this business park	lis business park

Sale 5			
oration/Address	2235 Otav Center Court Olav Mesa CA	of Olav Masa CA	
		UN DEGINI AND IN	
Assessor Parcel No.	646-141-19		
Legal Description	Lot 5 of Otay international Center Lot No.	onal Center Lot No. 1	
Site Data			
Land Area:	2.54 Acres	110,642 SF Gross	
	2.23 Acres;	97,139 SF Net of Landscaping Esmt	scaping Esmt
Zoning:	OMIC - Business; City of San Diego	v of San Diego	
Offsities: Site Condition:	All to site Rough graded, finishe	All to site Rough graded, finished lot with all infractivicture in place	in place
Proposed Use	Truck parking lot		
Sale Data			
Recording Date:	4/16/2002	Document:	Document: 2002-0328815
Selen	Otay International Center		
Buyer	Martha Yolanda Jimer	Martha Yolanda Jimenez & Charles Alexander Camilo	amilo
Sala Price.	\$565,929	Price Per SF.	\$5.83 (net area)
		Bond Debt Balance:	\$1.00
		Total Price:	\$6.83 (net area)
Tems:	\$44,900 cash down	First Trust Deed:	\$289,500 1 <sup>66</sup> TD \$231,600 2 <sup>76</sup> TD
Comments	Bond financing balanc	Bond financing balance assumed by buyer estimated at \$1.00 psf by proter	ated at \$1.00 psf by

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 53

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

I

t of Dublin Drive, Otay Mesa		134,657 SF Gross and Net Area n Diego	infrastructure in place Will do a build-to-suit industrial	Document: 2003-0267273	Price Fer SF: \$5.38 Bond DebVSF: \$0.00 Tatel Price: \$5.38	First Trust Deed:   N/A frastructure	
North side of Waterville Road, east of Dublin Drive, Otay Mesa	646-220-05 Lot 5, Brown Field Business Park Unit	3.78 Acre(s); 164,657 S CM-Incustrial, City of San Diego All to site	Rough graded, finished joi with all infrastructure in place Buyer is contractor/developer who will do a build-to-suit industrial	3/10/2003 Howard S. Leight Managing G. P. Inc.	\$1,050,000 P	All cash sale First Trust I No Mello-Roos financing for infrastructure	
Sale S Location/Address	Assessor Parcel No. Legal Description	Site Data Land Area: Zoning: Offstes:	Site Condition: Proposed Use	Sale Data Recording Date: Seller: Buyer:	Sale Price:	Temts: Comments	

Sale 9		
Location/Address	East side of La Media Road, No. of Otay Mesa Road. San Diego	Road, San Diego
Assessor Parcel No.	645-250-04	
Legal Description	Lot 4 of Otay Mesa Industrial Park, Map #12425	
Site Data		
Land Area:	1.04 Acre(s); 45,302 SF Gross	
Zaning: Ottoitae	Industrial – City of San Diego	
Site Condition.	Rough graded, finished for with all infrastructure in place	in place
		Ŧ
Hoposed Use	Use tor truck parking	
Sale Data		
Recording Date:	11/02/2002 Document:	2002-999804
Seller	Leonor Ferrer	
Buyer	Raul & Josefina Gonzales	
Sale Price:	\$350.000 Par SF:	<b>5</b> 7,73
	••	00.05
	Total Price:	\$7.73
Terms:	\$120,000 cash down First Trust Deed:	\$230,000 (Seller)
Comments	No Medio-Roos financing for Intrastructure, bond debt paid off in 1988 for entire subdivision	debt paid off in 1996 for
		1.(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
	da ∧ A S	20g
	103	



NADAR \*

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 55

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Assessor Parcel No. Legal Description			Irive, Otay Mesa	<u>-</u>	Location/Address	Northeast corner of
Legal Description	648-160-27			<b>~</b>	Assessor Parcel Nos.	646-250-02 & 23
Sita flata	Lot 27, Otay International Center Unit No. 1	I Center Unit No. 1			Legal Description	Lots 1 and 2 of Ota
				2	Site Data	
Land Area:	1.079 Acre(s);	47,000 SF Gross			Land Area:	3.14 Acre(s);
Zoning:	OMIC-Industrial, City of San Diego	San Diego			Zoning:	OM - Industrial; CI
Offsites:	All to site				Offsites.	All to site
Site Condition:	Rough graded, finished l	Rough graded, finished lot with all infrastructure in place	piace		Site Condition:	Rough graded, finis incated stone south
Proposed Use	Hold for future development	eut		<u> </u>	Oranarad I lea	Russen blane to Drov
Sale Data				<u>]</u>		
Recording Date:	6/2/2003	Document:	2003-646752	<u></u>	Sale Data	
Seller	Calmex Fireplace Equipment Manufacturing	nent Manufacturing			Recording Date:	8/25/2003
Buyer	Williamson and Andrew, G.P.	G.P.			Owner	
Calo Drive.	\$350.000	Drive Der SF	\$7.45			
			C0 70		Sale Price:	\$1,000,000
			\$8.15			
Terms:	\$350,000 cash down	First Trust Deed: N/A	N/A	<u>;</u> ]		
		1			Terms:	All cash to seller
Comments	Bond financing assumed aware of bond debt when	Bond financing assumed and batance per city, buyer said he was not aware of bond debt when purchased and thought it was free and clear	rer said the was not t was thee and clear	0	Comments	No Mello-Roos fina entre subdivision: 1
			et			

Location/Address	Northeast comer of La	Northeast corner of La Media Road and Otay Mesa Road, San Diego
Assessor Parcel Nos.	646-250-02 & 23	
Legal Description	Lots 1 and 2 of Otay M	Lots 1 and 2 of Otay Mesa Industrial Park, Map #12425
Site Data		
Land Area:	3.14 Acre(s),	136,778 SF Gross
Zoning:	OM - Industrial; City of San Diego	San Diego
Officites.	All to site	
Site Condition:	Rough graded, finisher	Rough graded, finished lot with all infrastructure in place; dreinege charves เกรระค์ ร่เกณร รุณฑ์ หนายาสมนายสนายระบบรายาม
Proposed Use	Buyer plans to process	Buyer plans to process site for conditional use permit for gas station
Sale Data	;	
Recording Date:	8/25/2003	Document No.: 2003-1031302
Owner:	DAMGVILLC	
Buyer:	Ali Amani	
		- H
Sale Price:	\$1,000,000	+
		Total Price: \$7.31
Terms:	All cash to seller	First Trust Deed: N/A
Comments	No Mello-Roos financir entire subdivision; buy	No Mello-Roos financing for infrastructure, bond debt paid off in 1998 for eritire subdivision; buyers also developing gas station at Catcus/OMR
		1034 VI

TT I I IIII

.

Page 58

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 57

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Location/Address         1605 Cactus Road, Ouy Heights Business Park Unit 1           Assessor Parcel No.         546-270-02.11           Assessor Parcel No.         546-270-02.11           Lagal Description         Lots 1 and 2 Olay Heights Business Park Unit 1           Exercite No.         546-270-02.11           Rite Data         Lash Arrels).         2010-02           Land Arren:         Lash Arrels).         Rought graded, finished for with all infrastructure in place           Zondrig:         Min.DD-C, City of San Dego         Document:         200-0210751           Proposed Use         Constituut a gas station         Band         Document:         200-0210751           Recording Date:         Alastights: Armailariak(, at at as contents)         Document:         200-0210751           Recording Date:         Alastights: Armailariak(, at at as contents)         Document:         200-0210751           Recording Date:         Alastights: Armailariak(, at at as contents)         Document:         200-0210751           Recording Date:         Alastights: Armailariak(, at at as contents)         Document:         200-0210751           Recording Date:         Alastights: Armailariak(, at at as contents)         Document:         200-0210751           Recording Date:         Alastights: Armailarink(, at as contents)         Alastights: Arm		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	k Unit 1	\$S8			structure in place		Document: 2000-0210757		stees of the Aman' Family Trust	Day SE. STO 46	+	+	t Deed: \$435,000 First San Deed: Deego National Bank	lis subdivision; buyer to process a	
	ictus Road, Otay Mesa, CA	-02, 11	nd 2 Otay Heights Business Par	 e(s); 81,893 SF Gross	City of San Diego		raded, finished lot with all infrasi	t a ges station		1	ar Amaniafrakli, et al as Co-Tru:		Band	Total Cash Price:	seller First Trust Deed:	-Roos financing applicable in thi gas station on this parcel; parce	· ·
		·		1.88 Acr	OMDD-C	Ai to site	r	Construc			Aliashghi	CALE OUT			Cash to s	No Mello CUP for 5	

Sale 13	
Location/Address	South side of Business Center Court and north side of Olay Mesa Road, Otay Mesa
Assessor Parcel No.	645-130-32 (portion), 03, 04, 05
Legal Description	Lots 3, 4 and 5 and the east 50 feet of Lot 2 of Ocean View Hills Corporate Center Unit No. 1
Site Data	
Land Area:	3.38 Acre(s); 147,668 SF Gross
Zaning:	OMDD-I, City of San Diego
Officites: Site Condition	All to site Rouch maded finished for with all infractructure in place
Proposed Use	Construct a DMV field office
Sale Data	
Recording Date:	12/24/2002 Document: 2002-1180011
Seller	Pardee Homes
Buyer	The State of California
, , , ,	
Sale Price:	- F
	I DIAI Cash Price. \$9.50
Terms:	Cash to seller First Trust Deed: NA
	the Malla Dava Baavalaa aaallaabta la thia arbail dalaa aala misaa aat b
Contribute	No Mello-Koos Infancing applicable in this subdivision; sale price set in June 2002

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Page 59

Rasmuson Appreisal Services

Lot Value Analysis	The sate data provided an uni	adjusted price range from \$5.70 to \$10.45 per square foot of land area. The
Sale No. 1 is situated within the Ocean View Hills Corporate Center, west of Brown Field. This sale is of	sales have been adjusted to summary of the comparisons	sales have been adjusted to the subject for non-physical and physical elements of comparison. A summary of the comparisons considered for these elements follows.
a 0.39 acre lot located on toporate Currer unive triat was purchased by an univervisor. Lo donatous a 15,000 square foot industrial building. The lot was in a finished lot condition at the time of sale. There are no Mello-Rooss bonds in this subdivision. The price per square foot indication is \$7.60.	<ul> <li>Property Rights</li> </ul>	All of the sales are fee simple interest transactions and comparable to the subject.
Sale No. 2 is the April 2002 sale of a 1.75-exte lot in the De Ia Fuente Business Park. This lot was ourchased by an entity who will lease the property as a truck parking lot. The De Ia Fuente Business Park	<ul> <li>Financing:</li> </ul>	The sales were either cash or cash equivatent transactions with market fraencing. No adjustments for financing influence were applied.
has existing bond debt in the principal amount of \$1.30 per square foot. This park is structed south of the mutual economic with more sense off of Annary Road and Stantone Vive Road. It does not front Olav	<ul> <li>Conditions of Sale:</li> </ul>	All were considered typical conditions of sale.
subject property with their access of or carrent rough and dening a very found. Mess Road/Highway 905 and is considered inferior in location. Sale Nos. 3, 4, 5, 6 and 10 are situated within Citay International Center at the southeast end of Olay Mess. Day International Center is a 449-ecre, industrial/commercial subdivision situated adjacent to the Mess. Day International course is a 449-ecre, industrial/commercial subdivision including commercial border	<ul> <li>Market Conditions:</li> </ul>	Sales that occurred in early to mid-2002 were considered inferior in market conditions as it appears there has been a small upward movement in land value in this market over the past year. An adjustment ranging between two to three percent was applied to Sale Nos. 2, 4 and 6. Sale between two to three percent was applied to Sale Nos. 2, 4 and 6. Sale between two to three percent was applied to Sale Nos. 2, 4 and 6. Sale between two to three percent was applied to Sale Nos. 2, 4 and 6. Sale between two to three percentions and the Mexicu in market conditions An Unward to the structure of the second
services, watchousing, truck and fieldint facilities, retell commercial, general industrial, business park, and		adjustment of five percent has been applied to this sale.
moments required a sume, unese scales represent purchases to a recent a court of the four sales, one Roos bond francing in this project that equates to \$0.00 to \$1.00 per square foor. Of the four sales, one sale, Sale No. 4, was purchased with the bond debt already paid of Sales 4 and 10 are the most recent court	> Location:	All of the sales are located within industrie! subdivisions in Olay Mesa. Of the five subdivisions used in the market data, most had similar locations as the subject in relative does proximity to Ctav Mesa Road/Highway 905
transactions and are aquestin to each outset. The price price proves that and concrete the concrete the concrete the price of the square foot: Sales 3, 4, 5 and 10 were pricingeed by investors with the intent to build either multi-termin knotterior entitigle-termin buildings. Sale No. 5 was		end ease of access. I have adjusted Sale No. 2 upwards by 10 percent as this subdivision sets back eway from Otay Mesa Road and requires
purchased for truck parking and has a net site area of 2.23 acres which is smaller than the gross lot area due to a rear landscaping easement that encompasses approximately 13,500 SF. The landscaping		more travel on surfaces streets to gain access to the subdivision. No location adjustment is applied to the balance of the market data.
easement area is along the northwest boundary of the property fronting Otay Mesa Road. The price per square foot indication used in the adjustment grid is based on the net usable lot area.	» Size/Shape:	About hait of the lots within the subject subdivision are close to two acres in size and the rest of the subdivision ranges between 4.3 to 5.5 acres.
Sale Nos. 7 and 8 represent two 2003 lot sales within Brown Field Business Park situeted south of Brown Field. This subdivision will be close to future Interstate 905 when completed. Brown Field does not have any bond debr for subdivision intersturture. The two sales indicated a price per square foot facing of		The self of that had a size range of about one acre to 3.78 acres. Typically, significantly larger sales are considered arfentor in size based on my experience and observations that a larger parcel will self for a lower price ner source from than smaller parcets depending on the size of the lot. I
bound to source the new contraction provides four was an interact on our contraction. The buyer in this transaction reported a favorable price with thim megotistitons between the buyer and seller and was purchased with the intent to develop a build-to-suit industrial building.		have structure more structure as the adjustment to the market data, but rather consider size as factorin im yr conclusion of ratail lot value for each of the enhance threat but size
Sale Nos. 9 and 11 are located in the Clay Mesa kndustrial Park, just west of the subject. Olay Mesa industrial Park had engineting fraanced infrastructure improvements at the time of development, but the bond financing was paid off in 1998. The sales presented in this arrayisis hould be fit at 2002 but sale of a constant of the August 2003 dissing of two loss. Bond sales are in a halfurely close range of \$7.31		sale 11 has a drainage easement aiong the south lot boundary that reduces the net usable site area. This sale has been edjusted upward for this factor.
to \$7.73 per square foot. Oue to their proximity to the subject and similar frontage to Otay Mesa Read/lightway 905, these states are given a significant amount of weight in my analysis. Salen 11 is proposed to be improved with a gas statistican share the buyer processes a conditional use permit. A draitwage channel along the south property boundary reduces the usable state of this to 17 his sale is source to be approved with a gas states and your the source the usable state of this to 17 his sale is	P Lot Condition:	The subject is valued as an assumed finished site with all street improvements installed and all of the loss in the subdivision in a finished cough preded condition. All of the sales were reported to be in a finished of condition. No adjustment to the market data is warranted.
compared to the subject's tots 1 and 2 what have the Use years from the subject of the subject s tots 1 and 2 and 13 are representative of parcels that have frontage and exposure to Olay Mesa Road and	> Zoning:	Sates 1 through 10 are industrial tot sales with a similar Industrial zoning designation within the Cray Mesa planning area compared to the subject industrial tots.
are intended for more commercial or business services use than as an industrial use. Safe 12 is commercially zoned and ware purchased for development with a gate acrive station. The buyer did all the processing for the gate station conditional use permit. This state show over three years old and is inferior in market conditions. The parcel is generally comparable in location, comer access and visibility to the subjects lot i and 2. The commercial zoning designation is boomwhat comparable to the business service use permitted on the two subject fors. Sale 13 is Docember 2002 purchase by the State of service use permitted on the two subject fors.		Sale 11 is industrially zoned but was purchased for use as a gas station. The buyer will need to process the conditional use permit to allow this uses. This age is compared to Lots 1 and 2 due to its corner frontage on Cusy Mess Road. It is inferior in zoning compared to these lots and hes been adjusted upward.
California of several contiguous lots located on Business Canter Court in the Ocean View Hills subdivision on the west side of Day Mess. The state plans to construct a DMV field office on this site. The property has comparable frontage and visibility to the subject on Otay Mess Road. This was reported		Sale 12 is commercially zoned and compared to Lots 1 and 2 which have been designated for business support services use similar to a commercial zone.
		Sale 13 is also compared to Lots 1 and 2 based on its business support services use potential.
Rasmuson Appraisal Services	Rasmuson Appraisal Services	Page 62

APN Loi Area (Acres) Sale Price Sale Price							Seie 4		Sala 5	İ
W I Arna (Acres) he Date ke Price				:		4	ac national	,	646.180.46 47	47
Area (Acros) le Date le Price	645-260-01	=		Ŧ	040-100-070	2	1001-540			
te Dete te Price	0.99		1.75		1.01		- 199	T	90.1	
te Price	12/4/2002	2	4/30/2002	12	11/7/2002	2	6/12/2002	2	3/28/2003	
	\$327,745		\$335,500		\$320,000		\$305,000	_	1320,000	
		-							00.00	
Price/SF	\$7,80		54.40		12.12		10.00		20.00	
Mello-Roos	20.02		51.30		50.90		<b>20.03</b>		10.00	
Total Price	\$7.60		\$5.70		\$8°17	T	<b>36.50</b>	Ţ	21.70	
		ŀ				;		1	Committee	MA
	Concerson	ŧ	Lomoarson .	đ	<u>VOLUENTSON</u>	ł		Ż		Ì
Property Rights	Similar	¥0.0	Samilar	Š	StmBar	ŝ	Straigt	9.0.0		
Financing	CE	P.0%	뜅	х Кор	ц.	ŝ	ซ	0.0%	8	5
Conditions of Sale	Typical	0.0%	Typical	0.0%	Typical	<b>0</b> 0	Typical	30 0 0	T. TOTAL	0.0%
Market Conditions	Simber	0.0%	inferior	3.0%	Similar	0.0%	Inferior	2.0%	Similar	<u>8</u> 00
Sublotal		0.0%		3.0%		0.0%		2.0%		9,0,0
Adjusted Price	\$7.60		29.67		\$8.17		\$6.63		\$7.70	
	;					200		200	Candler	200
Location	Smilar	0.0%	Infinitor	6	Similar	800	Stream	200		200
Size/Shape	Strate	\$0 <sup>0</sup>	Similar	00	Simlar	×0.0		9 2 2 7		5
Let Condition	Sinder	0.0%	Siretar	50	Similar	ŝ	Singer	ŝ	Similar	60
Zoning	Similar	0.0%	Similar	20%	Similar	0.0%	Similar	800	Stater	ŝ
Subtotal		0.0%		10.0%		0.0%		<b>%</b>		%00 8
Adjusted Price	\$7.60		\$6.46		\$6.17		29°53		2'2\$	ļ
		Γ	0 ala 7		Cala B		Sala 9		Sale 10	
				1						
NoN 1	848-141-19		646-220-01	10	646-220-05	8	846-250-04	8	646-160-27	2
Lot Area (Acres)	2.23 Net		2.67		3.78		1.04		1.08	
Sale Deta	4/18/2002	2	1/21/2003	а 1	3/10/2003	8	11/2/2002	2	6/2/2003	
Sala Price	\$565,929		\$1,001,000	8	\$1,050,000	8	\$350,000		\$350,000	
	1			-	04.04		er 73		57.03	1
Phoensi-	Porce				00'04	Γ	27.18			
Mello-Roos	8015	T	20.02	T						
Total Price	295		679	T	8		•			
	Connectant	ł	Comparison	V	Comoariston	¥	Comparison	Ŕ	Competition	2
Provedo Richts	Simler	0.0%	Sknifar	60	Similar	¥00	Similar	0.0%	Simber	0.0%
Financing	8	20%	5	9.0%	뭥	800	3	0.0%	8	80.0
Conditions of Sala	Typical	0.0%	Typical	0.0%	Typical	0.0%	Typical	10.0%	Typical	ŝ
Market Conditions	inferior	3.0%	Simlar	0.0%	Siralar	0.0%	Similar	50	Simlar	3070
Subtotal		3.0%		0.0%		0.0%		Š		×5.0
	87.6		58.01		\$6.38		\$7.73		<b>\$8</b> .15	
Location	Simbr	0.0%	Similar	¥00	Situat	ŝ	Sitting.	š	all	6
Size/Shape	Similar	0.0%	Sinter	<b>10</b> 0	Similar	Š	Similar	800	Similar	00
Lot Condition	Simbur	0.0%	Skmlar	60	Sintlar	<b>%</b> 0'0	Sinkar	Š	Struker	800
Zoning	Similar	0.0%	Simlar	100	Striker	0.0%	OFTIME	5	Sinter	å
Subtotal	_	<b>3</b> 600		90 20		0.0		5		500
Adjusted Price	<b>10.7</b>		28.01		\$6.38		11.73		\$8,15	

The lot sale adjustment table that considers both the physical and non-physical elements addressed above follows on the next page.

Page 63

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Resmuson Appreisal Services

Page 64

.

							i	
	Sale 11		Sale 12	2	Sale 13	-	NA	NVA
APN Mar	646-250-02,23	2,23	646-270-02,11	2,11	645-180-2,3,4,5	3,4,5		
Lot Area (Acres)	3.14	•	1.88		66.6			
Sale Date	8/25/2003	8	4/25/2000	R	12/24/2002	02		
Sale Price	\$1,000,000	8	\$656,000	2	\$1,402,850	3		-
						Ì		
Price/SF	\$7.31		\$10.45	_	29.50			
Malto-Roas	\$0.00		<u>80.04</u>		20.02			
Total Price	\$7.31		\$10.45		\$9.50			
	Comonison	Ţ	Comtanison	Ø	Comparison	Ϋ́ς		
Procenty Rights	Struilar	800	Similar	0.0%	Struttar	800		
	E.	9.0.0	ų	0.0%	З	0.0%		
of Sale	Typical	9°0%	Typical	0.0%	Typicat	0.0%		
	Similar	0.0%	Inferior	5.0%	Similar	0.0%		
		0.0%		5.0%		0.0%		
Adjusted Price	\$7.31		\$10.97		\$9.50			
	stmilar	100	Similar	0.094	Simkar	200		
8	Inferior	10.0%	Strilar	0.0%	Similar	90 O		
5	Serter	0.0%	Sinder	0.0%	Similar	200		
	Inferior	20.0%	Similar	0.0%	Similar	0.0%		
Subsoul		30.08		X-0.0		0.0%		
Artistad Price	59.50		16.012		86.50			

Safe No. 8 3.78

Adjusted Price Per SF

The adjusted range for the sale comparables considered for the industrial land use tots is from \$5.38 to \$8.17 per square foot with an overal! average of \$7.39 per square foot. The adjusted sale data are

Lot Value Conclusion

arrayed below.

\$6.38	CG 46		\$6.63	\$7.03	\$7,60	<b>57</b> .70	\$7.73	<b>\$8</b> .01	58 15	\$8.17	
3.78	1 75	2.2	1.08	2.23	0.99	1.08	20	2.87	en e	1.01	
4		N	4	Ŷ	-	ß	6	7	ç	6	
\$7.39	06.90	00.00	\$8.17								
AVPORTO			Max								

Of the tan adjusted data items, seven indicate a value range of \$7.00 or higher indicating a probable bracket of \$7.00 to \$8.00 appropriate for the subject. States 5, 7, 8 and 10 closed in 2010 and with the exception of State 8 has a range from \$7.10 to \$8.15 per square foot. Sale 8 appears iow relative to the rest of the data and has been priven less weight. From a siza viewpoint, all of the sales access that significantly larger percels. In general, where is a write the rest of the data and has been three access and most are around one acre in size. In general, smaller percels will tend to self for a lighter price access and most are around one acre in size. In general, smaller percels will tend to self with this state around a strate acces. The strate is there is a differences in prices for last within the size range of one to three acces. The size range for the subject lobs is from 1.80 acres to 258 acres (usable) with an average of 2.76 acres. No size adjustment will be applied to the sale data.

Recent sales in the subject project are also included for consideration. Lot 18 is in escrow for a purchase price of 54.15 per square foot. This bond debt of \$1.80 or a total price of \$8.05 per square foot. This bo will require a boundary adjustment with Lot 19 to create the desired 5.25 acre sile. A drainage assement is found along the west boundary. If this area is deducted from the gross lot area, the indicated price increases to \$8.00 per square foot.

Lot 21 has a written offer to purchase at \$6.25 per square foot plus bond dabt estimated at \$1.75 per square foot at the time of offer or a total price of \$3.00 per square foot. This but has a floor vator storage easement along the south boundary which reduces the usable area to 3.70 acres. Regan Tuty, the fisting brueker at international Read Estate southmed that the offer is based on usable lates and of the vick the durb that an increased bond debt to \$1.90 per writh reducing the aster international Read Estate southmed that the offer is based on usable lates the price.

Regan Tulty has indicated that he has received several other offers to purchase lots along Air Way Road. These offers are in the range of \$5.00 to \$7.25 per square foot purchase lots estimated at \$1.75 per square foot. The total price range of \$5.00 to \$7.25 per square foot purchase lots estimated at \$1.75 per been received for the annaler lots unterest in marketing the larger lots first. The smaller bis are been received for the annaler lots due to an interest in marketing the larger lots first. The smaller bis are listed at \$7.00 to \$7.50 per square foot, but will need downward adjustment due to the higher bord debt. Mr. Tulty believes that the smaller 2+ acre lots will sell for higher prices per square foot the 1+ acre

I have also considered a survey of current listings of finished lots in Otsy Mesa. Lots in the competing Ocean View Hills Corporate Center are listed for sate starting at \$5.50 per square foot for hots annual 1.0 acre in size. A 0.59 acre lot located in the De the Thenka audohision is listed for sate at \$5.00 per square foot with no bond debt. Lots in the Survead Oby Park 1 subdivision are listed for 58.00 per square foot on a finished kit beste, depending on frontase and visibility to Oby Mesa Road. Theres lots acre are strained in the reader of the De the tenka and visibility to Oby Mesa 77.00 to \$3.00 per square foot on a finished kit basis, depending on frontage and visibility to Oby Mesa Road. There lots the market is in the range of \$3.00 to \$3.00 per square foot. This is confirmed by recent sale activity near this range.

Resmuson Appreisal Services

Resmuson Appreisal Services

I estimate a value for the subject industrial lots at \$8.00 per source foot inclusive of bond debt. These unit values apply to the net saleable lot area derived by deducting the flood water storage easement from Lots 17 and 21 and the drainage easement from Lots

Lots 1 and 2 have been designated for commercial/business service use and have the best visibility, frontage and access to Clay Mesa Road. Sales 11, 12 and 13 have a similar frontage and visibility. These sales adjust to a range from \$9.50 to \$10.97 per square foot. I have concluded at a value of \$10.00 per square foot for these two lots.

My conclusion of the retail lot value for each lot in Piper Ranch and the aggregate retail value for all the individual tots, assuming a finished lot condition, is shown in the following table.

4 3 5 4 6 7 VO		2010	adautaun noonu	19M		Market	Anocaled	ANNA JAN
- 0. 10 a	APN	Acres	Easement Aree	Saleable Acres	Uinit Value	Value	Assessment	(Rounded)
	646-240-45	1.99	00'0	66	\$10.00	\$866,844	\$164,951	\$702,000
	348-240-02	2.00	0.00	2:00	\$10.00	\$871,200	\$165,780	\$705,000
4	646-240-03	2.03	00:0	2.03	\$6.00	\$707,414	\$155,207	000'555\$
	646-240-04	2.02	0.00	2.02	\$8.00	\$703,930	\$167,438	\$536,000
. D	546-240-05	2.02	00:0	2.02	\$8.00	\$703,830	\$167,438	\$536,000
9	346-240-06	2.01	00:0	2.01	\$8.00	\$700,445	\$166,609	\$534,000
-	946-240-07	1.84	0.00	1.84	\$6.00	\$641,203	\$152,518	\$489,000
	\$46-240-08	1.80	0.00	1.80	56.00	\$627,264	\$149,202	\$478,000
	346-240-09	2.17	0.00	2.17	\$6.00	\$756,202	\$179,871	\$576,000
0 P	346-240-10	1.84	00.0	1.84	\$8.00	\$641,203	\$152,518	\$489,000
÷	846-240-11	2.06	0.00	2.06	\$8.00	\$717,869	\$170,753	\$547,000
12	546-240-12	2.07	00'0	2.07	\$6.00	\$721,354	\$171,582	\$550,000
13	346-240-13	2.07	0.00	2.07	<b>\$</b> 8.00	\$721,354	\$171,582	\$550,000
4	846-240-14	2.08	0.00	2.08	<b>\$</b> 8.00	\$724,838	\$172,411	\$552,000
15 Ć	646-240-15	2.02	00.0	2.02	<b>5</b> 6.00	\$703,930	\$187,438	\$536,000
16	346-240-16	2.43	0.00	2.43	\$6.00	\$846,806	\$201,423	\$645,000
17 6	646-240-17	5.51	0.97	4.54	\$8.00	\$1,582,099	\$456,724	\$1,125,000
18	546-240-18	4.41	0.23	4.18	\$8.00	\$1,456,645	\$365,545	\$1,091,000
19	546-240-19	4.30	0.23	4.07	\$6.00	\$1,418,314	\$358,427	\$1,062,000
R	546-240-20	4.30	0.23	4.07	\$9.00	\$1,418,314	\$356,427	\$1,062,000
2	846-240-21	4,30	0.82	3.48	<b>\$</b> 8.00	\$1,212,710	\$356,427	\$856,000
8	546-240-22	4.30	0.23	4.07	00'8 <b>\$</b>	\$1,418,314	\$356,427	\$1,062,000
23	546-240-23	44	0.23	4.18	58.00	\$1,456,646	\$365,545	\$1,091,000
-	846-240-24	5.57	0.31	5.26	\$8.00	\$1,833,005	\$461,697	\$1,371,000
Totais		69,55	3.25	66.30		\$23,451,833	\$5,765,000	\$17,684,000

<sup>1</sup> Totals represent the aggregate retait values

Bulk Sale Value Introduction The Bulk Sale Value is based on the assumption that all blocks of lots under a common ownership are sold either to a single buyer or to multiple buyers by the same seller. There are two blocks of common ownership lots as of the date of value. Piper Ranch LLC owns 16 lots and One Piper Ranch LLC owns 8 lots. These two groups are identified as the Piper Ranch LLC block and the One Piper Ranch LLC block for valuation purposes. A separate buk sale value is estimated for each ownership block.

There are two methods that can be used to estimate the bulk sale value. The frast method is a value estimate using the Sales Comparison Approach. Bulk purcheses of industrial tots are compared to the subject property and a value condusion is reached from this analysis. The second is a decounted cash flow (DCF) analysis. The DCF analysis is performed to estimate the present value of the future cash flows which could be generated from a sales program of the subdivision. Both methods are presented in this analysis, beginning with the Sales Comparison Approach.

### Sales Comparison Approach

The Piper Ranch LLC ownership block has a total of 16 finished lots. Lot 17 is under a long term lease agreement with a build to suit lenant, Lot 18 is in escrow for purchase by the tenent in Lot 17. Lot 21 is not yet in escrow, but has an offer to purchase pending. The remaining 13 lots are available for sale or build to suit by the developer. The total gross acreage for this ownership is 53.19 acres with 37.09 acres of unsold inventory.

A sales search was made for sales of bulk purchases of finished tots in the Otay Mesa market area. Several sales were found and are presented in the following analysis.

	Sale 3	Busin <del>ess</del> Center Court, Otay Mesa	Ocean View Hills Corporate Center	ę	645-180-09, 10, 11 and 845-280-05, 06 & 07	6,71 acres	1.1 acres	7/16/03	\$2,192,500	\$7.50 \$0.00 \$7.18
Otay Mesa Bulk Sale Data Yable	<u>5ale 2</u>	Piper Ranch Road, Otay Mesa	Piper Ranch Business Park	80	846-240-3, 4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 13, 14	16.36 acres	2.0 acres	8/14/2003	\$3,741,368.40	\$5.25 \$1180 \$7,15
Otay M	Sale 1	Radar Road, Otay Mesa	Olay Mesa Industrial Park	ø	646-250-14, 15, 18, 19, 21, 22	14.37 acres	2.4 acres	8/8/2002	\$3,632,000	\$5.80 \$0.00 \$6.60
	- - - -	Location	Subdivision	No. Lots	M-M	Sile Area	Average Lot Area	Sale Date	Sale Price	Price/SF Bond DebVSF Totel Price

Page 67

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Resmuson Appreisel Services

Bulk Sale 1	
Location/Address	Six lots located on the east side of Radar Road, Otay Mesa
Assessor Parcel No.	648-260-14, 15, 18, 19, 21, 22
Legal Description	Lots 14, 15, 18, 19, 21 and 22 in Otay Mesa Industrial Park
Site Data	
Land Area:	14.37 Acre(s); 625,957 SF Gross
Zaning: Officitos	OM-Industrial; City of San Diego
Site Condition:	Rough graded, finished lots with all infrastructure in place
Proposed Use	Construct a warehouse and provide an auction yard and storage yard for use by owner
Sale Data	
Recording Date:	8/8/2002 DOCUMBRIE 2002-01 2033, 01 2030
Seller:	Otay Industrial Park VI and VII, LLU (1 Wo related seller glillors)
Buyer:	S.V.D.P. Management inc. do Famel do Carlos
Sale Price:	
	Bond Debt BaVSF:
	Total Price: \$6.80
Tacmo.	All cach sale First Trust Deed:   NA
Comments	Meilo-Roce financing for intrastructure was paid off before the sale. The buyer is Saint Vincent de Paul who operates homeless shellers in San Diego and is a non-profit organization. The soller valued the property at \$6.75 per square foot and took chariteble deduction off income taxes for the difference in value and sale price.
Plat Map	
Rasmuson Appraisal Services	Page 70





Page 69

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

1 2

Assessor Parcel No. 646-240-3, 4, 5, 6, 11,	ated perween Business Part	Eight lots located between Piper Ranch Road and Air Wing Road In the Piper Ranch Business Park, Otey Mesa, CA	and Air Wil	ng Road in the	Location/Address	SS	Six lots on Business Center Ct and Progress	er Ct and Progress
		12, 13, 14					Corporate Center subdivi	sion, Uiay Iwesa
tedal Description   Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, 11, 12,		3 and 14 in Piper Ranch Business Park	ch Busines:	s Park	Assessor Parcel No.		645-180-09, 10, 11 and 645-280-05, 06 & U	40-280-02 06 & 0
					Legal Description	Ŀ	Lots 9, 10, 11 of Ocean View Hills Corporate 6 and 7 of Ocean View Hills Corporate Cente	fiew Hills Corporate #s Corporate Centr
1 500 USUB		712 642 SF Gmss		 				
	15	of San Dieco			Site Data			
					Land Area:		6.71 Acre(s),	292,288 SF Gross
dition:	ivered in roug	rough graded, finished for condition with all	fot condition to by Senter	n with all mber 2003	Zoning		OMDD-I, City of San Diego	0
					Site Condition:		Rough graded, finished lots with all intrastruc	ks with all intrastru
Proposed Use Develop the	lots with sever	Develop the lots with several build-to-suil and spec industrial buildings.	spec indus	trial buildings	Provincear	:	Owner/heer industrial: construct e 129.250.5	struct a 129.250 5
Sala Data								
Sale Date: 8/14/2003		Docume	Document: 2003-0988162	0988162	Sale Data			
Seller, Piper Ranch, LLC	, LLC				Recording Date:	ite:	7/18/2003	Docum
	anch, LLC				Selfer		M & E DEVCO, LLC	
					Buyer		Paulus Enterprises, LLC	
Sale Price: \$3,741,368.40	ç	Price Per SF:	F. \$5.25					
		Total Price: \$7.15	E \$7.15		Sale Price.		0000'261'24	Bond Debt Ball
		Ē						Total Pri
Terms: All cash sale		First Trust Deed: N/A	N/A		<u>.</u>			
					Terms:		\$1,097,500 cash down	First Trust De
Comments Mello-Roos f balance estin established s	financing for ir mated currant as of ourchase	Metto-Roos financing for intrastructure: buyer is assuming bond debt balance settimated currantly at 15:30 per square foot. Sele price balance as of burchase agreement data of March 17, 2003.	is assumin are foot. Sel f March 17,	g bond debt le price 2003.	Comments		Bulk purchase of six tots for an owner/user; r oreviousty purchased property from Pardee (	for an owner/user; perty from Pardee
						-	11/2001.	
Plat Map		ŀ			Plat Map			1
	j j	сў.						
	4							Proceeding and
4								
								1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Ŧ	10.0							
								I
								• }
								1

Location/Address	Six lots on Business Center Ct and Progressive Avenue in the Otay Corporate Center subdivision, Otay Mesa
Accessor Barrol No	825-180-00 10 11 and 645-280-05 06 8 07
Legal Description	Lots 9, 10, 11 of Ocean View Hills Corporate Center Unit No. 1 and Lots 5, 6 and 7 of Ocean View Hills Corporate Center Unit No. 2
Site Data	
Land Area:	6.71 Acre(s), 292,288 SF Gross
Zoning.	OMDD-I, City of San Diego
Officies:	All to site
Site Condition:	Rough graded, finished lots with all infrastructure in place
Proposed Use	Owner/user industrial; construct a 129,250 SF industrial building
Sale Data	
Recording Date:	7/18/2003 Document:   2003-0859253
Seller.	M & E DEVCO, LLC
Buyer:	Paulus Enterprises, LLC
Sale Price:	
	Band Debt Bal/SF: \$0.00
	. Total Price: \$7.50
Terms:	31,097,500 cash down First Trust Deed: \$1,095,000 Union Bank
Comments	Buck purchase at six tota for an owner/user, no Mello-Roos financing; seller previously purchased property from Pardee Construction for same price in 11/2001.
Plat Map	

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

ł

Rasmuson Appraisel Services

Page 71

Page 72

4

h

97
188
5
-
e
2
-
٩
-
2
đ
ä
Ē
5
ŭ
-
. 4
-
ŝ

The sale data provided an unadjusted price range from \$5.80 to \$7.50 per square foot of total lot area. The sales have been adjusted for non-physical and physical elements of comparison. A summary of the adjustments considered for these elements follows.

- Property Rights The subject property rights appraised are the fee simple as is the case with the sale data and no adjustment is warranled.
- Financing: The sale data were considered to be cash equivalent transactions, as is the basis for this market value estimate.
- Conditions of Sale: This element of comparison is for known unique conditions that may have affected the sale price of a transaction. Sale 1 was reported to be sold at a price below market since the buyer is a charity. The seller reported taking a charitable tax contribution tax deduction for the difference in price of S8.80 per square foot. I price of \$5.50 per square foot and the extual selle price of \$5.80 per square foot. I have adjusted this sale upward to the reported full price.
- Market Conditions: This adjustment is for differences in market prices from the date of sale to the current date of value. Sale 1 closed in late 2002 and no market conditions adjustment is explicible. Sale 2 and 3 are both current transactions and no adjustment is explicible.
- > Bond Assmit: The sale price for Sale 2 is adjusted upward for the bond assessment debt to be allocated to this property. This makes the price on a basis equivalent to the other three sales that (d) not have bond debt. The bond debt is then deducted from the reconcied market value estimate later in the analysis.
- Location: No adjustment is warranted; all the sales are in the surrounding submarket area
- P Size: The sale data are all significantly smaller than the subject in total lots and total accepter. The sales will have significantly lower holding costs due to absorption periods less than half the subject. This results in a difference in the amount of discount apdiding to the state as a bulk purchase compared to the result in a dotter, in a schort a shorption period will result in a lower risk level for the purchase of these sales compared to the subject property. These factors require downward adjustments to the sale absorption period will result in a lower risk level for the purchase of these sales compared to the subject property. These factors require downward adjustments to the subject is 10 as 10 and 2, both of which have spheled a downward adjustment of 10 percent for Sales 1 and 3, both of which have six too compared to the subject is 10 as 2 and 3, both of which have six too compared to the subject is 10 as 2 sold with 8 lots and warranted a downward adjustment estimated at 8 percent.
  - Lot Condition: All of the sales were in a finished lot condition at the time of sele, similar to that assumed for the subject and no adjustment is warranted.

Zoning: All of the seles are industrially zoned and no adjustment is applicable.

A summary of the adjustment grid applied to the sale data and the adjusted prices indicated by the data follows.

			•			
	ð	Sale 1	Sale 2	2		Sale 3
Location	Rada	Radar Road,	Piper Ranch Rd	ch Rd,	Busin	Business Center Ct.
	0180	Olay Meta	Otay Mesa	853		Otay Mesa
Area (Acres)	÷	14.37	16.36	9		6.73
No. Lots	9	6 1015	Bots	R		6 lots
Sala Date	843	B/B/2002	B/14/03	g		7/18/03
Sale Price	5,53	\$3,632,000	\$3,741,360	366	~	\$2,192,500
Price/SF		<b>55.80</b>	\$9,25	un la		\$7.50
Mallo-Roos		\$0.00	\$1,90			20.00
Total Price		\$5.60	\$7.15	Ċ.		\$7.50
	in the second se	W.C.	Companiente	54	"numerican	
Property Rights	Similar	%0.0	Sirtikar	0.0%	Similar	N0.0
Financing	8	×0.0	8	0.0%	8	0.0%
Conditions of Sale	Charlty	+16.0%	Typical	0.0%	Typical	0.0%
Market Conditions	Semilar	9°0%	Simlar	0.0%	Current	0.0%
Sutiolal		+16.0%		0.0%		\$00
Adjusted Price		\$6.75	\$7.15	\$		\$7.50
, seelinn	Cimiter	0.0%	Clevelor	0 MK	Standar	500
Sim (Trist Ama)	Superior	10.01	Superior	A O B	Superior	-10.0%
Lot Condition	Sindar	9.0 2	Sinilar	0.0%	Skrifter	0.0%
Zoning	Simtar	80'0	Similar	<b>20%</b>		0.0%
Subfotal		-10.0%		-9.0%	•	-10.0%
Adjusted Price		\$6.08	55.54			\$6.75

The adjusted data indicates a range of bulk sale value from \$6.08 to \$6.75 per square foot and an average adjusted price of \$6.47 per square foot. All of the sales are given generally equal weight in my final value reconciliation. All of the sales were generally similar to the subject except that they were significantly smaller in total size and negriced downward adjustment for the holding cost and risk level associated with a more extended absorption period forecast for the larger subject project.

Based on the above analysis, I have concluded at a value of \$6.80 par square foot of land area, before deduction of assessment debt. Deducting the bond assessment debt of \$1.50 per square foot results in a net value for the unsold bulk lots of \$4.70 per square foot of land area with 37.09 gross acres of unsold inventiony.

A summary of my calculation of remaining net area and the value of the sold or committed lots for the Piper Ranch LLC ownership follows. The allocated value for Lot 17 with a new lot size and subject to a long term lease is based on the market unit value and the allocated assessment at \$1.90 ver square foot. Lor 18 is based on the new lot area and the reported escrow price. The assessment amount is allocated at \$1.90 per square loss of goes lor area. Lot 21 is based on market value for this lot shoe the current offer is considered above the market data.

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

as a basis for ultipled limes it value for the three percent	als of historical d bulk sales of for the annual for the annual	number of lots were included in this data. A	YTD 2003	11 13.99	14 23.07	25 37.06	d and acreage in the industrial inroad sold 16 cres and is not construction is construction is lies west of the escent single lot metition to the scent single lot the velopment of bevelopment of bevelopment e south side of for sale in bulk.
erage value is used ver of iots sold la r r 1, The average to age inflation rate of	a sales rate analy: Kes of individual an twe also considered ast has been made	es to tabulate the er 10 acres in size y were not included	2002	10 28.22	6 14.37	16 42.59	thend in jots solution in the second with the second with the second with the second s
The average retail value of the 13 tots is calculated at \$745,350. This average value is used as a basis for estimating the annual tot safe revenue for the first year. The total number of lots sold is multiplied times the average lot value to arrive at the annual gross safe revenue for Year 1. The average lot value for the subsequent self-out periods is calculated in the same manner. An average inflation rate of three percent per year has been applied to the future sale prices in Year 2. Safes Rate Analysis	The self-out period for the 13 lots remaining unsold is forecast based on a seles rate analysis of historical industrial tot seles in Ctay Mesa. I have researched public records to sales of individual and bulk sales of finished lots in Ctay Mesa subdivisions over the past soveral years. I have also considered future supply and demand for industrial bits in this market. Based on this data, a forecast has been made for the annual sales potential for the subject property.	I have researched public records and the Comps.com database of sales to tabulate the number of lots sales on an annual basis over the pest several years. Finished lots under 10 acres in size ware included in this tabulation. Lots that were absorbed by build-to-suit or new leasing were not included in this date. A summary of this data follows.	2001	12 38.92	6 6.71	18 45.63	The sele data over the past several years indicates a rather stable trend in lots sold and acreage absolutionic technologic from this data are largen to parcels not considered finisher aport. Sunroad sold 16 subdivision table previously presented in the Martet Analysis section of this raport. Sunroad sold 16 subdivision table previously presented in the Martet Analysis section of this raport. Sunroad sold 16 subdivision table previously presented in the Martet Analysis section of this raport. Sunroad sold 16 subdivision table previously presented in the Martet Analysis section of this raport. Sunroad sold 16 subdivision a single owner/user buyer in 2002. This purchase totaked 26.6 acres and is not reflected in the above table. Future Developer/Competition for the subject. A description of these projects flatows. Competition is constitution for the subject. A description of these projects flatows. Competition is providing finished tot competition for the subject. The seventeen major industrial subdivisions noted in Otay Mess, five projects flatows. Competition is used to the subject. The loss in this project will be compared direct compatition to the subject. There is no bond financing for the subject. The loss in this project will be compared direct compatition to the subject. There is no bond financing to the subject. We business Park. This project and a development of this project is a similar weak of the subject. The weat the time as k is focusting performent who also owns and a development of this project the subject is made approximating development of the subject. The subject is not be sold. The project for the subject is development of the subject is the Simple set for the subject is development of the subject is the Simple set for the subject is development of the subject. There is no bond fi
The average ratail value of the 13 lots is calculated at \$745,3, estimating the annual lot sale revenue for the first year. The the average lot value to arrive at the annual gross sale reven subsequent self-out periods is calculated in the same manne per year has been applied to the future sale prices in Year 2. Sales Rate Analysis	The sell-out period for the 13 lots rema industrial lot sales in Otay Mesa. I have initiable lots in Oday Mesa subdivisions and demand for industrial lots in this mu sales potential for the subject property.	I have researched public records seles on an annuel basis over the in this tabulation. Lots that were a summary of this data follows.	Lot Sales - Otay Mesa	No. Finished Lot Sales Fotal Acres - Sold	Bulk Sale Lots Total Bulk Sale Acres	Total Lots Sales Total Acres Sold	The sale data over the past several years indicates ebscored. Excluded from the data are larger top arcels subcivision table previously presented in the Market undrinished mapped lors to a single owner/user buyer in reflected in the above table. <i>Future Developen/Competition</i> of the seveneen major industrial subdivisions noted providing finished lot competition for the subject. A desc providing finished lot competition for the subject. A desc providing finished on the western adge of Olay Mess. Ocean View His project has 38 finished lots with 22 avails ubject. There is no bond financing for this subdivision. Eacle of Olay Mess Road a mile west of the subject. The stee or owns and is developing tot this subdivision. Futor Field Technology Part. This 21-lot mapped but who also owns and is developing tots in the Sim who also owns and is developing tots in the Sim who also owns and is developing tots in the Sim viva Business Part. This Is a small mecped but unde Otay Mesa Road approximately % mile west of the sub day Mesa Road approximately % mile west of the sub

Market Value

\$1,388,000 \$956.000

\$13,340,000

\$4,408,919 Assessment

\$17,750,500

49.94

3.25

53.19

Piper Ranch LLC Lots: Total Inventory

Acres Net

\$1,930,579 \$1212,710 \$1,841,617

Rounded)

Net Value

Allocated

Market Value

Gross Flood/Drainage Acres Easement Area

Value Basis

Market Value

the total value for the bulk purchase of all 16 lots held by Piper Ranch LLC by this approach follows.

Value \$7,593,508

H

Value Per SF \$4.70

Lot Area (SF) @ 37.09 acres 1,515.640

Unsold inventory of 13 Lots:

\$3.650.444 \$11,243,952

\$10,888,952

Less: Cost to Complete Aviator Road and Piper Ranch Road

Ξ

Total Bulk Value - 16 Lots Total Value of 3 Sold Lots:

(1) Value is net of bond assessment debt

Indicated Bulk Value

Sale Price

\$1,406,444 \$3,650,444 \$9,689,556

\$542,830 \$435,173 \$356,427 \$1,334,529

\$3,074,390

\$12,765,794 **21**,984,906

35.95

4

37.09

Remaining Total Sold

99 13.99 5.54 4.97

1.01 0.28 0.82 2.11

6.55 5.25 <u>4.30</u> 16.10

Lot 17 (new) Lot 18 (new) Lot 21

Lot Sales - Otav Mesa	2001	2002	YTD 2003
No Finished tot Sales	12	9	Ŧ
Total Acres - Sold	38.92	28.22	13.99
Burk Sala Lots	9	ç	14
Total Bulk Sale Acres	6.71	14.37	23.07
Total Lots Sales	18	16	25
Totat Acres Sold	45.63	42.59	37.06

The DCF analysis estimates the net cash flow which can be generated from a kit seles program for the subject subdivision. The gross revenue source is the retail value (market value) of the individual loss as they are sold out during a sales program. The expenses associated with a sales program are selfing and indivig casts during the self-out period. The net cash flow (hedrar det service) is valued using a discounted cash flow technique where each periodic cash flow is discounted to a present value individual using a discount or yield rath. The sum of the discounted cash flow results in the total present value or bulk sele value for the project. A discussion of each element of this analysis follows.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis – Bulk Sale Value of Piper Ranch LLG Lots

The bulk value for the One Piper Ranch eight lots is based on the current purchase price which is considered to be a market transaction when compared to the other two bulk sale transactions considered

PUPER RANCH LLC BULK SALE VALUE BY SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

in this analysis.

ONE PIPER RANCH LLC BULK BALE VALUE

\$10,890,000 \$3,741,368 Gross revenues result from the sale of the individual lots to cwiner/users or other developers. The sales prices are besed on the estimated individual lot values estimated in the previous valuation section. The total cumulative value of the unsold or non-committed 13 lots held by Piper Ranch LLC is \$9,689,556. This value is net of the allocated bond assessment debt.

Gross Revenue Estimate

Resmuson Appreisal Services

<u>Surroad City</u> 1: This project was mapped for 32 lots with the future Highway 905 crossing through the center. The subdivision is located directly south of the subject on Otay Mess Road. The developer sold the southern half of the project to an owner/user and is marketing the northern parcels. The project remains unfinished at this line. Surroad will sell the project at finished lots for \$7,001 0 \$8.00 per square foot as 56.50 per square foot. These lots if host property is also available for safe unfinished in the are active at a scular swill sell the project at finishing before being considered direct competition. They are considered secondary competition at the present time. Sistropre Viva Business Park: This subdivision is localed adjacent to the border and west of the border crossing. The second and final phase of the subdivision was purchased by Michael Murphy in August 2000. The developer is focusing on marketing the lots on a build-lo-suit basis. A recent transaction was made to from Mounthis based on a build-to-suit with land value at \$7.00 per square foot. This project will be direct competition to the aubject property for those potential buyers who would also consider a buildbuild-suit arrangement.

Cno Piper Ranch: This project consists of eight lots purchased from the development of the Priver Ranch Business Park, MCC plans to develop the lots with build to suit and speculative development. This project will feature 12 buildings toteling 253,800 square feet of space. This project with not directly compete with the subject on a lot sale program level, but may compete with possible build-to-suit buyers. Based on this data, there appears to be only one subdivision selling finished lots that directly compete with the subject. The other projects are either in untimished condition or are marketing to build-to-sult buyers. The subject will also compete with resale listings of finished lots in other axisting subdivisions.

In terms of new industrial subdivision development, there are several industrial land parcels in the immediate area har could be developed in the next several years. However, I am not aware of any parcels that are close enough to having a final map and breaking ground such as to be considered competition in the immediate future. A 75-acre parcel of undeveloped land located southwest of the subject at La Media and Clay Mesa Road sold in July 2002 to a developer who intends to develop this property. If this project is able to come on fine within the next couple years, it would present competition in the subject.

I have concluded that the subject project should be able to attract at least 50% of the historical lot absorption in this market. Historical absorption has been in the range of 37 to 45 acres of finished lots per year. The abuject historical absorption rate would be approximately 1.9 years. I have project at an annuel absorption of 20 acres, the subscription rate would be approximately 1.9 years. I have projected absorption of the remaining 13 lots based on 7 lots in the first year and the remaining 5.1 The cost is necessively the first year and the remaining 5.1 Years. I have projected absorption of the remaining 13 lots based on 7 lots in the first year and the remaining 5.1 Years 2. The cost is necessive area doed on 7 lots in the first year and the remaining 5.1 Years 2. The cost is necessive of market are added to the doed of the total bulk sale value.

Sales and Holding Costs

Sales costs are estimated at five percent of gross lot sales proceeds. This cost accounts for marketing, sales commissions and closing costs. Hoking costs during the self-out period will include some project landscaping maintenance, real estate taxes on the unsold for inventory. The development of the unsold inventory. The development estimates a landscaping maintenance, real estate taxes development estimates a landscaping maintenance budget of arcund \$1,500 per month. Real estate taxes per establed based on multiphying the market value of the lost times the real estate taxes the state of \$1,17525 per \$100 of market value. I have used per mid-year exonuming for calculation of taxes due for each year. This assumes that the lot attacoption will occur spread evenide on the year. Special estate taxes are based on the allocated bond financing debt previously prevent the year. The bond dest includes an interest carry provision for the first 18 months. I have calculated the bond financing debt providely presented in this report. The bond dest includes an interest carry provision for the first 18 months and is amontated the bond perjonments using the average mid-year accounting bect midely provide the bond perjonments using the average mid-year accounting technique based on unsold inventory.

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Discount Rate

The discount rate is the rate of return tequired by a developer to invest in the subject project. The rate of return includes a return on the equiry investment and a developer's profit altowarce for taking on the lot sale program over the duration of the sel-oup feriod. The discount rate is therefore a combined massure of profit and rate of return on the investment. Although some arabyts break out these two components, I have found in my experience that most calculations by developers are performed using a single rate. A typical profit allowance for subdivision development will typically be in the range of 8 percent to 12 percent of gress sale proceeds, depending on the level of risk and expertise needed in markeling and percent of gress sale proceeds.

The discount rate selected for the subject project is based in part on analyzing the levels and components of risk assumed by the developer. Land development projects have varying risk components during the developer will assume the risk of obtaining development entitlements from the various govening agencies. In the case of the subject, this risk has been removed since the project has a final map and will be finished lots are of the subject, this risk has been removed since the project has a final map and will be finished lots are of the subject due to an assumed finished lot condition. The final elements of tick are for price and timing or absorption. Thes market could be affected by internal or extlemal market forces that could adversely impact the finished lot values for the area and therefore expose the subject project due to an assumption. The final elements of the possibility of price changes during the sell-out period. The market could be affected by internal or extlemal market forces that could adversely impact the finished lot values for the area and therefore expose the subject forces that could adversely impact the finished lot values for the area and therefore expose the subject forces that could adversely impact the finished lot values for the area and therefore expose the subject forces that could adversely impact the finished lot values for the area and therefore expose the subject forces that could adversely impact the finished lot values for the area and therefore expose the subject forces that could adversely impact the finished lot values for the area of the area.

The investment rate of return component of the discount rate is typically measured by comperison with yield requirements by real estate investors. I have researched published surveys of real estate investor yield expectations and find that most investors are requiring an investment rate of return on equity from 10 percent to 13 percent, depending on the real estate and risk. In selecting an appropriate discount rate for the subject project, I have researched published data sources and interviewed developers racive in his matter. Price/Watenhouse/Coopers, a national real estate firm, publishes a semi-annual survey of the national development land market. The most recent survey was published for the Fourth Quenter 2002. The survey of development land market. The most recent survey was published for the Fourth Quenter 2002. The survey of development land market. The most recent survey was of 20.21 percent for those surveyed. The range of rates subject to financing debt was from 15 percent to 30 percent with an average of rates subject to financing debt was from 15 percent to 30 percent with an average of 22.08 percent. Because of the biending of debt and equity rate of ratum cequirements, the overall discount rates that developers rate industrial property near the tex of desired projects compared to office, hotels and regional mails near the low and of their desirching by investment rate. The survey indicates that developers rate industrial property near the top of the list of desired projects compared to office, hotels and regional mails near the low and of their desirching to the versuously indicated range of descount rates industrial property near the top of the list inducting residential.

A more specific survey of individual developers indicates that those focusing on industrial land development have free and clear discount rate requirements in the range of 11 percent of 55 percent while the rate subject to financing is much higher near 20 percent. I have performed my analysis on a free and clear basis. A piptical land development project may obtain up to a 50 percent loand overlopment interst state in the range of 1.5 to 2 points floating over prime with a floor around 6.5 percent for development provers.

I have interviewed a local prominent developer in San Diego who develops residentiat, commercial, office and industrial projects throughout southern California. This develops indicates all they require a return on equity investied, inducting developer profit, in the range of 20 percent. This is an equity return assuming debit financing at enound 50 percent loan to value ratio. The higher and of the yead rate range is for projects with more extended set-out periods and entitierment risk. This developer its currently considering an investment of 50 percent loan to value ratio. The higher and of the yead rate and period and investment of 50 percent loan to value ratio. The higher and of the best sond utilities installed. The developer is considering a purchase price offer based on a 25 to 30 percent rate of return on equity, subject to det financing. This project will have development cost risk as well as

Rasmuson Appraisal Services

Reconciliation	Summary The two approaches to value utilized to estimate the bulk sale value for the Piper Ranch LLC ownership of 16 lots provided the following value indications: Sales Comparison Approach – Bulk Value \$10,690,000	Discounted Cash Flow Analysis – Bulk Vatue \$10,767,000 to reconvision these indications to a final estimate. I have considered the applicability and reliability of	each approach from the viewpoint of a potential buyer. The Sales Comparison Approach considered three bulk purchases of finished lots in Citay Mesa, including the recent eight-but sale in the subject subdivision. The data required adjustment of differences in house it sale and resulting differences in housing subdivision.	and mix of the provent of the property type. Both methods are considered supported by market evidence approach the provention in this property type. Both methods are considered supported by market evidence and have been diven generally equal weight.	My reconciled opinion of the bulk sale value for the fee simple interest in the Piper Ranch (LLC ownership to but subject to subject the and special assessment liens as of the current date of value is \$10,830,000.	The built sale value for the One Piper Ranch LLC ownership of 8 lots is \$3,741,368 which is rounded to \$3,742,000.	These value estimates are based on the general and extraordinary assumptions summarized on the These value estimates are based also on the hypothetical condition that the project is in a following page. This value estimate its based also on the hypothetical condition that the project is in a finished lot condition with all grading and offsite improvements complete. An as-is value estimate for the project was under construction and approximately 85 percent complete. An as-is value estimate for the subject property as of the date of value is not within the scope of this assignment. This value estimate does reflect a deduction of 555,000 for the estimated cost to complete Aviator Road and Piper Ranch Road as per the request of my client (Extraordinary Assumption No. 2).	PIPER RANCH LLC OWNERSHIP OF 15 LOTS: Concluded Butk Sale Value Susject to Special Assessment Liens <u>\$10,830,000</u>	ONE PIPER RANCH LLC OWNERSHIP OF B LOTS: CONCLUDED BULK SALE VALUE SUBJECT TO SFECIAL ASSESSMENT LIENS \$3.742.000		Rasmuson Appraisal Services
e of the national meetment of 15	asis is generally ancing at a 50% istent with data		8/24/2004 Year 2	0	en co	\$6.46 \$4,606,266	\$230,313 \$18,000 \$27,607 \$27,607 \$303,793	\$4,302,473 0.7 <u>561</u> \$3,253,288	sumption No, 2) Per SF Gross	\$10,767,000	Page 79
er is within the rang	a draw area area area area area area area the area the area area area area area area area ar		B/24/2003 Year 1	<b>9</b>	9.5 7	\$6.27 \$5,217,453	\$260,873 \$18,000 \$87,422 \$366,295	\$4,851,158 <u>0.8696</u> \$4,218,398	(Extraordinary Assumption No, 2) \$4.65 Per SF Gross	TC L0T5)	
ted by this develop opers.	rare based on a ne ount rate applied or y investment assun edule. This equity dicators.	Discounted Cash Flow Analysis	Totals	- 12	13	\$9,823,719	\$491,186 \$36,000 \$115,030 \$27,872 \$670,088	\$9,153,631 \$7,471,686	\$7,471,886 \$1,389,000 \$1,406,444 \$955,000 \$11,122,130 \$10,767,130	is (Piper Rawch L	
price and timing risk. The rate of relumi range indicied by this developer is within the range of the national developer survey published by PriceWaterhouseCoopers.	Based on this analysis, intare selection of uncount rate based on a tree and variation there are the proceed every structure and percent for the subject property. A 15 percent discount rate applied on a free and data basis is generally equivalent to a 128 percent vialed rate available for an the equity investment assuming acquisition financing at a 50% to and to value ratio with a 150% repayment schedule. This equity yield rate is consistent with data provided by national surveys and local developer indicators. A summary of the discounted cash flow analysis follows:	Discounted C		Lot Sale Revertue: Lot inventiony – EOY	Lot inventory – Midyear Lot Sales	Average Value Per SF Lot Sale Revenue (Net of Assessments)	Saites and Holding Costs: Sales and Marketing @ 5% Landscape Maintenance Roal Estrate Taxes Special Assessments Subtotal Expenses	Net Cash Filow Discount Factor @ 15% Yield Rate Present Velue of Cash Flow	Total Present Value - 13 Non-Committed Lots Marker Value of Lot 17 (leased parcet) Sale Price of Lot 18 Market Value of Lot 21 Subtotal Less: Cost of Street Improvements Total Indicated Bulk Value (Net of Assessments)	(NDICATED BULK SALE VALUE BY DCF AMALYSIS (PIPER RANCH LLC LOTS)	Rasmuson Appreisei Services

Limiting Conditions and Assumptions	Certification
This appraisal is made expressly subject to the following conditions and stipulations: <i>Comment Librititica</i> Conditions and Assumptions:	<ul> <li>certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief</li> <li>the statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.</li> </ul>
No responsibility is assumed for matters which are legal in nature, nor is any opinion on the little rendered herewith. This appraisal assumes good titte, responsible ownership and competent management. The proverty has been appraised as though free of indebied ness.	<ul> <li>the reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and limiting conditions, and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions.</li> </ul>
The factual data willized in this analysis has been obtained from sources deemed to be reliable; American and the second of the accuracy.	<ul> <li>I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report, and no personal interest with respect to the parties involved.</li> </ul>
Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may of may not be present on this report, was not observed by the appraisers. The appraisers have no knowledge of the material of the material where the not logical process.	<ul> <li>I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties Involved with this assignment.</li> </ul>
the existence of such meanary on or in the propenty. The approace as provincy are not realinged foam detect auch substances. The presence of substances such as asbestos, urge-formaldelingde foam subdetion, or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value of the propenty. The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the property that	<ul> <li>my engagement in this assignment was not contragent upon developing or reporting preventing to</li></ul>
would cause a loss in value. Except as noted, this appraisal assumes the land to be free of adverse soll conditions which would prohibit development of the property to fis highest and best use.	of a processimilar value of unevent in value tract drive as according to the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.
This appraisal is of surface rights only, and no analysis has been made of the value of subsurface rights, if any.	<ul> <li>my analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been preverted, in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethiois and the Standards of Professional Practice of the Aconstration and the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal</li> </ul>
Disclosure of the contents of this appraised report is governed by the By-Laws and Regulations of the Appraisal hatitvite.	Practice. • the use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appresial Institute relating to review by its
Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the	duly authorized representatives.
desiring of the appraisers of this appraised intrin, or any text ender the repression instance. And the designations shell be disceminated to the general public by the tuse of advertising media, public relations media, news media sales media or other media for public communications without the prior withen consent of the sunstany of this appraised feport. Possession of this report or a copy thereof.	<ul> <li>as of the date of this report, Gary L. Rasmuson, MAI SRA has completed the requirements of the continuing education program of the Appreisal Institute.</li> <li>I have made a personal inspection of the procerty that is the subject of this report.</li> </ul>
does not carry with it the right of publication. It may not be used for any purpose by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser, and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety.	<ul> <li>no one provided significant professional assistance to the person signing this report other than Wendy Rasmuson, a State Certified General Appraiser who assisted in the data verification and record unline accords of the report.</li> </ul>
This appreisal has been prepared as a complete summary appraisal report prepared under Standards Rule 2-2(b) of USPAP.	
Extraordinery Assumptions:	Comun
For purposes of this report, the existing lot lines and lot sizes as reflected on the recorded Piper Ranch Business Park Subdivision Map No. 12346 are utilized and the proposed lot boundary adjustment between Lots 17, 18 and 19 has not been reflected in this valuation per the request of my client.	Certified General Real Estate Appraised Certified General Real Estate Appraised State of California OREA Appraiser I.D. 6. 002574 Enviration Date: 21427004
I have been asked to ascume that the cost to remove the temporary cul-de-sec on Piper Rench Road and complete the street improvements for the balance of Piper Ranch Road and Autor Road is \$355.00. This amount is ascumed to be accurate and correct for the purposes of this assignment at the nequest of my dent. An independent estimate of the cost to complete is not within the scope of this assignment and has not been performed.	
Hypothetical Condition:	
Since the project is presently under construction for streets, grading and infrastructure and are not complete as of the date of value, the retail and bulk sale value estimates are made under the hypothetical condition of finished lots with all infrastructure in place and ready for individual development.	
Rasmuson Appraisal Services	Rasmuson Appraisal Services

- No responsibility is assumed for matters which rendered herewith. This appraisal assumes management. The property has been appraised
- The factual data utilized in this analysis has b however, no responsibility is assumed for its acc ci.
- present on the property, was not observed by the a the existence of such meterials on or in the proper detect such substances. The presence of substan insulation, or other potentially hazardous materials estimate is predicated on the assumption that the would cause a loss in value. Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existe ŝ
- Except as noted, this appraisal assumes the lar prohibit development of the property to its highes 4
- This appraisal is of surface rights only, and no rights, if any. ú
  - Disclosure of the contents of this appraised report Appraisal Institute. ω
    - Neither all nor any part of the contents of this keenlify of the apprecisers or this apprecial firm, designations) shall be disseminated to the gen relations media, news media, sales media or oth written consert of the signatory of this appraisal does not carry with if the right of publication. other than the party to whom it is addressed with event only with the proper written qualification ar Ň
- This appraisal has been prepared as a con Standards Rule 2-2(b) of USPAP. æ.

- For purposes of this report, the existing lot line Ranch Business Park Subdivision Map No. 1: adjustment between Lots 17, 18 and 19 has not l client.
- I have been asked to assume that the cost to ren and complete the tracter inyrownents for the 1 \$355,000. This amount is assumed to be accurat the nequest of my dient. An independent estima this essignment and has not been performed. N

Addenda

Addendum A - Appraiser Qualifications

Qualifications of Gary L. Rasmuson, MAI SRA

#### Expertise:

Mr. Rasmuson has been actively appraising real estate since 1977 as an independent fee appraiser. Rasmuson Appraisal Consultants was esteblished in 1984 and has valued over 1,000 properties to date. Speciatities include the valuation for litigation purposes including casterneht and right-of-way appraisals, appraisal of motels/hotels, apartments, office buildings, industrial properties and all types of vacant land.

General appraisal experience includes valuation of residential subdivisions, industrial subdivisions, single-family residences, mobile home parks, estate valuations, partial interest valuation and retai commercial properties. Appraisal assignments have been performed primarily in San Diego County but have included within communities in Southern California and Arizona.

#### Business:

President – Rasmuson Appraisal Consultants 14665 Yukon Street, San Diego CA 92129 Phone: (858) 672-1796 Fax: (858) 672-3815

- gary@rasmusonappraisal.com Email:

### Selected List of Clients:

Centre City Development Corporation Centre City of Chule Vista City of Chule Vista City of Somenside City of Vosenside City of Vista County of Son Diego Bank of America California Bank and Trust Calitrans John Burnham Company Washington Mutual Bank Arcs

Southern Pacific Bank San Diego City Schools San Diego Ges & Electric Compeny

Union Bank of California U.S. Navy Wells Fargo Bank

Midas Realty Corporation Office of Thrift Supervision

Port of San Diego

Imperial Bank La Jolla Bank and Trust McMillin Communities Fidelity Federal Bank Great Western Bank Grossmont Bank

#### Memberships:

- Appraisal Institute MAI Designation (No. 6926); SRA Designation Pest National Director 1994; San Diego Chapter President 1984 (SREA) Director 1997-89; 1994-1997; Regional Representative 1991-1997; Tressurer 1990; California Legislative Committee: 1992
  - > State of California California General Real Estate Appraiser License No. AG002571; Expires February 4, 2004
- International Right of Way Association Member

Qualifications of Gary L. Rasmuson, MAI Continued...

#### Education:

Bachelor of Science, Business Administration; Economics Major University of North Dakota - 1977

Business Valuation - SREA Standards of Professional Practice Case Studies in Real Estate Valuation Litigation Valuation Successful completion of the following courses aponsored by Appreisal institute: Basic Appraisal Principles (1-A) The Appraisal of Partial Acquisitions Capitalization Theory and Techniques (1-B) Valuation Analysis and Report Writing

Appraisal Regulation Seminar Subdivision Analysis Seminar Apartment Seminar Litigation Seminar Seminars (Partial List):

Analysis of Problem Properties Capitalization Update Seminer Fair Housing Seminer Hotel/Motel Valuation Seminar

#### Qualifications:

- Qualified Expert Witness, Federal Bankruptcy Court
- Cualified Expert Witness, California Superior Court
- Appointed Special Master to Superior Court
- Course instructor Appraisal Institute Course Capitalization Theory & Techniques 310 and Capitalization Theory & Techniques 510 А
  - Received Distinguished Service Award 1991 San Diego Chapter of the Appreisal Institute ٨

Addendum B – MDC Amended Purchase Agreement

### FIRST AMENDMENT TO PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT AND ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT AND ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS ("Amendment") is embred into as of March (Z, 2003, by and between MASTER DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, a California corporation ("Purchaser"), and FIPER RANCH LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Seffer"), with reference to the facts set forth in the Recentle below.

#### RECITALS

A. Purchaser and Seller entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement and Eacrow Instructions dated May 17, 2002 ("Purchase Agreement") for the parchase and take of cartin Property, as defined therein. The intrastofic contampled by the Funchase Agreement is the subject of Eacrow No. 022-15/LG ("Eacrow") with First American Title Instrumce Company effection Relations of annual soft onderwise defined increase the measures the increasing ascribed to such terms in the Purchase Agreement.

B. Purchaser and Seller desire to amond the Purchase Agreement to (i) modify the definition of the Property, (ii) modify the Purchase Price, and (iii) memointains the revised score of Seller's grading obligations under the Purchase Agreement, to provide for the payment of the cost of such modified work by Purchaser and to make other modifications to the Purchase Agreement, to provide for the Purchase Agreement, to provide for the Purchase Agreement, to provide for the Purchase Agreement, to provide the Purchase Agreement, to be provided below in this Amendment.

#### AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth in this Amendment, and other good and valuable consideration, he receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged. Purchaser and Seller hereby annead the Purchase Agreement as follows:

1. Property. Section 1(a) of the Purchase Agreement is hereby modified to provide that the definition of the "Land" for all purposes under the Purchase Agreement shall mean Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of the Project (approximately 16.56 acres). Lots 21 and 22 of the Project shall not constitute a portion of the Land. Within two 1(0) days after the full excendion and delivery of this Amendment, Purchaser shall deliver to Seller complete onpise of any and all plans, specifications, drawings, empirering studies, propared for the Project's provides and delivery and all other Dur Diligence Materials (as defined in Socion 5 of the Purchase Agreement) relative to Lots 21 and 22, without any presentation or warranty regarding the accuracy or sufficiency there for any purpose. Purchaser and Seller achnowiedge and agree that and Lots have been or will be substituted for Lots 21 and 22 pursuant to Section 1 of the Purchase Agreement.

 Purchase Price. Section 2(a) of the Purchase Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:

The purchese price ("Furchase Price") to be said by Purchaser to Selier for the Property thail be Three Million Seven Muzdred Forty-One Thousand

Three Hundred Sixty-Eight and 40/100 Dollars (\$3,741,363.40), subject to the provisions of <u>Scetical 2(b)</u> of this Agreement regarding the Put Notice and the Modified Purchase Price. 3. Crading Modification Fayment. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Amendment, Purchaser shall deliver to Escrow Holder the sum of One Hundred Ninety-Nine Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$199,000.00) ("Grading Modification Payment") in the form of a view transfer, cash or certified or bank cashing the check for immediately available funds. The carding Modification Payment and the form of a relevant of the deposited into a subscrease-bearing account and uhall be carding to the terms and conditions of this Amendment. The Grading Modification Payment shall be been to the form of the form a subscrease to the payment of the Modified Crading Wook (is defined in Section 4 below) to the form and conditions of this Amendment. The Grading Modification Payment shall be non-refundable to Purchaser and shall not apply to the Purchase Price.

4. Modified Grading Work. Purchaser hereby acknowledges that Seller has caused, at the request of Purchaser, the following modifications to the mass rough grading portion of the Parcel Map Conditions (as defined in Section 4(c)(4) of the Furchasec Agreement) on the Lond (collectively, "Modified Grading Work"):

a. Overexcavation of the 1 and referenced above in this Section 2 pursuant to the redline contour plan and specifications dated as of November 19, 2002 ("Modiffied Constour Plan") prepared by Dan O'Rourke of SB&O, Inc. and attached to this Amendment as Exhibit A. b. Grading of the Land referenced above in this Section 2 in compliance with the original permitted grading contrus specified in the Grading Plans for Piper Ranch Business Park perparted by Rick Engineering, preiminarily approved by the City of San Diego on September 16, 1988, consisting of Sheet Nos. 2360-27-1210:55, 6, 11 and 12 and 23680-22-DILots 3, 4, 13 and Seller's contractors. Select compacted fill material. The fill material may be mined addres repeated by Seller's contractors. Select compacted fill material.

5. Payment of Modified Gradiant Costs. Solar shall (a) cause the project soil engineer to prepare a final compaction report ("Compartion Report") for the Modified Gradiang Work and Caradiang Work has been completed in sconrdinge with the requirements of Sortima the Modified Gradiang Work, and Gradiang Work has been completed in sconrdinge with the requirements of Sortima the Modified Gradiang Work, and Gradiang Work has been completed in sconrdinge with the requirements of Sortima the Modified Gradiang Cartification to Punchaser for two days and approval which approvel busit to the Mass Grading Cartification to Punchaser for review and approval. Which approvel busit to the Mass Grading Cartification to Punchaser for two arguments and the Compaction Report and the Mass Grading Cartification to Punchaser fail Upon approval to the Compaction Report and the Mass Grading Cartification, Punchaser fail Upon approval to the Compaction Report and the Mass Grading Cartification, Punchaser fail provide Ball to the Mass Grading Cartification, Punchaser fail provide Selfer and Eacrow Holder to Mass Grading Cartification, Punchaser fail provide and the Mass Gradiang Cartification, Punchaser fail approval factor and the Mass Grading Cartification, Punchaser fail approval factor and the Mass Grading Cartification, Punchaser fail approval factor for all automatic of the Compacting reduced to the State Carding Cartification, Punchaser fail approval factor for all administrative costs and courted by Selfer stated for all administrative costs and copenses incurred by Selfer's and Educed with the Modified Gradian Gradian Work.

6. Modification of Land. In the event that the Eacrow does not close and the Purchase Agreement terminates for any reason other than a Soller default under the Purchase Agreement (e.g., a failure of a condition precedent to Purchaser's obligation to close or a Purchaser default).

Purchaser shall be obligated to immediately cause the modification of (or pay Seller the full amount of the cost to modify) the grade level of the Land to a condition approved by the City of San Diego or shall provide reasonable evidence to Seller that the City of San Diego approves the condition of the grading in its then existing condition. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in the event that the Ecrow does not close and the Purchase Agreement terminates due to a failure of a condition precedent to Purchaser's obligation to purchase the Property provided in Section 4(c) of the Purchase Agreement where such failure was reasonably within the control of Seller, Purchaser shall not be obligated to cause a modification of (or to pay Seller the amount of the cost to modify) the grade level of the Land.

 Default by Seller. The first sentence of Section 14(a) of the Purchase Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:

IN THE EVENT THAT SELLER SHALL DEFAULT AND FAIL TO CONSUMMATE THE TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED BY THIS ACHERTENTIFIC AND EXCANON CONTEMPLATED BY THIS ACHERTENTIFIC AND FURCHASER'S MATERIAL DEFAULT, EXCHASER AS ITS SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY, MAY TERMINATE THIS ACREEMENT AND EXCENTE A REFUND OF THE DEPOSIT AND THE GRADING MODIFICATION PAYMENT AND MAY PUSCUS SELLER FOR ACTUAL DAMAGES BOUAL TO PURCHASER'S ACTUAL OUT-OFFOCKET COSTS AND EXPENSES NOT TO EXCEED A MAXIMUM AGGREGATE SUM OF ONE HUNDED FIFTY THOUSAND AND OWIOD DOLLARS (\$15,00000), AND SELLER SHALL WOT BE LIABLE TO PURCHASER FOR ANY PUNITIVE, SFELLANT BOLLARDES FOR ANY PUNITIVE, SPECULATIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. 8. Counterparts. This Ameridment may be executed by the parties hareto in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 9. Full FOCCE and Efflort Except as specifically amended hereby, the Purchass Agreement is not amended and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its tarma. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Amendment and the provisions of the Purchase Agreement, the provisions of this Amendment shall control and be supersecting.

[signatures on following page]

÷.

÷

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow lastructions on the day and year first written above.

#### "SELLER"

PIPER RANCH LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Otry Investors LLC, a Delaware limited titability company, Sole Member Ä

By: BCL Oney lavestments LLC, a Cultifornia limited Hability company, Manager / / By: <u>Art / Art</u> Mike Colarusso, Member By. / U

"PURCHASER"

MASTER DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, a California corporation ĸ 20Dr By. Zerye Bryan Bentrott Vice President 9.6

ACKNOWLEDGED BY ESCROW HOLDER:

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY

By: Lynn Graham, Sr. Escrow Officer

ŧ

.

Addendum C - Piper Ranch Grading Plans






















August 5, 2003

## **YIA CERTIFIED MAIL** RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Michael Uberuga City Munager 202 C Street, MS 9A San Diego, CA 92 [0]

Mr. Ron Buckley Senior Planner City of San Diego Development Services Division 1222 1st Avenue, Mail Station 501 San Diego, CA 92101

Re: Piper Ranch Business Park; Commercial Designation for Lots 1 and 2

Dear Gentleman:

We are the owner of Piper Ranch Business Park, Tentative Map Number 16-0934 and Final Map 12346, which is comprised of twenty four (24) but combining 80 gross acres of land. This letter constitutes our notice, pursuent to Municipal Code Chapter 10, Arricle 3, Division 11. Section 103.1103(a)(b), to designate Lots 1 and 2, containing 1.99 acres and 2 acres, respectively, as commercial/business support services as provided in Soction 103.1103(a)(b).

The CCRs recorded for the Piper Ranch Business Park will also reflect this designation for Lots 1 and 2.

Please contact me if there is mything further that we need to do regarding this notice.

Very truly yours,

BY U di C Piper Rauch, L.J.

cc: Anne Longwerth Toby Hallal Kari Desgalier, Esq.

CHARACTER CONTROL CONT

.

#### **APPENDIX B**

#### ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO

The information and expressions of opinion set forth herein have been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but such information is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. Statements contained herein which involve estimates, forecasts, or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as representations of facts. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale thereafter of the securities offered hereby shall under any circumstances create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City or in any other information contained herein since the date of the Official Statement.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

With a total population of approximately 1.3 million in 2003, and a land area of approximately 330 square miles, the City of San Diego (the "City") is the seventh largest city in the nation and the second largest city in California. The City is the county seat for the County of San Diego (the "County") and is the County's business and financial center.

Based on estimates published by the California Department of Finance in May 2003, the City's population grew by 11.4% between 1994 and 2003, with an average increase of approximately 14,544 annually. A major factor in the City's growth is its quality of life. In addition to having a favorable climate, the City offers a wide range of cultural and recreational services to both residents and visitors. With mild temperatures year round, the City's numerous beaches, parks, tennis courts, and golf courses are in constant use.

Another factor in the City's growth is its diversified economy. Recent growth has been concentrated in four major areas: high tech manufacturing and research (including electronics, telecommunications, scientific instruments, drugs, and biomedical equipment); professional services; tourism; and international trade. Historically, the City has also benefited from a stable economic foundation composed of basic manufacturing (ship building, industrial machinery, television & video equipment, and printing & publishing), public and private higher education, health services, military, and local government.

#### ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Data contained under this caption is intended to portray economic, demographic, and business trends within the City. While not constituting direct revenue sources as such, these trends help explain changes in revenue sources such as property taxes, sales taxes, and transient occupancy taxes, which could be affected by changes in economic conditions.

#### **Population**

As set forth in Table B-1 below, between January 1, 1994, and January 1, 2003, the City's population has increased by 130,900 (or by approximately 14,544 new residents annually during this period).

### Table B-1POPULATION GROWTHCalendar Years 1994 through 2003

Calendar $\underline{Year}^{(1)}$	City of <u>San Diego</u>	Annual <u>Growth Rate</u>	County of San Diego	Annual <u>Growth Rate</u>	State of <u>California</u>	Annual <u>Growth Rate</u>
1994	1,144,200	0.0%	2,604,400	0.4%	31,418,000	0.9%
1995	1,145,400	0.1%	2,613,100	0.3%	31,617,000	0.6%
1996	1,146,900	0.1%	2,621,100	0.3%	31,837,000	0.7%
1997	1,159,100	1.1%	2,653,400	1.2%	32,207,000	1.2%
1998	1,176,900	1.5%	2,702,800	1.9%	32,657,000	1.4%
1999	1,200,800	2.0%	2,751,000	1.8%	33,140,000	1.5%
2000	1,221,200	1.7%	2,805,900	2.0%	33,753,000	1.8%
2001	1,238,500	1.4%	2,856,000	1.8%	34,367,000	1.8%
2002	1,251,700	1.1%	2,908,500	1.8%	35,000,000	1.8%
2003	1,275,100	1.9%	2,961,600	1.8%	35,591,000	1.7%

(1) As of January 1 of the calendar year.

Source: State of California, Department of Finance.

#### **Employment Summary**

As seen in Table B-2, the City's unemployment rate for calendar year 2002 averaged 4.4%, up from a rate of 3.3% during calendar year 2001. The City's 2002 unemployment rate was below both the national rate of 5.8% and the State's rate of 6.7%. During 2002, average employment in the City was up by approximately 10,710 from 2001 levels. Preliminary data for November 2003, the latest available data, indicates that the City's unemployment rate was 4.1%, which continues to be lower than both the national rate of 5.9% and the State's rate of 6.4% for the same period.

## Table B-2ESTIMATED AVERAGE ANNUAL EMPLOYMENT ANDUNEMPLOYMENT OF CITY OF SAN DIEGO RESIDENT LABOR FORCECalendar Years 1998 through 2002

	<u>1998</u>	<u>1999</u>	<u>2000</u>	2000	<u>2002</u> <sup>(1)</sup>
<b>Civilian Labor Force</b> City of San Diego					
Employed	584,100	604,700	623,200	633,620	644,330
Unemployed	21,700	19,600	19,600	21,620	29,410
<b>Unemployment Rates</b>					
City	3.6%	3.1%	3.1%	3.3%	4.4%
County	3.5%	3.1%	3.0%	3.2%	4.3%
California	5.9%	5.2%	4.9%	5.3%	6.7%
United States	4.5%	4.2%	4.0%	4.8%	5.8%

(1) Subject to future revision.

Source: State of California Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division; and the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Table B-3 provides the California Employment Development Department's estimates of total annual civilian nonagricultural wage and salary employment by number of employees in each major

industry in the County from calendar years 1998 through 2002. Annual employment information is not regularly compiled by sector for the City alone. In prior years, industry data from Labor Market Information Division programs were classified using the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC). This method has now been replaced by the new North American Industry Classification System (NAICS). The table below reflects figures classified under the new system. As shown, total nonagricultural wage and salary employment in the County increased by 123,000 new jobs during this period. During calendar year 2002, employment in San Diego County increased by 10,100 new jobs over the prior year.

## Table B-3SAN DIEGO COUNTYWAGE AND SALARY EMPLOYMENTCalendar Years 1998 through 2002

INDUSTRY CATEGORY	<u>1998</u>	<u>1999</u>	2000	<u>2001</u>	<u>2002</u> <sup>(1)</sup>
Natural Resources & Mining	300	300	300	300	300
Construction	60,200	67,000	69,700	75,100	76,000
Manufacturing	124,000	122,900	122,600	119,000	112,200
Nondurable Goods	30,400	30,500	30,400	29,800	27,800
Durable Goods	93,600	92,400	92,200	89,300	84,500
Transportation & Utilities	28,600	29,200	29,800	32,000	30,700
Trade	159,400	165,000	172,900	177,100	178,800
Wholesale	34,700	36800	39100	41500	41300
Retail	124,700	128200	133800	135600	137500
Financial Activities <sup>(2)</sup>	66,000	70,400	71,200	72,000	73,800
Services <sup>(3)</sup>	472,600	498,700	520,900	529,300	535,700
Government	194,500	199,300	206,600	213,800	221,000
Federal	43,300	42,500	42,100	40,200	39,900
State and Local	151,200	156,800	164,600	173,600	181,100
TOTAL NONAGRICULTURAL <sup>(4)</sup>	1,105,500	1,152,900	1,193,800	1,218,400	1,228,500

(1) Subject to future revision.

(2) Includes finance, insurance, and real estate.

(3) Includes professional and business, information, educational and health, leisure and hospitality, and other services.

(4) Figures may not add to total due to independent rounding.

Source: State of California Employment Development Department.

During calendar year 2002, while the manufacturing sector experienced a decline (-6,800), there was a significant employment growth in the Government sector (+7,200) and the services sector (+6,400). The increase in the Government sector, which accounted for 18% of the total nonagricultural wage and salary employment in the County in 2002, occurred in State and local government agencies. Almost all of the increase in State and local government agencies is due to gains in public education and the Other Local Government category, which includes Special Districts and Indian Tribal Governments. Preliminary estimates of the total nonagricultural wage and salary employment for the County for November 2003 reflect a slight increase (0.02%) over November 2002.

#### **Taxable Sales**

Taxable transactions at retail and other outlets in the City at the end of the Fourth Quarter of calendar year 2002, the most recent data available from the California State Board of Equalization, totaled \$4.4 billion, approximately the same as in the Fourth Quarter of calendar year 2001. Taxable transactions in the City during calendar year 2001 totaled approximately \$16.4 billion, up 1.7% from calendar year

2000, and up 32.1% from 1997. Table B-4 provides annual sales information by type of outlet for calendar years 1997 through 2001.

#### Table B-4 CITY OF SAN DIEGO TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS Calendar Years 1997 through 2001 (in thousands)

	<u>1997</u>	<u>1998</u>	<u>1999</u>	<u>2000</u>	<u>2001</u> <sup>(1)</sup>
RETAIL STORES					
Apparel	\$485,551	\$530,734	\$542,041	\$588,012	\$613,179
General Merchandise	1,354,698	1,436,535	1,597,102	1,794,468	1,861,711
Food	554,625	582,183	622,909	662,346	673,384
Eating and Drinking	1,380,894	1,496,032	1,603,968	1,772,507	1,851,358
Home Furnishings and Appliances	444,930	469,158	546,746	619,383	684,858
Building Materials and Farm Implements	603,365	716,231	809,022	944,386	1,093,716
Auto Dealers & Supplies	1,189,462	1,331,411	1,519,137	1,745,186	1,868,692
Service Stations	673,078	614,156	742,143	977,675	966,913
Other	1,686,807	<u>1,790,441</u>	<u>1,948,871</u>	2,173,098	2,114,389
Total Retail Stores	\$8,373,410	\$8,966,881	\$9,931,939	\$11,277,061	\$11,731,149
All Other Outlets	<u>\$4,024,433</u>	<u>\$4,343,598</u>	<u>\$4,563,715</u>	<u>\$4,822,132</u>	<u>\$4,640,363</u>
TOTAL ALL OUTLETS	<u>\$12,397,843</u>	<u>\$13,310,479</u>	<u>\$14,495,654</u>	<u>\$16,099,193</u>	<u>\$16,371,512</u>

(1) Data for calendar year 2001 were calculated by adding quarterly reports published by the California State Board of Equalization, and may be subject to future revision.

Source: California State Board of Equalization.

#### Tourism

Based on year-end data for 2002 from Smith Travel Research ("Smith Travel"), San Diego outperformed most major markets, ranking third highest among the top 25 hotel markets in terms of average occupancy rate during 2002 and sixth highest in terms of average daily room rate. Smith Travel has reported that for the ten months ended October 31, 2003, which included room revenues from activity related to Super Bowl XXXVII, the average occupancy rate was at 71.2%, and the third highest rate among the top 25 hotel markets. In addition, Smith Travel has reported that for the ten months ended October 31, 2003, up 1.7% from the prior year, the fourth largest increase among the top 25 markets.

According to the San Diego Chamber of Commerce, the visitor industry is the County's third largest industry in terms of income generation, behind manufacturing and the military. As shown in Table B-5, visitor spending in the County totaled \$5.04 billion in 2002, up 7.2% from 1998 but down 1.6% from 2001. According to the San Diego Convention and Visitors Bureau, a decline in business spending, weakening consumer confidence, and the outbreak of war in Iraq have had an impact on the tourism industry nationwide. The San Diego Convention and Visitor's Bureau also reported that there were 7.5 million passenger arrivals at Lindberg Field in 2002, down by approximately 1.5% from 2001. For the ten months ended October 31, 2003, visitor spending totaled \$4.5 billion, a 4.4% increase from the same period in calendar year 2002. Both visitor numbers and spending include effects of the Super Bowl XXXVII in January 2003.

## Table B-5SAN DIEGO COUNTYTOTAL VISITOR SPENDING<sup>(1)</sup>Calendar Years 1998 through 2002(in billions)

Calendar Year	Amount
1998	\$4.70
1999	4.88
2000	5.23
2001	5.12
2002	5.04

(1) Visitor spending is an estimate of total direct and indirect visitor expenditures as derived from the Visitor Activity Model/Visitor Profile Study prepared by CIC Research, Inc. for the San Diego Convention and Visitors Bureau.

Source: San Diego Convention and Visitors Bureau.

The City is the focal point for tourism in the County. The San Diego Convention Center (the "Convention Center"), approximately 70% of the County's hotel and motel rooms, and most of the County's major tourist attractions, including the world-renowned San Diego Zoo, the San Diego Wild Animal Park, and Sea World, are located in the City. Other attractions located in the City include the Cabrillo National Monument on Point Loma, the historic Gaslamp Quarter in the downtown area, the Old Town State Park, and Balboa Park – home to the San Diego Zoo and a host of other cultural and recreational activities.

In addition to the many permanent attractions available to visitors, the City has also been host to a number of major events. The City annually hosts the Buick Invitational, a Professional Golfers' Association Tour Event played at the Torrey Pines Golf Course, a world-renowned golf course, owned and operated by the City of San Diego. In addition, since 1978, the City has annually hosted the Holiday Bowl, a post season contest of elite college football teams.

The City also hosted the America's Cup in 1992 and 1995, the Super Bowl and World Series in 1998, and more recently the Super Bowl in 2003. In addition, the City was the site for the Republican National Convention held in August 1996. The Torrey Pines' South Course is scheduled to play host to the United States Open Golf Tournament in 2008.

In September 2001, the expansion of the City's Convention Center was completed, doubling the size of the existing facility to 2.6 million total gross square feet. According to the San Diego Convention Center Corporation, in Fiscal Year 2003 the Convention Center generated approximately \$996.1 million in total regional economic impact (direct and indirect spending).

#### Military

Military and related defense spending is the second most important component of the San Diego economy, with only manufacturing making a larger contribution to San Diego County's Gross Regional Product. Prior to 1990, San Diego's civilian defense contractors were primarily concentrated in aerospace manufacturing. During the 1990's, the focus of local defense contracting shifted from aerospace manufacturing to research and development, with shipbuilding and repair remaining an important component. This transformation received additional impetus with the relocation of the Space and Naval Warfare Systems Command (SPAWAR) to San Diego from Virginia, in 1997. SPAWAR is responsible

for administering contracts to meet the Navy's continuing need for state-of-the-art command and communications systems.

According to the San Diego Chamber of Commerce, defense related expenditures (active duty payroll and retirement benefits, base expenditures, and defense contracts) in the County during the federal Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2002, totaled approximately \$13.6 billion, up 30.1% from \$10.0 billion in 2001. With a total active duty military and civilian payroll of \$4.3 billion in the federal Fiscal Year 2002, San Diego continued to lead all counties in the nation in terms of combined military and civilian payrolls. In addition to active duty and civilian payroll, retirement benefits totaled approximately \$1.1 billion. Total defense contracts awarded to County-based businesses totaled \$6.9 billion during the federal Fiscal Year 2002, of which \$5.4 billion were awarded to procurement contracts and another \$1.5 billion to various classified contracts and subcontracts of less than \$1,000 each. According to the San Diego Chamber of Commerce estimate of June 1, 2002, active duty military personnel in the County totaled 104,734 and the civilian employment totaled 23,515.

#### **International Trade**

The value of exports presented in the table below is from RAND California, *Merchandise Exports from U.S. Customs District* series. In prior years, exports were reported based on Metropolitan Areas as reported by the International Trade Administration. The Customs District classification has been adopted because of the availability of more current data. Export values reflect exports of merchandise grown, produced, or manufactured in the U.S as well as re-exports of foreign merchandise. The total value of exports from San Diego Customs District grew approximately 31% in the five-year period from 1998 to 2002. While there was a slight decline in annual exports from 2000 to 2001, an increase was experienced in calendar year 2002, with the value of exports totaling approximately \$12.9 billion, up 4.3% from calendar year 2001. Year-to-date data as of September 2003 shows that the value of exports totaled approximately \$9.4 billion, a 2.7% drop from the same period in 2002.

#### Table B-6 VALUATION OF EXPORTS ORIGINATING IN SAN DIEGO Calendar Years 1998 through 2002 (in billions)

Total Exports
\$ 9.8
10.8
12.7
12.3
12.9

Source: RAND California, Business and Economic Statistics.

#### **Major Employers**

The City is host to a diverse mix of major employers representing industries ranging from education and health services, to diversified manufacturing, financial services, retail trade and amusement and recreation. Table B-7 lists the City's major employers. The list is compiled from information gathered by the City of San Diego. All of the businesses listed in the table have their main offices in the City, with many having branch offices and/or production facilities in other areas of the County.

Accordingly, not all employees of these businesses work within the City. The City makes no representation that the level of employment by these employers will continue or that such employer will be unaffected by economic downturns.

#### Table B-7 CITY OF SAN DIEGO MAJOR EMPLOYERS<sup>(1)</sup> As of January 2003

#### Employer

#### 10,000 or More Employees:

San Diego Unified School District Sharp Health Care University of California, San Diego

#### 5,000 - 9,999 Employees:

Kaiser Permanente Qualcomm San Diego Community College District Scripps Health SBC/Pacific Bell

#### 3,000 - 4,999 Employees:

ADDECO Employment Services<sup>2</sup> Children's Hospital and Health Care Manpower Temporary Services National Steel & Shipbuilding Company Samsung<sup>2</sup> San Diego State University Science Applications International Corporation Seaworld of California Sempra Energy Sony Technology Center UCSD Health Care United Parcel Service University of San Diego

#### 2,000 - 2,999 Employees:

Cox Communications Grossmont-Cuyamaca Community College Jack in the Box Inc. Hewlett Packard Company<sup>2</sup> Nordstrom Palomar Pomerado Health System Scripps Research Institute Solar Turbines Zoological Society of San Diego

#### **Product/Service**

Education Health Care Higher Education

Health Care Wireless Communications Higher Education Health Care Utility

Employment Services Health Care Employment Services Shipbuilding, Repair Electronics Higher Education Research and Development Entertainment Utility Electronics Health Care Delivery Service Higher Education

Communications Higher Education Restaurants Electronic Instruments Department Store Health Care Biomedical Research Gas Turbine Manufacturing Entertainment

(2) As of April 2002.

Source: City of San Diego.

<sup>(1)</sup> Does not include various major public employers, including the City, the County, the State, and the Federal Government with a combined total County employment of 221,000 as of January 2003.

#### **Effective Buying Income**

Table B-8 shows the per capita Effective Buying Income (EBI) for the City, the County, the State, and the United States for calendar years 1998 through 2002.

Table B-8
PER CAPITA EFFECTIVE BUYING INCOME <sup>(1)</sup>
Calendar Years 1998 through 2002

Calendar	City of	County of	State of	United
Year	<u>San Diego</u>	<u>San Diego</u>	<u>California</u>	<b>States</b>
1998	\$16,291	\$16,101	\$16,299	\$16,895
1999	17,443	17,270	17,245	17,691
2000	19,238	19,498	19,081	18,426
2001	19,723	19,092	18,652	18,491
2002	19,077	18,524	18,236	18,375

(1) Effective Buying Income is defined as the aggregate of wages, salaries, interest earnings, and all forms of public assistance income (such as Social Security and unemployment compensation) less personal tax payments, contributions to Social Security, and the value of income "in kind" from food stamps, public housing subsidies, medical care etc. Effective Buying Income is a proxy for "disposable" or "after-tax" income.

Source: Sales & Marketing Management Magazine "Survey of Buying Power".

#### **Building Permits**

Table B-9 provides a summary of the building permit valuations, and the number of new dwelling units authorized in the City, for Fiscal Years 1999 through 2003. The valuation of non-residential permits includes both private, commercial construction and publicly funded, non-tax generating projects. The total valuation building permits in the City have grown by approximately 16% in the past 5 year period ended June 30, 2003. While data for Fiscal Year 2003, the latest data available, reflects a 9% drop in the valuation of building permits from Fiscal Year 2002, the decline was entirely due to a 40% drop in the valuation of non-residential building permits. The valuation of residential building permits continued to show a strong growth, with a 12% rise in the same period.

# Table B-9CITY OF SAN DIEGOBUILDING PERMIT VALUATIONSAND NUMBER OF DWELLING UNITSFiscal Years Ended June 30, 1999 through 2003

	<u>1999</u>	<u>2000</u>	<u>2001</u>	<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>
Valuation (in thousands)					
Residential	\$857,747	\$1,185,999	\$1,181,385	\$1,244,917	\$1,395,286
Nonresidential	783,106	<u>960,479</u>	<u>693,687</u>	854,831	<u>511,743</u>
Total	<u>\$1,640,853</u>	<u>\$2,146,478</u>	<u>\$1,875,072</u>	<u>\$2,099,748</u>	<u>\$1,907,029</u>
Number of New Dwelling Unit	ts:				
Single Family	2,612	2,084	2,075	2,347	2,351
Multiple Family	<u>2,856</u>	<u>5,662</u>	<u>3,829</u>	4,000	<u>5,272</u>
Total	<u>5,468</u>	<u>7,746</u>	<u>5,904</u>	<u>6,347</u>	<u>7,623</u>

Source: City of San Diego, Planning and Development Review Department.

#### **Business Development Program**

The City actively supports economic development and job creation activities. A key element of these activities is the Business Expansion and Retention Program (BEAR Program), a proactive effort on the part of the City to work directly with businesses to retain local firms and help them expand their investment and job growth. This program was created in 1995 by integrating the City's existing business development activities to provide centralized coordination and data management, and to expand operational relationships with partnership agencies such as the San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation, Sempra Energy, the San Diego Science and Technology Commission, and the San Diego Workforce Partnership. BEAR Program components include business incentives, targeted assistance, and sales and use tax rebates through the Business Cooperation Program, Business Outreach Program, and Business Finance Program.

A further element of the City's overall business development effort has focused on streamlining the permitting process and, when feasible, eliminating or reducing fees and permits. A major component of this streamlining effort has been to reduce development permit processing time by one-half.

The City also operates the Office of Small Business, which provides a broad range of assistance programs for the many small businesses in the City. In 1995, the City Council reduced the annual Business License Tax for all businesses with 12 or fewer employees to a flat fee of \$34 per business with no per employee charge. The City charges an annual fee of \$125 plus \$5 per employee for businesses with 13 or more employees.

#### Transportation

San Diego has a well-developed highway system. Access in and out of the region is provided by five major freeways running north and south and three freeways running east and west. Another major east-west connector, Route 56, is under construction; it is expected to be completed and open to traffic by summer 2004.

Public transportation through the City and surrounding communities is provided by the San Diego Metropolitan Transit Development Board ("MTDB"). Starting July 2003, the San Diego Association of Governments took over project planning, finance, and other major functions, which were earlier controlled by MTDB. MTDB continues to be responsible for the day-to-day transit operations in the City and surrounding communities.

The San Diego Trolley, Inc. operates a fleet of electric trolleys that provides transportation for commuters and tourists from downtown San Diego to San Ysidro (adjacent to Tijuana), and from downtown San Diego to the southern part of the County and East County. The East Line extension to Santee was completed in 1996. This 3.6-mile extension connects the cities of El Cajon and Santee. The trolley also provides service from downtown San Diego to the waterfront area, including the Convention Center. An extension providing additional service from downtown to the historical Old Town section of the City was completed in 1996. In addition, the Mission Valley extension, which connects Old Town with Qualcomm Stadium and the Mission Valley shopping area, ending at the Mission San Diego, opened in 1997.

Construction is in progress on the 6-mile Mission Valley East Trolley Extension. The project, scheduled for completion in 2004, will extend east from Qualcomm Stadium connecting Mission Valley with San Diego State University, La Mesa, and East County. The extension will include four new trolley stops, including a subterranean station at San Diego State University. The project is estimated to cost approximately \$435 million, including \$330 million in appropriations from the federal government. In

May 2003, the project received an additional \$63.9 million grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation.

A 43-mile Coaster Commuter rail line from Oceanside to downtown San Diego came into service in 1995. This line links the communities along the coast from Oceanside to Del Mar with downtown San Diego and is operated by North County Transit District.

Recently, MTDB granted the rights to operate an east-west rail line to the Carrizo Gorge Railway. It is anticipated that the line, which will connect San Diego and northern Baja California with the rest of Mexico and the United States, will open and begin shipping freight in calendar year 2003. This additional rail line will complement already existing rail service coming into San Diego County from the north and reduce shipping rates and times for companies moving products between San Diego, Mexico, and the Southwest.

In November 1987, voters approved Proposition A which, authorized a one-half cent increase to the local sales tax to fund transportation improvements for the San Diego region. The City's budget for Fiscal Year 2004 included \$27.7 million in Proposition A funds. The one-half cent increase to the local sales tax, authorized by Proposition A, is scheduled to expire in 2008.

In June 1990, voters approved State Propositions 108, 111, and 116 which, increased the State gas tax and authorized the sale of rail bonds. The revenues generated from these measures are to be used to implement a comprehensive Statewide transportation funding program. The City's budget for Fiscal Year 2004 included \$23.1 million in Proposition 111 funds. Revenues from this source supplement the City's street maintenance and resurfacing program and other street related services, including traffic light and signal maintenance, median maintenance and traffic engineering to ensure efficient traffic flow.

#### **Property Taxes**

The County assesses property and collects secured and unsecured property taxes for the cities, school districts, and special districts within the County, including the City. Once the property taxes are collected, the County conducts its internal reconciliation for accounting purposes and distributes the City's share of such taxes to the City, generally within a couple of weeks. Prior to distribution, the moneys are deposited in an account established on behalf of the City in the County Treasurer's Investment Pool (the "Pool"). If the County and/or the Pool were at any time to become subject to bankruptcy proceedings, it is possible that City property taxes held in the Pool, if any, could be temporarily unavailable to the City. In the event of such an occurrence, General Fund revenue requirements could be met through the use of other City funds. Ad valorem taxes are subject to constitutional limits.

Taxes are levied for each fiscal year on taxable real and personal property which is situated in the City as of the preceding January 1. For assessment and collection purposes, property is classified either as "secured" or "unsecured" and is listed accordingly on separate parts of the assessment roll. The "secured roll" is that part of the assessment roll containing the taxes on which there is a lien on real property sufficient, in the opinion of the County Assessor, to secure payment of the taxes. Other property is assessed on the "unsecured roll."

Property taxes on the secured roll are due in two installments, on November 1 and February 1 of the fiscal year. If unpaid, such taxes become delinquent on December 10 and April 10, respectively, and a 10% penalty attaches to any delinquent payment. If not paid, the property is subject to default. Such property may be redeemed by payment of the delinquent taxes and the delinquent penalty, plus a redemption penalty of 1.5% per month from July 1 of the following year to the time of redemption. If

taxes are unpaid for a period of five years or more, the property is subject to sale by the County Tax Collector.

Property taxes on the unsecured roll are due as of the March 1 lien date and become delinquent, if unpaid, on August 31 of the fiscal year. A 10% penalty attaches to delinquent taxes on property on the unsecured roll, and an additional penalty of 1.5% per month begins to accrue beginning November 1 of the fiscal year. The taxing authority has four ways of collecting unsecured personal property taxes: (a) a civil action against the taxpayer; (b) filing a certificate in the office of the County Clerk specifying certain facts in order to obtain a judgment lien on certain property of the taxpayer; (c) filing a certificate of delinquency for record in the County Recorder's Office, in order to obtain a lien on certain property of the taxpayer; and (d) seizure and sale of personal property, improvements or possessory interests belonging or assessed to the assessee.

A supplemental assessment occurs upon a change of ownership of existing property and for new construction upon completion. A supplemental tax bill is issued for the difference in property value resulting from the increase in assessed value prorated for the remainder of the year.

Effective July 1, 1988, Assembly Bill 454, Chapter 921, eliminated the reporting of the unitary valuations pertaining to public utilities such as San Diego Gas and Electric and SBC Communications, Inc. In lieu of the property tax on these previously included assessed valuations, the City now receives from the State (through the County) an amount of unitary revenue based upon the unitary property tax received in the prior year.

#### Table B-10 presents the assessed valuation within the City for each of the last ten Fiscal Years.

## Table B-10ASSESSED VALUATION<sup>(1) (2)</sup>Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 1994 through 2003(in thousands except for percentages)

Fiscal Year Ending June 30	Secured Property	Unsecured <u>Property</u>	<u>Gross Total</u>	Less Exemptions <sup>(3)</sup>	Net Assessed <u>Valuations</u> (4)(5)	Annual Assessed Valuation <u>% Change</u>
1994	\$60,586,129	\$4,218,892	\$ 64,805,021	\$2,360,741	\$ 62,444,280	1.13%
1995	60,939,995	4,371,923	65,311,918	2,420,027	62,891,891	0.72
1996	61,793,760	4,303,198	66,096,958	2,489,507	63,607,451	1.14
1997	61,893,902	4,353,543	66,247,445	2,355,174	63,892,271	0.45
1998	63,562,588	4,988,950	68,551,538	2,910,753	65,640,785	2.74
1999	68,648,609	5,337,916	73,986,525	2,994,814	70,991,711	8.15
2000	75,788,751	5,852,822	81,641,573	2,987,620	78,653,953	10.79
2001	82,195,239	6,347,101	88,542,340	3,249,480	85,292,860	8.44
2002	89,259,317	6,838,926	96,098,243	3,572,188	92,526,055	8.48
2003	96,534,652	6,959,602	103,494,254	3,189,764	100,304,490	8.41

(1) The official date of assessment is the first day of January preceding the Fiscal Year during which taxes are levied. For example, January 1, 2002 is the official assessment date for property taxes due during Fiscal Year 2003. The City receives preliminary estimates from the County Assessor in March and final assessment estimates in late June, or early July.

(2) Includes both locally assessed and State assessed utility property.

(3) Excludes homeowners' and business inventory exemptions.

(4) Net assessed valuation for tax rate purposes. Includes both locally assessed and State assessed utility property.

(5) The City does not participate in the Teeter Plan.

Source: City of San Diego Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, Fiscal Year 2002.

#### Table B-11 shows the City's secured tax collections for each of the ten Fiscal Years.

## Table B-11SECURED TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONSFiscal Years Ended June 30, 1993 through 2002(in thousands except for percentages)

			Current Year		
			Collections as		Total Collections as
Fiscal Year		Current Year	Percentage of	Total Tax	Percentage of
Ending June 30	Tax Levy <sup>(1)</sup>	<b>Collections</b>	Current Tax Levy	Collections	Current Tax Levy <sup>(2)</sup>
1993	\$120,574	\$114,821	95.23%	\$119,867	99.41%
1994	109.881	105.911	96.39	110.738	100.78
1995	109,754	104,295	95.03	108,192	98.58
1996	111,281	108,137	97.18	110,513	99.31
1997	111,719	108,676	97.28	110,563	98.96
1998	116,912	114,311	97.78	117,429	100.44
1999	127,846	124,267	97.20	126,923	99.28
2000	141,963	137,859	97.11	140,225	98.78
2001	155,060	150,900	97.32	153,406	98.93
2002	167,077	163,357	97.77	165,446	99.02

(1) Commencing in Fiscal Year 1993, by action of the State Legislature, there was a permanent shift of some property taxes from cities to schools.

(2) Total Collections include unpaid taxes from previous years' tax levies collected in the current Fiscal Year.

Source: FY 1993 – 2001: City of San Diego Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. FY 2002: County of San Diego.

#### **APPENDIX C**

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF OTAY INVESTORS, LLC

(This page intentionally left blank)

#### OTAY INVESTORS, LLC Balance Sheet (Accrual) Consolidated Statement Jun 03

Page 1 7/18/2003 01:39 PM

Cash	
Cash - Construction	316,705.71
Cash - Reserve	1,073,506.84
Cash - Money Market	32,126.24
Cash - Other	202,440.32
Total Cash	1,624,779.11
Other Current Assets Other Current Receivables	04 740 74
	31,718.71
Total Other Current Assets	31,718.71
Total Current Assets	1,656,497.82
Investment in Real Estate	
Land	6,580,285.00
Land Improvements	6,912,093.51
Building	12,713.00
Closing/Cap Costs	105,368.72
Total Investment Real Estate	13,610,460.23
Other Assets	
Loan Costs	235,091.59
Organization Costs	75,627.50
Total Other Assets	
i otal other Assets	310,719.09
TOTAL ASSETS	15,577,677.14
Current Liabilities	
Other Current Liabilities	200,000.00
Total Current Liabilities	200,000.00
Long Term Liabilities	
Mortgage Payable	
Original Mortgage Payable	6,928,350.98
Total Mortgage Payable	
iotal mortgage rayable	6,928,350.98
Security Deposits Payable	56,347.48
Total Long Term Liabilities	56,347.48
TOTAL LIABILITIES	7,184,698.46
Equity	
Owner's Distributions	-3,000,000.00
Owner's Contributions	11,425,000.00
Ptnr Contributions	250,000.00
Retained Earnings - Prior	-282,021.32
TOTAL EQUITY	8,392,978.68
	AF F77 079 / ·
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY	15,577,677.14

#### OTAY INVESTORS, LLC Income Statement (Accrual) Consolidated Statement Jun 03

-	Month to Date	%	Year to Date	%
Other Income				
Interest Income	1,016.52	100.00	7,200.61	77.70
Miscellaneous	0.00	0.00	2,066.74	<u>22.30</u> 100.00
Total Other Income	1,016.52	100.00	9,267.35	100.00
TOTAL INCOME	1,016.52	100.00	9,267.35	100.00
Repairs and Maintenance				
Other R&M General Supplies	2,321.84	228.41	2,696.84	29.10
Other Contract Services	2,321.84	228.41	2,321.84	<u>25.05</u> 54.15
Total Repairs and Maintenance	4,643.68	456.82	5,018.68	54.15
Roads and Grounds	000.04	05.00	100.10	1 72
Landscaping	-966.34	-95.06	160.10	<u> </u>
Total Roads and Grounds	-966.34	-95.06	160.10	1.73
Administrative		. =0	500 70	- 47
General Office Expense	48.03 0.00	4.72 0.00	506.79 1,070.79	5.47 11.55
Bad Debt Expense Tenant Promotions/Advertising	1,163.63	114.47	1,121.90	12.11
Total Administrative	1,211.66	119.20	2,699.48	29.13
Management Casta				
Management Costs Management Office Expense	1,080.90	106.33	5,232.74	56.46
Management Fees	5,000.00	491.87	60,000.00	647.43
Total Management Costs	6,080.90	598.21	65,232.74	703.90
Professional Fees				
Tax Services	5,650.00	555.82	5,650.00	60.97
Other Professional Fees	42.67	4.20	42.67	0.46
Total Professional Fees	5,692.67	560.02	5,692.67	61.43
Utilities				0.05
Water/Sewer	46.30	4.55	282.44	3.05
Total Utilities	46.30	4.55	282.44	3.05
Taxes				
Real Estate Taxes	0.00	0.00	35,538.58	383.48 63.78
Other Tax	0.00	0.00	<u>5,911.00</u> 41,449.58	447.26
Total Taxes	0.00	0.00	41,445.50	447.20
TOTAL OPERATING COSTS	16,708.87	1,643.73	120,535.69	1,300.65
NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)	-15,692.35	-1,543.73	-111,268.34	-1,200.65
inc. (Loss)/B Int,Amort,Grnd R	-15,692.35	-1,543.73	-111,268.34	-1,200.65
Income (Loss) B/Advisory Fees	-15,692.35	-1,543.73	-111,268.34	-1,200.65
	-15,692.35	-1 543 73	-111,268.34	-1,200.65
NET INCOME (LOSS)	-10,092.00			

#### Income Statement (Accrual) Consolidated Statement Jun 03

Page 2 7/18/2003 01:38 PM

	Month to Date	%	Year to Date	%
Total of Totals	15,692.35	1,543.73	111,268.34	1,200.65

(This page intentionally left blank)

#### **APPENDIX D**

#### SUMMARY OF INDENTURE

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Indenture not otherwise summarized in the text of this Official Statement under the headings "THE BONDS" and "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS." This summary does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive and is subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Indenture in its entirety to which reference is made for the detailed provisions thereof.

#### DEFINITIONS

"Act" means, collectively, the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913 (Division 12 of the California Streets and Highways Code) and the Improvement Bond Act of 1915 (Division 10 of the California Streets and Highways Code).

"Administrative Expense Account" means the account within the Redemption Fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Administrative Expenses" means the costs resulting from the administration and collection of Assessments, the administration or registration of the Bonds or the administration of the funds and accounts established under the Indenture, including the fees, costs and indemnifications due the Trustee or the City.

"Appraised Value" means the value of all or any portion of the property within the Assessment District, as set forth in a Qualified Appraisal Report prepared by a Qualified Appraiser.

"Assessed Valuation" means, with respect to any property, as of any date, the assessed valuation of such property, as such valuation is shown on the most recently equalized assessment roll.

"Assessment District" means the area designated "Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch)," formed by the City under the Act.

"Assessments" means the assessments levied within the Assessment District by the City Council under the proceedings taken pursuant to the Resolution of Intention.

"Auditor" means the auditor/controller of the County, or such other official of the County who is responsible for preparing property tax bills.

"Authorized Representative" means, with respect to the City, the Assistant City Manager of the City, the Deputy City Manager of the City and the City Treasurer, and his or her designees, and any other Person designated as an Authorized Representative in a Written Certificate of City filed with the Trustee.

"Beneficial Owner" means, whenever used with respect to a Bond, the person whose name is recorded as the beneficial owner of such Bond or a portion of such Bond by a Participant on the records of such Participant or such person's subrogee.

"Book-Entry Bonds" means the Bonds registered in the name of the nominee of DTC, or any successor securities depository for the Bonds, as the registered owner thereof in accordance with the Indenture.

"Bond Counsel" means a firm of nationally recognized bond counsel selected by the City and acceptable to the Trustee.

"Bond Year" means each twelve-month period beginning on September 3 in each year and extending to the next succeeding September 2, both dates inclusive; except that the first Bond Year shall begin on the Closing Date and end on September 2, 2004.

"Bonds" means the City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds issued under the Indenture.

"Business Day" means any day other than (a) a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, (b) a day on which banking institutions in the State of California or in any state in which the Office of the Trustee is located are authorized or required by law (including executive order) to close, or (c) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

"Capitalized Interest Account" means the account within the Redemption Fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Cede & Co." means Cede & Co., the nominee of DTC, and any successor nominee of DTC with respect to the Bonds.

"City" means the City of San Diego, and any successor thereto.

"City Clerk" means the City Clerk of the City.

"City Continuing Disclosure Certificate" means the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, dated as of December 15, 2003, executed by the City, as originally executed and as it may be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.

"City Council" means the City Council of the City.

"Closing Date" means January 14, 2004.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

"Costs of Issuance" means all items of expense directly or indirectly payable by or reimbursable to the City relating to the proceedings with respect to the Assessment District and the authorization, issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds, including but not limited to printing expenses, rating agency fees, filing and recording fees, initial fees, expenses and charges of the Trustee and its counsel, including the Trustee's first annual administrative fee, fees, charges and disbursements of attorneys, financial advisors, accounting firms, consultants and other professionals, fees and charges for preparation, execution and safekeeping of the Bonds and any other cost, charge or fee in connection with the original issuance of the Bonds.

"Costs of Issuance Fund" means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"County" means the County of San Diego.

"Deemed Escrow Bonds" means, as of any date of determination, Special Term Bonds in a principal amount equal to the amount then on deposit in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account (excluding any investment earnings allocable to such amount).

"Deemed Escrow Bonds Account" means the account by that name within the Escrow Fund established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Developer" means the Piper Ranch LLC, and any successor thereto.

"Developer Continuing Disclosure Agreement" means the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2003, by and between the Developer and the Trustee, as originally executed and as it may be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, a limited-purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, and its successors as securities depository for the Bonds, including any such successor appointed in accordance with the Indenture.

"Escrow Disbursement Date" means the date on which amounts are transferred from the Escrow Interest Account and the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account in accordance with the Indenture; there shall be only one Escrow Disbursement Date.

"Escrow Fund" means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Escrow Interest Account" means the account by that name within the Escrow Fund established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Escrow Redemption Date" means September 2, 2005, the date on which Special Term Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, from and to the extent of any transfers from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Redemption Account in accordance with the Indenture.

"Federal Securities" means any of the following which at the time of investment are determined by the City to be legal investments under the laws of the State of California for the funds proposed to be invested therein: (a) direct general obligations of the United States of America (including obligations issued or held in book entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America); and (b) obligations of any agency, department or instrumentality of the United States of America the timely payment of principal of and interest on which are fully guaranteed by the United States of America.

"Fiscal Year" means the period beginning on July 1 of each year and ending on the next succeeding June 30, or any other twelve-month period hereafter selected and designated as the official fiscal year period of the City.

"Improvement Fund" means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Indenture" means the Indenture, as originally executed or as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented by any Supplemental Indenture.

"Independent Consultant" means any consultant or firm of such consultants selected by the City and who, or each of whom (a) is generally recognized to be qualified in the financial consulting field; (b) is in fact independent and not under the domination of the City; (c) does not have any substantial interest, direct or indirect, with or in the City, or any owner of real property within the Assessment District, or any real property within the Assessment District; and (d) is not connected with the City as an officer or employee thereof, but who may be regularly retained to make reports to the City.

"Interest Payment Dates" means March 2 and September 2 of each year, commencing September 2, 2004, so long as any Bonds remain Outstanding.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns except that if such entity shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency for any reason, the term "Moody's" shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency selected by the City and specified to the Trustee in writing.

"Office of the Trustee" means the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee in Los Angeles, California, or such other office as may be specified to the City by the Trustee in writing.

"Original Purchaser" means Stone & Youngberg LLC, as the original purchaser of the Bonds.

"Other District Bonds" means, as of the date of determination, any and all bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued under the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982 then outstanding and payable at least partially from special taxes to be levied on parcels of property within the Assessment District.

"Outstanding," when used as of any particular time with reference to Bonds, means (subject to the provisions for disqualification of Bonds) all Bonds theretofore, or thereupon being, authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under the Indenture except (a) Bonds theretofore canceled by the Trustee or surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation; (b) Bonds with respect to which all liability of the City shall have been discharged in accordance with the Indenture, including Bonds (or portions of Bonds) disqualified under the Indenture; and (c) Bonds for the transfer or exchange of or in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated and delivered by the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture.

"Owner" means, with respect to a Bond, the Person in whose name such Bond is registered on the Registration Books.

"Participant" means any entity which is recognized as a participant by DTC in the book-entry system of maintaining records with respect to Book-Entry Bonds.

"Participating Underwriter" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the City Continuing Disclosure Certificate and the Developer Continuing Disclosure Agreement.

"Permitted Investments" means the following:

A. Federal Securities.

B. Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any of the following federal agencies and provided such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America (stripped securities are only permitted if they have been stripped by the agency itself):

- a. Farmers Home Administration (FmHA)- Certificates of beneficial ownership
- b. Federal Financing Bank
- c. Federal Housing Administration Debentures (FHA)
- d. Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA or "Ginnie Mae") GNMA - guaranteed mortgage-backed bonds GNMA - guaranteed pass-through obligations

C. Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any of the following non-full faith and credit U.S. government agencies (stripped securities are only permitted if they have been stripped by the agency itself);

- a. Federal Home Loan Bank System (FHLB)- Senior debt obligations
- b. Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC or "Freddie Mac") Participation Certificates or Senior debt obligations
- c. Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA or "Fannie Mae") Mortgage-backed securities and senior debt obligations
- d. Student Loan Marketing Association (SLMA or "Sallie Mae") Senior debt obligations
- e. Resolution Funding Corp. (REFCORP) obligations
- f. Federal Farm Credit System (FFCB) Consolidated systemwide bonds and notes

g. Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA)- Senior debt obligations

h. Farmer Mac (FMAC)- notes.

D. Money market funds registered under the Federal Investment Company Act of 1940, whose shares are registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1933, and having a rating of AAAm-G or AAA-m by S&P or a rating of Aaa by Moody's.

E. Negotiable Certificates of deposit issued by nationally or state-chartered bank or a state or federal savings institution or a state-licensed branch of a foreign bank (Yankee) with a maximum maturity of three years and having long-term ratings, at the time of purchase, equivalent to an "A" rating category by at least two nationally recognized statistical-rating organizations (NRSRO), e.g. "A1" by Moody's, "A" by S&P.

F. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts or money market deposits which are fully insured by FDIC.

G. Commercial paper (with maturities of not more then 270 days) rated, at the time of purchase, in the highest short-term rating category by at least two nationally recognized statistical-rating organizations (NRSRO), e.g. "P-1" by Moody's, "A-1" by S&P.

H. Bonds or notes issued by any state or municipality which are rated by Moody's and S&P in one of the two highest rating categories assigned by such agencies.

I. Bankers acceptances with a maximum term of one year issued by a bank which has an unsecured, uninsured and non-guaranteed obligation rating of "P-1" or "A3" or better by Moody's and "A-1" or "A" or better by S&P.

J. The Local Agency Investment Fund in the State Treasury of the State of California as permitted by the State Treasurer pursuant to Section 16429.1 of the California Government Code or any similar pooled investment fund administered by the State, to the extent such investment is held in the name and to the credit of the Trustee.

K. Repurchase Agreements, which must follow the following criteria:

a. Repurchase Agreements must be between the Trustee or the City and a major bank or primary dealer securities firm as the counter-party.

b. The counter-party, if a primary dealer, must be a reporting dealer to the Federal Reserve which is rated "A" or better by S&P and Moody's, or a major bank rated "A" or above by S&P and Moody's.

- c. The Repurchase Agreement must meet the following criteria:
  - i. Securities which are acceptable for transfer as collateral are defined in paragraphs A-C, above.
  - ii. The term of the Repurchase Agreement may be up to 365 days.
  - iii. The collateral must be delivered to the City or the Trustee (if the Trustee is not supplying the collateral) or a third party acting as agent for the Trustee (if the Trustee is supplying the collateral) before/simultaneous with payment (perfection by possession of certificated securities).

- iv. The Repurchase Agreement may include an evergreen provision to permit the reinvestment of funds for additional consecutive periods not to exceed 365 days.
- d. Valuation of Collateral:
  - i. The securities must be valued weekly, marked-to market at current market plus accrued interest.
  - ii. The value of collateral must be equal to 104% of the amount of cash transferred by the City or the Trustee to the dealer bank or security firm under the repurchase agreement plus accrued interest. If the value of securities held as collateral slips below 104% of the value of the cash transferred by the City or the Trustee, then additional cash and/or acceptable securities must be transferred.

L. Any investment agreements (including Guaranteed Investment Contracts and Forward Purchase/Delivery Agreements) with a financial institution or insurer (provider) which must meet the following criteria:

a. If the investment agreement is uncollateralized the provider of the agreement, at the time of the execution of the agreement, has to have a minimum long term rating of "Aa" by Moody's and "AA" by S&P.

b. If the investment agreement is fully collateralized the provider of the agreement, at the time of the execution of the agreement, has to have a minimum long term rating of "A" by both Moody's and S&P. Securities which are acceptable for collateralization are defined in paragraphs A-C, above.

- c. The investment agreement must be supported by appropriate opinions of counsel.
- d. Meet the requirements of the City or the rating agency (if required).

M. Any cash sweep or similar account arrangement of or available to the Trustee, the investment of which are limited to investments described in paragraphs A through C, above, or repurchase agreements secured by any one or more obligations described paragraphs A through C, above, and any money market fund, the entire investments of which are limited to investments described in paragraphs A through C, above, or repurchase agreements secured by any one or more obligations described in paragraphs A through C, above, and which money market fund is rated by their respective highest rating categories by Moody's and S&P.

"Person" means an individual, corporation, firm, association, partnership, limited liability company, trust, or other legal entity or group of entities, including a governmental entity or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

"Prepayment Account" means the account within the Redemption Fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Project" means the improvements to be constructed and acquired described in the Resolution of Intention.

"Qualified Appraisal Report" means a real estate appraisal report which (a) has been prepared by a Qualified Appraiser; (b) uses a date of value that is no earlier than six months prior to the date on which the value reported in such appraisal report is used in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture; (c) is prepared in accordance with the applicable standards of the Appraisal Institute for such reports; and (d) is prepared in accordance with the applicable guidelines of the California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission for such reports, as such guidelines are in effect on the Closing Date.

"Qualified Appraiser" means a real estate appraiser (a) selected by the City, and (b) having an "MAI" designation from the Appraisal Institute.

"Rebate Fund" means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Rebate Requirement" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Tax Certificate.

"Record Date" means the 15th calendar day of the month preceding each Interest Payment Date, whether or not such day is a Business Day.

"Redemption Fund" means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Redemption Price" means the aggregate amount of principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds upon the redemption thereof pursuant to the Indenture.

"Registration Books" means the records maintained by the Trustee for the registration of ownership and registration of transfer of the Bonds under the Indenture.

"Representation Letter" means the Letter of Representations from the City to DTC, or any successor securities depository for the Bonds, in which the City makes certain representations with respect to issues of its securities for deposit by DTC or such successor depository.

"Reserve Fund" means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

"Reserve Requirement" means, as of the date of any calculation, the least of (a) 10% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Bonds; (b) maximum annual debt service on the Bonds; and (c) 125% of average annual debt service on the Bonds. Provided, however, that, in calculating such amounts, the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds, as of such date of calculation, and the annual debt service thereon, shall be excluded.

"Resolution of Intention" means Resolution No. R-297756 adopted by the City Council on March 24, 2003.

"Resolution of Issuance" means that resolution adopted by the City Council on December 8, 2003, authorizing the issuance of the Bonds.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, its successors and assigns except that if such entity shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency for any reason, the term "S&P" shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency selected by the City and specified to the Trustee in writing.

"Special Term Bonds" means Bonds maturing September 2, 2033 and assigned CUSIP number 797283SR0.

"Supplemental Indenture" means any indenture amendatory of or supplemental to the Indenture, but only if and to the extent that such Supplemental Indenture is specifically authorized under the Indenture.

"Tax Certificate" means the Tax Certificate executed by the City at the time of issuance of the Bonds relating to the requirements of Section 148 of the Code, as originally executed and as it may from time to time be amended in accordance with the provisions thereof.

"Transferred Principal Amount" means the amount to be transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account on the Escrow Disbursement Date, which amount shall be \$5,000 or an integral multiple of \$5,000.

"Treasurer" means the Treasurer of the City, or a designee thereof.

"Trustee" means Union Bank of California, N.A., a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, or any successor thereto as Trustee under the Indenture, appointed as provided in the Indenture.

"Written Certificate" and "Written Request" of the City mean, respectively, a written certificate or written request signed in the name of the City by its Authorized Representative. Any such certificate or request may, but need not, be combined in a single instrument with any other instrument, opinion or representation, and the two or more so combined shall be read and construed as a single instrument.

#### THE BONDS

*General.* The City authorizes the issuance of the Bonds under and subject to the terms of the Resolution of Issuance and the Indenture, the Act and other applicable laws of the State of California for the purpose of providing a portion of the moneys to finance the construction and acquisition of the Project. The principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America upon presentation and surrender thereof upon maturity or earlier redemption at the Office of the Trustee. Payment of principal of and premium, if any, on any Bond shall be made only upon presentation and surrender of such Bond at the Office of the Trustee.

The Indenture shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a contract among the City, the Trustee and the Owners from time to time of all Bonds authorized, executed, issued and delivered under the Indenture and then Outstanding to secure the full and final payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Bonds which may from time to time be authorized, executed, issued and delivered under the Indenture, subject to the agreements, conditions, covenants and provisions contained in the Indenture; and all agreements and covenants set forth in the Indenture to be performed by or on behalf of the City shall be for the equal and proportionate benefit, protection and security of all Owners of the Bonds without distinction, preference or priority as to security or otherwise of any Bonds over any other Bonds by reason of the number or date thereof or the time of authorization, sale, execution, issuance or delivery thereof or for any cause whatsoever, except as expressly provided in the Indenture or therein.

*Transfer and Exchange of Bonds.* Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred upon the Registration Books by the Person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a written instrument of transfer, duly executed in a form acceptable to the Trustee. Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the City shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and shall deliver a new Bond or Bonds for a like aggregate principal amount, in any authorized denomination. The Trustee shall require the Bond Owner requesting such transfer to pay any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such transfer.

The Bonds may be exchanged at the Office of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of Bonds of other authorized denominations. The Trustee shall require the payment by the Bond Owner requesting such exchange of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange.

The Trustee shall not be obligated to make any transfer or exchange of Bonds under the Indenture during the 15 day period preceding the selection of Bonds for redemption, or with respect to any Bonds selected for redemption.

**Registration Books.** The Trustee will keep or cause to be kept, at the Office of the Trustee, sufficient records for the registration and transfer of ownership of the Bonds, which shall be open to inspection during regular business hours and upon 24 hours notice by the City; and, upon presentation for such purpose, the Trustee shall, under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, register or transfer or cause to be registered or transferred, on such records, the ownership of the Bonds as provided in the Indenture.

**Book-Entry Bonds.** (a) Except as provided in subparagraph (c) under this caption, the registered Owner of all of the Bonds shall be DTC and the Bonds shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Indenture, payment of interest with respect to any Bond registered as of each Record Date in the name of Cede & Co. shall be made by wire transfer of same-day funds to

the account of Cede & Co. on the payment date for the Bonds at the address indicated on the Record Date for Cede & Co. in the Registration Books or as otherwise provided in the Representation Letter.

The Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of separate single fully registered Bonds in the (b) amount of each separate stated maturity of the Bonds. Upon initial issuance, the ownership of such Bonds shall be registered in the Registration Books in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. The Trustee and the City may treat DTC (or its nominee) as the sole and exclusive Owner of the Bonds registered in its name for the purposes of payment of the principal, Redemption Price or interest with respect to the Bonds, selecting the Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, giving any notice permitted or required to be given to Owners of Bonds under the Indenture, registering the transfer of Bonds, obtaining any consent or other action to be taken by Owners of Bonds and for all other purposes whatsoever, and neither the Trustee nor the City shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. Neither the Trustee nor the City shall have any responsibility or obligation to any Participant, any person claiming a beneficial ownership interest in the Bonds under or through DTC or any Participant, or any other person which is not shown on the Registration Books as being an Owner, with respect to the accuracy of any records maintained by DTC or any Participant; the payment by DTC or any Participant of any amount in respect of the principal, Redemption Price or interest with respect to the Bonds; any notice which is permitted or required to be given to Owners of Bonds under the Indenture; the selection by DTC or any Participant of any person to receive payment in the event of a partial redemption of the Bonds; or any consent given or other action taken by DTC as Owner of Bonds. The Trustee shall pay all principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the Bonds, only to DTC, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the City's obligations with respect to the principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. Except under the conditions of (c) below, no person other than DTC shall receive an executed Bond for each separate stated maturity. Upon delivery by DTC to the Trustee of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in the Indenture with respect to record dates, the term "Cede & Co." in the Indenture shall refer to such new nominee of DTC.

(c) In the event (i) DTC, including any successor as securities depository for the Bonds, determines not to continue to act as securities depository for the Bonds; or (ii) the City determines that the incumbent securities depository shall no longer so act, and delivers a written certificate to the Trustee to that effect, then the City will discontinue the book-entry system with the incumbent securities depository for the Bonds. If the City determines to replace the incumbent securities depository for the Bonds with another qualified securities depository, the City shall prepare or direct the preparation of a new single, separate fully registered Bond for the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Bonds of each maturity, registered in the name of such successor or substitute qualified securities depository, or its nominee, or make such other arrangement acceptable to the City, the Trustee and the successor securities depository for the Bonds as are not inconsistent with the terms of the Indenture. If the City fails to identify another qualified successor securities depository of the Bonds to replace the incumbent securities depository, then the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Registration Books in the name of the incumbent securities depository or its nominee, but shall be registered in whatever name or names the incumbent securities depository for the Bonds, or its nominee, shall designate. In such event the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a sufficient quantity of Bonds as to carry out the transfers and exchanges under the Indenture. All such Bonds shall be in fully registered form in denominations authorized by the Indenture.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture to the contrary, so long as any Bond is registered in the name of DTC, or its nominee, all payments with respect to the principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to such Bond and all notices with respect to such Bond shall be made and given, respectively, as provided in the Representation Letter.

(e) In connection with any notice or other communication to be provided to Owners of Book-Entry Bonds pursuant to the Indenture by the City or the Trustee with respect to any consent or other action to be taken by Owners, the City or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall establish a record date for such consent or other action and give DTC notice of such record date not less than 15 calendar days in advance of such record date to the extent possible.

*Refunding of Bonds.* The Bonds may be refunded by the City under Divisions 11 or 11.5 of the California Streets and Highways Code upon the conditions set forth in proceedings therefor, all as determined by the City Council.

#### **ISSUANCE OF BONDS**

*Costs of Issuance Fund.* The Indenture establishes a separate fund to be known as the "Costs of Issuance Fund," which shall be held by the Trustee in trust. On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall deposit in the Costs of Issuance Fund the amount specified in the Official Statement under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS."

The moneys in the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee from time to time to pay the Costs of Issuance upon submission of a Written Request of the City stating (a) the Person to whom payment is to be made; (b) the amount to be paid; (c) the purpose for which the obligation was incurred; (d) that such payment is a proper charge against the Costs of Issuance Fund; and (e) that such amounts have not been the subject of a prior disbursement from the Costs of Issuance Fund; in each case together with a statement or invoice for each amount requested thereunder. On June 1, 2004, all amounts remaining in the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be withdrawn therefrom by the Trustee and transferred to the Improvement Fund and the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be closed.

*Improvement Fund.* The Indenture establishes a separate fund to be known as the "Improvement Fund," which shall be held by the Trustee in trust. On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall deposit in the Improvement Fund the amount specified in the Official Statement under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS."

The moneys in the Improvement Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee from time to time to pay the costs of the Project. The moneys in the Improvement Fund shall be withdrawn by the Trustee upon submission of a Written Request of the City stating (a) the Person to whom payment is to be made; (b) the amount to be paid; (c) the purpose for which the obligation was incurred; (d) that such payment constitutes a cost of the Project and is a proper charge against the Improvement Fund; and (e) that such amounts have not been the subject of a prior disbursement from the Improvement Fund, in each case together with a statement or invoice for each amount requested thereunder.

Upon the filing of a Written Certificate of the City (x) stating that the Project has been completed and that all costs of the Project have been paid or are not required to be paid from the Improvement Fund, or (y) stating that the Project has been substantially completed and that all remaining costs of the Project have been determined and specifying the amount to be retained therefor, the Trustee shall transfer and apply the amount, if any, remaining in the Improvement Fund (less any such retention) as directed in said Written Certificate, which directions shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of Sections 10427 and 10427.1 of the Act, and the Improvement Fund shall be closed.

#### **REDEMPTION OF BONDS**

*General.* The Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption prior to maturity as set forth in this Official Statement under the caption "THE BONDS – Redemption of the Bonds." The Special Term Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity on the Escrow Redemption Date of September 2, 2005 as set forth under the caption "THE BONDS – Redemption of the Bonds."

*Mandatory Redemption from Escrow Fund Transfers.* The Special Term Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, on the Escrow Redemption Date, from and to the extent of any transfers from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Prepayment Account in accordance with the Indenture, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of the Special Term Bonds to be redeemed, without premium, plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption.

*Notice of Redemption.* The Trustee on behalf of the District shall mail (by first class mail) notice of any redemption to the respective Owners of any Bonds designated for redemption at their respective addresses appearing on the Registration Books at least 30 but not more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date. Such notice shall state the date of the notice, the redemption date, the redemption place and the Redemption Price and shall designate the CUSIP numbers, the Bond numbers (except in the event of redemption of all of the Bonds of a maturity or
maturities in whole) and the maturity or maturities of the Bonds to be redeemed, and shall require that such Bonds be then surrendered at the Office of the Trustee for redemption at the Redemption Price, giving notice also that further interest on such Bonds will not accrue from and after the Redemption Date. Neither the failure to receive any notice so mailed, nor any defect in such notice, shall affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for the redemption of the Bonds or the cessation of accrual of interest thereon from and after the Redemption Date.

Selection of Bonds for Redemption. Whenever provision is made in the Indenture for the redemption of less than all of the Bonds, the Trustee shall select the Bonds to be redeemed from all Bonds not previously called for redemption (a) with respect to any redemption as provided under the Indenture for the optional redemption of Bonds, among maturities as directed in a Written Request of the City; and (b) with respect to any redemption as a result of the prepayment of Assessments as provided under the Indenture, among maturities on a *pro rata* basis as nearly as practicable, and by lot among Bonds with the same maturity in such manner as shall be determined by the Trustee. For purposes of such selection, all Bonds shall be deemed to be comprised of separate \$5,000 denominations and such separate denominations shall be treated as separate Bonds which may be separately redeemed.

*Partial Redemption of Bonds.* Upon surrender of any Bonds redeemed in part only, the City shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations equal in aggregate principal amount representing the unredeemed portion of the Bonds surrendered.

*Effect of Notice of Redemption.* Notice having been mailed as aforesaid, and moneys for the redemption (including the interest to the applicable Redemption Date and including any applicable premium), having been deposited in the Redemption Fund or Prepayment Account, as applicable, the Bonds shall become due and payable on said date, and, upon presentation and surrender thereof at the Office of the Trustee, said Bonds shall be paid at the Redemption Price thereof, together with interest accrued and unpaid to said date.

If, on said Redemption Date, moneys for the redemption of all the Bonds to be redeemed, together with interest to said date, shall be held by the Trustee so as to be available therefor on such date, and, if notice of redemption thereof shall have been mailed as aforesaid and not canceled, then, from and after said date, interest on said Bonds shall cease to accrue and become payable. All moneys held by or on behalf of the Trustee for the redemption of Bonds shall be held in trust for the account of the Owners of the Bonds so to be redeemed.

All Bonds paid at maturity or redeemed prior to maturity pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture shall be canceled upon surrender thereof and the Trustee shall deliver a certificate of destruction to the City.

### SECURITY FOR BONDS; FLOW OF FUNDS; INVESTMENTS

**Pledge and Assignment.** Subject only to the provisions of the Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture, all of the Assessments (including prepayments thereof), together with interest thereon (but excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments), and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) held in any fund or account established pursuant to the Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund and the Administrative Expense Account) are under the Indenture pledged by the City to secure the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds in accordance with their terms, the provisions of the Indenture and the Act. Said pledge shall constitute a first lien on such assets. The Assessments, and any reassessments which may be issued thereon or in lieu thereof, together with interest thereon, shall remain and constitute a trust fund for the redemption and payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon.

**Redemption Fund.** (a) The Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a special fund designated the "Redemption Fund." Within the Redemption Fund, the Trustee shall establish and maintain a separate account designated the "Capitalized Interest Account." On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account the amount specified in the Official Statement under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS." Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, the Trustee shall deposit in the Redemption Fund all Assessments (including prepayments thereof), together with interest thereon, and any other amounts required to be deposited therein by the Indenture or the Act (excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments).

(b) On or before each Interest Payment Date, the Trustee shall withdraw from the Redemption Fund for payment to the Owners of the Bonds the principal, if any, of and interest then due and payable on the Bonds; including principal due and payable by reason of mandatory sinking fund redemption of such Bonds as provided under the Indenture. Five Business Days prior to each Interest Payment Date, the Trustee shall determine if the amounts then on deposit in the Redemption Fund are sufficient to pay the principal, if any, of and interest due on the Bonds on such Interest Payment Date. In the event that amounts in the Redemption Fund are insufficient for such purpose, the Trustee, on or before such Interest Payment Date, shall withdraw from the Reserve Fund to the extent of any funds therein the amount of such insufficiency, and shall transfer any amounts so withdrawn to the Redemption Fund. Amounts so withdrawn from the Reserve Fund and deposited in the Redemption Fund shall be applied to the payment of the Bonds. If, after the foregoing transfer, there are insufficient funds in the Redemption Fund sing the principal, if any, of and interest on the Bonds, the Trustee shall apply the available funds first to the payment of interest on the Bonds, then to the payment of principal of the Bonds.

On September 2, 2004 all amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account shall be transferred to the Redemption Fund.

**Prepayment Account.** The Trustee shall establish and maintain a special account within the Redemption Fund designated the "Prepayment Account." The Trustee shall deposit in the Prepayment Account amounts received from the City representing the proceeds of the prepayment of any Assessment. Additionally, the Trustee shall deposit in the Prepayment Account amounts received from the City in connection with the City's exercise of its rights to optionally redeem Bonds as provided under the Indenture and amounts transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account in accordance with the Indenture.

Amounts in the Prepayment Account shall be disbursed therefrom for the payment of the Redemption Price of Bonds redeemed in accordance with the Indenture.

Administrative Expense Account. The Trustee shall establish and maintain a special account within the Redemption Fund designated the "Administrative Expense Account." On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall deposit in the Administrative Expense Account the amount specified in the Official Statement under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS." Additionally, the Trustee shall deposit in the Administrative Expense Account amounts collected for Administrative Expenses.

The moneys in the Administrative Expense Account shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee from time to time to pay Administrative Expenses upon submission of a Written Request of the City stating (a) the Person to whom payment is to be made; (b) the amount to be paid; (c) the purpose for which the obligation was incurred; (d) that such payment constitutes a Continuing Cost of the Bonds and is a proper charge against the Administrative Expense Account; and (e) that such amounts have not been the subject of a prior disbursement from the Administrative Expense Account; in each case together with a statement or invoice for each amount requested thereunder.

**Reserve Fund.** (a) The Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a special fund designated the "Reserve Fund." On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall deposit in the Reserve Fund the amount specified in the Official Statement under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS." Additional deposits shall be made by the City as provided in the Act.

The City shall cause the Reserve Fund to be administered in accordance with Part 16 of the Act; provided, however, that proceeds from redemption or sale of properties, if and to the extent that payment of delinquent Assessments and interest thereon was made from the Reserve Fund, shall be credited to the Reserve Fund.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this section, all amounts deposited in the Reserve Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of making transfers to the Redemption Fund in the event of any deficiency at any time in the Redemption Fund of the amount then required for payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds or, in accordance with the provisions of this section, for the purpose of redeeming Bonds from the Redemption Fund.

(c) Transfers shall be made from the Reserve Fund to the Redemption Fund in the event of a deficiency in the Redemption Fund, as described under "*Redemption Fund*" above.

(d) Whenever, after the issuance of the Bonds, an Assessment is prepaid, in whole or in part, as provided in the Act, the Trustee, pursuant to a Written Request of the City, shall transfer from the Reserve Fund to the Prepayment Account an amount, specified in such Written Request, equal to the product of the ratio of the original amount of the Assessment, or portion thereof, so prepaid to the original amount of all unpaid Assessments, times the initial Reserve Requirement.

(e) So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, any amount in the Reserve Fund in excess of the Reserve Requirement on February 15 and August 15 of each year shall be withdrawn from the Reserve Fund by the Trustee and, prior to the date on which the Improvement Fund is closed in accordance with the Indenture, shall be deposited in the Improvement Fund and, thereafter, shall be deposited in the Redemption Fund.

(f) Whenever the balance in the Reserve Fund is sufficient to retire all the Outstanding Bonds, whether by advance retirement or otherwise, collection of the principal and interest on the Assessments shall be discontinued and the Reserve Fund shall be liquidated by the Trustee in retirement of the Outstanding Bonds, as directed by a Written Request of the City. In the event that the balance in the Reserve Fund at the time of liquidation exceeds the amount required to retire all of the Outstanding Bonds, the excess shall, after payment of amounts due to the Trustee, be transferred to the City to be used in accordance with the Act.

*Escrow Fund.* (a) The Trustee shall establish and maintain a special fund designated the "Escrow Fund." Within the Escrow Fund, the Trustee shall establish and maintain a separate account designated the "Deemed Escrow Bonds Account" and a separate account designated the "Escrow Interest Account." On the Closing Date there shall be deposited (i) in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account the amount specified in the Official Statement under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS", and (ii) in the Escrow Interest Account the amount specified in the Official Statement under the caption "ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS."

(b) On the second Business Day immediately preceding each Interest Payment Date occurring on or prior to the Escrow Redemption Date, the Trustee shall transfer from the Escrow Interest Account to the Redemption Fund an amount equal to the interest payable on the Deemed Escrow Bonds on such Interest Payment Date.

(c) On the Escrow Disbursement Date, upon receipt by the Trustee of all of the items specified in the following subsection (d), the Trustee shall make the following transfers:

(i) The Trustee shall transfer from the Escrow Interest Account to the Improvement Fund the amount specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the following subsection (d) as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraph (iii)(B) of the following subsection (d)).

(ii) The Trustee shall transfer from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Reserve Fund the amount specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the following subsection (d) as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraph (iii)(C) of the following subsection (d)).

(iii) The Trustee shall transfer from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Redemption Fund the amount, if any, specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the following subsection (d) as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraphs (iii)(D) of the following subsection (d)).

(iv) The Trustee shall transfer from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Improvement Fund the amount specified in the certificate of the Independent Consultant delivered pursuant to the following subsection (d) as the amount to be so transferred (which amount is the amount calculated pursuant to subparagraph (iii)(E) of the following subsection (d)).

(d) Transfers shall be made on the Escrow Disbursement Date pursuant to the preceding subsection (c) only if, no later than ten Business Days prior to the Escrow Disbursement Date, the Trustee has received all of the following:

(i) a Written Certificate of the City specifying the Escrow Disbursement Date, which shall be a date (A) no less than 75 days prior to the Escrow Redemption Date, and (B) no less than five Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date next occurring after the date of receipt by the Trustee of such Written Certificate of the City;

(ii) a Written Certificate of the City certifying that, on the basis of the records of the County Tax Collector available to the City or information provided to the City by the County Tax Collector, there are no current defaults in the payment of any *ad valorem* real property taxes or special taxes or special assessments levied on property within the Assessment District owned by the Developer or its affiliates;

(iii) a certificate or certificates from one or more Independent Consultants which, when taken together, certify:

- (A) the Transferred Principal Amount, which constitutes the amount to be transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account on the Escrow Disbursement Date;
- (B) the amount to be transferred from the Escrow Interest Account to the Improvement Fund on the Escrow Disbursement Date, which amount shall be equal to the sum of (I) the product of (aa) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the Transferred Principal Amount and the denominator of which is equal to the amount on deposit in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account on the day prior to the Escrow Disbursement Date, times (bb) the amount on deposit in the Escrow Interest Account on the day prior to the Escrow Disbursement Date;
- (C) the portion of the Transferred Principal Amount that is to be transferred to the Reserve Fund on the Escrow Disbursement Date, which portion shall be an amount equal to the remainder of (I) the Reserve Requirement (calculated as if the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds had been reduced by virtue of such Transferred Principal Amount having already been transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account), less (II) the Reserve Requirement (calculated based on the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds just prior to such Transferred Principal Amount being transferred from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account);
- (D) the portion, if any, of the Transferred Principal Amount to be transferred to the Redemption Fund on the Escrow Disbursement Date, which portion shall be an amount which is sufficient to pay interest on a portion of the Bonds in a principal amount equal to the Transferred Principal Amount (which portion of the Bonds shall be deemed to be comprised of the Special Term Bonds) on each Interest Payment Date that will occur before Assessments can be enrolled and collected in an amount sufficient to pay such interest;
- (E) the portion of the Transferred Principal Amount to be transferred to the Improvement Fund, which portion shall be an amount equal to the remainder of (I) the Transferred Principal Amount, less (II) the sum of (aa) the amount to be transferred to the Reserve Fund pursuant to the preceding paragraph (C), plus (bb) the amount, if any, to be transferred to the Redemption Fund pursuant to the preceding paragraph (D);
- (F) that the sum of (I) the Assessed Valuation of parcels of property within the Assessment District for which a Qualified Appraisal Report has not been provided, plus (II) the Appraised Value of parcels of property within the Assessment District for which a Qualified Appraisal Report has been provided, as such Appraised Value is shown in such

Qualified Appraisal Report, is at least 3.5 times the sum of (aa) the aggregate principal amount of all Outstanding Bonds other than the Deemed Escrow Bonds (assuming that the principal amount of the Deemed Escrow Bonds is reduced by virtue of the transfer of the Transferred Principal Amount from the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account on the Escrow Disbursement Date), plus (bb) the aggregate principal amount of all fixed lien special assessments (other than the Assessments) levied on parcels of property within the Assessment District, based upon information from the most recent Fiscal Year for which such information is available, plus (cc) a portion of the aggregate principal amount of Other District Bonds equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Other District Bonds multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of special taxes levied for the Other District Bonds on parcels of property within the Assessment District, and the denominator of which is the total amount of special taxes levied for the Other District Bonds on all parcels of land (such fraction to be determined based upon the maximum special taxes which could be levied in the year in which maximum annual debt service on the Other District Bonds occurs), based upon information from the most recent Fiscal Year for which such information is available.

(e) On the Business Day immediately preceding the Escrow Redemption Date, the Trustee shall transfer all amounts then on deposit in the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account to the Prepayment Account, which amounts shall be applied to the redemption of Bonds on the Escrow Redemption Date in accordance with the Indenture. On the Business Day immediately following the Escrow Redemption Date, the Trustee shall transfer any amounts remaining in any of the accounts in the Escrow Fund to the Redemption Fund.

**Rebate Fund.** (a) The Trustee shall establish and maintain a special fund designated the "Rebate Fund." There shall be deposited in the Rebate Fund such amounts as are required to be deposited therein pursuant to the Tax Certificate, as specified in a Written Request of the City. All money at any time deposited in the Rebate Fund shall be held by the Trustee in trust, to the extent required to satisfy the Rebate Requirement, for payment to the United States of America. Notwithstanding defeasance of the Bonds as provided under the Indenture or anything to the contrary contained in the Indenture, all amounts required to be deposited into or on deposit in the Rebate Fund shall be governed exclusively by this section and by the Tax Certificate (which is incorporated in the Indenture by reference). The Trustee shall be deemed conclusively to have complied with such provisions if it follows the written directions of the City, and shall have no liability or responsibility to enforce compliance by the City with the terms of the Tax Certificate.

(b) Any funds remaining in the Rebate Fund after payment in full of all of the Bonds and after payment of any amounts described in this section, shall be withdrawn by the Trustee and shall be transferred to the City to be expended for any lawful purpose of the City.

*Investment of Moneys.* Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, all moneys in any of the funds or accounts established pursuant to the Indenture shall be invested by the Trustee solely in Permitted Investments, as directed in writing by the City two Business Days prior to the making of such investment. Moneys in all funds and accounts shall be invested in Permitted Investments maturing not later than the date on which the City estimates that such moneys will be required for the purposes specified in the Indenture; provided, however, that Permitted Investments in which moneys in the Reserve Fund are so invested shall mature no later than the earlier of five years from the date of investment or the final maturity date of the Bonds and, provided, further, that if such Permitted Investments may be redeemed at par so as to be available on each Interest Payment Date, any amount in the Reserve Fund may be invested in such redeemable Permitted Investments maturing on any date on or prior to the final maturity date of the Bonds. Absent timely written direction from the City, the Trustee shall invest any funds held by it in Permitted Investments described in clause "D" of the definition thereof.

Subject to certain tax covenants under the Indenture and in the Tax Certificate, all interest, profits and other income received from the investment of moneys in any fund or account established pursuant to the Indenture (other than the Capitalized Interest Account, the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account and the Escrow Interest Account) shall be retained therein. Subject to such tax covenants under the Indenture and in the Tax Certificate, all interest, profits and other income received from the investment of moneys in the Capitalized Interest Account, the Deemed Escrow Bonds Account or the Escrow Interest Account shall, as and when received, prior to the date the Written Certificate

of the City described above under the caption "ISSUANCE OF BONDS – Improvement Fund" is received by the Trustee, be deposited in the Improvement Fund and, thereafter, be deposited in the Redemption Fund.

Permitted Investments acquired as an investment of moneys in any fund established under the Indenture shall be credited to such fund. All investments of amounts deposited in any fund or account created by or pursuant to the Indenture shall be acquired, disposed of, and valued at fair market value.

The Trustee or an affiliate thereof may act as principal or agent in the making or disposing of any investment and shall be entitled to its reasonable and customary fee therefor. Upon the Written Request of the City, the Trustee shall sell or present for redemption any Permitted Investments so purchased whenever it shall be necessary to provide moneys to meet any required payment, transfer, withdrawal or disbursement from the fund to which such Permitted Investments is credited, and the Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any investment made or sold pursuant to this section. For purposes of investment, the Trustee may commingle moneys in any of the funds and accounts established under the Indenture.

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely conclusively upon the Written Request of the City directing as to the fact that each such investment is permitted by the laws of the State of California, and shall not be required to make further investigation with respect thereto. With respect to any legal requirement embodied in any of the above types of investments (e.g., the existence, validity and perfection of security interests in collateral), the Trustee may conclusively rely on an opinion of counsel or a Written Certificate of the City, that such requirement has been satisfied.

#### COLLECTION AND APPLICATION OF ASSESSMENTS; PARTICULAR COVENANTS

*Collection and Application of Assessments.* (a) The City shall comply with all requirements of the Act, the Resolution of Issuance and the Indenture to assure the timely collection of the Assessments, and interest thereon, including, without limitation, the enforcement of delinquent Assessments. Any funds received by the City in and for the Assessment District (excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments), including, but not limited to, collections of Assessments (including prepayments thereof), and interest thereon, upon the secured tax rolls, collections of delinquent Assessments through foreclosure proceedings or otherwise, and collections of amounts for Administrative Expenses, shall as soon as practicable be transmitted directly to the Trustee, without deduction, to be deposited into the funds and accounts in the Indenture specified. The transfer of any such amounts shall be accompanied by a Written Certificate of the City that identifies which portion, if any, of the amounts so transferred constitute Assessments, or interest thereon, or prepayments of Assessments or amounts collected for Administrative Expenses.

(b) The Assessments and interest thereon, shall be payable and be collected in the same manner at the same time and in the same installments as the general taxes on real property are payable, and have the same priority, become delinquent at the same time and in the same proportionate amounts and bear the same proportionate penalties and interest after delinquency as do the general taxes on real property. The Assessments, together with the interest thereon, shall be payable in annual series corresponding in number to the number of series of Bonds. An annual proportion of each Assessment, together with interest thereon, shall be payable in each year preceding the date of maturity of each of the several series of Bonds in an amount sufficient to pay such Bonds (other than Deemed Escrow Bonds), and interest thereon, when due. In addition, the City shall, in accordance with and subject to the limitations contained in the report for the Assessment District and in Section 8682 and Section 8682.1 of the Act, cause to be included in the annual assessment roll an amount estimated to be sufficient to pay Administrative Expenses for the following annual period.

The City shall, before the final date on which the Auditor will accept the transmission of the Assessments for inclusion on the next tax roll, prepare or cause to be prepared, and shall transmit to the Auditor, such data as the Auditor requires to include the installments of such Assessments, together with interest thereon, and Administrative Expenses on the next secured tax roll of the County.

All sums received from the collection of the Assessments and of the interest thereon (excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments) shall be transferred by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Redemption Fund. All amounts collected by the City for Administrative Expenses shall be transferred

by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Administrative Expense Account. Any prepayments of Assessments shall be transferred by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Prepayment Account; provided, however, that amounts attributable to the administrative costs of the prepayment of Assessments shall be transferred by the City to the Trustee for deposit in the Administrative Expense Account.

(c) Any Assessment may be prepaid at any time by paying, in whole or part, the unpaid amount thereof less, if available, the amount transferred to the Redemption Fund from the Reserve Fund in accordance with the Indenture, if any, together with the redemption premium, if any, as provided in the Indenture under the terms for Mandatory Redemption from Assessment Prepayments, and interest on such prepaid Assessment (if not collected in an Assessment installment) to the earliest Redemption Date for which notice of redemption may be given as provided in the Indenture.

*Foreclosure.* The City covenants that it will determine or cause to be determined, no later than August 15 of each Fiscal Year in which the Bonds are Outstanding, whether or not any owners of the real property within the Assessment District are delinquent in the payment of Assessment installments. If such delinquencies exist, the City shall order and cause to be commenced an action in the Superior Court to foreclose the lien of an Assessment or installment thereof not paid when due, not later than the next following November 1, against any parcel that is subject to delinquencies of more than \$12,500 or any group of parcels under common ownership with aggregate delinquencies of more than the Reserve Requirement, the City shall commence foreclosure proceedings against any parcel that is subject to delinquencies of more than \$10,000 or any group of parcels under common ownership with aggregate with aggregate delinquencies of more than \$10,000.

The City further covenants to diligently prosecute any such foreclosure action to judgment and foreclosure sale.

Upon the redemption or sale of the real property responsible for such delinquencies, the City shall apply the net proceeds thereof to: (a) deposit to the Reserve Fund the amount of any delinquency advanced therefrom in accordance with the Indenture; and (b) the balance, if any, shall be disbursed as set forth in the judgment of foreclosure or as required by law.

*No Advances from Available Funds.* The City shall not be obligated to advance available funds of the City to cure any deficiency which may occur in the Redemption Fund; provided, however, that said determination shall not prevent the City, in its sole discretion, from so advancing such funds.

**Punctual Payment.** The City shall punctually pay or cause to be paid the principal, premium, if any, and interest to become due in respect of all the Bonds, in strict conformity with the terms of the Bonds and of the Indenture, according to the true intent and meaning thereof, but only out of Assessments and other assets pledged for such payment as provided in the Indenture and received by the City or the Trustee.

*Extension of Payment of Bonds.* The City shall not directly or indirectly extend or assent to the extension of the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any claims for interest by the purchase of such Bonds or by any other arrangement, and in case the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any such claims for interest shall be extended, such Bonds or claims for interest shall not be entitled, in case of any default under the Indenture, to the benefits of the Indenture, except subject to the prior payment in full of the principal of all of the Bonds then Outstanding and of all claims for interest thereon which shall not have been so extended. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to limit the right of the City to issue Bonds for the purpose of refunding any Outstanding Bonds, and such issuance shall not be deemed to constitute an extension of maturity of the Bonds.

*Against Encumbrances.* The City shall not create, or permit the creation of, any pledge, lien, charge or other encumbrance upon the Assessments and other assets pledged under the Indenture while any of the Bonds are Outstanding.

*Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge.* The City is duly authorized pursuant to the Act to issue the Bonds and to enter into the Indenture and to pledge the Assessments and other assets purported to be pledged under

the Indenture in the manner and to the extent provided in the Indenture. The Bonds and the provisions of the Indenture are and will be the legal, valid and binding obligations of the City in accordance with their terms, and the City and the Trustee (subject to the provisions thereof) shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect said pledge of Assessments and other assets and all the rights of the Bond Owners under the Indenture against all claims and demands of all Persons whomsoever.

Accounting Records and Financial Statements. The Trustee shall at all times keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and account, prepared in accordance with trust industry standards, in which complete and accurate entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the proceeds of the Bonds, the Assessments and all funds and accounts established pursuant to the Indenture. Such books of record and account shall be available for inspection by the City, during regular business hours and upon 24 hours' notice and under reasonable circumstances as agreed to by the Trustee. The Trustee shall deliver to the City a monthly accounting of the funds and accounts it holds under the Indenture; provided, however, that the Trustee shall not be obligated to deliver such accounting for any fund or account that has a balance of zero.

*Waiver of Laws.* The City shall not at any time insist upon or plead in any manner whatsoever, or claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay or extension law now or at any time hereafter in force that may affect the covenants and agreements contained in the Indenture or in the Bonds, and all benefit or advantage of any such law or laws is under the Indenture expressly waived by the City to the extent permitted by law.

*Tax Covenants.* (a) The City shall not take any action, or fail to take any action, if such action or failure to take such action would adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of interest on the Bonds under Section 103 of the Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City shall comply with the requirements of the Tax Certificate, which is incorporated in the Indenture as if fully set forth in the Indenture. This covenant shall survive payment in full or defeasance of the Bonds.

(b) In the event that at any time the City is of the opinion that for purposes of this section it is necessary or helpful to restrict or limit the yield on the investment of any moneys held by the Trustee in any of the funds or accounts established under the Indenture, the City shall so instruct the Trustee in writing, and the Trustee shall act in accordance with such instructions.

(c) Notwithstanding any provisions of this section, if the City shall provide to the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that any specified action required under this section is no longer required or that some further or different action is required to maintain the exclusion from federal income tax of interest on the Bonds, the Trustee may conclusively rely on such opinion in complying with the requirements of this section and of the Tax Certificate, and the covenants under the Indenture shall be deemed to be modified to that extent.

*Continuing Disclosure.* The City under the Indenture covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the City Continuing Disclosure Certificate. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture, failure of the City to comply with the City Continuing Disclosure Certificate shall not be considered an Event of Default; provided, however, that the Trustee may (and, at the written direction of any Participating Underwriter or the holders of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, and upon indemnification of the Trustee to its reasonable satisfaction, shall) or any holder or beneficial owner of the Bonds may, take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate to compel performance, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order.

The Trustee and the Developer have entered into the Developer Continuing Disclosure Agreement. The Trustee under the Indenture covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the Developer Continuing Disclosure Agreement applicable to it. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture, failure of the Developer or the Trustee to comply with the Developer Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not be considered an Event of Default; provided, however, that the Trustee may (and, at the written direction of any Participating Underwriter or the holders of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, and upon indemnification of the Trustee to its reasonable satisfaction, shall) or any holder or beneficial owner of the Bonds may, take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate to compel performance, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order.

#### EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF BOND OWNERS

*Events of Default.* The following events shall be Events of Default:

(a) Failure to pay any installment of principal of any Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity as therein expressed, by proceedings for redemption or otherwise.

(b) Failure to pay any installment of interest on any Bonds when and as the same shall become due and payable.

(c) Failure by the City to observe and perform any of the other covenants, agreements or conditions on its part in the Indenture or in the Bonds contained, if such failure shall have continued for a period of 60 days after written notice thereof, specifying such failure and requiring the same to be remedied, shall have been given to the City by the Trustee or the Owners of not less than 5% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding; provided, however, if in the reasonable opinion of the City the failure stated in the notice can be corrected, but not within such 60 day period, such failure shall not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the City within such 60 day period and the City shall thereafter diligently and in good faith cure such failure in a reasonable period of time.

(d) The City shall commence a voluntary case under Title 11 of the United States Code or any substitute or successor statute.

*No Acceleration; Foreclosure.* The principal of the Bonds shall not be subject to acceleration under the Indenture. If any Event of Default shall occur in the payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds then, and in each and every such case during the continuance of such Event of Default, the Trustee may or at the direction of the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding shall, commence foreclosure against any parcels of real property in the Assessment District with delinquent Assessments, or delinquent payments of interest thereon, or delinquent payments of amounts for Administrative Expenses, as provided in Section 8830 et. seq. of the Act.

*Other Remedies.* If an Event of Default shall have occurred under the Indenture, the Trustee shall have the right:

(a) by mandamus, suit, action or proceeding, to compel the City and its officers, agents or employees to perform each and every term, provision and covenant contained in the Indenture and in the Bonds, and to require the carrying out of any or all such covenants and agreements of the City and the fulfillment of all duties imposed upon it by the Act;

(b) by suit, action or proceeding in equity, to enjoin any acts or things which are unlawful, or the violation of any of the Bond Owners' rights; or

(c) upon the happening of any Event of Default, by suit, action or proceeding in any court of competent jurisdiction, to require the City and its officers and employees to account as if it and they were the trustees of an express trust.

Application of Assessments and Other Funds After Default. If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, all Assessments, and interest thereon (excluding any penalty and interest charges imposed upon delinquent Assessments), and any other funds thereafter received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of the Indenture shall, subject to the provisions of the Act, be applied by the Trustee as follows and in the following order:

(a) To the payment of reasonable fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee (including reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel) incurred in and about the performance of its powers and duties under the Indenture;

(b) To the payment of the principal of and interest then due with respect to the Bonds (upon presentation of the Bonds to be paid, and stamping thereon of the payment if only partially paid, or surrender thereof if fully paid) subject to the provisions of the Indenture, as follows:

*First:* To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest then due in the order of the maturity of such installments, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any installment or installments maturing on the same date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts due thereon, to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and

*Second:* To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of any Bonds which shall have become due, whether at maturity or by call for redemption, with interest on the overdue principal at the rate borne by the respective Bonds on the date of maturity or redemption, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds, together with such interest, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts of principal due on such date to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference.

(c) Any remaining funds shall be transferred by the Trustee to the Redemption Fund.

**Bond Owners' Direction of Proceedings.** Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, and upon indemnification of the Trustee to its reasonable satisfaction, to direct the method of conducting all remedial proceedings taken by the Trustee under the Indenture; provided, however, that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law and the provisions of the Indenture, and that the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of the Trustee would be unjustly prejudicial to Bond Owners not parties to such direction.

*Limitation on Bond Owners' Right to Sue.* No Owner of any Bonds shall have the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, for the protection or enforcement of any right or remedy under the Indenture, the Act or any other applicable law with respect to such Bonds, unless (a) such Owner shall have given to the Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default; (b) the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, shall have made written request upon the Trustee to exercise the powers in the Indenture before granted or to institute such suit, action or proceeding in its own name; (c) such Owner or said Owners shall have tendered to the Trustee indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compliance with such request; and (d) the Trustee shall have refused or omitted to comply with such request for a period of 60 days after such written request shall have been received by, and said tender of indemnity shall have been made to, the Trustee.

Such notification, request, tender of indemnity and refusal or omission are under the Indenture declared, in every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise by any Owner of Bonds of any remedy under the Indenture or under law; it being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bonds shall have any right in any manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the Indenture or the rights of any other Owners of Bonds, or to enforce any right under the Bonds, the Indenture, the Act or other applicable law with respect to the Bonds, except in the manner in the Indenture provided, and that all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any such right shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner in the Indenture provided and for the benefit and protection of all Owners of the Outstanding Bonds, subject to the provisions of the Indenture.

Absolute Obligation of City. Nothing in the Indenture or in the Bonds contained shall affect or impair the obligation of the City, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds to the respective Owners of the Bonds at their respective dates of maturity, or upon call for redemption, as in the Indenture provided, but only out of the Assessments and other assets in the Indenture pledged therefor and received by the City or the Trustee, or affect or impair the right of such Owners, which is also absolute and unconditional, to enforce such payment by virtue of the contract embodied in the Bonds.

**Termination of Proceedings.** In case any proceedings taken by the Trustee or any one or more Bond Owners on account of any Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee or the Bond Owners, then in every such case the City, the Trustee and the Bond Owners, subject to any determination in such proceedings, shall be restored to their former positions and rights under the Indenture, severally and respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of the City, the Trustee and the Bond Owners shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken.

**Remedies Not Exclusive.** No remedy in the Indenture conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy, to the extent permitted by law, shall be cumulative and in addition to any other remedy given under the Indenture or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise.

*No Waiver of Default.* No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Owner of the Bonds to exercise any right or power arising upon the occurrence of any default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given by the Indenture to the Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.

#### TRUSTEE

*Duties and Liabilities of Trustee.* (a) The Trustee shall, prior to an Event of Default, and after the curing of all Events of Default which may have occurred, perform such duties and only such duties as are expressly and specifically set forth in the Indenture. The Trustee shall, during the existence of any Event of Default which has not been cured, exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by the Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his or her own affairs.

(b) *Removal of Trustee.* The City may upon 30 days' prior written notice remove the Trustee at any time unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and then be continuing, and the City shall remove the Trustee if at any time requested to do so by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding (or their attorneys duly authorized in writing) or if at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with subsection (e) of this section, or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or a receiver of the Trustee or its property shall be appointed, or any public officer shall take control or charge of the Trustee or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation, in each case by giving written notice of such removal to the Trustee and thereupon shall appoint a successor Trustee by an instrument in writing.

(c) *Resignation of Trustee.* The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice of such resignation by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the City, and to the Bond Owners at the respective addresses shown on the Registration Books. Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the City shall promptly appoint a successor Trustee by an instrument in writing. The Trustee shall not be relieved of its duties until such successor Trustee has accepted appointment.

(d) Appointment of Successor Trustee. Any removal or resignation of the Trustee and appointment of a successor Trustee shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee; provided, however, that under any circumstances the successor Trustee shall be qualified as provided in subsection (e) of this section. If no qualified successor Trustee shall have been appointed and have accepted appointment within 45 days following giving notice of removal or notice of resignation as aforesaid, the resigning Trustee or any Bond Owner (on behalf of himself and all other Bond Owners) may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee, and such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper, appoint such successor Trustee. Any successor Trustee appointed under the Indenture shall signify its acceptance of such appointment by executing and delivering to the City and to its predecessor Trustee a written acceptance thereof, and to the predecessor Trustee an instrument indemnifying the predecessor Trustee for any costs or claims arising during the time the successor Trustee serves as Trustee under the Indenture, and after payment by the City of all unpaid fees and expenses of the predecessor Trustee, the such successor Trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and

obligations of such predecessor Trustee, with like effect as if originally named Trustee in the Indenture; but, nevertheless at the Written Request of the City or the request of the successor Trustee, such predecessor Trustee shall execute and deliver any and all instruments of conveyance or further assurance and do such other things as may reasonably be required for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor Trustee all the right, title and interest of such predecessor Trustee in and to any property held by it under the Indenture and shall pay over, transfer, assign and deliver to the successor Trustee any money or other property subject to the trusts and conditions in the Indenture set forth. Upon request of the successor Trustee, the City shall execute and deliver any and all instruments as may be reasonably required for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor Trustee all such moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations. Upon acceptance of appointment by a successor Trustee as provided in this subsection, the City shall mail or cause the successor Trustee to mail, by first class mail postage prepaid, a notice of the succession of such Trustee to the trusts under the Indenture to each rating agency which then maintains a rating on the Bonds and to the Bond Owners at the addresses shown on the Registration Books. If the City fails to mail such notice to be mailed at the expense of the City.

(e) *Qualifications of Trustee*. The Trustee shall be a trust company or bank having the powers of a trust company, having (or if such bank or trust company is a member of a bank holding company system, its parent bank holding company shall have) a combined capital and surplus of at least \$100,000,000, and subject to supervision or examination by federal or state agency. If such bank or trust company publishes a report of condition at least annually, pursuant to law or to the requirements of any supervising or examining agency above referred to, then for the purpose of this subsection the combined capital and surplus of such bank or trust company shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus as set forth in its most recent report of condition so published.

In case at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this subsection (e), the Trustee shall resign immediately in the manner and with the effect specified in this section.

*Merger or Consolidation.* Any bank or trust company into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated or any bank or trust company resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which it shall be a party or any bank or trust company to which the Trustee may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its corporate trust business, provided such bank or trust company shall be eligible under subsection (e) under the caption "*Duties and Liabilities of Trustee*" above, shall be the successor to such Trustee, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act, anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding.

Liability of Trustee. (a) The recitals of facts in the Indenture and in the Bonds contained shall be taken as statements of the City, and the Trustee shall not assume responsibility for the correctness of the same, or make any representations as to the validity or sufficiency of the Indenture or of the Bonds or shall incur any responsibility in respect thereof, other than as expressly stated in the Indenture in connection with the respective duties or obligations in the Indenture or in the Bonds assigned to or imposed upon it. The Trustee shall, however, be responsible for its representations contained in its certificate of authentication on the Bonds. The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of the Indenture or of any Bonds, or in respect of the security afforded by the Indenture and the Trustee shall incur no responsibility in respect thereof. The Trustee shall be under no responsibility or duty with respect to (i) the issuance of the Bonds for value; (ii) the application of the proceeds thereof except to the extent that such proceeds are received by it in its capacity as Trustee; or (iii) the application of any moneys paid to the City or others in accordance with the Indenture except as the application of any moneys paid to it in its capacity as Trustee. The Trustee shall not be liable in connection with the performance of its duties under the Indenture, except for its own negligence or willful misconduct. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith and believed by it to be authorized or within the discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by the Indenture. The Trustee and its officers and employees may become the Owner of Bonds with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee, and, to the extent permitted by law, may act as depository for and permit any of its officers or directors to act as a member of, or in any other capacity with respect to, any committee formed to protect the rights of Bond Owners, whether or not such committee shall represent the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding.

(b) The Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a responsible officer, unless it shall be proved that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts.

(c) The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee under the Indenture.

*Right to Rely on Documents.* The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon any notice, resolution, request, consent, order, certificate, report, opinion, bonds or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. The Trustee may consult with counsel, who may be counsel to the City, with regard to legal questions, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by it under the Indenture in good faith and in accordance therewith; provided, however, the Trustee shall in no event delay any payment with respect to the Bonds in anticipation of any such opinion.

Whenever in the administration of the trusts imposed upon it by the Indenture the Trustee shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action under the Indenture, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be in the Indenture specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a Written Certificate of the City, and such Written Certificate shall be full warrant to the Trustee for any action taken or suffered in good faith under the provisions of the Indenture in reliance upon such Written Certificate, but in its discretion the Trustee may, in lieu thereof, accept other evidence of such matter or may require such additional evidence as it may deem reasonable.

**Preservation and Inspection of Documents.** All documents received by the Trustee under the provisions of the Indenture shall be retained in its possession and shall be subject during business hours and upon 24 hours' notice to the inspection of the City, the Owners and their agents and representatives duly authorized in writing.

*Compensation and Indemnification.* Subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the City shall pay to the Trustee from time to time all reasonable compensation for all services rendered under the Indenture, and also all reasonable expenses, charges, legal and consulting fees and other disbursements and those of its attorneys, agents and employees, incurred in and about the performance of their powers and duties under the Indenture. Subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the City further agrees, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify, defend and save the Trustee harmless against any liabilities which it may incur in the exercise and performance of its powers and duties under the Indenture and under any related documents, including the enforcement of any remedies and the defense of any suit, and which are not due to its negligence or its willful misconduct. The duty of the City to indemnify and compensate the Trustee shall survive the termination and discharge of the Indenture and the resignation or removal of the Trustee.

#### **MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT**

*Amendments Permitted.* (a) The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the City, the Owners of the Bonds and the Trustee may be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, which the City and the Trustee may enter into with the written consent of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding, which shall have been filed with the Trustee. No such modification or amendment shall (i) extend the fixed maturity of any Bonds, or reduce the amount of principal thereof, or reduce the interest rate borne thereby, or extend or accelerate the time of payment thereof; or (ii) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds the consent of the Owners of which is required to effect any such modification or amendment; or (iii) permit the creation of any lien on the Assessments and other assets pledged under the Indenture prior to or on a parity with the lien created by the Indenture or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture on such Assessments and other assets (except as expressly provided in the Indenture), without the consent of the Owners of all of the Bonds then Outstanding.

(b) The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the City, the Trustee and the Owners of the Bonds may also be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, which the City

and the Trustee may enter into without the consent of any Bond Owners for any one or more of the following purposes:

(i) to add to the covenants and agreements of the City in the Indenture contained, other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, to pledge or assign additional security for the Bonds (or any portion thereof), or to surrender any right or power in the Indenture reserved to or conferred upon the City;

(ii) to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency or omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision contained in the Indenture;

(iii) to modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as to permit the qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in effect, and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be permitted by said act or similar federal statute;

(iv) to modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as to cause interest on the Bonds to be excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation by the United States of America; and

(v) in any other respect whatsoever as the City may deem necessary or desirable, provided that such modification or amendment does not materially adversely affect the interests of the Bond Owners under the Indenture.

(c) Promptly after the execution by the City and the Trustee of any Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall mail a notice (the form of which shall be furnished to the Trustee by the City), by first class mail postage prepaid, setting forth in general terms the substance of such Supplemental Indenture, to the Owners of the Bonds at the respective addresses shown on the Registration Books. Any failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any such Supplemental Indenture.

*Effect of Supplemental Indenture.* Upon the execution and delivery of any Supplemental Indenture in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the Indenture shall be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance therewith, and the respective rights, duties and obligations under the Indenture of the City, the Trustee and all Owners of Bonds Outstanding shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced under the Indenture subject in all respects to such modification and amendment, and all the terms and conditions of any such Supplemental Indenture shall be deemed to be part of the terms and conditions of the Indenture for any and all purposes.

*Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds.* Bonds delivered after the execution of any Supplemental Indenture in accordance with the terms of the Indenture may, and if the City so determines shall, bear a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form approved by the City and the Trustee as to any modification or amendment provided for in such Supplemental Indenture, and, in that case, upon demand of the Owner of any Bonds Outstanding at the time of such execution and presentation of his Bonds for the purpose at the Office of the Trustee a suitable notation shall be made on such Bonds. If the Supplemental Indenture shall so provide, new Bonds so modified as to conform, in the opinion of the City and the Trustee, to any modification or amendment contained in such Supplemental Indenture, shall be prepared and executed by the City and authenticated by the Trustee, and upon demand of the Owners of any Bonds then Outstanding shall be exchanged at the Office of the Trustee, without cost to any Bond Owner, for Bonds then Outstanding, upon surrender for cancellation of such Bonds, in equal aggregate principal amount of the same interest rate and maturity.

#### DEFEASANCE

**Discharge of Indenture.** If the City shall pay or cause to be paid or there shall otherwise be paid to the Owners of all Outstanding Bonds the principal thereof and the interest and premium, if any, thereon at the times and in the manner stipulated in the Indenture and therein, then the Owners of such Bonds shall cease to be entitled to the

pledge of the Assessments and the other assets as provided in the Indenture, and all agreements, covenants and other obligations of the City to the Owners of such Bonds under the Indenture shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied. In such event, the Trustee shall execute and deliver to the City all such instruments as may be necessary or desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction, and the Trustee shall pay over or deliver to the City all money or securities held by it pursuant to the Indenture which are not required for the payment of the principal of and interest and premium, if any, on such Bonds.

Subject to the provisions of the above paragraph, when any of the Bonds shall have been paid and if, at the time of such payment, the City shall have kept, performed and observed all of the covenants and promises in such Bonds and in the Indenture required or contemplated to be kept, performed and observed by the City or on its part on or prior to that time, then the Indenture shall be considered to have been discharged in respect of such Bonds and such Bonds shall cease to be entitled to the lien of the Indenture and such lien and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the City under the Indenture shall cease, terminate become void and be completely discharged as to such Bonds.

Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture or the discharge of the Indenture in respect of any Bonds, those provisions of the Indenture relating to the maturity of the Bonds, interest payments and dates thereof, exchange and transfer of Bonds, replacement of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bonds, the safekeeping and cancellation of Bonds, non-presentment of Bonds, and the duties of the Trustee in connection with all of the foregoing, shall remain in effect and shall be binding upon the Trustee and the Owners of the Bonds and the Trustee shall continue to be obligated to hold in trust any moneys or investments then held by the Trustee for the payment of the principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds, to pay to the Owners of Bonds the funds so held by the Trustee as and when such payment becomes due. Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture or the discharge of the Indenture in respect of any Bonds, those provisions of the Indenture relating to the compensation of the Trustee shall remain in effect and shall be binding upon the Trustee and the City.

Bonds Deemed To Have Been Paid. If moneys shall have been set aside and held by the Trustee for the payment or redemption of any Bonds and the interest thereon at the maturity or redemption date thereof, such Bonds shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect of discharge and defeasance under the Indenture. Any Outstanding Bonds shall prior to the maturity date or redemption date thereof be deemed to have been paid within the meaning of and with the effect of discharge and defeasance under the Indenture if (a) in case any of such Bonds are to be redeemed on any date prior to their maturity date, the City shall have given to the Trustee in form satisfactory to it irrevocable instructions to mail, notice of redemption of such Bonds on said redemption date, said notice to be given in accordance with the Indenture; (b) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee either (i) money in an amount which shall be sufficient, or (ii) non-callable Federal Securities that are not subject to redemption other than at the option of the holder thereof, the interest on and principal of which when paid will provide money which, together with the money, if any deposited with the Trustee at the same time, shall be sufficient to pay when due the interest to become due on such Bonds on and prior to the maturity date or redemption date thereof, as the case may be, and the principal of and premium, if any, on such Bonds, which sufficiency shall be verified in a report of an independent firm of nationally recognized certified public accountants; and (c) in the event such Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding 60 days, the City shall have given the Trustee in form satisfactory to it irrevocable instructions to mail as soon as practicable, a notice to the owners of such Bonds that the deposit required by clause (b) above has been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds, are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this section and stating the maturity date or redemption date upon which money is to be available for the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, on such Bonds.

**Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture.** Notwithstanding any provisions of the Indenture, to the extent permitted by law, any moneys held by the Trustee in trust for the payment of the principal of, or premium or interest on, any Bonds and remaining unclaimed for two years after the date of deposit of such moneys, shall be repaid to the City free from the trusts created by the Indenture, and all liability of the Trustee with respect to such moneys shall thereupon cease; provided, however, that before the repayment of such moneys to the City as aforesaid, the Trustee may (at the cost of the City) first mail, by first class mail postage prepaid, to the Owners of Bonds which have not yet been paid, at the respective addresses shown on the Registration Books, a notice, in such form as may be deemed appropriate by the Trustee with respect to the Bonds so payable and not presented and with respect to the provisions relating to the repayment to the City of the moneys held for the payment thereof.

#### MISCELLANEOUS

*Limited Obligation.* All obligations of the City under the Indenture and the Bonds shall not be general obligations of the City, but shall be limited obligations, payable solely from the Assessments and the other assets pledged therefor under the Indenture. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City or the State of California, or any political subdivision thereof, is pledged to the payment of the Bonds. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture, the City is not obligated to advance available funds from the City treasury to cure any deficiency in the Redemption Fund.

Successor Is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor. Whenever in the Indenture either the City or the Trustee is named or referred to, such reference shall be deemed to include the successors or assigns thereof, and all the covenants and agreements in the Indenture contained by or on behalf of the City or the Trustee shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns thereof whether so expressed or not.

*Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bond Owners.* Nothing in the Indenture or in the Bonds expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Trustee, the City and the Owners of the Bonds, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of the Indenture or any covenant, condition or provision therein or in the Indenture contained; and all such covenants, conditions and provisions are and shall be held to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Trustee, the City and the Owners of the Bonds.

*Waiver of Notice; Requirement of Mailed Notice.* Whenever in the Indenture the giving of notice by mail or otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be waived in writing by the Person entitled to receive such notice and in any such case the giving or receipt of such notice shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in reliance upon such waiver. Whenever in the Indenture any notice shall be required to be given by mail, such requirement shall be satisfied by the deposit of such notice in the United States mail, postage prepaid, by first class mail.

**Destruction of Bonds.** Whenever in the Indenture provision is made for the cancellation by the Trustee and the delivery to the City of any Bonds, the Trustee shall, upon the Written Request of the City, in lieu of such cancellation and delivery, destroy such Bonds.

Severability of Invalid Provisions. If any one or more of the provisions contained in the Indenture or in the Bonds shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed severable from the remaining provisions contained in the Indenture and such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of the Indenture, and the Indenture shall be construed as if such invalid or illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained in the Indenture. The City under the Indenture declares that it would have entered into the Indenture and each and every other section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of the Indenture and authorized the issuance of the Bonds pursuant thereto irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of the Indenture may be held illegal, invalid or unenforceable.

*Evidence of Rights of Bond Owners.* Any request, consent or other instrument required or permitted by the Indenture to be signed and executed by Bond Owners may be in any number of concurrent instruments of substantially similar tenor and shall be signed or executed by such Bond Owners in Person or by an agent or agents duly appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such request, consent or other instrument or of a writing appointing any such agent, or of the holding by any Person of Bonds transferable by delivery, shall be sufficient for any purpose of the Indenture and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee and the City if made in the manner provided in this section.

The fact and date of the execution by any Person of any such request, consent or other instrument or writing may be proved by the certificate of any notary public or other officer of any jurisdiction, authorized by the laws thereof to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the Person signing such request, consent or other instrument acknowledged to him the execution thereof, or by an affidavit of a witness of such execution duly sworn to before such notary public or other officer.

The ownership of Bonds shall be proved by the Registration Books.

Any request, consent, or other instrument or writing of the Owner of any Bond shall bind every future Owner of the same Bond and the Owner of every Bond issued in exchange therefor or in lieu thereof, in respect of anything done or suffered to be done by the Trustee or the City in accordance therewith or reliance thereon.

**Disqualified Bonds.** In determining whether the Owners of the requisite aggregate principal amount of Bonds have concurred in any demand, request, direction, consent or waiver under the Indenture, Bonds which are known by the Trustee to be owned or held by or for the account of the City, or by any other obligor on the Bonds, or by any Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, the City or any other obligor on the Bonds, shall be disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding for the purpose of any such determination. Bonds so owned which have been pledged may be regarded as Outstanding for the purposes of this section if the pledgee shall establish to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee's right to vote such Bonds and that the pledgee is not a Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect or indirect as to such right, any decision by the Trustee taken upon the advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Trustee.

*Funds and Accounts.* Any fund or account required by the Indenture to be established and maintained by the Trustee may be established and maintained in the accounting records of the Trustee, either as a fund or an account, and may, for the purposes of such records, any audits thereof and any reports or statements with respect thereto, be treated either as a fund or as an account; but all such records with respect to all such funds and accounts shall at all times be maintained in accordance with industry standards to the extent practicable, and for the protection of the security of the Bonds and the rights of every Owner thereof. The Trustee may establish such funds and accounts as it deems necessary or appropriate to perform its obligations under the Indenture.

**Payment on Non-Business Days.** In the event any payment is required to be made under the Indenture on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same effect as if made on such non-Business Day.

(This page intentionally left blank)

### **APPENDIX E**

### **BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM**

The description that follows of the procedures and recordkeeping with respect to beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds, payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds to Participants or Beneficial Owners, confirmation and transfer of beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds, and other Bonds-related transactions by and between DTC, Participants and Beneficial Owners, is based on information furnished by DTC which the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the completeness or accuracy thereof.

### The Depository Trust Company – Book-Entry Only System

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the securities (the "Securities"). The Securities will be executed and delivered as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Security certificate will be executed and delivered for each maturity of the Securities, each in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC. DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 2 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 85 countries that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized bookentry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of Direct Participants of DTC and Members of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Government Securities Clearing Corporation, MBS Clearing Corporation, and Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation, (NSCC, GSCC, MBSCC, and EMCC, also subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC, and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has Standard & Poor's highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Securities on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Security ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their

ownership interests in Securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Securities is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Securities; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Securities are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Securities unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Securities are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the Trustee, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City or the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities at any time by giving reasonable notice to the City or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Security certificates are required to be printed and delivered. Further, the City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

### **Discontinuance of DTC Services**

In the event (i) DTC, including any successor as securities depository for the Bonds, determines not to continue to act as securities depository for the Bonds, or (ii) the City determines that the incumbent securities depository shall no longer so act, and delivers a written certificate to the Trustee to that effect, then the City will discontinue the book-entry system with the incumbent securities depository for the Bonds. If the City determines to replace the incumbent securities depository for the Bonds with another qualified securities depository, the City shall prepare or direct the preparation of a new single, separate fully registered Bond for the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Bonds of each maturity, registered in the name of such successor or substitute qualified securities depository, or its nominee, or make such other arrangement acceptable to the City, the Trustee and the successor securities depository for the Bonds as are not inconsistent with the terms of the Indenture. If the City fails to identify another qualified successor securities depository of the Bonds to replace the incumbent securities depository, then the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Registration Books in the name of the incumbent securities depository or its nominee, but shall be registered in whatever name or names the incumbent securities depository for the Bonds, or its nominee, shall designate. In such event the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a sufficient quantity of Bonds as to carry out the transfers and exchanges provided in the Indenture. All such Bonds shall be in fully registered form in denominations authorized by the Indenture.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture to the contrary, so long as any Bond is registered in the name of DTC, or its nominee, all payments with respect to the principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to such Bond and all notices with respect to such Bond shall be made and given, respectively, as provided in the Representation Letter.

In connection with any notice or other communication to be provided to Owners of Book-Entry Bonds pursuant to the Indenture by the City or the Trustee with respect to any consent or other action to be taken by Owners, the City or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall establish a record date for such consent or other action and give DTC notice of such record date not less than 15 calendar days in advance of such record date to the extent possible. (This page intentionally left blank)

## **APPENDIX F**

## FORMS OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKINGS

### FORM OF CITY CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

**THIS CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE** (this "Disclosure Certificate"), dated as of December 15, 2003, is executed and delivered by the CITY OF SAN DIEGO, a chartered city and municipal corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of California and its Charter (the "City").

## WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003 (the "Indenture"), by and between the City and the Union Bank of California, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee"), the City has issued \$5,430,000 aggregate principal amount of City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds (the "Bonds"); and

**WHEREAS,** this Disclosure Certificate is being executed and delivered by the City for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the underwriters of the Bonds in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c2-12(b)(5);

**NOW, THEREFORE**, for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds, the City hereby promises and covenants as follows:

**Section 1.** <u>Definitions</u>. Capitalized undefined terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture. In addition, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

"Annual Report" means any Annual Report provided by the City pursuant to, and as described in, Sections 2 and 3 hereof.

**"Disclosure Representative"** means the Deputy City Manager, the City Treasurer or his or her designee, or such other officer or employee as the City shall designate in writing to the Dissemination Agent (if other than the City) from time to time.

**"Dissemination Agent"** means the City, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the City and which has filed with the City a written acceptance of such designation.

"Listed Events" means any of the events listed in Section 4(a) hereof.

**"National Repository"** means any Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities Information Repository for purposes of the Rule.

"Official Statement" means the Official Statement, dated December 17, 2003, relating to the Bonds.

**"Participating Underwriter"** means any of the original underwriters of the Bonds required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Bonds.

"Repository" means each National Repository and each State Repository.

**"Rule"** means Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

**"State Repository"** means any public or private repository or entity designated by the State of California as a state repository for the purpose of the Rule and recognized as such by the Securities and Exchange Commission. As of the date of this Disclosure Certificate, there is no State Repository.

**Section 2.** <u>Provision of Annual Reports</u>. (a) The City shall, or, if the City is not the Dissemination Agent, the City shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, provide to each Repository an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 3 hereof, not later than eight months after the end of the City's fiscal year (which currently would be April 1), commencing with the report for the 2002-03 fiscal year. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may include by reference other information as provided in Section 3 hereof; provided that the audited financial statements of the City may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report, and later than the date required above for the filing of the Annual Report if not available by that date. If the City's fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 4(f) hereof.

(b) Not later than 15 business days prior to the date specified in subsection (a) for providing the Annual Report to Repositories, the City shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent (if the City is not the Dissemination Agent).

(c) If the Dissemination Agent does not provide an Annual Report to Repositories by the date required in subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent shall send a notice to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and the appropriate State Repository, if any, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A.

(d) The Dissemination Agent shall:

(i) determine each year prior to the date for providing the Annual Report the name and address of each National Repository and each State Repository, if any;

(ii) if the Dissemination Agent is the City, provide the Annual Report to each Repository, as provided herein and, if the Dissemination Agent is not the City, provide any Annual Report received by it to each Repository, as provided herein; and

(iii) if the Dissemination Agent is not the City, file a report with the City certifying that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate, stating the date it was provided and listing all the Repositories to which it was provided.

(e) if the City is the Dissemination Agent, the City shall, or, if the City is not the Dissemination Agent, if received by the Dissemination Agent, the Dissemination Agent shall, provide an Annual Report to each Participating Underwriter described on Exhibit B attached hereto at the time such Annual Report is provided to the Repositories in accordance with this Section.

Section 3. <u>Content of Annual Reports</u>. The City's Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by reference the following:

(a) Audited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. If the City's audited financial statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format similar to that used for the City's audited financial statements, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when they become available.

(b) The information described below:

(i) The principal amount of Bonds Outstanding as of December 31 of the prior calendar year.

(ii) The balance in the Reserve Fund, and a statement of the Reserve Requirement, as of December 31 of the prior calendar year.

(iii) The balance in the Improvement Fund as of December 31 of the prior calendar year.

(iv) The Assessment delinquency rate for the District as of December 31 of the prior calendar year; the number of parcels within the District delinquent in payment of Assessments as of December 31 of the prior calendar year; the amount of each delinquency; the length of time delinquent and the date on which foreclosure was commenced, or similar information pertaining to delinquencies deemed appropriate by the City; provided, however, that parcels with delinquencies of \$1,000 or less may be grouped together and such information may be provided by category.

(v) The status of foreclosure proceedings and a summary of the results of any foreclosure sales as of December 31 of the prior calendar year.

(vi) The identity of any property owner, representing more than 5% of the Assessment levy, delinquent in payment of Assessments as of December 31 of the prior calendar year.

(vii) An update, as of December 31 of the prior calendar year, of the information contained in Table 1 of the Official Statement.

(c) In addition to any of the information expressly required to be provided under subsections (a) and (b) of this Section, the City shall provide such further information, if any, as may be necessary to make the specifically required statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, including official statements of debt issues of the City or related public entities, which have been submitted to each of the Repositories or the Securities and Exchange Commission. If the document included by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. The City shall clearly identify each such other document so included by reference.

**Section 4.** <u>Reporting of Significant Events</u>. (a) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the City shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, if material:

- (i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies.
- (ii) Non-payment related defaults.
- (iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.
- (iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.
- (v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.
- (vi) Adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds.
- (vii) Modifications to rights of Bond holders.
- (viii) Contingent or unscheduled Bond calls.
- (ix) Defeasances.
- (x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds.
- (xi) Rating changes.

(b) If the Dissemination Agent is not the City, the Dissemination Agent shall, before the close of the business day following the business day on which it obtains actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the Listed Events, contact the Disclosure Representative, inform such person of the event, and request that the City promptly notify the Dissemination Agent in writing whether or not to report the event pursuant to subsection (f) of this Section. (c) Whenever the City obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, whether because of a notice from the Dissemination Agent pursuant to subsection (b) of this Section or otherwise, the City shall as soon as possible determine if such event would be material under applicable federal securities law.

(d) If the City is not the Dissemination Agent and the City determines that knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event would be material under applicable federal securities law, the City shall promptly notify the Dissemination Agent in writing; such notice shall instruct the Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (f) of this Section.

(e) If the City is not the Dissemination Agent and, in response to a request under subsection (b) of this Section, the City determines that the Listed Event would not be material under applicable federal securities law, the City shall so notify the Dissemination Agent in writing and instruct the Dissemination Agent not to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (f) of this Section.

(f) If the City is the Dissemination Agent and the City determines that knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event would be material under applicable federal securities law, the City shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and each State Repository and shall provide a copy of such notice to each Participating Underwriter described on Exhibit B attached hereto.

If the City is not the Dissemination Agent and the Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the City to report the occurrence of a Listed Event, the Dissemination Agent shall file a notice of such occurrence with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and each State Repository and shall provide a copy of such notice to each Participating Underwriter described on Exhibit B attached hereto.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of Listed Events described in subsections (a)(viii) and (ix) of this Section need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to holders of affected Bonds pursuant to the Indenture.

**Section 5.** <u>Termination of Reporting Obligation</u>. The City's obligations under this Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. If such termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the City shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 4(f) hereof.

Section 6. <u>Dissemination Agent</u>. The City may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. If at any time there is not any other designated Dissemination Agent, the City shall be the Dissemination Agent.

Section 7. <u>Amendment; Waiver</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the City may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision hereof may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) if the amendment or waiver relates to Sections 2(a), 3 or 4(a) hereof it may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of an obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or type of business conducted;

(b) the undertakings herein, as proposed to be amended or waived, would, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and

(c) the proposed amendment or waiver (i) is approved by holders of the Bonds in the manner provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of holders; or (ii) does not, in the opinion of the Trustee or nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of holders.

If the annual financial information or operating data to be provided in the Annual Report is amended pursuant to the provisions hereof, the first annual financial information containing the amended operating data or financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided.

If an amendment is made to the undertaking specifying the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, the annual financial information for the year in which the change is made shall present a comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. The comparison shall include a qualitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial statements or information, in order to provide information to investors to enable them to evaluate the ability of the City to meet its obligations. To the extent reasonably feasible, the comparison shall be quantitative. A notice of the change in the accounting principles shall be sent to the Repositories in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 4(f) hereof.

**Section 8.** <u>Additional Information</u>. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the City chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the City shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.

**Section 9.** <u>Default</u>. In the event of a failure of the City or the Dissemination Agent to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the Trustee may (and, at the written direction of any Participating Underwriter or the holders of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, and upon indemnification of the Trustee to its reasonable satisfaction, shall), or any holder or beneficial owner of the Bonds may, take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the City or Dissemination Agent, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of the City or the Dissemination Agent to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance.

**Section 10.** <u>Beneficiaries</u>. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the City, the Dissemination Agent, the Trustee, the Participating Underwriters and holders and beneficial owners from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

Section 11. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Disclosure Certificate may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF,** the City has executed this Disclosure Certificate as of the date first above written.

# CITY OF SAN DIEGO

By: \_\_\_\_\_

## EXHIBIT A

# NOTICE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Issuer:	City of San Diego
Name of Bond Issue:	City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds
Date of Issuance:	January 14, 2004

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City of San Diego (the "City") has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by Section 6.11 of the Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003, by and between the City and Union Bank of California, N.A., as Trustee. [The City anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by \_\_\_\_\_\_.]

Dated:

City of San Diego

# EXHIBIT B

# **PARTICIPATING UNDERWRITERS**

Stone & Youngberg LLC One Ferry Building San Francisco, California 94111 Attention: Municipal Research Department

## FORM OF DEVELOPER CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

**THIS CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT** (this "Disclosure Agreement"), dated as of December 15, 2003, is by and between PIPER RANCH LLC, a Delaware limited liability corporation (the "Developer"), and UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A., a national banking association organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the United States of America, as trustee (the "Trustee").

# WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003 (the "Indenture"), by and between the City of San Diego (the "City") and the Trustee, the City has issued \$5,430,000 aggregate principal amount of City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds (the "Bonds");

**WHEREAS,** the Bonds are payable from and secured by assessments levied on certain of the property within City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) (the "Assessment District");

**WHEREAS,** the Developer is the owner of the property within the Assessment District and is acting as the master developer of the property; and

**WHEREAS,** this Disclosure Agreement is being executed and delivered by the Developer and the Trustee for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the underwriters of the Bonds in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c2-12(b)(5);

**NOW, THEREFORE**, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Section 12. <u>Definitions</u>. Capitalized undefined terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture. In addition, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

"Affiliate" of another Person means (a) a Person directly or indirectly owning, controlling, or holding with power to vote, 5% or more of the outstanding voting securities of such other Person, (b) any Person 5% or more of whose outstanding voting securities are directly or indirectly owned, controlled, or held with power to vote, by such other Person, and (c) any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, such other Person; for purposes hereof, control means the power to exercise a controlling influence over the management or policies of a Person, unless such power is solely the result of an official position with such Person.

"Annual Report" means any Annual Report provided by the Developer pursuant to, and as described in, Sections 2 and 3 hereof.

"Annual Report Date" means the date in each year that is four months after the end of the Developer's fiscal year (December 31) which date, as of the date of this Disclosure Agreement, is May 1.

"Assumption Agreement" means an agreement between a Major Developer, or an Affiliate thereof, and the Trustee containing terms substantially similar to this Disclosure Agreement, whereby such Major Developer or Affiliate agrees to provide annual reports and notices of significant events with respect to the portion of the Property owned by such Major Developer and its Affiliates.

**"Bond Counsel"** means an attorney or a firm of attorneys whose experience in matters relating to the issuance of obligations by the states and their political subdivisions and the tax-exempt status of the interest thereon is recognized nationally.

"Developer" means Piper Ranch LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its successors.

**"Development Plan"** means, with respect to a Major Developer, the specific improvements such Major Developer intends to make, or cause to be made, to the portion of the Property owned by such Major Developer in order for such portion of the Property to reach the Planned Development Stage, the time frame in which such improvements are intended to be made and the estimated costs of such improvements; the Developer's Development Plan, as of the date hereof, is described in the Official Statement under the caption "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT – Property Ownership and Development – *The Development.*"

**"Dissemination Agent"** means the Trustee, acting in its capacity as Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the Developer and which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.

**"Event of Bankruptcy"** means, with respect to a Person, that such Person files a petition or institutes a proceeding under any act or acts, state or federal, dealing with or relating to the subject or subjects of bankruptcy or insolvency, or under any amendment of such act or acts, either as a bankrupt or as an insolvent, or as a debtor, or in any similar capacity, wherein or whereby such Person asks or seeks or prays to be adjudicated a bankrupt, or is to be discharged from any or all of such Person's debts or obligations, or offers to such Person's creditors to effect a composition or extension of time to pay such Person's debts or asks, seeks or prays for reorganization or to effect a plan of reorganization, or for a readjustment of such Person's debts, or for any other similar relief, or if any such petition or any such proceedings of the same or similar kind or character is filed or instituted or taken against such Person, or if a receiver of the business or of the property or assets of such Person is appointed by any court, or if such Person makes a general assignment for the benefit of such Person's creditors.

**"Financing Plan"** means, with respect to a Major Developer, the method by which such Major Developer intends to finance its Development Plan, including specific sources of funding for such Development Plan; the Developer's Financing Plan, as of the date hereof, is described in the Official Statement under the caption "THE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT – Property Ownership and Development – *Development and Financing Plans*."

**"Financial Statements"** means, with respect to a Major Developer, the full financial statements, special purpose financial statements, project operating statements or other reports reflecting the financial position of each entity, enterprise, fund, account or other person (other than a financial institution acting as a lender in the ordinary course of business) identified in such Major Developer's Development Plan as a source of funding for such Major Developer's Developer's are otherwise prepared as audited financial statements or reports, then Financial Statements means such audited financial statements or reports.

"Listed Events" means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) hereof.

**"Major Developer"** means any Property Owner, including the Developer, which owns Property that has not reached the Planned Development Stage that, together with Property that has not reached the Planned Development Stage owned by Affiliates of such Property Owner, is subject to 20% or more of the total Assessment on all of the Property in the District.

**"National Repository"** means any Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities Information Repository for purposes of the Rule.

"Official Statement" means the Official Statement, dated December 17, 2003, relating to the Bonds.

**"Participating Underwriter"** means any of the original underwriters of the Bonds required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.

**"Person"** means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, any unincorporated organization or a government or political subdivision thereof.

"Planned Development Stage" means, (a) with respect to any portion of the Property which the Developer intends to present to the marketplace for sale as finished pads, is the stage at which construction of such pads is completed and such portion of the Property is conveyed to the purchaser thereof (other than a purchaser that is an Affiliate of the Developer or other Major Developer conveying such portion of the Property), and (b) with respect to any portion of the Property on which the Developer intends to construct, or cause to be constructed, buildings or other commercial or industrial facilities, the stage at which certificates of occupancy have been issued by the City for all of such buildings or other facilities on such portion of the Property.

**"Property"** means the real property within the boundaries of the Assessment District that is not exempt from real property taxes.

"Property Owner" means any Person that owns a fee interest in any portion of the Property.

"Repository" means each National Repository and each State Repository.

**"Rule"** means Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

**"Semi-Annual Report"** means any Semi-Annual Report provided by the Developer pursuant to, and as described in, Section 4 hereof.

"Semi-Annual Report Date" means the date in each year that is ten months after the end of the Developer's fiscal year (December 31) which date, as of the date of this Disclosure Agreement, is November 1.

"Semi-Annual Reporting Period" means the six-month period ending on June 30.

"State Repository" means any public or private repository or entity designated by the State of California as a state repository for the purpose of the Rule and recognized as such by the Securities and Exchange Commission. As of the date of this Disclosure Agreement, there is no State Repository.

**Section 13.** <u>Provision of Annual Reports</u>. (a) The Developer shall provide, or cause to be provided, to each Repository an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 3 hereof, not later than the Annual Report Date, commencing May 1, 2004. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may include by reference other information as provided in Section 3 hereof; provided, however, that if audited Financial Statements are required to be provided, such audited Financial Statements may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report, and later than the date required above for the filing of the Annual Report if not available by that date.

(a) Not later than 15 business days prior to the date specified in subsection (a) for providing the Annual Report to Repositories, the Developer shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee (if the Trustee is not the Dissemination Agent). If by such date, the Trustee has not received a copy of the Annual Report, the Trustee shall contact the Developer and the Dissemination Agent to determine if the Developer is in compliance with the first sentence of this subsection (b).

(b) If the Trustee is unable to verify that an Annual Report has been provided to Repositories by the date required in subsection (a), the Trustee shall send a notice to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and the appropriate State Repository, if any, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A.

(c) The Dissemination Agent shall:

(i) determine each year prior to the date for providing the Annual Report the name and address of each National Repository and each State Repository, if any;

(ii) provide any Annual Report received by it to each Repository, as provided herein; and

(iii) file a report with the City and the Developer and (if the Dissemination Agent is not the Trustee) the Trustee certifying that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, stating the date it was provided and listing all the Repositories to which it was provided.

(a) The Developer shall, or if received by the Dissemination Agent, the Dissemination Agent shall, provide an Annual Report to each entity described on Exhibit B attached hereto at the time such Annual Report is provided to the Repositories in accordance with this Section.

**Section 14.** <u>Content of Annual Reports</u>. The Developer's Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by reference the following:

(a) Financial Statements for each Major Developer prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as in effect from time to time. If audited Financial Statements are required to be provided, and such audited Financial Statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, the Annual Report shall contain unaudited Financial Statements, and the audited Financial Statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when they become available. Such Financial Statements shall be for the most recently ended fiscal year for the entity covered thereby.

(b) The following information with respect to each Major Developer:

(i) If information regarding such Major Developer has not previously been included in an Annual Report or in the Official Statement, the Development Plan of such Major Developer or, if information regarding such Major Developer has previously been included in an Annual Report or in the Official Statement, a description of the progress made in the Development Plan of such Major Developer since the date of such information and a description of any significant changes in such Development Plan and the causes or rationale for such changes.

(ii) If information regarding such Major Developer has not previously been included in an Annual Report or in the Official Statement, the Financing Plan of such Major Developer or, if information regarding such Major Developer has previously been included in an Annual Report or in the Official Statement, a description of any significant changes in the Financing Plan of such Major Developer and the causes or rationale for such changes.

(iii) A description of any sales of portions of such Major Developer's Property during the fiscal year covered by such Annual Report, including the identification of each buyer and the number of acres sold.

(iv) A description of any buildings or other commercial or industrial facilities constructed by or on behalf of such Major Developer for which certificates of occupancy were received during the fiscal year covered by such
Annual Report and, if a lease with respect to any of such facilities was entered into during such fiscal year, the identification of the lessee and the number of square feet leased.

(v) A description of how many acres of Property were owned by such Major Developer as of the end of the fiscal year covered by such Annual Report, how many acres of such Major Developer's Property reached the Planned Development Stage during such fiscal year and how many acres of such Major Developer's Property had not reached the Planned Development Stage as of the end of such fiscal year.

(vi) A description of the remaining capacity, as of the end of the fiscal year covered by such Annual Report, in any lines of credit or other credit facilities identified in the Financing Plan of such Major Developer as a source of funding for such Major Developer's Development Plan.

(vii) An update of the status of any previously reported Listed Event described in Section 5 hereof.

(c) In addition to any of the information expressly required to be provided under paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section, the Developer shall provide such further information, if any, as may be necessary to make the specifically required statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

Information for any or all of the items listed above may be combined for Major Developers that are Affiliates of each other. Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents which have been submitted to each of the Repositories or the Securities and Exchange Commission. If the document included by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. The Developer shall clearly identify each such other document so included by reference.

**Section 15.** <u>Semi-Annual Reports</u>. (a) The Developer's Semi-Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by reference the following information with respect to each Major Developer:

(i) a description of any sales of portions of such Major Developer's Property during the most recently ended Semi-Annual Reporting Period, including the identification of each buyer and the number of acres sold.

(ii) A description of any building or other commercial or industrial facilities constructed by or on behalf of such Major Developer for which certificates of occupancy were received during the most recently ended Semi-Annual Reporting Period and, if a lease with respect to any of such facilities was entered into during such Semi-Annual Reporting Period, the identification of the lessee and the number of square feet leased.

(iii) a statement as to whether or not such Major Developer and all of its Affiliates paid, prior to their becoming delinquent, all Assessment Installments levied on

the Property owned by such Major Developer and such Affiliates payable during the most recently ended Semi-Annual Reporting Period, and if such Major Developer or any of such Affiliates is delinquent in the payment of such Assessment Installments, a statement identifying each entity that is so delinquent, specifying the amount of each such delinquency and describing any plans to resolve such delinquency.

(iv) a description of any significant changes in the Development Plan of such Major Developer and the causes or rationale for such changes.

(v) a description of any significant changes in the Financing Plan of such Major Developer and the causes or rationale for such changes.

In addition to such information expressly required to be included in the Semi-Annual Report, the Developer shall provide such further information, if any, as may be necessary to make the statements contained in such expressly required information, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

(b) The Developer shall, or, upon receipt of such Semi-Annual Report by the Dissemination Agent, the Dissemination Agent shall, provide to each Repository a Semi-Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of subsection (a), not later than each Semi-Annual Report Date, commencing November 1, 2004.

(c) Not later than 15 business days prior to the date specified in subsection (b) for providing a Semi-Annual Report to Repositories, the Developer shall provide such Semi-Annual Report (in a form suitable for reporting to the Repositories) to the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee (if the Trustee is not the Dissemination Agent). If by such date, the Trustee has not received a copy of the Semi-Annual Report, the Trustee shall contact the Developer and the Dissemination Agent to inquire if the Developer is in compliance with the first sentence of this subsection (c).

(d) The Dissemination Agent shall:

(i) determine prior to the date for providing the Semi-Annual Report the name and address of each National Repository and each State Repository, if any;

(ii) provide any Semi-Annual Report received by it to each Repository, as provided herein; and

(iii) file a report with the Developer and (if the Dissemination Agent is not the Trustee) the Trustee certifying that the Semi-Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, stating the date it was provided and listing all the Repositories to which it was provided.

(e) The Developer shall, or if received by the Dissemination Agent, the Dissemination Agent shall, provide each Semi-Annual Report to each entity described on Exhibit B attached hereto at the time such Semi-Annual Report is provided to the Repositories in accordance with this Section.

**Section 16.** <u>Reporting of Significant Events</u>. (a) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Developer shall promptly give, or cause to be given notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to each Major Developer:

(i) Any conveyance by such Major Developer of Property owned by such Major Developer to an entity that is not an Affiliate of such Major Developer, the result of which conveyance is to cause the transferee to become a Major Developer.

(ii) Any failure of such Major Developer, or any Affiliate of such Major Developer, to pay when due general property taxes or assessments with respect to its Property.

(iii) Any denial or termination of credit, any denial or termination of, or default under, any line of credit or loan or any other loss of a source of funds that could have a material adverse affect on such Major Developer's most recently disclosed Financing Plan or Development Plan or on the ability of such Major Developer, or any Affiliate of such Major Developer, to pay Assessment Installments when due.

(iv) The occurrence of an Event of Bankruptcy with respect to such Major Developer, or any Affiliate of such Major Developer, that could have a material adverse affect on such Major Developer's most recently disclosed Financing Plan or Development Plan or on the ability of such Major Developer, or any Affiliate of such Major Developer, to pay Assessment Installments when due.

(v) Any significant amendments to land use entitlements for such Major Developer's Property, if material.

(vi) Any previously undisclosed governmentally-imposed preconditions to commencement or continuation of development on such Major Developer's Property, if material.

(vii) Any previously undisclosed legislative, administrative or judicial challenges to development on such Major Developer's Property, if material.

(viii) Any changes, if material, in the alignment, design or likelihood of completion of significant public improvements affecting such Major Developer's Property, including major thoroughfares, sewers, water conveyance systems and similar facilities.

(ix) The assumption of any obligations by a Major Developer pursuant to Section 6 hereof.

(b) Whenever the Developer obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, the Developer shall promptly notify the Trustee in writing. Such notice shall instruct the Trustee to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c).

(c) If the Trustee has been instructed by the Developer to report the occurrence of a Listed Event, the Trustee shall file a notice of such occurrence with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and each State Repository.

Section 17. <u>Assumption of Obligations</u>. If a portion of the Property owned by the Developer, or any Affiliate of the Developer, is conveyed to a Person that, upon such conveyance, will be a Major Developer, the obligations of the Developer hereunder with respect to the Property owned by such Major Developer and its Affiliates may be assumed by such Major Developer or by an Affiliate thereof. In order to effect such assumption, such Major Developer or Affiliate shall enter into an Assumption Agreement.

**Section 18.** <u>Termination of Reporting Obligation</u>. All of the Developer's obligations hereunder shall terminate (except as provided in Section 12 hereof) upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all the Bonds. The Developer's obligations under this Disclosure Agreement with respect to a Major Developer (including its obligations with respect to itself as a Major Developer) shall terminate upon the earliest to occur of (a) the date on which such Major Developer is no longer a Major Developer, as defined herein, (b) the date on which the Developer's obligations with respect to such Major Developer are assumed under an Assumption Agreement entered into pursuant to Section 6 hereof, and (c) the date on which all Assessments levied on the Property owned by such Major Developer and its Affiliates are paid or prepaid in full; provided however, upon the occurrence of any of the events described in clauses (a) through (c), the Developer's obligations hereunder with respect to each other Major Developer, if any, shall remain in full force and effect. Upon the occurrence of any such termination prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the Developer shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5 hereof.

Section 19. <u>Dissemination Agent</u>. The Developer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. If at any time there is not any other designated Dissemination Agent, the Trustee shall be the Dissemination Agent. If the Dissemination Agent is other than the Trustee, the Developer shall be responsible for paying the fees and expense of such Dissemination Agent.

Section 20. <u>Amendment; Waiver</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the Developer and the Trustee may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and the Trustee shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Developer), and any provision hereof may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) if the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 2(a), 3 or 4 hereof, it may be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of an obligated person (as defined in the Rule) with respect to the Bonds, or type of business conducted;

(b) the undertakings herein, as proposed to be amended or waived, would, in the opinion of Bond Counsel approved by the City, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and

(c) the proposed amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by holders of the Bonds in the manner provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of holders, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of Bond Counsel approved by the City, materially impair the interests of the holders or beneficial owners of the Bonds.

If the annual financial information or operating data to be provided in the Annual Report is amended pursuant to the provisions hereof, the first annual financial information filed pursuant hereto containing the amended operating data or financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided.

As required by the Rule, if an amendment is made to the provisions hereof specifying the accounting principles to be followed in preparing Financial Statements, the annual financial information for the year in which the change is made shall present a comparison between the Financial Statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. The comparison shall include a qualitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial information. To the extent reasonably feasible, the comparison shall be quantitative. A notice of the change in the accounting principles shall be sent to the Repositories in the manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5 hereof.

Section 21. <u>Additional Information</u>. Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Developer from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement. If the Developer chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the Developer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of a Listed Event.

**Section 22.** <u>Default</u>. In the event of a failure of the Developer to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee may (and, at the written direction of any Participating Underwriter or the holders of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, and upon indemnification of the Trustee to its reasonable satisfaction, shall), or any holder or beneficial owner of the Bonds may, take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the Developer or the Trustee, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement. A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any

failure of the Developer or the Trustee to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel performance.

Section 23. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee and Dissemination Agent. Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent (if other than the Trustee or the Trustee in its capacity as Dissemination Agent) shall have any responsibility for the content of any Annual Report. The Dissemination Agent (if other than the Trustee or the Trustee in its capacity as Dissemination Agent) shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement, and the Developer agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent (if other than the Trustee), its officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to such Dissemination Agent's negligence or willful misconduct. The obligations of the Developer under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of such Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds.

**Section 24.** <u>Beneficiaries</u>. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the City, the Developer, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and holders and beneficial owners from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

Section 25. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties have executed this Disclosure Agreement as of the date first written above.

## PIPER RANCH LLC

By: \_\_\_\_\_

## UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A., AS TRUSTEE

By: \_\_\_\_\_

Authorized Officer

### EXHIBIT A

### NOTICE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Obligated Person:	Piper Ranch LLC
Name of Bond Issue:	City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds
Date of Issuance:	January 14, 2004

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Piper Ranch LLC, Inc. has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by Section 2 of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2003, by and between Piper Ranch LLC and Union Bank of California, N.A., as Trustee. [Piper Ranch LLC anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by \_\_\_\_\_.]

Dated:\_\_\_\_\_

Union Bank of California, N.A., as Trustee, on behalf of Piper Ranch LLC

cc: City of San Diego

## EXHIBIT B

# **PARTICIPATING UNDERWRITERS**

Stone & Youngberg LLC One Ferry Building San Francisco, California 94111 Attention: Municipal Research Department

#### APPENDIX G

#### FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL

Upon issuance of the Bonds, Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel, proposes to render its final opinion with respect to the Bonds in substantially the following form:

[Date of Delivery]

City of San Diego 202 C Street San Diego, California 92101

> City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) <u>Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds</u> (Final Opinion)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the City of San Diego (the "Issuer") of \$5,430,000 aggregate principal amount of City of San Diego Assessment District No. 4096 (Piper Ranch) Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds (the "Bonds") pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913, Sections 1000 *et seq.* of the California Streets and Highways Code, and the Improvement Bond Act of 1915, Sections 8500 *et seq.* of the California Streets and Highways Code (collectively, the "Act") and the Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003 (the "Indenture") by and between the City and Union Bank of California, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture.

In such connection, we have reviewed the Indenture, the Tax Certificate of the Issuer dated the date hereof (the "Tax Certificate"), an opinion of counsel to the Issuer, certifications of the Issuer and others and such other documents, opinions and matters to the extent we deemed necessary to render the opinions set forth herein.

Certain agreements, requirements and procedures contained or referred to in the Indenture, the Tax Certificate and other relevant documents may be changed and certain actions (including, without limitation, defeasance of the Bonds) may be taken or omitted under the circumstances and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in such documents. No opinion is expressed herein as to any Bond or the interest thereon if any such change occurs or action is taken or omitted upon the advice or approval of counsel other than ourselves.

The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. Such opinions may be affected by actions taken or omitted or events occurring after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform any person, whether any such actions are taken or omitted or events do occur or any other matters come to our attention after the date hereof. Our engagement with respect to the Bonds has concluded with this issuance, and we disclaim any obligation to update this letter. We have assumed the genuineness of all documents and signatures presented to us (whether as originals or copies) and the due and legal execution and delivery thereof by, and validity against, any parties other than the Issuer.

We have assumed, without undertaking to verify, the accuracy of the factual matters represented, warranted or certified in the documents, and of the legal conclusions contained in the opinion, referred to in the second paragraph hereof. Furthermore, we have assumed compliance with all covenants and agreements contained in the Indenture and the Tax Certificate, including (without limitation) covenants and agreements compliance with which is necessary to assure that future actions, omissions or events will not cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. In addition, we call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Bonds, the Indenture and the Tax Certificate and their enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights, to the application of equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to the limitations on legal remedies against chartered cities and municipal corporations in the State of California. We express no opinion on the plans, specifications, maps and other engineering details of the proceedings, or upon the validity of the individual separate assessments securing the Bonds which validity depends, in addition to the legal steps required, upon the accuracy of certain of the engineering details. Finally, we undertake no responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the Official Statement or other offering material relating to the Bonds and express no opinion with respect thereto.

Based on and subject to the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, as of the date hereof, we are of the following opinions:

1. The Bonds constitute valid and binding special assessment obligations of the Issuer, payable solely from and secured by the unpaid assessments and certain funds held under the Indenture.

2. The Indenture has been duly executed and delivered by, and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of, the City.

3. Interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes. Interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although we observe that it is included in adjusted current earnings in calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. We express no opinion regarding other tax consequences related to the ownership of disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds.

Faithfully yours,

ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP

per